Yukawa Couplings from D-branes on non-factorisable Tori

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.) der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

> von Chatura Christoph Liyanage aus Bonn

> > Bonn, 2018

Dieser Forschungsbericht wurde als Dissertation von der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Bonn angenommen und ist auf dem Hochschulschriftenserver der ULB Bonn http://hss.ulb.uni-bonn.de/diss_online elektronisch publiziert.

1. Gutachter:Priv. Doz. Dr. Stefan Förste2. Gutachter:Prof. Dr. Albrecht Klemm

Tag der Promotion:05.07.2018Erscheinungsjahr:2018

CHAPTER 1

Abstract

In this thesis Yukawa couplings from D-branes on non-factorisable tori are computed. In particular intersecting D6-branes on the torus, generated by the SO(12) root lattice, is considered, where the Yukawa couplings arise from worldsheet instantons. Thereby the classical part to the Yukawa couplings are determined and known expressions for Yukawa couplings on factorisable tori are extended.

Further Yukawa couplings for the T-dual setup are computed. Therefor three directions of the SO(12) torus are T-dualized and the boundary conditions of the D6-branes are translated to magnetic fluxes on the torus. Wavefunctions for chiral matter are calculated, where the expressions, known from the factorisable case, get modified in a non-trivial way. Integration of three wavefunctions over the non-factorisable torus yields the Yukawa couplings. The result not only confirms the results from the computations on the SO(12) torus, but also determines the quantum contribution to the couplings.

This thesis also contains a brief review to intersecting D6-branes on $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ orientifolds, with applications to a non-factorisable orientifold, generated by the *SO*(12) root lattice.

Acknowledgements

First of all I would like to thank my supervisor Priv.Doz. Stefan Förste for giving me the opportunity to work in this fascinating field of theoretical physics and for all the numerous discussions, which lead to fruitful collaborations. I am very grateful for his continuous support and unlimited patience. I could not have asked for more. I also thank Prof. Albrecht Klemm for having accepted to be the coreferee for my thesis. Further I would also like to thank Prof. Hans Peter Nilles for his great lectures, which arouse my interest for theoretical high energy physics.

The past years in the BCTP have been a very nice time I gladly will remember. In this connection I want to thank Nana Cabo Bizet, Michael Blaszczyk, Stefano Colucci, Josua Faller, Cesar Fierro Cota, Andreas Gerhardus, Suvendu Giri, Abhinav Joshi, Joshua Kames-King, Dominik Köhler, Manuel Krauss, Sven Krippendorf, Victor Martin-Lozano, Damian Mayorga, Rahul Mehra, Christoph Nega, Saurab Nangia, Urmi Ninad, Paul Oehlman, Jonas Reuter, Fabian Rühle, Reza Safari, Thorsten Schimannek, Matthias Schmitz, Andreas Trautner, Clemens Wieck, Max Wiesner and all former and current members of the BCTP not only for their support and inspiring discussions but also for the providing a friendly atmosphere. I also thank Andreas Wisskirchen and the secretaries of the BCTP Christa Börsch, Dagmar Fassbender, Petra Weiss and Patricia Zündorf for the organizational and technical support. I will look back with pleasure to the "coffee breaks" and "profound" discussions with Joshua Kames-King, Matthias Schmitz and Thorsten Schimannek, for the great "gym" time.

I also like to thank my friend and fellow student Tarek El Rabbat for all the nice and memorable time we shared since the beginning of our studies in Bonn. Further I also want to thank my former physics teacher Mr. Pick for having awoken my interest for fundamental physics and laying the foundation for my studies. I am also grateful for my friends and teammates from Clube do Leao and also Sven Freud and Hussein Al Abad for the strengthening time outside of the institute. Special thanks goes to my girlfriend Jana Lisa Wolff, who accompanied and supported me since the beginning of my time in the BCTP, and my brother Vidura Lawrence Liyanage, for his support and for proofreading the manuscript of this thesis. Most of all I thank my parents Padma and Lionel Liyanage for putting enormous effort in my education and giving me endless support in life, even though words can not express the deep gratitude I have for them.

Contents

1	Abstract						
2	Introduction						
3	Overview to string theory						
	3.1	Supers	trings	7			
		3.1.1	Worldsheet and superstring action	7			
		3.1.2	String quantization and D=10 string states	9			
	3.2	Type II	strings	12			
		3.2.1	Modular invariance and GSO-projection	12			
		3.2.2	Open strings and D-branes	14			
		3.2.3	Circle compactification and T-duality	16			
4	Туре	e IIA co	mpactification on orientifolds	19			
	4.1	Geome	etry of orientifolds	19			
		4.1.1	Torus	19			
		4.1.2	Orientifolds for type IIA compactification	23			
		4.1.3	Fixed point resolution	27			
		4.1.4	3-cycles on tori and orbifolds	29			
		4.1.5	Example: $T_{SO(12)}^6 / (\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R)$	33			
	4.2	4.2 Intersecting D-branes on $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ -Orientifolds					
		4.2.1	Massless states from type IIA closed strings	41			
		4.2.2	Massless spectrum from intersecting D6-branes	43			
		4.2.3	Consistency conditions and anomaly cancellation for D6-branes	47			
	4.3 Model building on $T_{SO(12)}^6/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R)$.						
		4.3.1	Towards realistic four dimensional particle physics	49			
		4.3.2	Supersymmetric toy model on $T_{SO(12)}^6/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R)$	52			
5	Yuka	awa cou	uplings from D6-branes on $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$	55			
5.1 Yukawa couplings from D6-branes							
		5.1.1	Yukawa couplings from worldsheet instantons	55			
		5.1.2	Yukawa couplings on the torus	56			
	5.2	Yukaw	a couplings on T^2	57			
		5.2.1	Computing Yukawa couplings on T^2	57			
		5.2.2	Example: Branes with non coprime intersection numbers in T^2	62			
	5.3	Yukaw	a couplings on $T_{SO(12)}^6$	64			
		5.3.1	Labeling inequivalent intersections	64			
		5.3.2	Computing Yukawa couplings on $T_{SO(12)}^6$	66			

		5.3.3	Example	. 70			
6	Yukawa couplings from D9-branes on the dual $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$						
	6.1	From 7 6.1.1 6.1.2	$T_{SO(12)}^{6}$ to the dual $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$ Buscher rules T-dualizing $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$ with D6-branes	. 77 . 77 . 79			
	6.2	Magne 6.2.1 6.2.2	tic fluxes on the dual $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$. 82 . 82 . 83			
	6.3	0.2.3 Wavefu 6.3.1 6.3.2 6.3.3 6.3.4	Boundary conditions for binuidamentals \dots unctions for chiral matter on the T^6 \dots Massless chiral fermions \dots Light chiral scalars \dots Massless chiral fields and Wilson lines \dots Counting numbers of independent zeromodes	. 80 . 90 . 90 . 93 . 95 . 96			
	6.4	6.3.5 Yukaw 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3	Normalization factor for chiral wavefunctions	. 99 . 102 . 102 . 103 . 109			
7	Con	lusion		111			
Bi	bliogı	raphy		113			
Α	Mas	sless tv	vpe IIA closed string states on $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ -orientifolds	121			
	A.1 A.2 A.3	Four di A.1.1 $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}$ A.2.1 A.2.2 Orienti	imensional fields from massless type IIA strings Type IIA compactified on a T^6 T_2 -orbfield projection Untwisted states Twisted states ifold projection	. 121 . 122 . 124 . 124 . 124 . 126 . 128			
		A.3.1 A.3.2	Untwisted states	. 128 . 129			
В	Labe	Labels for intersection points on $T^6_{SO(12)}$					
С	Quotient lattices and integral matrices 13						
D	Lattices for gauge indices and irreducible subsets 1						
List of Figures							

CHAPTER 2

Introduction

Motivation

Physics at the microscopic level is described with great accuracy by the Standard Model (SM) of particle physics. The embedding space for particles of the SM is given by a four dimensional Minkowski space with an

$$SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y \tag{2.1}$$

gauge symmetry. Elementary particles are treated as irreducible representations of their little group and gauge groups and are described as fields of a quantum field theory [1–3]. To preserve the gauge symmetry all fields must be apriori massless and the algebra for the little group of massless particles in four dimensional Minkowski space is $\mathfrak{su}(2) \times \mathfrak{su}(2)$. It is distinguished between matter fields and gauge fields, where the first ones have spin 1/2 and the second ones have spin 1. Matter fields occur in three families of the following bifundamental representations of $S U(3) \times S U(2)$

$$(\mathbf{1},\mathbf{2})_{-1/2} \oplus (\mathbf{3},\mathbf{2})_{1/6} \oplus (\mathbf{1},\mathbf{1})_1 \oplus (\mathbf{1},\mathbf{1})_0 \oplus (\mathbf{3},\mathbf{1})_{-2/3} \oplus (\mathbf{3},\mathbf{1})_{1/3}$$
, (2.2)

where the subscript denotes the $U(1)_Y$ charge. The fields belonging to $(1, 2)_{-1/2} \oplus (3, 2)_{1/6}$ transform in the chiral representation $(\frac{1}{2}, 0)$ of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \times \mathfrak{su}(2)$ and the other fields in the antichiral representation $(0, \frac{1}{2})$. Further matter fields charged under the *SU*(3) are identified with quarks, where fields not charged under the *SU*(3) are called leptons. Gauge fields transform in the vector representation $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ of their little group and in the adjoint representation of the gauge groups. Hence the SM contains 12 gauge fields belonging to the representation

$$(1,1)_0 \oplus (1,3)_0 \oplus (8,1)_0$$
 (2.3)

of $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$. In order to allow the particles to gain mass, the $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ factor hast to be spontaneously broken to a $U(1)_{el}$ gauge symmetry. The symmetry breaking is triggered by a scalar field, called the Higgs boson and which transforms in the representation

$$(1,2)_{1/2}$$
 (2.4)

under the gauge symmetry. The Higgs acquiring a non-trivial vacuum expectation value (vev) [4, 5] induces the symmetry breaking. The unbroken $U(1)_{el}$ is the linear combination of $U(1) \subset SU(2)_L$ and $U(1)_Y$ under which the Higgs boson is uncharged. The gauge boson of the unbroken $U(1)_Y$ is identified with the photon, which is the transmitter of the electromagnetic force. The eight gluons, how the gauge bosons of the SU(3) are called, confine the quarks, thus are responsible for the strong force,

which is observed for example as the force binding atomic nuclei. The remaining three gauge bosons of $S U(2)_L \times U(1)_Y / U(1)_{el}$ mediate the weak force and become massive after symmetry breaking. Therefor the weak force only becomes noticeable in quantum effects, such as β -decay.

However the force, which is probably the most experienced force in everyday life (except for life in space), is not explained by the SM, namely gravity. Since gravity is to weak to measure its effects at the quantum level, gravity is described in a classical field theory as spacetime curving, due to the back reaction of the coupling to energy densities [6]. At macroscopic levels gravity, as described in the framework of general relativity, has proven itself to describe the universe accurately. But trying to incorporate gravity with quantum field theory fails. The mediator particle of gravity has the properties of a spin 2 symmetric tensor field, called the graviton. Graviton interactions lead to divergences roughly at the Planck scale (~ $10^{19} GeV$), which can not be handled with the know methods in quantum field theory [7]. But in order to describe for example the early universe or black holes, quantum effects of gravity can no longer be ignored and a quantum theory of gravity is needed. Further the disturbing circumstances as the presence of dark matter and dark energy, which are needed to explain for example the rotation curves of galaxies and the accelerated expansion of the universe, are confirmed by the PLANCK collaboration in 2013 [8]. Their results show that only 4% of the energy in the universe consists of the known particles, where 25% is contained in dark matter and the remaining 70% of the energy has to be dark energy.

A main problem of the SM, besides incorporating gravity, is the inability to explain dark matter and dark energy. Further, since neutrino oscillations have been observed [9], it is clear that the SM particle content needs to be extended in order to explain mass terms for neutrinos. The detection of the Higgs particle at the LHC [10, 11] confronted the SM with another problem: Quantum corrections to the mass of scalar fields push their mass scale towards the Planck scale and the mass of the Higgs field $\sim 125 \, GeV$ can be explained in the framework of the SM, only when strong tuning is admitted. These problems lead to the conclusion, that even though the SM is successful to explain many phenomena, it can only be the effective theory of a more fundamental theory.

A new ingredient, which brings promising new features with it, is supersymmetry [12–14]. Supersymmetry is the only possible extension to the Poincare algebra according to the Coleman-Mandula no-go theorem [15]. It is a symmetry relating bosonic and fermionic degrees of freedom and introduces for each SM particle a superpartner, which has the same quantum numbers, except the spin quantum number differing by 1/2. Since no superpartner has been found yet, supersymmetry, if realized in nature, must be broken at an energy scale not yet probed. The superpartners are possible candidates for dark matter and their contribution to the quantum corrections might protect the Higgs mass. Further the gauge coupling constants can get affected in such a way that the couplings unify at a scale ~ $10^{16} GeV$ and the SM gauge symmetry gets enhanced to a bigger gauge group in a Grand Unified Theory (GUT) [16]. Gauged superymmetries, also called supergravity, brings a spin 2 particle with them which has the properties of the graviton. Hence the theory of general relativity is incorporated in supergravity theories, which is the reason that a fundamental theory even beyond supergravity (if supergravity is realized in nature) needs to exist.

String theory is a candidate for such a fundamental theory. In string theory fundamental particles are considered to be strings, where different quantum numbers of particles are actually just different oscillation modes of the string. Gravity is naturally included into string theory, because closed strings contain states, which behave as expected from the graviton. However consistency requires the string to be embedded into a ten dimensional spacetime, which might seem to be peculiar at first, but compactification opens many possibilities to engineer structures in four dimensions. Further, spacetime supersymmetry is a byproduct of consistency conditions. Actually five consistent descriptions of string theories exist in ten dimensions, which where shown in [17, 18] to be dual to each other and to be ten dimensional limits of

an eleven dimensional theory, called M-theory. Effective theories of string theories in the limit of zero string length become ten dimensional supergravity theories. String theories such as $E_8 \times E_8$ and SO(32) heterotic string theory or Type I string theory contain naturally gauge groups, big enough to contain the SM gauge groups, but also Type IIA and IIB string theories are allowed to contain gauge symmetries by including orientifolds.

Four dimensional theories, constructed by compactifying string theory, depend highly on the geometry of the internal space [19–21]. The vast amount of possibilities to compactify string theories, allow them to generate different kinds of four dimensions models, such as (hopefully) the SM among them. That way the SM could by derived by compactifying string theory and the numerical values for parameters of the SM, like masses or coupling strengths, can be derived by the string coupling and geometry of the internal space. Further, desired features such as for example inflation of the early universe, can be manufactured in the framework of string theory [22]. Hence string theory is not only a good candidate for a fundamental theory but also contemplable for a unified theory. As open questions, it still remains to explain how and at which scale supersymmetry is broken and how the particular geometry for string compactification leading to the SM looks like. Further a satisfactory explanation for the right amount of dark energy is still awaited.

Outline

In this work at first Type IIA string theory compactified on orientifolds with intersecting D6-branes and the resulting four dimensional features are reviewed, where special attention is given to a particular non-factorisable geometry. Later Yukawa couplings on non-factorisable tori are computed.

After briefly introducing the basics to string theory with the main focus on Type II string theories and D-branes in chapter 3, Type IIA compactification on orientifolds are discussed in chapter 4. Chapter 4 is mainly a review of D6-branes on orientifolds, with the application to a specific non-factorisable orientifold: In the first part of chapter 4 the geometry of orientifolds is discussed. They are constructed by projecting out worldsheet parity from orbifolds. The type of orbifolds considered here are given by the quotient space of six dimensional tori divided by discrete subgroups of SU(3). A short insight into the resolution of orbifold fixed points is presented and the geometries of 3-cycles for D6-branes are studied. In the second part of chapter 4, massless states from Type IIA closed strings and open strings on D6-branes in $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ orientifolds are investigated and the resulting spectra are checked for possible anomalies. In the third part of chapter 4 the introduced concepts are applied to a non-factorisable $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ orientifold, which is generated by the SO(12) root lattice, and differences to the factorisable case are revealed.

In chapter 5 Yukawa couplings from intersecting branes are considered and extended to the nonfactorisable torus, generated by the SO(12) root lattice. Therefor, first Yukawa couplings from intersecting branes on two dimensional tori are reviewed. In the second step the computations are generalized on to the SO(12) torus. It turns out that the couplings involve intersection points labeled by vectors of general three dimensional lattices and the worldsheet instantons, which generate the Yukawa couplings, admit selection rules. A procedure to determine the lattices for labels of intersection points and the selection rules for the instantons is described. Summing over worldsheet instantons yields the classical contribution to the Yukawa couplings on the SO(12) torus.

In chapter 6 the SO(12) torus and the D-brane boundary conditions on it are T-dualized along three directions. In the T-dual picture D9-branes with magnetic fluxes fill out the dual torus. The non-factorisable structure of the torus is mirrored in Wilson lines of the fluxes. The discussion for computing wavefunctions of chiral matter on the factorisable torus is first generalized for the case with magnetic fluxes wrapping non-coprime wrapping numbers. In the next step the discussion is

extended to the non-factorisable case by expressing the gauge indices of fields as vectors on general three dimensional lattices. Wavefunctions for massless fields in bifundamental representations are determined by computing zeromodes of the Dirac operator and solving boundary conditions occurring from the Wilson lines. Yukawa couplings follow from calculating the overlap integral of three zeromodes over the non-factorisable torus. The result not only confirms the result from the intersecting D6-brane picture in chapter 5, but also yields the quantum corrections to the Yukawa couplings.

List of publications

Parts of this work have been published in

- S. Förste and C. Liyanage, "Yukawa couplings for intersecting D-branes on non-factorisable tori", JHEP **03** (2015) 110, [arXiv:1412.3645 [hep-th]]
- S. Förste and C. Liyanage, "Yukawa couplings from magnetized D-branes on non-factorisable tori", [arXiv:1802.05136 [hep-th]]

CHAPTER 3

Overview to string theory

In this chapter a short introduction to string theory, especially Type II string theories, is given. For the topics discussed in the present work Type II string theories furnish the necessary framework. In this chapter after introducing the superstring it is explained how Type II string theories are constructed and their relations via T-duality is illustrated by introducing circle compactification. It is also explained how D-branes fit into the context of Type II strings. For that, [19–21, 23–26] are followed and for a more detailed discussion, those references can be consulted.

3.1 Superstrings

3.1.1 Worldsheet and superstring action

Let Σ be a two dimensional Riemannian surface, with one timelike and one spatial direction, parametrized by the coordinates $\sigma^0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma^1 \in [0, \ell]$. Let Σ be embedded into a *D* dimensional spacetime M^D via the maps $X : \Sigma \to M^D$ by

$$X: \left(\sigma^{0}, \sigma^{1}\right) \mapsto X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0}, \sigma^{1}) \in M^{D}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where X^{μ} are coordinates in M^D , with $\mu \in \{0, 1, ..., D-1\}$ denoting spacetime directions. The Riemannian surface Σ is a worldsheet of a superstring, propagating in M^D , when the integral

$$S = -\frac{T}{2} \int_{\Sigma} d^2 \sigma \, \eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} X^{\mu} \partial_{\beta} X^{\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{i}{4\pi} \int_{\Sigma} d^2 \sigma \, \overline{\psi}^{\mu} \rho^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} \psi_{\mu} \,, \tag{3.2}$$

describes the action for Σ in superconformal gauge [27–29]. The indices $\alpha, \beta \in \{0, 1\}$ denote worldsheet coordinates, the parameter $T = (2\pi\alpha')^{-1}$ is the string tension, the operators ρ^{α} are the two generators of the Clifford algebra with a metric with Lorentzian signature. The functions ψ^{μ} are similar to X^{μ} , maps from the worldsheet to the spacetime, but they transform as Dirac spinors on the worldsheet , with $\overline{\psi}^{\mu}$ its Dirac conjugated. Hence ψ^{μ} has two components ψ^{μ}_{\pm} in the spinor representation of SO(1, 1), where each of them is a map from Σ to M^D

$$\psi^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} \psi^{\mu}_{+} \\ \psi^{\mu}_{-} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad \psi^{\mu}_{\pm} : (\sigma^{0}, \sigma^{1}) \to M^{D}.$$
(3.3)

The action in (3.2) describes the surface of the worldsheet, spread out in M^D while the string is propagating. Furthermore the expression in (3.2) describes the action in superconformal gauge, which means

local supersymmetry is imposed on Σ and the symmetries on the worldsheet, such as diffeomorphism invariance, Weyl and Super-Weyl invariance, are used to eliminate the degrees of freedom of the worldheet metric and the gravitino. Solutions to the equations of motion for the maps X^{μ} and ψ^{μ} take the expressions

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = X^{\mu}_{L}(\sigma^{+}) + X^{\mu}_{R}(\sigma^{-}), \quad \psi^{\mu}_{\pm}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = \psi^{\mu}_{\pm}(\sigma^{\pm}),$$
(3.4)

where $\sigma^{\pm} = \sigma^0 \pm \sigma^1$ are light cone coordinates on the worldsheet. Functions depending solely on σ^{\pm} are named as left- and rightmovers, respectively. However satisfying the equations of motion is not enough to extremize the action in (3.2), but boundary conditions on the strings have to be imposed. The boundary conditions lead to two kinds of strings, given by

• closed strings satisfying

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}+\ell), \quad \psi^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = \eta\psi^{\mu}(\sigma^{0}\sigma^{1}+\ell), \quad (3.5)$$

• open strings, with its end points satisfying Neumann (N) boundary conditions

$$\partial_1 X^{\mu} \Big|_{\sigma^1 \in \{0,\ell\}} = 0, \quad \left(\psi^{\mu}_+ - \eta \psi^{\mu}_- \right) \Big|_{\sigma^1 \in \{0,\ell\}} = 0$$
 (3.6)

or Dirichlet (D) boundary conditions

$$\partial_0 X^{\mu} \Big|_{\sigma^1 \in \{0,\ell\}} = 0, \quad \left(\psi^{\mu}_+ + \eta \psi^{\mu}_- \right) \Big|_{\sigma^1 \in \{0,\ell\}} = 0.$$
(3.7)

The open string boundary conditions relate the left-and rightmovers at the end points as

$$X_{L}^{\mu}|_{\sigma^{1}\in\{0,\ell\}} = \begin{cases} + X_{R}^{\mu}|_{\sigma^{1}\in\{0,\ell\}} & \text{for N} \\ - X_{R}^{\mu}|_{\sigma^{1}\in\{0,\ell\}} & \text{for D} \end{cases}, \quad \psi_{+}^{\mu}|_{\sigma^{1}\in\{0,\ell\}} = \begin{cases} +\eta \ \psi_{-}^{\mu}|_{\sigma^{1}\in\{0,\ell\}} & \text{for N} \\ -\eta \ \psi_{-}^{\mu}|_{\sigma^{1}\in\{0,\ell\}} & \text{for D} \end{cases}.$$
(3.8)

The parameter η is allowed to take the values $\eta \in \{\pm 1\}$. The choice $\eta = -1$ leads to the Neveu-Schwarz (NS) string and $\eta = -1$ to the Ramond (R) string [30, 31]. A Fourier expansion of the left-and rightmovers is given by

$$X_{L/R}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}x^{\mu} + \frac{\pi\alpha'}{\ell}p^{\mu}\sigma^{\pm} + i\sqrt{\frac{\alpha'}{2}}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}\setminus\{0\}}\frac{1}{n}\alpha_{n}^{\mu}e^{-2\pi i n\sigma^{\pm}/\ell}, \quad \psi_{\pm}^{\mu} = \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\ell}}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}b_{n+r}^{\mu}e^{2\pi i \sigma^{\pm}/\ell}$$
(3.9)

for closed strings and

$$X_{L/R}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}x^{\mu} + \frac{\pi\alpha'}{\ell}p^{\mu}\sigma^{\pm} + i\sqrt{\frac{\alpha'}{2}}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}\setminus\{0\}}\frac{1}{n}\alpha_{n}^{\mu}e^{-\pi i n\sigma^{\pm}/\ell}, \quad \psi_{\pm}^{\mu} = \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\ell}}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}b_{n+r}^{\mu}e^{\pi i (n+r)\sigma^{\pm}/\ell}$$
(3.10)

for open strings, where

$$r = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} & \text{for NS sector,} \\ 0 & \text{for R sector.} \end{cases}$$
(3.11)

Usually the set of Fourier modes in the left-and rightmoving sector are distinguished by $\{\alpha_n^{\mu}, b^{\mu}, b_{n+1/2}^{\mu}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ for the rightmovers and $\{\tilde{\alpha}_n^{\mu}, \tilde{b}_n^{\mu}, \tilde{b}_{n+1/2}^{\mu}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ for the leftmovers. However since open string boundary conditions relate the oscillator modes from the leftmoving sector with the ones from the rightmoving

sector, s.t. they are not independent and one set of oscillator modes $\{\alpha_n^{\mu}, b_n^{\mu}, b_{n+1/2}^{\mu}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is sufficient to describe oscillations on the open string worldsheet. In the closed string sector on the other hand the two sets of oscillator modes are not independent. The parameters x^{μ} and p^{μ} denote position and momentum of the center of mass of the string. For the left-and rightmovers to be real fields, the oscillator modes need to behave under complex conjugation as

$$\left(\alpha_{n}^{\mu}\right)^{*} = \alpha_{-n}^{\mu}, \quad \left(\tilde{\alpha}_{n}^{\mu}\right)^{*} = \tilde{\alpha}_{-n}^{\mu}, \quad \left(b_{n+r}^{\mu}\right)^{*} = b_{-n-r}^{\mu}, \quad \left(\tilde{b}_{n+r}^{\mu}\right)^{*} = \tilde{b}_{-n-r}^{\mu}. \tag{3.12}$$

3.1.2 String quantization and D=10 string states

In order to quantize the string, the fields X_{\pm}^{μ} and ψ_{\pm}^{μ} become operators acting on a vacuum state, which describes the ground state of the worldsheet. Therefor the Poisson brackets, satisfied by the fields at the classical level, are replaced by (anti-) commutators. The non vanishing (anti-) commutator relations are given by:

$$[x^{\mu}, p^{\nu}] = i\eta^{\mu\nu}, \quad [\alpha^{\mu}_{m}, \alpha^{\nu}_{n}] = [\tilde{\alpha}^{\mu}_{m}, \tilde{\alpha}^{\nu}_{n}] = m\delta_{m+n}\eta^{\mu\nu}, \quad \{b^{\mu}_{m+r}, b^{\nu}_{n+r}\} = \{\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{m+r}, \tilde{b}^{\nu}_{n+r}\} = \eta^{\mu\nu}\delta_{m+n+2r},$$
(3.13)

and the the algebra for oscillator modes reveal that the oscillators behave as creation and annihilation operators acting on states of a Hilbert space. However the above algebra leads to negative norm states [32–34]. The reason is, that not all oscillators in (3.13) are independent, since the worldsheet contains a remaining superconformal symmetry. Symmetry transformations of the superconformal algebra can be used to gauge away oscillators in two directions, but in order to preserve spacetime Poincare invariance the number of spacetime dimensions has to be fixed to D = 10. The procedure is called light cone quantization (see [35] for more details). The algebra for the oscillator modes in light cone gauge is given by

$$[x^{\mu}, p^{\nu}] = i\delta^{\mu\nu}, \quad [\alpha^{\mu}_{m}, \alpha^{\nu}_{n}] = [\tilde{\alpha}^{\mu}_{m}, \tilde{\alpha}^{\nu}_{n}] = m\delta_{m+n}\delta^{\mu\nu}, \quad \{b^{\mu}_{m+r}, b^{\nu}_{n+r}\} = \{\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{m+r}, \tilde{b}^{\nu}_{n+r}\} = \delta^{\mu\nu}\delta_{m+n+2r},$$
(3.14)

with $\mu, \nu \in \{2, ..., 9\}$, where the degrees of freedom in the 0-th and 1st direction for x^{μ} , p^{μ} and oscillators have been gauged away. Now a consistent quantum theory with states, corresponding to oscillations of the string, can be constructed. Let the vacuum state $|0\rangle_{NS}$ in the NS sector be defined by the state getting annihilated by

$$\alpha_n^{\mu}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} = b_{n-1/2}^{\mu}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} = 0, \quad \forall n \ge 1,$$
(3.15)

where the vacuum state $|0\rangle_R$ in the R sector correspondingly is defined by getting annihilated

$$\alpha_n^{\mu}|0\rangle_{\rm R} = b_n^{\mu}|0\rangle_{\rm R} = 0, \quad \forall n \ge 1.$$
 (3.16)

The vacuum state corresponds to the unexcited worldsheet of NS and R strings and are eigenstates of the center of mass momentum $p^{\mu 1}$. Acting with creation operators from the rightmoving sector on the

¹ To be more precise, for each value of p^{μ} it exists a vacuum state, with p^{μ} the eigenvalue to the center of mass momentum operator.

vacuum, the states are constructed, which belong to the Hilbert spaces given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm NS} = \left\{ \prod_{\mu=2}^{9} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\alpha_{-n}^{\mu} \right)^{K_n^{\mu}} \left(b_{-n+1/2}^{\mu} \right)^{S_n^{\mu}} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \left| K_n^{\mu} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0} , S_n^{\mu} \in \{0, 1\} \right\}, \\ \mathcal{H}_{\rm R} = \left\{ \prod_{\mu=2}^{9} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\alpha_{-n}^{\mu} \right)^{K_n^{\mu}} \left(b_{-n}^{\mu} \right)^{S_n^{\mu}} |0\rangle_{\rm R} \left| K_n^{\mu} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0} , S_n^{\mu} \in \{0, 1\} \right\},$$
(3.17)

and contain the rightmoving states of the NS and R sector respectively, where by acting with creation operators from the leftmoving sector on the vacuum, the states belonging to the Hilbert spaces

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm NS} = \left\{ \prod_{\mu=2}^{9} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\tilde{\alpha}_{-n}^{\mu} \right)^{K_n^{\mu}} \left(\tilde{b}_{-n+1/2}^{\mu} \right)^{S_n^{\mu}} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \left| K_n^{\mu} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} , S_n^{\mu} \in \{0, 1\} \right\}, \\
\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm R} = \left\{ \prod_{\mu=2}^{9} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\tilde{\alpha}_{-n}^{\mu} \right)^{K_n^{\mu}} \left(\tilde{b}_{-n}^{\mu} \right)^{S_n^{\mu}} |0\rangle_{\rm R} \left| K_n^{\mu} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} , S_n^{\mu} \in \{0, 1\} \right\},$$
(3.18)

which contain the leftmoving NS and R states respectively, are constructed. Those states correspond to excitations of the worldsheet and can be interpreted as oscillations of the string. Open string states are given by elements of \mathcal{H}_{NS} and \mathcal{H}_{R} , where closed string states $|st\rangle_{cl}$ are constructed by combining a leftmoving state $|st\rangle_L \in \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\alpha}$ from the $\alpha \in \{NS/R\}$ sector with a rightmoving state $|st\rangle_R \in \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\beta}$ from the $\beta \in \{NS/R\}$ by the tensorproduct

$$|\mathrm{st}\rangle_{\mathrm{cl.}} = |\mathrm{st}\rangle_L \otimes |\mathrm{st}\rangle_R \in \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\beta},$$
(3.19)

s.t. one can construct four closed string sectors, given by the NS-NS, NS-R, R-NS and R-R sector. Using reparametrization invariance of the worldsheet, the spacetime mass-shell condition can be derived and the mass M of a string state is determined by its eigenvalue to the mass operator given by

$$\alpha' M^{2} = \begin{cases} 2\left(N_{\rm B} + N_{\rm F} + \tilde{N}_{\rm B} + \tilde{N}_{\rm F} + 2a\right) & \text{for closed string}, \\ N_{\rm B} + N_{\rm F} + a & \text{for open string}, \end{cases}$$
(3.20)

with the number operators defined by

$$N_{\rm B} = \sum_{\mu=2}^{9} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} \alpha_{-n}^{\mu} \alpha_{n}^{\mu}, \qquad \tilde{N}_{\rm B} = \sum_{\mu=2}^{9} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} \tilde{\alpha}_{-n}^{\mu} \tilde{\alpha}_{n}^{\mu}, \qquad (3.21)$$
$$N_{\rm F} = \sum_{\mu=2}^{9} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} b_{-n+r}^{\mu} b_{n-r}^{\mu}, \qquad \tilde{N}_{\rm F} = \sum_{\mu=2}^{9} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} (n-r) \tilde{b}_{-n+r}^{\mu} \tilde{b}_{n-r}^{\mu},$$

which count the level of excitation, and

$$a = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{2} & \text{NS sector}, \\ 0 & \text{R sector}, \end{cases}$$
(3.22)

denoting the vacuum energy. Only closed string states satisfying the level matching condition

$$N_{\rm B} + N_{\rm F} = \tilde{N}_{\rm B} + \tilde{N}_{\rm F}, \qquad (3.23)$$

are considered to be physical states, which means they satisfy the symmetries of the worldsheet on the quantum level. Applying the mass operator to the NS ground state

$$\alpha' M^2 |0\rangle_{\rm NS} = -\frac{1}{2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} , \qquad (3.24)$$

reveals that it has negative mass squared and is therefore tachyonic. The tachyonic state indicate an unstable vacuum and needs to be projected out of the spectrum in consistent string theories (as will be discussed in the following section). The algebra for the R zeromodes, given by $\{b_0^{\mu}, b_0^{\nu}\} = \delta^{\mu\nu}$, describes the eight dimensional euclidean Clifford algebra up to a factor of 2. Hence the R zeromodes can be related to the eight generators Γ^{μ} of the Clifford algebra by $b_0^{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Gamma^{\mu}$ and the operators

$$S_{\alpha}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(b_0^{2\alpha} \pm i b_0^{2\alpha+1} \right), \quad \tilde{S}_{\alpha}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\tilde{b}_0^{2\alpha} \pm i \tilde{b}_0^{2\alpha+1} \right), \quad a \in \{1, ..., 4\}, \quad (3.25)$$

satisfying the algebra $\{S_a^-, S_b^+\} = \{\tilde{S}_a^-, \tilde{S}_b^+\} = \delta_{ab}$, describe lowering and raising operators of weight states in the spinor representation of SO(8). Since acting with the zeromodes onto the groundstate leaves the groundstate energy invariant, the R vacuum has to be degenerate. In particular the groundstate is preserved by the action of S^{\pm} . Hence the R groundstate consists of 16 states, which transform as a Dirac spinor of SO(8). Denoting $|0\rangle_R$ as the lowest weight state of the Dirac spinor, the ground states in the R sector are given by

$$|0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}}, \quad S_{\alpha}^{+}S_{\beta}^{+}|0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}}, \quad S_{1}^{+}S_{2}^{+}S_{3}^{+}S_{4}^{+}|0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}}, \quad S_{\alpha}^{+}|0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}}, \quad S_{\alpha}^{+}S_{\beta}^{+}S_{\gamma}^{+}|0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}}, \quad \alpha \neq \beta \neq \gamma.$$
(3.26)

The γ^5 matrix corresponding to the eight dimensional Clifford algebra is given by $\Gamma_{chiral} = 16 \prod_{\mu=2}^{9} b_0^{\mu}$ and defining the chirality of $|0\rangle_R$ to be given by $\Gamma_{chiral}|0\rangle_R = +|0\rangle_R$, the eight states $|0\rangle_R$, $S_{\alpha}^+ S_{\beta}^+ |0\rangle_R$ and $S_1^+ S_2^+ S_3^+ S_4^+ |0\rangle_R$ belong to the chiral representation of SO(8), where the other eight states $S_{\alpha}^+ |0\rangle_R$ and $S_{\alpha}^+ S_{\beta}^+ S_{\gamma}^+ |0\rangle_R$ belong to the antichiral representation. The group of isometries in ten dimensional Minkowski space contains transformations of SO(1,9). Massless states in ten dimensions transform under the subgroup SO(8), which is the little group of ten dimensional massless fields. Hence the R ground states transform as massless spacetime fermions. The 16 states of the R ground state can be sorted into the chiral and antichiral representation $\mathbf{8}_S$ and $\mathbf{8}_C$ of SO(8) by

$$\prod_{\alpha=1}^{4} (S_{\alpha}^{+})^{K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathbf{R}} \in \begin{cases} \mathbf{8}_{S} & \text{for } \sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha} = \text{even}, \\ \mathbf{8}_{C} & \text{for } \sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha} = \text{odd}. \end{cases}$$
(3.27)

The massless states in the NS sector are given by the eight states $b^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle$, which form the eight states of the vector representation $\mathbf{8}_V$ of SO(8)

$$b^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \in \mathbf{8}_V. \tag{3.28}$$

Similar massive states in \mathcal{H}_{NS} transform as bosons in representations of SO(9) and massive states in \mathcal{H}_{R} transform as fermions of SO(9), where SO(9) is the little group for massive states in ten dimensions.

3.2 Type II strings

3.2.1 Modular invariance and GSO-projection

Type II string theories are constructed as closed string theories in ten dimensions. The quantum corrections to the spacetime vacuum, coming from one-loop amplitudes of closed string states, lead to a strong condition on the closed string Hilbert spaces called modular invariance [36]: The one-loop vacuum corrections from closed strings arise from worldsheets with the topology of two dimensional tori, where the worldsheet admits the following boundary conditions

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}+\ell), \quad X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0}+\operatorname{Im}\tau,\sigma^{1}+\operatorname{Re}\tau), \quad \tau \in \mathbb{C},$$
(3.29)

s.t. a closed string state $|st\rangle_{cl.}$ propagate for a time $\delta\sigma^0 = \text{Im}\tau$ and returns to its initial state $|st\rangle_{cl.}$ with a shift $\delta\sigma^1 = \text{Re}\tau$. A two dimensional torus is described by a real Kähler and a complex structure modulus $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $U \in \mathbb{C}$ (which will be explained in more detail in example (i) of section 4.1.1). The Käher modulus plays no role, since the worldsheet can be rescaled by a Weyl transformation and absorb the Kähler modulus that way. On the other hand the complex structure is given by $U = \tau$. Tori with complex structure moduli differing by $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ describe physically equivalent worldsheets. Therefor, transformations of the parameters $\text{Re}\tau$ and $\text{Im}\tau$ in the one-loop amplitude, corresponding to the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformations of U, must leave the one-loop amplitude invariant. The $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ invariance is denoted by modular invariance of the one-loop amplitude. Taking fermionic states on the worldsheet into account, one has to consider that by parallel transporting a fermion on a non-contractible closed loop of a two dimensional surface, the fermion can collect an additional sign unlike to the worldsheet bosons². Hence the boundary conditions for worldsheet fermions on a torus is given by

$$\psi^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = \pm \psi^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}+\ell), \quad \psi^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = \pm \psi^{\mu}(\sigma^{0}+\operatorname{Im}\tau,\sigma^{1}+\operatorname{Re}\tau).$$
(3.30)

The different choices for the sign in the first boundary condition of (3.30) leads to the distinction of the NS and R sector. The choice for the sign in the second boundary condition of (3.30) is implemented by taking only states from (3.17) and (3.18) into account, which survive the GSO-projection, denoted by $|L\rangle_{GSO}$ and $|R\rangle_{GSO}$, where [37, 38]

$$|R\rangle_{\rm GSO} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - (-1)^{F_{\rm NS}} \right) | {\rm st} \rangle_R & \text{for } | {\rm st} \rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\rm NS} ,\\ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 \pm \Gamma_{\rm chiral} (-1)^{F_{\rm R}} \right) | {\rm st} \rangle_R & \text{for } | {\rm st} \rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\rm R} , \end{cases},$$

$$|L\rangle_{\rm GSO} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - (-1)^{\tilde{F}_{\rm NS}} \right) | {\rm st} \rangle_L & \text{for } | {\rm st} \rangle \in \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm NS} ,\\ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 \pm \Gamma_{\rm chiral} (-1)^{\tilde{F}_{\rm R}} \right) | {\rm st} \rangle_L & \text{for } | {\rm st} \rangle \in \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm R} , \end{cases},$$

$$(3.31)$$

with the fermion number operators defined by

$$F_{\rm NS} = \sum_{\mu=2}^{9} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} b^{\mu}_{-n-1/2} b^{\mu}_{n+1/2} , \quad F_{\rm R} = \sum_{\mu=2}^{9} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} b^{\mu}_{-n} b^{\mu}_{n} , \qquad (3.32)$$
$$\tilde{F}_{\rm NS} = \sum_{\mu=2}^{9} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} \tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-n-1/2} \tilde{b}^{\mu}_{n+1/2} , \quad \tilde{F}_{\rm R} = \sum_{\mu=2}^{9} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} \tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-n} \tilde{b}^{\mu}_{n} ,$$

² See [21] for more details

which count the number of fermionic excitations on the worldsheet. The GSO-projection ensures modular invariance of the one-loop amplitude and projects out the tachyonic state together with half of the other NS states. In the R sector, for each level of excitation only states with the same chirality are preserved by the GSO-projection, where the chirality depends on the sign in front of Γ_{chiral} in the GSO-projection. Closed string theories with states given by $|L\rangle_{GSO} \otimes |R\rangle_{GSO}$ are modular invariant and hence consistent at the quantum level. Depending on the choice of the sign for the R sector in the GSO-projection, two inequivalent closed string theories can be constructed that way. String theories, with the same sign for the GSO-projection in the R sector, are denoted by Type IIB, where string theories, with opposite sign in the GSO-projection preserves the same amount of fermionic and bosonic degrees of freedom in spacetime and the spectra of the two theories exhibit an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ spacetime supersymmetry. The corresponding two supersymmetry generators Q^L and Q^R are 16 dimensional Majorana-Weyl fermions. Their chirality is determined by

$$\Gamma_{\text{chiral}} Q^{L} = \begin{cases} +\Gamma_{\text{chiral}} Q^{R} & \text{for Type IIB}, \\ -\Gamma_{\text{chiral}} Q^{R} & \text{for Type IIA}, \end{cases}$$
(3.33)

For low energy theories only the massless string states are assumed to play a role. The massless closed string states, constructed from left-and rightmovers, which survive the GSO-projection, are given by

• the 8×8 NS-NS states

$$\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes b^{\nu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS},$$
(3.34)

which, decomposed into the trace, antisymmetric and symmetric part, contains a dilaton, antisymmetric background field and a graviton,

• the 64 NS-R states

$$\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes \prod_{\alpha=1}^{4} \left(S^{+}_{\alpha}\right)^{K_{\alpha}}|0\rangle_{\rm R}, \qquad (3.35)$$

with $K_{\alpha} \in \{0, 1\}$ and $\sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha}$ = even, containing a dilatino and a gravitino,

• the 64 R-NS states

$$\prod_{\alpha=1}^{4} \left(\tilde{S}_{\alpha}^{+} \right)^{K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}} \otimes b_{-1/2}^{\mu} |0\rangle_{\mathrm{NS}} , \qquad (3.36)$$

with $\sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha}$ = even for Type IIB and $\sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha}$ = odd for Type IIA, containing a dilatino and gravitino, with the same (opposite) chirality as in the NS-R sector for Type IIB (IIA) and

• the 64 R-R states

$$\prod_{\alpha=1}^{4} \left(\tilde{S}_{\alpha}^{+} \right)^{K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}} \otimes \prod_{\alpha=1}^{4} \left(S_{\alpha}^{+} \right)^{L_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}} , \qquad (3.37)$$

with $\sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha}$ = even and $\sum_{\alpha} L_{\alpha}$ = even for Type IIB or $\sum_{\alpha} L_{\alpha}$ = odd for Type IIA, containing a 0-form, 2-form and 4-form gauge potential in Type IIB and a 1-form and 3-form gauge potential in Type IIA.

The massless NS-NS sector describes excitations of the spacetime and hence leads to a theory of gravity. The NS-R and R-NS sector contain the fermionic superpartners in the supergravity multiplet, depending on Type IIB or Type IIA. The R-R sector contains besides the q-form gauge potentials C_q also further 8 - p-form gauge potentials C_{8-q} , which are related via the electromagnetic duality

$$\mathrm{d}C_q = *\mathrm{d}C_{8-q}\,.\tag{3.38}$$

The existence of two gravitinos and two dilatinos indicate that the massless spectra for Type IIA and Type IIB fit into $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ and $\mathcal{N} = (2, 0)$ supergravity multiplets and reflects the relation of the supersymmetry generators in (3.33). The *p*-form gauge potential content from the R-R sector in the two Type II theories are summarized in table 3.1.

sector	<i>p</i> -form	magn. dual
Type IIA	C_1	<i>C</i> ₇
	C_3	C_5
Type IIB	C_0	C_8
	C_2	C_6
	C_4	self dual

Table 3.1: *p*-forms from R-R sector in Type IIA and IIB.

3.2.2 Open strings and D-branes

Since the NS-NS states describe deviations of the spacetime from the flat space, the coupling of a worldsheet to spacetime is described by the coupling of a string to the NS-NS fields. Here the coupling of open strings to the spacetime metric and a B-field is considered. Let Σ be the worldsheet of an open strings with $\partial \Sigma$ its boundary at the string endpoints. Hence the boundary is tangent to the eigentime of the string (the boundary normal to the worldsheet eigentime is considered to be at $\sigma^0 = -\infty$ and $\sigma^0 = \infty$). The corresponding action is given by [39]

$$S = -\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} d^2\sigma \left(g_{\mu\nu} \eta^{\alpha\beta} + B_{\mu\nu} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \right) \partial_{\alpha} X^{\mu} \partial_{\beta} X^{\nu} - \int_{\partial \Sigma} d\sigma^0 A_{\mu} \partial_0 X^{\mu} , \qquad (3.39)$$

where $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $B_{\mu\nu}$ denote components of the spacetime metric and B-field. The boundary $\partial\Sigma$ needs to couple to a vector field $A = A_{\mu} dx^{\mu}$, which admits a shift symmetry, in order to preserve the gauge invariance of the B-field³. Introducing a gauge invariant field strength \mathcal{F} with the components

$$2\pi\alpha'\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = B_{\mu\nu} + 2\pi\alpha'F_{\mu\nu}, \quad \text{where} \quad F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}, \quad (3.40)$$

the action (3.39) can be expressed by

$$S = -\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} d^2\sigma \, g_{\mu\nu} \eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} X^{\mu} \partial_{\beta} X^{\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial \Sigma} d\sigma^0 \, \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu} \partial_0 X^{\nu} \,. \tag{3.41}$$

Extremizing the action (3.41) lead to the boundary conditions at the string end points by

$$\left(g_{\mu\nu}\partial_{1}X^{\nu} + 2\pi\alpha'\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}\partial_{0}X^{\nu}\right)\Big|_{\partial\Sigma} = 0.$$
(3.42)

³ The gauge transformation $B \to B + d\Lambda$, with Λ a 1-form vector field, leads in the first term on the righthand side of (3.39) to a boundary term for open strings. To cancel the boundary term, the gauge field A is introduced, which transforms as $A \to A + \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma'}\Lambda$, s.t. the gauge symmetry for B is preserved for open strings.

The boundary $\partial \Sigma$ is determined by D boundary conditions, thus \mathcal{F} , with non vanishing F, is restricted on a submanifold $\Sigma_q \subseteq M^{10}$, which purely admits N boundary conditions for the open string. Σ_q are worldvolumes spanned by D*p*-branes, with q = p + 1 [40]. D*p*-branes are *p* dimensional dynamical objects, which extend in directions with N boundary conditions and are located at points in the directions with D boundary conditions for open strings. The D boundary conditions for open strings in (3.7) break Poincare invariance. To be more precise, directions in which string end points obey D boundary conditions are no longer invariant under translations and momentum can flow out of string end points. In order to restore momentum conservation, open strings have to be placed on D*p*-branes, which exchange momentum with the string, s.t. total momentum is conserved. D-branes interact with each other via exchanging NS-NS and R-R closed strings [41]. Their coupling to the NS-NS and R-R closed strings can be extracted from the DBI action S_{DBI} and Chern-Simons (CS) terms S_{CS} in the effective action for D*p*-branes, given by [42, 43]

$$S_{\rm eff} = S_{\rm DBI} + S_{\rm CS} \,. \tag{3.43}$$

The DBI-action is given by

$$S_{\text{DBI}} = \mu_p \int_{\Sigma_{p+1}} \mathrm{d}^{p+1} \sigma \,\mathrm{e}^{-\phi} \,\sqrt{\det\left(g_{ij} + B_{ij} + 2\pi\alpha' F_{ij}\right)},\tag{3.44}$$

where μ_p is the brane tension, g_{ij} , B_{ij} and F_{ij} are the components of the induced metric, B-field and fieldstrength F on the branevolume, with *i*, *j* denoting directions along Σ_{p+1} , and ϕ the dilaton. The leading order terms with respect to α' in the CS terms, for a vanishing spacetime curvature 2-form, are given by [44], [45]

$$S_{\rm CS} = \mu_p \left\{ \int_{\Sigma_{p+1}} C_{p+1} + (2\pi\alpha') \int_{\Sigma_{p+1}} C_{p-1} \wedge \operatorname{Tr} F + \frac{1}{2} (2\pi\alpha')^2 \int_{\Sigma_{p+1}} C_{p-3} \wedge \operatorname{Tr} F^2 + \ldots \right\}.$$
(3.45)

The coupling to the fields C_{p+1} in the CS terms reveal, that Dp-branes are sources for the R-R (p + 1)form potentials. Comparing the field content in the R-R sector of Type IIA and IIB from table 3.1, it turns out that Type IIA admits D*p*-branes, with $p \in \{0, 2, 4, 6\}$, where Type IIB allows the presence of D*p*-branes with $p \in \{1, 3, 5, 7\}$ and D(-1)-branes, which are pointlike instantons. Due to the open string boundary conditions on the branes, the left-and rightmoving sectors get identified according to the N and D conditions. The boundary conditions in (3.6) and (3.7) reveal that each direction x^a admitting D boundary conditions relates the left-and rightmovers with a sign and directions admitting N boundary conditions are related without a sign. Hence the supersymmetry charges from the left-and rightmoving sector Q_L and Q_R are related to each other, s.t. only a linear combination of both is preserved on the branes, s.t. only half of the supersymmetry in the bulk remains on the branevolume [46]. Therefore D*p*-branes are considered as BPS-states of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry in Type II string theories. Since F is further invariant under U(1) transformations of A, each D-brane contains a U(1) gauge symmetry on its worldvolume. String end points attached to the brane are charged under the U(1), since they couple via the boundary term in (3.39) to the gauge field A. By stacking D-branes on top of each other, the multiple U(1)'s enhance to a non-abelian gauge group such as U(N), SO(N) or USp(N) as it will be encountered for example in section 4.2.2 [47]. Due to the coupling of string end points to the gauge fields on the branes, open string end points can be viewed as states transforming in the fundamental representation \Box_N or antifundamental representation $\overline{\Box}_N$ of the gauge group on the branevolume, depending on the orientation of the string. The Chan-Paton labels $|ij\rangle$ of an open string, is determined by the states in the

gauge representation of its two end points [48]

$$|ij\rangle \in \Box_N \otimes \overline{\Box}_M \,, \tag{3.46}$$

where the end point corresponding to *i* transforms in \Box_N and the end point corresponding to *j* transforms in $\overline{\Box}_M$. Open string states $|st\rangle_{op.}$ from the NS or R sector are then given by

$$|\text{st.}\rangle_{\text{op.}} = |\alpha\rangle \otimes |ij\rangle, \quad \text{with} \quad |\alpha\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\alpha}, \quad \alpha \in \{NS/R\}.$$
 (3.47)

Intersecting D-branes on $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$

Let the boundary conditions for an open string on a plane be given by by the D and N boundary conditions [49]

$$\partial_{0} (\operatorname{Im} Z)|_{\sigma^{1}=0} = 0, \quad \partial_{0} \left[\operatorname{Im} \left(e^{i\theta} Z \right) \right] \Big|_{\sigma^{1}=\ell} = 0, \quad (3.48)$$
$$\partial_{1} (\operatorname{Re} Z)|_{\sigma^{1}=0} = 0, \quad \partial_{1} \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(e^{i\theta} Z \right) \right] \Big|_{\sigma^{1}=\ell} = 0,$$

where Z is the complexified solution to the string equations of motion on the complex plane

$$Z: (\sigma^0, \sigma^1) \mapsto \mathbb{C}, \quad \text{with} \quad Z(\sigma^0, \sigma^1) = X^1(\sigma^0, \sigma^1) + iX^2(\sigma^0, \sigma^1).$$
(3.49)

The mode expansion for solutions to the boundary conditions in (3.48) is given by [49]

$$Z(\sigma^{+},\sigma^{-}) = i\sqrt{\frac{\alpha'}{2}} \sum_{n} \left(\frac{1}{n-v} \alpha_{n-v} e^{\pi i (n-v)\sigma^{+}} + \frac{1}{n+v} \tilde{\alpha}_{n+v} e^{\pi i (n+v)\sigma^{-}} \right), \quad \text{with} \quad v = \theta/\pi,$$
(3.50)

where the moddings for the complex oscillators α_{n-v} and $\tilde{\alpha}_{n+v}$ are shifted by a fractional value. Since D boundary conditions require D-branes, two branes *a* and *b*, with their loci $p_a \in \mathbb{C}$ and $p_b \in \mathbb{C}$ determined by

$$p_a = \{ \operatorname{Re}(z) \, | \, z \in \mathbb{C} \} \,, \quad p_b = \left\{ z = e^{i\theta} \mu \, | \, \mu \in \mathbb{R} \right\} \,, \tag{3.51}$$

have to be present in order to preserve momentum conservation. The two branes have the shape of straight lines on the plane and intersect at the origin of \mathbb{C} . The open string admitting the boundary conditions (3.48) is attached with its end point $\sigma^1 = 0$ at the brane *a* and with the end point $\sigma^1 = \ell$ at the brane *b*. Hence the end point at $\sigma^1 = 0$ transforms in the fundamental representation \Box_a of the gauge group on *a* and the end point at $\sigma^1 = \ell$ transforms in the antifundamental representation $\overline{\Box}_b$ of the gauge group on *b*. The Chan-Paton labels then belong to the bifundamental representation ($\Box_a, \overline{\Box}_b$). Due to the string tension the open string is localized at the intersection point. Hence chiral matter arises at intersection points of intersecting branes.

3.2.3 Circle compactification and T-duality

The simplest approach to compactify a direction x^{μ} of the spacetime $M^{1}0$, is to compactify it on a circle with a radius *R*. Formally this means the space for x^{μ} is given after circle compactification by the quotient space

$$S^{1} = \frac{\mathbb{R}}{R\mathbb{Z}}$$
(3.52)

and is to be understood as the identification of all points in the μ -th direction, which differ by the distance of multiples of $2\pi R$

$$x^{\mu} \simeq x^{\mu} + 2\pi R, \quad x^{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(3.53)

The boundary conditions in the compactified direction for closed strings have to admit the identification in (3.53) and is given by

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}+\ell) + 2\pi R W$$
(3.54)

with $W \in \mathbb{Z}$ denoting the number of winding numbers around the S^1 , and analogous for the worldsheet fermions. The mode expansions solving the boundary conditions in (3.54) is given by [50]

$$X_{L/R}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} x^{\mu} + \frac{\pi \alpha'}{\ell} p_{L/R}^{\mu} \sigma^{\pm} + i \sqrt{\frac{\alpha'}{2}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{1}{n} \alpha^{i} \mu_{n} e^{2\pi i n \sigma^{\pm}/\ell}, \qquad (3.55)$$

with

$$p_{L/R}^{\mu} = \frac{K}{R} \pm \frac{WR}{\alpha'}, \qquad (3.56)$$

where the center of mass momentum $p^{\mu} = p_L^{\mu} + p_R^{\mu}$ is quantized, with $K \in \mathbb{Z}$ denoting Kaluza-Klein excitations, in order to make the quantum mechanical wavefunction single valued. The mass operator for closed strings in (3.20) get an additional contribution of $\frac{K^2}{R^2} + \frac{(WR)^2}{{\alpha'}^2}$ from the momentum in the μ -th direction and the level matching condition becomes

$$N_{\rm B} - \tilde{N}_{\rm B} + N_{\rm F} - \tilde{N}_{\rm F} = WK, \qquad (3.57)$$

s.t. one gets for each closed string state $|N\rangle_{cl.} \in \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{NS/R} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{NS/R}$, with a definite excitation level *N*, where $(N_B + \tilde{N}_B + N_F + \tilde{N}_F)|N\rangle_{cl.} = N|N\rangle_{cl.}$, an infinite tower of new states $|N, W, K\rangle$, with different winding numbers and Kaluza-Klein excitations

$$\alpha' M^2 |N, W, K\rangle = \left(\frac{K^2}{R^2} + \frac{(WR)^2}{{\alpha'}^2} + 2N + 4a\right) |N, W, K\rangle.$$
(3.58)

Closed string spectra from circle compactification are invariant under transformations T, called T-duality transformation [51]. T-duality transformations exchange Kaluza-Klein excitations with winding numbers by inverting the radius R simultaneously

$$T: R \to \frac{\alpha'}{R}, \quad W \leftrightarrow K,$$
 (3.59)

which leaves (3.58) invariant. At the level of the left- and rightmovers, the transformation in (3.59) translates to giving the rightmovers a sign

$$T: (X_{L}^{\mu}, \psi_{+}^{\mu}) \to (X_{L}^{\mu}, \psi_{+}^{\mu}), \quad (X_{R}^{\mu}, \psi_{-}^{\mu}) \to -(X_{R}^{\mu}, \psi_{-}^{\mu}).$$
(3.60)

Giving ψ_{-}^{μ} a sign implies that the μ -th zeromode for the rightmovers in the R sector gets a sign and hence flips the GSO-projection in the R sector for the rightmovers. That means performing a T-duality transformation in Type IIA string theory, maps it to Type IIB and vice versa [52]. The theories are said to be T-dual to each other, which means that they actually describe the same physics, but from a different perspective. T-duality transformation for the left-and rightmovers in (3.60) applied to open strings, corresponds to flipping N boundary conditions to D boundary conditions and vice versa. Hence, when the T-dualized direction x^{μ} is normal to a D*p*-brane, in the dual picture the brane becomes a D(*p* + 1)-brane, extending additionally in the μ -th direction, where when x^{μ} is tangent to a D*p*-brane, the brane in the dual theory becomes a D(p - 1)-brane, localized at a point in the μ -th direction [53]. This is consistent with the brane contents for the Type II string theories, since the D-branes allowed for Type IIB differ by ± 1 dimensions for Type IIA and vice versa.

From intersecting to magnetized D-branes on $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$

Circle compactifying the system of intersecting D-branes in section 3.2.2, for example the direction x^2 , allows to construct a T-dual theory, by T-dualizing the x^2 direction and making the dual radius large. Under the transformation (3.60) the boundaray conditions in (3.48) become for open stirng in the T-dual picture

$$\partial_1 X^2 \big|_{\sigma^1 = 0} = 0, \quad \partial_0 X^1 - \tan \theta \, \partial_1 X^2 \big|_{\sigma^1 = \ell} = 0,$$

$$\partial_0 X^1 \big|_{\sigma^1 = 0} = 0, \quad \partial_1 X^1 + \tan^{-1} \theta \, partial_0 X^2 \big|_{\sigma^1 = \ell} = 0.$$
(3.61)

Comparing with the boundary conditions in (3.42), the term $2\pi \alpha' F_{\mu\nu}$ can be identified with $\tan^{-1} \theta$. Since no B-field is considered the angle θ between intersecting branes is related in the T-dual picture to a non-vanishing fieldstrength *F* on the whole \mathbb{C} by

$$F = (2\pi\alpha'\tan\theta)^{-1} dX^1 \wedge dX^2.$$
(3.62)

For T-dualizing the direction x^1 , the flux on the dual theory is given by

$$F = 2\pi\alpha' \tan\theta \,\mathrm{d}X^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}X^2 \,. \tag{3.63}$$

The physical interpretation is, that in the T-dual picture the whole \mathbb{C} is filled out with a D-brane, which carries the magnetic flux *F* on it [49].

CHAPTER 4

Type IIA compactification on orientifolds

In order for string theory to describe the SM of particle physics in a low energy limit, six of the ten dimensions for the spacetime M^{10} need to be compactified on a six dimensional compact space X^6 , leaving four dimensional Minkowski space $\mathbb{R}^{1,3}$ uncompact

$$M^{10} \to \mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times X^6 \,. \tag{4.1}$$

In this chapter it is described how to compactify Type IIA string theory on orientifolds with intersecting D-branes. Orientifold compactification already leads in four dimensions to features, which are similar to those described in the SM. Type IIA orientifolds are introduced in [54, 55], where intersecting branes are discussed in [49]. Since then many orientifold models with intersecting D-branes where constructed where [56–58] are just some examples. In section 4.1 geometric properties of orientifolds are discussed and for that [20, 23] is followed.

4.1 Geometry of orientifolds

4.1.1 Torus

Let $\{\vec{\alpha}_i\}_{i \in \{1,...,2n\}}$ be a set of 2n linearly independent vectors in \mathbb{R}^{2n} . The set $\{\vec{\alpha}_i\}$ generates a 2n-dimensional lattice Λ^{2n} , where Λ^{2n} is the set of all integer linear combinations of the generators $\vec{\alpha}_i$

$$\Lambda^{2n} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{2n} n_i \vec{\alpha}_i \middle| n_i \in \mathbb{Z} \right\} =: \langle \vec{\alpha}_1, ..., \vec{\alpha}_{2n} \rangle.$$

$$(4.2)$$

The quotient space

$$T^{2n} = \frac{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}{\Lambda^{2n}},\tag{4.3}$$

describes a 2n-dimensional flat torus T^{2n} , where the quotient in (4.3) is to be understood as the identification of points, which differ by translation of lattices vectors, as

$$x \sim x + \vec{\lambda}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{\lambda} \in \Lambda^{2n}.$$
 (4.4)

The neighbourhood in \mathbb{R}^{2n} containing all points, which are inequivalent according to the identification (4.4), is called the fundamental domain of the torus $\mathcal{F}(T^{2n}) \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. A natural basis for a coordinate system on the torus, besides the canonical basis, is given by the set of the generators $\{\vec{\alpha}_i\}$. The basis is named in

the following as the lattice basis and coordinates in the lattice basis are denoted by $(y_1, ..., y_{2n}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. The canonical basis in \mathbb{R}^{2n} is spanned by 2n orthonormal basis vectors $\{\vec{e}_i\}_{i \in \{1,...,2n\}}$ and the corresponding coordinates are denoted in the following as $(x_1, ..., x_{2n}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. The fundamental domain of the torus can then be defined by all points of \mathbb{R}^{2n} within a cell of Λ^{2n} and can be expressed by

$$\mathcal{F}(T^{2n}) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{2n} y_i \vec{\alpha}_i \, \middle| \, \forall \, y^i \in [0, 1[\right\},$$
(4.5)

s.t. the local geometry of the torus is described by the line element for \mathbb{R}^{2n} given by

$$d^2 s = \sum_{i=1}^{2n} dx_i^2.$$
(4.6)

The transformation matrix $M \in \{x_i = M_i^j y_j \mid M \in GL(2n, \mathbb{R})\}$ for a coordinate transformation, contains the vielbein of a metric *g* on the torus and its components can be deduced by

$$g = M^T \cdot M, \quad \text{s.t.} \quad \delta_{ij} \mathrm{d} x^i \mathrm{d} x^j = g_{ij} \mathrm{d} y^i \mathrm{d} y^j \,. \tag{4.7}$$

Global properties of the torus, such as lengths and relative angles of the generators $\vec{\alpha}_i$ are captured in g. If g has a blockdiagonal form, consisting of $n \ 2 \times 2$ dimensional matrices in the diagonal and the remaining off-diagonal elements vanish, as

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} g^{(1)} & & \\ & g^{(2)} & & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & g^{(n)} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad g^{(h)} = \begin{pmatrix} g^{(h)}_{11} & g^{(h)}_{12} \\ g^{(h)}_{12} & g^{(h)}_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.8}$$

the torus is called factorisable. The generators of the underlying lattice of a factorisable torus can be sorted to *n* pairs of vectors $\{(\vec{\alpha}_{2h-1}, \vec{\alpha}_{2h})\}_{h \in \{1,...,n\}}$, s.t. each pair is mutually orthogonal to the other pairs, which means the lattice is factorisable into *n* mutually orthogonal two dimensional lattices $\Lambda^2_{(h)}$, each spanned by a pair $(\vec{\alpha}_{2h-1}, \vec{\alpha}_{2h})$. Thus the quotient space of \mathbb{R}^{2n} by a factorisable lattice, decomposes likewise into a product of *n* two dimensional tori

$$T^{2n} = \frac{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}{\prod_{h=1}^{n} \Lambda_{(h)}^2} = \prod_{h=1}^{n} T_{(h)}^2, \quad \text{with} \quad T_{(h)}^2 = \frac{\mathbb{R}^2}{\Lambda_{(h)}^2}.$$
(4.9)

When introducing complex coordinates $(z_h)_{h \in \{1,..,n\}} \in \mathbb{C}^n$, with $z_h = x_{2h-1} + ix_{2h}$ on \mathbb{R}^{2n} , each T^2 factor can be placed on a complex plane, s.t. a coordinate z_h denotes points on $T^2_{(h)}$. If the generators of the underlying lattice of a torus cannot be sorted to mutually orthogonal pairs, the torus is called nonfactorisable. The hermitian metric *h*, Kähler 2-form ω_2 and volume *n*-form Ω_n for the torus is inherited from its covering space \mathbb{R}^{2n} and given by [59]

$$h = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{i\overline{j}}dz^i d\overline{z}^j + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\overline{i}j}d\overline{z}^i dz^j, \quad \omega_2 = \frac{i}{2}\delta_{i\overline{j}}dz^i \wedge d\overline{z}^j, \quad \Omega_n = \bigwedge_{i=1}^n dz_i, \quad (4.10)$$

where $z_i = x_{2i-1} + ix_{2i}$ are complex coordinates. The Kähler 2-form and volume *n*-form are calibration forms¹ on the torus. Parameters in the hermitian metric and Kähler form, called moduli, carry global properties of the torus, such as shape and size.

The following two examples shall illustrate and deepen the above discussion:

(i) Two dimensional Torus T^2 :

Let a two dimensional torus T^2 be given by

$$T^2 = \frac{\mathbb{R}^2}{\Lambda^2}, \quad \text{with} \quad \Lambda_2 = \langle \vec{\alpha}_1, \vec{\alpha}_2 \rangle.$$
 (4.11)

By introducing the complex coordinates

$$w = y_1 + Uy_2, (4.12)$$

the torus is fully specified by a Kähler and complex structure modulus $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $U \in \mathbb{C}$

$$K = \sqrt{\det(g)}$$
, and $U = \frac{g_{12}}{g_{11}} + i \frac{\sqrt{\det(g)}}{g_{11}}$, (4.13)

where g is the metric on the T^2 [61]. Let the two generators of the lattice be given by

$$\vec{\alpha}_1 = R, \quad \vec{\alpha}_2 = R\tau, \quad \text{with} \quad R \in \mathbb{R}, \, \tau \in \mathbb{C},$$

$$(4.14)$$

in the complex plane. Then the metric takes the form

$$g = R^2 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \operatorname{Re}(\tau) \\ \operatorname{Re}(\tau) & |\tau|^2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.15)$$

and the moduli are

$$K = R^2 \operatorname{Im}(\tau), \quad U = \tau.$$
(4.16)

The complex structure modulus contains the information of the angle between $\vec{\alpha}_1$ and $\vec{\alpha}_2$, where the overall size of the torus is encoded in the Kähler structure modulus. Performing a coordinate transformation in (4.10), using the vielbein of g, the hermitian metric for the T^2 is expressed in the lattice basis by

$$h = R^2 \mathrm{d}w \mathrm{d}\overline{w}\,,\tag{4.17}$$

where the Kähler 2-form can be given by

$$\omega_2 = R^2 \operatorname{Im}(\tau) \operatorname{Re}(\mathrm{d}w) \wedge \operatorname{Im}(\mathrm{d}\overline{w}), \qquad (4.18)$$

s.t. its components is given by the Kähler modulus. The transformations

$$\vec{\alpha}_2 \to \vec{\alpha}_2 + \vec{\alpha}_1 \quad \text{and} \quad \vec{\alpha}_1 \to \vec{\alpha}_2 + \vec{\alpha}_1$$

$$(4.19)$$

¹ A calibration *p*-form ϕ for an *n* dimensional complex manifold *M* is defined by being a closed form $d\phi = 0$ and minimizing the volume of *p* dimensional submanifolds $N \subset M$. That means, if the volume of *N* is given by $Vol(N) = \int_N \phi$, then $Vol(N) \leq Vol(N'), \forall N'$ in the same homology class. See [60] for more details.

leave the lattice Λ_2 invariant. These transformations correspond to the transformations of the complex structure given by

$$\tau \to \tau + 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \tau \to \frac{\tau}{\tau + 1},$$
(4.20)

which are the generators of the modular group $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Hence two dimensional tori with complex structure moduli differing by modular transformations are equivalent, since their underlying lattices are equivalent.

(ii) SO(12)-Torus $T_{SO(12)}^6$: The six simple roots of the Lie algebra SO(12)

$$\vec{\alpha}_1 = (1, -1, 0, 0, 0, 0)^T, \quad \vec{\alpha}_2 = (0, 1, -1, 0, 0, 0)^T, \quad \vec{\alpha}_3 = (0, 0, 1, -1, 0, 0)^T,
\vec{\alpha}_4 = (0, 0, 0, 1, -1, 0)^T, \quad \vec{\alpha}_5 = (0, 0, 0, 0, 1, -1)^T, \quad \vec{\alpha}_6 = (0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 1)^T.$$
(4.21)

are the generators of the SO(12) root lattice $\Lambda_{SO(12)}$. The six dimensional torus resulting from the quotient space \mathbb{R}^6 divided by the *SO*(12) root lattice, is denoted in the following as $T_{SO(12)}^6$:

$$T_{\rm SO(12)}^6 = \frac{\mathbb{R}^6}{\Lambda_{\rm SO(12)}} \,. \tag{4.22}$$

Since the generators cannot be sorted into three mutually orthogonal pairs the torus is nonfactorisable. By turning on moduli, the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ can be further deformed. In the following the deformation parameters $R_h \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tau_h \in \mathbb{C}$ are turned on in each complex plane individually, s.t. the hermitian metric and Kähler 2-form is given by

$$h = \sum_{h=1}^{3} R_{h}^{2} |1 - \tau_{h}|^{2} \mathrm{d}w_{h} \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_{h}, \quad \omega_{2} = \sum_{h=1}^{3} R_{h}^{2} |1 - \tau_{h}|^{2} \mathrm{d}w_{h} \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_{h}, \quad (4.23)$$

with the complex coordinates w_h defined by

$$w_1 = y_1 + \frac{\tau_1 y_2}{1 - \tau_1}, \quad w_2 = y_3 - \frac{y_2}{1 - \tau_2} + \frac{\tau_2 y_4}{1 - \tau_2}, \quad w_3 = y_5 - \frac{y_4}{1 - \tau_3} + \frac{1 + \tau_3}{1 - \tau_3} y_6.$$
(4.24)

Due to the diagonal form of the hermitian metric in (4.23), one Kähler structure modulus K_h and one complex structure modulus U_h for each complex plane can be defined similar as for the T^2 by²

$$w_h = \operatorname{Re}(w_h) + U_h \operatorname{Im}(w_h), \quad \omega_2 = \sum_{h=1}^3 K_h \operatorname{Re}(\mathrm{d}w_h) \wedge \operatorname{Im}(\mathrm{d}w_h).$$
(4.25)

The moduli for the deformed $T_{SO(12)}^6$ depend on the deformation parameters accordingly by

$$U_h = \tau_h, \quad K_h = R_h^2 |1 - \tau_h|^2 \operatorname{Im}(\tau_h).$$
 (4.26)

The deformation parameters capture the lengths and relative angles of the lattice vectors and at the point $(R_h, \tau) = (1, i)$, the undeformed $T_{SO(12)}^6$ is reconstructed.

² Turning on moduli in each plane individually ensures that D6-branes, wrapping the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ remain supersymmetric. It is further explained in section 4.1.4

4.1.2 Orientifolds for type IIA compactification

In this section real six (or complex three) dimensional orientifolds, suitable for Type IIA string compactification are considered. It is required that the orientifolds lead at most to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry in the uncompact space, otherwise a chiral spectrum in four dimensions cannot be achieved. Such orientifold arise, from six dimensional tori quotient out by an orientifold group G_{Ω} , with G_{Ω} containing a discrete subgroup of S U(3) and a worldsheet parity. Let the orientifold group be composed of the discrete group G and the operator ΩR as

$$G_{\Omega} = G \cup \Omega RG \,, \tag{4.27}$$

where G is a discrete subgroup of SU(3) and acts on the internal space, where ΩR acts additionally as an involution on the worldsheet. An orientifold is then defined by the quotient space

$$O^6 = \frac{T^6}{G \cup \Omega RG} \,. \tag{4.28}$$

As an intermediate step before considering the full orientifold projection, orbifolds are discussed in the following. Orbifolds are given by the quotient space T^6/G and are discussed in the context of string theory in [62, 63].

Orbifold

The discrete group G is called the orbifolding group and its group elements $g = (\theta, \vec{t}) \in G$ in general consists of a rotation θ and a translation \vec{t} [64]. The action of g on a point $x \in T^6$ is defined by

$$g: x \to gx = \theta x + \vec{t}. \tag{4.29}$$

The rotations are called twists and the translations are called roto-translations. The subgroup of *G* consisting only of the rotations is called the point group *P* and has to be an automorphism of the underlying lattice of the torus. *G* is of order *N*, when g^N acts trivially on the torus (but not necessarily on the covering space \mathbb{R}^6). That implies, that the action of g^N on a point $x \in T^6$ is trivial up to lattice translations

$$g^N x = x + \vec{\lambda}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{\lambda} \in \Lambda^6.$$
 (4.30)

For orbifolding groups with no roto-translations, g^N acts also trivially on the covering space. The group containing the orbifolding group and all lattice translations $\vec{\lambda} \in \Lambda^6$ is called the space group $S = \{\Lambda^6, G\}$ of the orbifold and the quotient space

$$\frac{\mathbb{R}^6}{S} = \frac{T^6}{G} \tag{4.31}$$

is called an orbifold. In the following only orbifolding groups with trivial roto-translations are considered, s.t. the orbifolding group is equivalent to its point group P and the space group is just the semidirect product $S = P \ltimes \Lambda^6$. The rotations of the point group can be expressed in representations of SO(6)transformations. Denoting the three Cartan generators of SO(6) by H_h , with $h \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, a rotation $\theta \in P$ is given by

$$\theta = \exp\left(2\pi i \sum_{h=1}^{3} v_h H_v\right). \tag{4.32}$$

The vector $\vec{v} = (v_1, v_2, v_3)^T$ is called the twist vector. Each Cartan generator acts on a complex plane, s.t. the action of θ on the complex coordinates in the compact space is given by

$$\theta: (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to \left(e^{2\pi i v_1} z_1, e^{2\pi i v_2} z_2, e^{2\pi i v_3} z_3 \right).$$
(4.33)

On fermionic fields ψ , θ acts as

$$\theta: |s_1, s_2, s_3\rangle \to e^{2\pi i \sum_h s_h v_h} |s_1, s_2, s_3\rangle, \quad \text{with} \quad s_h = \pm 1/2,$$
(4.34)

where $|s_1, s_2, s_3\rangle$ denotes the state of ψ in the spin representation of *SO*(6). For *P* to be of order *N* the components of the twist vector must satisfy

$$Nv_h \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\}.$$
 (4.35)

Further, in order to preserve a four dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry generator in the uncompact space from a ten dimensional supersymmetry generator, P must preserve one Killing spinor on the orbifold. For example the state $|\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\rangle$ has to be invariant under the action of P. Applying (4.34) on the spinor, it remains invariant only for twist vectors with components satisfying

$$v_1 + v_2 + v_3 = 0 \mod 2$$
. (4.36)

Thus the rotations of *P* are traceless and hence *P* is given by a discrete subgroup of *SU*(3). Some space group elements $(\theta, \vec{\lambda})$ leave some points FIX(*g*) on the torus invariant, which are called fixed points. They are determined by the fixed point equation

$$\operatorname{FIX}(g) = \left\{ x = g \cdot x + \vec{\lambda} \mid x \in T^6, \ g \in P, \ \vec{\lambda} \in \Lambda^6 \right\}.$$
(4.37)

Excluding the fixed points from the orbifold, the local geometry of the remaining space is that of the covering space \mathbb{R}^6 . That means locally, infinitesimal distances are determined by the euclidean line element

$$d^2 s = \delta_{h\bar{h}} dz^h d\bar{z}^h, \quad \forall z \in \frac{T^6}{P} \setminus \{ \text{FIX}(g) \}_{g \in P}.$$
(4.38)

However the fixed points contain singular curvature, as can be seen, when tangent vectors are parallel transported around a fixed point: Let γ be the path between two points x_1 and x_2 differing by a spacegroup element

$$\gamma(c)\Big|_{c=0} = x_1, \quad \gamma(c)\Big|_{c=1} = \theta \cdot x_1 + \vec{\lambda} = x_2, \quad c \in [0, 1].$$
 (4.39)

The tangent vector $\frac{d}{dc}\gamma|_{c=0} \in T_p M|_{x_1}$ parallel transported along γ to the point x_2 gets rotated, s.t. $\frac{d}{dc}\gamma|_{c=0}$ differs by a θ transformation from the tangent vector $\frac{d}{dc}\gamma|_{c=1} \in T_p M|_{x_2}$. On the covering space \mathbb{R}^6 , this would not lead to any consequences, but on the orbifold the tangent spaces $T_p M|_{x_1}$ and $T_p M|_{x_2}$ are identified and the path γ is a closed loop on the orbifold. Hence the holonomy group of the orbifold has to be given by the point group $P \subset S U(3)$, because parallel transporting tangent vectors rotate them by the action of P. However the remaining space, without the fixed points, is euclidean, as described in (4.38), so the entire curvature of the orbifold has to be densed at the fixed points. Therefore the curvature becomes singular at the fixed points. Due to the presence of the curvature singularities the orbifold is not a manifold (but an almost manifold so to say).

Next a closer look at supersymmetry from orbifold compactifiaction is taken: Let the supersymmetry charges be denoted by Q_{α} , with $\alpha \in \{1, ..., 16\}$. They are the components of a spinor belonging to the

Majorana-Weyl representation of SO(1,9). The 16 spin states are labeled by

$$Q_{\alpha} = |s_0, s_1, s_2, s_3\rangle, \text{ with } s_i = \pm 1/2, .$$
 (4.40)

After compactification of the ten dimensional spacetime on the orbifold

$$\mathcal{M}^{10} \to \mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times \frac{T^6}{P}, \quad \text{with} \quad P \subset SU(3),$$

$$(4.41)$$

transformations of SO(1, 9) decompose into a SO(1, 3) and SO(6) part, where the SO(1, 3) is the Lorentz group acting on the uncompact space and the SO(6) part is the rotation group acting on the compact space. The values for s_1 , s_2 , s_3 correspond to the eigenvalues of the three Cartan generators H_i of the rotation group in the compact space, as described in (4.34), and s_0 denotes the spin state in a Weyl representation of the Lorentz group SO(1, 3). The holonomy group of the internal space ensures that all states which transform non-trivially under (4.34) gets projected out. The only states of Q_α , which are covariantly constant on the orbifold, are

$$Q_{\xi} = |s_0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\rangle, \text{ and } \overline{Q}_{\xi} = |s_0, -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}\rangle,$$

$$(4.42)$$

with $\xi, \dot{\xi} \in \{1, 2\}$ for $s_0 \in \{\pm \frac{1}{2}\}$. The states Q_{ξ} serve as the four dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry generator and $\overline{Q}_{\dot{\xi}}$ its complex conjugated. Hence the orbifold preserves from each ten dimensional supersymmetry generator Q, the generators of the four dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry algebra. For string theories with $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry in ten dimension, such as heterotic string theories, compactifying on an orbifold with SU(3) holonomy leads to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry in four dimensions. These kinds of models have been intensively studied for example in [65–67]. But for Type II string theories, compactification on orbifolds with SU(3) holonomy leads to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry in four dimensions and brings a non chiral spectrum in four dimensions with it.

Strings on orbifolds

Closed string states on the orbifold are inherited by string states on the torus, which survive the point group projection. They are determined by the transformation behaviour of the states under the twist operators. By expressing the twist operators in representations of SO(6) as in (4.32) the transformation on left- and rightmoving string states under the point group can be determined. Closed string states preserved by the point group are those, which transform trivially under all twist elements. Such string states which are preserved from the spectrum on the torus are called untwisted states.

However the non-trivial structure of the orbifold fixed points mirrors in the spectrum from closed strings on the orbifold. Open strings on the torus are closed on the orbifold, when their end points are mapped by a rotation of $g \in P$ to each other. That way new closed string states, called twisted closed strings and which did not exist on the torus, can arise on the orbifold. They wrap around orbifold fixed points and hence are located at the fixed points. Twisted closed strings are determined by twisted boundary conditions (similar to open strings at intersecting D-branes). A twisted closed string, which is closed up to a rotation of g on the orbifold and therefore located at a g fixed point, is determined by the g-twisted boundary conditions [63]

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}+\ell) = gX^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) + 2\pi RW, \quad \psi^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}+\ell) = \pm g\psi^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}), \quad (4.43)$$

where *R* is the compactification radius of the μ -th direction and $W \in \mathbb{R}$ is the winding number of the closed string around the μ -th direction. The necessity of twisted closed strings is realized, when taking a

look at the one-loop vacuum corrections from closed strings. The one-loop amplitude is only modular invariant for closed strings in orbifolds, when states from twisted closed strings are included [63]. As an example, in section 4.2.1 and appendix A, the massless Type IIA closed strings states in the untwisted and twisted sector on a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ orbifold are explicitly computed.

Orientifold

Type II string compactification on orbifolds lead to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry in four dimensions. Hence the supersymmetry charges need to be further halved. The two supersymmetry generators Q_L and Q_R of Type II belong to the left- and rightmoving sector respectively. An operation relating the leftmoving sector with the rightmoving sector and vice versa is given by worldsheet parity. Worldsheet parity is defined by inverting the orientation of the string and by denoting the worldsheet parity operator by Ω , it is acts on the worldsheet coordinates as

$$\Omega: (\sigma^0, \sigma^1) \to (\sigma^0, \ell - \sigma^1). \tag{4.44}$$

The symmetry between the left- and rightmoving sector in Type IIB, allows to quotient out the action of Ω from Type IIB. That means only states invariant under Ω are preserved, which means for Q_L and Q_R , that only a linear combination of those two are preserved, leaving 16 of the 32 supersymmetry charges remaining. Further compactification on an orbifold eliminates 12 degrees of freedom and leads to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry in four dimensions. Hence compactifying Type IIB on an orientifold, with $G_{\Omega} = G \cup \Omega G$ in (4.27), is a possible choice in order to receive a chiral spectrum in four dimensions. However this is not the only possibility: T-dualiy exposes other possibilities for ΩR . Since Ω exchanges the left- and rightmoving sector, it acts on the pair of fields $X^{\mu} = (X_L^{\mu}, X_R^{\mu})$ as

$$\Omega: (X_L^{\mu}, X_R^{\mu}) \to (X_R^{\mu}, X_L^{\mu}).$$
(4.45)

The pair (X_L^{μ}, X_R^{μ}) has to belong to a theory S, which is invariant under Ω , such as a ten dimensional Type IIB. In order to determine the corresponding operator $\tilde{\Omega}$ in the theory \tilde{S} , with a direction x^a T-dualized, one has to transform the pair $\tilde{X}^a = (\tilde{X}_L^a, \tilde{X}_R^a)$ from \tilde{S} into S by using T-duality, given in (3.60), apply Ω and then T-dualize the transformed fields back to \tilde{S} . The computations

$$\tilde{\Omega}: (\tilde{X}_L^a, \tilde{X}_R^a) \to T\Omega T \tilde{X}^a = T\Omega (X_L^a, -X_R^a) = T(-X_R^a, X_L^a) = -(\tilde{X}_R^a, \tilde{X}_L^a),$$
(4.46)

exposes that worldsheet parity for T-dualized directions, has to be afflicted with a spacetime reflection R along the T-dualized directions

$$\tilde{\Omega} = \Omega R$$
, with $R: x^a \to -x^a$. (4.47)

By reflecting a spacetime direction the string oscillator modes for that direction also gets a sign. Since the R zeromodes correspond to the eight dimensional Gamma matrices Γ^a , $\Gamma_{chiral} = 16 \prod_{\mu=2}^{9} \Gamma^{\mu}$ obtains for each reflected direction x^a a sign. For $\tilde{\Omega}$ to respect the GSO-projection (3.31), the spacetime involution *R* has to act on the chirality operator as

$$R: \Gamma_{\text{chiral}} \to \begin{cases} \Gamma_{\text{chiral}} & \text{for Type IIB,} \\ -\Gamma_{\text{chiral}} & \text{for Type IIA,} \end{cases}$$
(4.48)

and consequently R can be given by

$$R: z_i \to \overline{z}_i, \quad \text{for} \quad \begin{cases} \text{even number of } z_i & \text{for Type IIB,} \\ \text{odd number of } z_i & \text{for Type IIA.} \end{cases}$$
(4.49)

Further ΩR has to map spacetime fermions from the leftmoving sector to spacetime fermions in the rightmoving sector and vice versa, s.t. a representation for ΩR in the spinor space is given by $\prod_a (\Gamma^a \Gamma_{\text{chiral}})$, with x^a the directions on which R acts non-trivially³. Hence the 16 supercharges of Q_L from the leftmoving sector get mapped to the 16 supercharges of Q_R of the rightmoving sector and vice versa by ΩR , s.t. quotienting out ΩR preserves only a linear combination Q of the two supersymmetry generators given by

$$Q = Q_L + \prod_a \Gamma^a \Gamma_{\text{chiral}} Q_R \,, \tag{4.50}$$

with *a* denoting the T-dualized directions, starting from ten dimensional Type IIB. Compactifying Type II string theory on $T^6/(G \cup \Omega RG)$, with $G \subset SU(3)$, ΩR cancels 16 of the 32 degrees of freedom of the supersymmetry charges and *G* eliminates 3/4 of the supercharges, s.t. four supercharges remain and form a Dirac spinor for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry generator in four dimensions.

Besides fixed points, preserved by the orbifolding group, the orientifold preserves orientifold fixed planes, also named O-planes. For a given group element $\Omega Rg \in G$, where $g \in P$, an O-plane preserved by the group element is defined by the plane consisting of the set of points, which is left invariant under ΩRg

$$\operatorname{FIX}(\Omega Rg) = \left\{ x = Rgx + \vec{\lambda} \mid x \in T^6, \ \vec{\lambda} \in \Lambda^6 \right\}.$$
(4.51)

O-planes couple to R-R closed strings and therefore have non-trivial RR charge [41, 45, 69]. The couplings to R-R strings can potentially lead to divergent terms in the vacuum energy called tadpoles. It will be discussed in section 4.2.3 how tadpoles are cancelled by placing D-branes with the opposite R-R charge. In the following of this chapter it will be focused on Type IIA compactified on orientifolds, with *R* acting non-trivially on three directions x^5 , x^7 , x^9 , s.t. O-planes are determined by

$$(z_1, z_2, z_3) = (e^{-2\pi i v_1} \overline{z}_1, e^{-2\pi i v_2} \overline{z}_2, e^{-2\pi i v_3} \overline{z}_3) + \vec{\lambda},$$
(4.52)

for $\vec{v} = (v_1, v_2, v_3)^T$ the twist vectors of the point group elements. The O-planes are called O6-planes, because they fill six spatial directions: three in the compact and three in the uncompact space.

4.1.3 Fixed point resolution

The orbifold itself is due to the presence of curvature singularities in the fixed points not a manifold. However it exists a definite prescription to resolve the orbifold singularities. In this section it will be briefly sketched how to find the right resolutions to orbifold singularities. For a more detailed decription see for example [70–72]. Orbifolds with the point group given by \mathbb{Z}_N or $\mathbb{Z}_M \times \mathbb{Z}_N$ is considered in the following. The resulting orbifold singularities are locally like $\mathbb{C}^3/\mathbb{Z}_N$ singularities. First the following objects have to be introduced:

Let *N* be a lattice isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^n . Let $V = \{v_i\}_{i \in \{1,...,d\}}$, with d > n, be a collection of lattice vectors in

³ Since Γ_{chiral} anticommutes with $\Gamma^{a}\Gamma_{\text{chiral}}$, $\prod_{a}\Gamma^{a}\Gamma_{\text{chiral}}\psi$ flips its chirality of ψ for each direction x^{a} . For more details see [19, 68].

N. A cone σ spanned by a subset of lattice vectors $\{v_i\}_{i \in \{1,...,d\}}$ is given by

$$\sigma = \langle v_{i_1}, v_{i_2}, ... \rangle = \left\{ \sum_i a_i v_i \middle| a_i \in \mathbb{R}_{\ge 0}, \ i \subseteq \{1, ..., d\} \right\}$$
(4.53)

and is called convex if $\omega \in \sigma - \{0\}$, then $-\omega \notin \sigma$. If the cones constructed out of *V* are all convex and their faces are again lower dimensional cones and furthermore the intersection of two cones are also cones, then the collection of the cones or the set *V* is called a fan Σ . To a fan Σ a toric variety X_{Σ} can be associated the following way: Let z_i be a homogeneous coordinate in \mathbb{C}^d , associated to a vector v_i of the fan. To each vector v_i a codimension one divisor D_i can be assigned by $D_i = \{z_i = 0\}$. The vectors v_i need to satisfy d - n linear equation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} l_i^{(a)} v_i = 0, \quad a = 1, ..., d - n, \quad l_i^{(a)} \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(4.54)

The above linear equation defines a $(\mathbb{C}^*)^{d-n}$ action on the homogeneous coordinates

$$\mathbb{C}^*: (z_1, ..., z_d) \sim (\lambda_a^{l_1^{(a)}} z_1, ..., \lambda_a^{l_d^{(a)}} z_d).$$
(4.55)

Let the exclusion set F be defined by the set of simultaneous zero loci of the homogeneous coordinates, whose assosiated vectors do not spann a fan

$$F = \bigcup_{i} \{ z_{1_i} = 0, ..., z_{k_i} = 0 \}, \quad \langle v_{1_i}, ..., v_{1_k} \rangle \notin \Sigma.$$
(4.56)

The toric variety is then given by the quotient space

$$X_{\Sigma} = \frac{\mathbb{C}^d - F}{\left(\mathbb{C}^*\right)^{d-n}}.$$
(4.57)

The space X_{Σ} is smooth if the set of vectors V cover all points in the lattice N. These tools can now be used to resolve orbifold singularities. Let the orbifold action be generated by

$$\theta: (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to (\epsilon^{n_1} z_1, \epsilon^{n_2} z_2, \epsilon^{n_3} z_3), \quad \epsilon = e^{2\pi i/n}, \quad \sum_{i=1}^3 n_i = 0 \mod n.$$
(4.58)

From the orbifold action it can be read of that three vectors belonging to the fan and which correspond to the coordinates z_i have to satisfy

$$n_1v_1 + n_2v_2 + n_3v_3 = 0 \mod n. \tag{4.59}$$

Due to the condition that the orbifold group is a subgroup of S U(3), the coordinates for the three v_i 's can always be set to one in one plane. When the orbifold contains singularities, the three v_i 's are not enough to reach all lattice points in N, indicating that the orbifold is not smooth. Next one adds the missing vectors x_i , s.t. the resulting space gets smooth. Adding new vectors x_i means introducing new coordinates w_i corresponding to exceptional divisors at $D_i = \{w_i = 0\}$. The set of vectors $\{v_i, w_i\}$ and a collection of the cones, which they span, generates the fan of the resolved orbifold $\operatorname{Res} (\mathbb{C}^3/\mathbb{Z}_n)$. The exclusion set Fcontains all fixed points and are replaced by the exceptional divisors at $D_i = \{w_i = 0\}$. That way the fixed points are removed and replaced by smooth manifolds, s.t. the resulting space is smooth.
4.1.4 3-cycles on tori and orbifolds

Homology

In order to introduce cycles on compact manifolds arguments in [59, 73] are followed. Let M be a dimensional compact manifold and the set $\{N_p^i\}_{i \in \{1,2,...\}}$ contain the p dimensional submanifolds $N_p \subseteq M$, with $k \leq \dim(M)$. They form a vectorspace C_p of p-chains, where a p-chain is given by linear combinations of the submanifolds

$$C_k(M) = \left\{ a_p = \sum_i x_i Z_p^i \ \middle| \ x_i \in \mathbb{R}, \ Z_p^i \subseteq M, \ \dim(N_p^i) = p \le \dim(M) \right\}.$$
(4.60)

Let the interior Int(N) of a *p* dimensional manifold *N* denotes the set of points in *N*, whose neighbourhood is given by an open subset of \mathbb{R}^p . The boundary ∂N of *N* is then given by the complement of the interior of *N* and maps *p*-chains to (p-1)-chains

$$\partial: C_p \to C_{p-1}, \text{ with } \partial N = N \setminus \operatorname{Int}(N).$$
 (4.61)

A p-chain a_p without a boundary is called a p-cycle of M and the set of p-cycles Z_p are given by

$$Z_p(M) = \left\{ a_p \in C_p \mid \partial a_p = 0, \, a_p \in M \right\}.$$

$$(4.62)$$

Since the boundary of a boundary is always zero a *p*-cycle a_p , which is already the boundary of a (p + 1)-chain is a trivial *p*-cycle. Let B_p denote the set of trivial *p*-cycles

$$B_p(M) = \left\{ \partial a_{p+1} \in C_p \mid a_{p+1} \in C_{p+1}, a_{p+1} \in M \right\},$$
(4.63)

then the space of the *p*-th homology $H_p(M)$ of *M* is given by

$$H_p(M) = \frac{Z_p(M)}{B_p(M)},$$
(4.64)

and contains the set of non-trivial *p*-cycles on *M*. All *p*-cycles, which are related by trivial *p*-cycles belong to the same homology class $[a_p]$

$$\left[a_p\right] = \left\{a_p \simeq a_p + \partial b_{p+1} \mid a_p \in H_p, \ \partial b_{p+1} \in B_p\right\}.$$
(4.65)

The *p*-th homology has a vectorspace structure with the different homology classes serving as a basis and the dimension of H_p given by the number of homology classes.

For example, the first homology $H_1(T^2)$ of the two dimensional torus T^2 is two dimensional. It is spanned by the 1-cycles

$$a = \left\{ \vec{x} = \mu \vec{\alpha}_1 \,\middle| \, \mu \in [0, 1) \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad b = \left\{ \vec{x} = \nu \vec{\alpha}_2 \,\middle| \, \nu \in [0, 1) \right\}.$$
(4.66)

Due to the identification of the points $0 \sim \vec{a_1}$, *a* has no boundaries and similar due to $0 \sim \vec{a_2}$, *b* has also no boundaries. A cycle *a'* parallel to *a*, belongs to the same homology class as *a*, because *a* and *a'* form the boundary of a segment of the torus, which is a trivial 2-chain. Since the difference of *a* and *b* is not a segment of the T^2 , they lie in different homology classes.

In the following D6-branes are discussed intensively. They wrap volume minimizing 3-cycles in the compact space which are given by special Lagrangian (sLag) cycles[74]. Hence the third homology of six

dimensional tori and orientifolds $H_3(T^6)$ and $H_3(O^6)$ are particularly interesting for this work. First sLag 3-cycles on the torus are discussed. When the orientifold is considered, it is distinguished between two kinds of 3-cycles: Bulk 3-cycles, which are inherited from the underlying torus, and fractional 3-cycles, wrapping the exceptional divisors at orbifold fixed points.

Special Lagrangian cycles on the T^6

A particular class of cycles, which are important in the context of D6-branes, are called special Lagrangian (sLag) cycles. They have the important property of being volume minimizing in their homology class [60]. An *n* dimensional submanifold $N \subset M$ is volume minimizing, when it is calibrated by a calibration *n*-form [75]. That means, when *J* is a calibration *n*-form on *M*, then *N* is volume minimizing, when its volume is given by

$$\operatorname{Vol}(N) = \int_{N} J.$$
(4.67)

The sLag conditions for a *p*-cycle Π^p in a compact manifold *M* with Kähler 2-form ω_2 and volume *n*-form Ω_n are [60, 75, 76]

٦

- dim $\left(\Pi^k\right) = \frac{1}{2}$ dim (M),
- $\omega_2|_{\Pi^k} = 0$,
- $\operatorname{Im}(\mathrm{e}^{i\vartheta}\Omega_n)\Big|_{\Pi^k} = 0,$

with $\vartheta \in [0, 2\pi]$ some phase called the calibration phase. On the T^6 the sLag conditions are solved by 3-cycles Π^3 , which factorise into three mutually orthogonal 1-cycles: Let $\Pi^1_{(h)} \in H_1(T^6)$, for $h \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, with $\Pi^1_{(1)} \perp \Pi^1_{(2)} \perp \Pi^1_{(3)}$. Then $\Pi^3 \in H_3(T^6)$, with

$$\Pi^3 = \prod_{h=1}^3 \Pi^1_{(h)}, \qquad (4.68)$$

is a sLag 3-cycle, when $\Pi^1_{(h)}$ has the shape of a straight line in the *h*-th complex plane. The relative angles θ_h of $\Pi^1_{(h)}$ to the real axis are related to the calibration phase by $\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3 = \vartheta$, s.t.

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \arctan\left(\frac{\left\|\operatorname{Im}\left(\Pi_{(h)}^{1}\right)\right\|}{\left\|\operatorname{Re}\left(\Pi_{(h)}^{1}\right)\right\|}\right) = \vartheta, \qquad (4.69)$$

with $\|\operatorname{Re}(\Pi_{(h)}^1)\|$ and $\|\operatorname{Im}(\Pi_{(h)}^1)\|$ the length of the real and complex part of $\Pi_{(h)}^1$ in the *h*-th complex plane on the fundamental domain of the T^6 . On the factorisable torus each 1-cycle $\Pi_{(h)}^1$ can be parametrized by integers $n^h, m^h \in \mathbb{Z}$, which denote the wrapping numbers around the *a* and *b* cycle in $H_1(T_{(h)}^2)$ on each T^2 factor. For the non-factorisable torus the notation can be adopted when it is possible to introducing a factorisable lattice Λ_{fact}^6 , where the underlying lattice of the T^6 is a sublattice $\Lambda^6 \subset \Lambda_{\text{fact}}^6$. Then the integers n^h, m^h parametrize wrappings numbers of $\Pi_{(h)}^1$ along two basis vectors of Λ_{fact}^6 in the *h*-plane and the whole 3-cycle is determined by six integers $\{n^h, m^h\}_{L}h \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ and its position on the covering space \mathbb{R}^6 is determined by

$$\Pi^{3} = \prod_{h=1}^{3} (n^{h}, m^{h}) =: \left\{ \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(n^{h} \vec{\alpha}_{2h-1} + m^{h} \vec{\alpha}_{2h} \right) \mu_{h} \middle| \mu_{1}, \mu_{2}, \mu_{3} \in \mathbb{R} \right\},$$
(4.70)

where $\vec{\alpha}_{2h-1}$, $\vec{\alpha}_{2h}$ are the two generators of $\Lambda_{\text{fact.}}^6$, which lie in the *h*-plane. Since the basis vectors of $\Lambda_{\text{fact.}}^6$ are in general shorter than the basis vectors of the non factorisable lattice, it can happen that multiple wrappings on the factorisable lattice correspond to one wrapping number around the non factorisable torus.

Example: sLag 3-cycles on $T_{SO(12)}^6$:

Here sLag cycles on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ shall be investigated. The Kähler 2-form ω_2 vanishes at a subspace N, when each term $dz_h \wedge d\overline{z}_h$ vanishes individually as it is the case for example for a straight line in the *h*-th plane: The term $dz_h \wedge d\overline{z}_h$ at

$$z_{h} = \left\{ \left(n^{h} \vec{e}_{2h-1} + i m^{h} \vec{e}_{2h} \right) \mu \, \big| \, \mu \in \mathbb{R} \right\}, \tag{4.71}$$

with n^h , m^h integers, becomes $\left(\left(n^h\right)^2 - \left(m^h\right)^2\right) d\mu \wedge d\mu$ and vanishes due to the antisymmetric properties of the wedge product. Consequently the Kähler 2-form vanishes at the subspace given by

$$\vec{z} = \left\{ \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(n^h \vec{e}_{2h-1} + i m^h \vec{e}_{2h} \right) \mu_h \mid \mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3 \in \mathbb{R} \right\} .$$
(4.72)

The integers n^h, m^h denote wrapping numbers around generators of the lattice $\mathbb{Z}^6 = \langle \vec{e}_1, ..., \vec{e}_6 \rangle$. The SO(12) Lie root lattice is a sublattice of \mathbb{Z}^6 , and sLag 3-cycles on $T_{SO(12)}^6$ can therefor be described by (4.72), where (4.71) can be used to describe the 1-cycle factors of the sLag cycles. When $\vec{x}|_{\mu=0}$ is identified with $\vec{x}|_{\mu=1}$ by some SO(12) roots, the line gets compactified to a 1-cycle on $T_{SO(12)}^6$. However not all integers integers n^h, m^h describe closed cycles on the torus. Only for $n^h + m^h \in 2\mathbb{Z}$, the points at $\mu = 0$ get identified with points at $\mu = 1$ for (4.71), which means for example a cycle with wrapping numbers $(n^h, m^h) = (2, 0)$ wraps the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ only once, even though it wraps Λ_{fact}^6 twice. For wrapping numbers satisfying

$$n^h + m^h \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\},$$
 (4.73)

the corresponding 3-cycle is closed on $T_{SO(12)}^6$ [77]. If the condition (4.73) is not fulfilled, then $\{\vec{z}\}$ in (4.72) covers for $\forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \mu_h \in [0, 1)$ only half of a closed 3-cycle on $T_{SO(12)}^6$ [77]. By doubling the the wrapping numbers n^h , m^h of such a half cycle in a plane h, for which (4.73) is violated, one receives a closed cycle on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$. For the case, where (4.73) is violated in only one plane, doubling the wrapping numbers in that plane, satisfies (4.73) clearly. For the cases where (4.73) is violated for two or three planes, it is more subtle, that only one factor of 2 is enough to close the 3-cycle on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$. As an example a closer look at

$$\prod_{h=1}^{3} (n^{h}, m^{h}) = \left\{ \sum_{h=1}^{3} (n^{h} \vec{e}_{2h-1} + im^{h} \vec{e}_{2h}) \mu_{h} \, \Big| \, \mu_{1}, \mu_{2}, \mu_{3} \in [0, 1) \right\},$$
(4.74)

with

$$n^{1} + n^{1} = \text{odd}, \quad n^{2} + n^{2} = \text{odd}, \quad n^{3} + n^{3} = \text{even},$$
 (4.75)

is taken. The cycle does not satisfy (4.73) and therefor only wraps half of a 3-cycle on $T_{SO(12)}^6$. However $2 \prod_{h=1}^{3} (n^h, m^h)$ can be expressed by [77]

$$2\prod_{h=1}^{3} (n^{h}, m^{h}) =$$

$$\left\{ (n^{1}\vec{e}_{1} + m^{1}\vec{e}_{2} + n^{2}\vec{e}_{3} + m^{2}\vec{e}_{4})v_{1} + (n^{1}\vec{e}_{1} + m^{1}\vec{e}_{2} + n^{2}\vec{e}_{3} - m^{2}\vec{e}_{4})v_{2} + (n^{3}\vec{e}_{5} + m^{3}\vec{e}_{6})\mu_{3} \right\},$$

$$(4.76)$$

with $v_1, v_2, \mu_3 \in [0, 1)$, which is indeed closed on the SO(12) lattice, since the vectors $(n^1, m^1, n^2, m^2, 0, 0)$, $(n^1, m^1, n^2, -m^2, 0, 0)$ and $(0, 0, 0, 0, n^3, m^3)$ are SO(12) roots. For wrapping numbers violating (4.73) in all three planes, the doubled 3-cycle can also be expressed by SO(12) lattice vectors in a similar way by

$$2\prod_{h=1}^{3} (n^{h}, m^{h}) = (n^{1}, m^{1}, n^{2}, m^{2}, 0, 0)^{T} \mu_{1} + (n^{1}, m^{1}, n^{2}, -m^{2}, 0, 0)^{T} \mu_{2} + (0, 0, n^{2}, m^{2}, n^{3}, m^{3})^{T} \mu_{3},$$

with $\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3 \in [0, 1)$. Turning on deformation parameters R_h and τ_h as described in section 4.1.1, the position of the 3-cycles is given by

$$\prod_{h=1}^{3} \left(n^{h}, m^{h} \right) = \sum_{h=1}^{3} R_{h} \left(\left(n^{h} + \operatorname{Re}(\tau_{h}) m^{h} \right) \vec{e}_{2h-1} + i \operatorname{Im}(\tau_{h}) m^{h} \vec{e}_{2h} \right) \mu_{h}$$
(4.77)

and the calibration phase of the cycle is given by

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \arctan\left(\frac{\operatorname{Im}(\tau_h)m^h}{n^h + \operatorname{Re}(\tau_h)m^h}\right) = \vartheta.$$
(4.78)

That way, sLag 3-cycles on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ remain sLag after turning on deformations. It also means that the factorisable lattice Λ_{fact} , containing $\Lambda_{SO(12)}$, has to be deformed as well and is actually spanned by

$$K_{1}(1,0,0,0,0,0)^{T}, \quad K_{1}(\operatorname{Re}(\tau_{1}),\operatorname{Im}(\tau_{1}),0,0,0,0)^{T}, K_{2}(0,0,1,0,0,0)^{T}, \quad K_{2}(0,0,\operatorname{Re}(\tau_{2}),\operatorname{Im}(\tau_{2}),0,0)^{T}, K_{3}(0,0,0,0,1,0)^{T}, \quad K_{3}(0,0,0,0,\operatorname{Re}(\tau_{3}),\operatorname{Im}(\tau_{3}))^{T},$$

$$(4.79)$$

when deformations are turned on and $\mathbb{Z}^6 = \Lambda_{\text{fact}}$ holds for the point $(R_h, \tau) = (1, i)$.

Bulk- and fractional cycles on the orbifold

By quotienting the point group out of the torus, only cycles, which are invariant under the point group, remain on the orbifold. A superposition of a torus 3-cycle with all its images under the point group is called a bulk cycle Π_{Bulk}^3 [78]. Therefore it is naturally invariant under the point group action and for an orbifold with the point group *P* given by

$$\Pi_{\text{Bulk}}^3 = \sum_{g \in P} g \cdot \Pi^3 \in H_3\left(T^6/P\right).$$
(4.80)

The exceptional divisors may also contain 3-cycles, so called twisted cycles Π^3_{twist} , and when they are preserved by the point group they can be used to construct fractional cycles [78, 79]. A fractional cycle consists of a torus cycle Π^3 , whose images under the point group action are collapsed to twisted cycles at the fixed points, which intersect with Π^3 . A fractional cycle Π^3_{frac} is then given by

$$\Pi_{\text{frac}}^3 = \Pi^3 + \sum_{g \in P} \epsilon_{\alpha}^g \Pi_{\text{twist},g}^3 \,, \tag{4.81}$$

where α denote the fixed points, which lie on Π^3 and ϵ_{α}^g encodes the orientation of $\Pi^3_{\text{twist},g}$. Fractional cycles are preserved by the orbifold projection, when discrete torsion is turned on [78, 80]. Discrete torsion denotes the non trivial choice of a phase $\epsilon(g, h)$ in the orbifold partition function [79]

$$Z = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{h \in P} \sum_{g \in P} \epsilon(g, h) Z(h, g).$$
(4.82)

The term Z(g, h) denotes the sums over the closed string states from the twisted sector g, forming invariant states under the action of h^4 . Let T and S denote the generators of the modular group $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ transforming the complex structure modulus τ of a T^2 by

$$T: \tau \to \tau + 1, \quad S: \tau \to -1/\tau. \tag{4.83}$$

Applying T and S transformations on the closed string partition function, the terms in the partition transform as

$$T: Z(g,h) \to Z(g,hg), \quad S: Z(g,h) \to Z(h,g^{-1}).$$

$$(4.84)$$

The phase $\epsilon(g, h)$ has to be choosen, s.t. the partition function respects modular invariance. When modular invariance allows $\epsilon(1, 1) \neq \epsilon(g, h)$ for some $g, h \in P$, then the choice for the phase $\epsilon(g, h)$ is called discrete torsion and determines the action of h on the exceptional divisors at the fixed point of g.

4.1.5 Example: $T_{SO(12)}^6 / (\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R)$

To illustrate the previous discussion, the orientifold, given by

$$O^{6} = \frac{T_{\rm SO(12)}^{6}}{\mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \Omega R} \,. \tag{4.85}$$

shall be investigated in this section. The point group $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ is generated by two generators, which are denoted by θ and ω . They act on the complex coordinates of the compact space as

$$\theta: (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to (-z_1, -z_2, z_3), \quad \omega: (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to (z_1, -z_2, -z_3), \tag{4.86}$$

and the spacetime involution R reflects the directions along all three imaginary axis

$$R: (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to (\bar{z}_1, \bar{z}_2, \bar{z}_3).$$
(4.87)

In order to safely quotient out the discrete group $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$, it has to be an automorphism of the underlying lattice. This could possibly constrain the deformation parameters R_h and τ_h for $T_{SO(12)}^6$. Invariance of the lattice under the spacetime involution R demands that the real part of the complex

⁴ For more details see [23]

strucutre moduli need to be integer $\text{Re}(\tau_h) \in \mathbb{Z}$, since otherwise the lattice vector $1 + \tau_h$ in the *h*-th complex plane gets projected away by the involution⁵.

Fixed points and exceptional divisors

The fixed point equation for fixed points under θ , given by

$$(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6) = (-x_1, -x_2, -x_3, -x_4, x_5, x_6) + \lambda, \quad \lambda \in \Lambda_{\text{SO}(12)},$$
(4.90)

is solved by

$$\operatorname{FIX}(\theta) = \left\{ \left(\frac{n_1}{2}, \frac{n_2}{2}, \frac{n_3}{2}, \frac{n_4}{2}, x_5, x_6\right) \middle| n_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \sum_{i=1}^4 n_i = 0 \mod 2, x_5, x_6 \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$
(4.91)

The solutions given in (4.91) show that, because θ acts trivially on the last plane, the coordinates x_5 , x_6 are unconstrained and taking the action of the SO(12) roots on the last plane into account, the last plane for the fixed loci FIX(g) are compactified on two dimensional tori, which has the SO(4) Lie lattice underlying

$$T_{\text{fix}}^2 = \frac{\mathbb{R}^2}{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(4)}}, \quad \text{with} \quad \Lambda_{\text{SO}(4)} = \langle (1,1)^T, (1,-1)^T \rangle.$$
 (4.92)

That means the fixed loci are given by fixed tori T_{fix}^2 , each located at fixed points in the first two planes. Identifying all fixed tori differing by lattice vectors, one finds that there are eight inequivalent fixed tori on $T_{\text{SO}(12)}^6/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2)$, whose loci are given by

$$FIX(\theta) = \left(0, 0, 0, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2\right) \cup \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2\right) \cup \left(\frac{1}{2}, 0, \frac{1}{2}, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2\right) \cup \left(0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2\right) \qquad (4.93)$$
$$\cup \left(0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2\right) \cup \left(\frac{1}{2}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2\right) \cup \left(0, \frac{1}{2}, 0, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2\right) \cup \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2\right).$$

Each of those fixed tori gets twisted by ω

$$\omega: T_{\text{fix}}^2 \to \frac{T_{\text{fix}}^2}{\mathbb{Z}_2}.$$
(4.94)

In a similar fashion the other two twist operators ω and $\theta \omega$ preserve each eight fixed tori. They are located on fixed points in the second and last plane or in the first and third plane respectively, as listed in table 4.1.

In order to find the exceptional divisors hidden in the orbifold fixed points, one has to resolve the singularities as explained in section 4.1.3. The neighbourhood of a fixed torus T_{fix}^2 in $T_{\text{SO}(12)}^6$ has locally

$$R: 1 + \tau_h \to 1 + \overline{\tau}_h \,. \tag{4.88}$$

In order for R to be a lattice automorphism, the lattice has to contain lattice vectors, which compensate the transformation of the involution. Therefore it needs to be found an SO(12) vector, which satisfies

$$1 + \tau_h = 1 + \overline{\tau}_h + u_1 + \tau_h u_2, \qquad (4.89)$$

where u_1, u_2 are components of SO(12) roots in the *h*-th plane. The solutions are given by $u_2 = 2$ and $u_1 + 2\text{Re}(\tau_h)$. Since u_1, u_2 have to satisfy $u_1 + u_2 = 0 \mod 2$ (otherwise they do not form an SO(12) root), the real part of τ_h needs to be integer $\text{Re}(\tau_h) \in \mathbb{Z}$.

⁵ The action of *R* on $1 + \tau_h$ is given by

FIX(θ)	$FIX(\omega)$	$FIX(\theta\omega)$
$(0, 0, 0, 0, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2)$	$(T_{\text{fix}}^2, 0, 0, 0, 0)$	$(0, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2, 0, 0)$
$(\frac{1}{2}, 0, \frac{1}{2}, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2)$	$(T_{\text{fix}}^{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0, \frac{1}{2}, 0)$	$(\frac{1}{2}, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2, \frac{1}{2}, 0)$
$(\bar{0}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2)$	$(T_{\text{fix}}^{2}, \bar{0}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0)$	$(\bar{0}, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2, \frac{1}{2}, 0)$
$(0, \frac{1}{2}, 0, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2)$	$(T_{\text{fix}}^{2^{-}}, 0, \frac{1}{2}, 0, \frac{1}{2})$	$(0, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2, 0, \frac{1}{2})$
$(\frac{1}{2}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2)$	$(T_{\text{fix}}^2, \frac{1}{2}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2})$	$(\frac{1}{2}, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2, 0, \frac{1}{2})$
$(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2)$	$(x_1, x_2, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0, 0)$	$(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2, 0, 0)$
$(0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2)$	$(T_{\text{fix}}^2, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$	$(0, 0, T_{\text{fix}}^2, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$
$(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2)$	$(T_{\text{fix}}^2, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$	$(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, T_{\text{fix}}^2, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$

Table 4.1: Fixed tori of $T_{SO(12)}^6/\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$..

the geometry of T_{fix}^2 sitting at a $\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_2$ singularity. A \mathbb{Z}_2 action on \mathbb{C}^2 is given by

$$(z_1, z_2) \to (-z_1, -z_2)$$
 (4.95)

s.t. the vectors of the fan satisfy

$$v_1 + v_2 = 0 \mod 2. \tag{4.96}$$

This is the case for $v_1 = (1, 1)$ and $v_2 = (1, -1)$. Notice that the point (1, 0) cannot be reached by v_1 and v_2 revealing that the space contains singularities. To resolve the singularity, the lattice vector w = (1, 0) is included into the fan, which corresponds to a coordinate x. The fan consists of the two cones spanned by $\{v_1, w\}$ and $\{v_2, w\}$. The set $\{v_1, v_2\}$ does not spann a cone, in a way that the criteria for a fan are satisfied. Therefore the exclusion set is $F = \{z_1 = z_2 = 0\}$. This is precisely the $\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_2$ singularity, which is cut out. The scaling relation for the toric variety can be extracted by the coefficients of the equation

$$v_1 + v_2 - 2w = 0. \tag{4.97}$$

The $(\mathbb{C})^*$ action on the homogeneous coordinates are then given by

$$(\mathbb{C})^*$$
: $(z_1, z_2, x) \sim (\lambda z_1, \lambda z_2, \lambda^{-2} x)$. (4.98)

At $D_i = \{x \neq 0\}$, x can be scaled away by $\lambda = \pm \sqrt{x}$, s.t. at D_i one has $(\pm \sqrt{x}z_1, \pm \sqrt{x}z_2, 1)$, which is the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold. At the point $E = \{x = 0\}$, from the scaling relation $(z_1, z_2) \sim (\lambda z_1, \lambda z_2)$ it can be recognized, that a \mathbb{CP}^1 is hidden at the fixed point. Each fixed torus in the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ therefore is actually $\mathbb{CP}^1 \times T_{fix}^2$. Taking the action of the other point group elements, the orbifold group preserves

$$\mathbb{CP}^1 \oplus \frac{T_{\text{fix}}^2}{\mathbb{Z}_2} \tag{4.99}$$

at the fixed points.

O6-planes

The spacetime reflections contained in the group $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ are given by the set $\{R, R\theta, R\omega, R\theta\omega\}$. Their action on the complex coordinates is given by

$$R : (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to (\bar{z}_1, \bar{z}_2, \bar{z}_3),$$

$$R\theta : (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to (-\bar{z}_1, -\bar{z}_2, \bar{z}_3),$$

$$R\omega : (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to (\bar{z}_1, -\bar{z}_2, -\bar{z}_3),$$

$$R\theta\omega : (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to (-\bar{z}_1, \bar{z}_2, -\bar{z}_3).$$
(4.100)

Solving the fixed loci equation for O-planes (4.51), the O6-plane loci on the covering space \mathbb{R}^6 are given by

$$FIX(R) = \left\{ \left(x_4, \frac{n_1}{2}, x_6, \frac{n_2}{2}, x_8, \frac{n_4}{2} \right)^T \middle| n_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \sum_{i=1}^3 n_i \in 2\mathbb{Z}, x_4, x_6, x_8 \in \mathbb{R} \right\},$$

$$FIX(R\theta) = \left\{ \left(\frac{n_1}{2}, x_5, \frac{n_2}{2}, x_7, x_8, \frac{n_4}{2} \right)^T \middle| n_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \sum_{i=1}^3 n_i \in 2\mathbb{Z}, x_5, x_7, x_8 \in \mathbb{R} \right\},$$

$$FIX(R\omega) = \left\{ \left(x_4, \frac{n_1}{2}, \frac{n_2}{2}, x_7, \frac{n_4}{2}, x_9 \right)^T \middle| n_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \sum_{i=1}^3 n_i \in 2\mathbb{Z}, x_4, x_7, x_9 \in \mathbb{R} \right\},$$

$$FIX(R\theta\omega) = \left\{ \left(\frac{n_1}{2}, x_5, x_6, \frac{n_2}{2}, \frac{n_4}{2}, x_9 \right)^T \middle| n_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \sum_{i=1}^3 n_i \in 2\mathbb{Z}, x_5, x_6, x_9 \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

$$(4.101)$$

Identifying the O-planes, which differ by SO(12) lattice translations, the inequivalent O-planes on the torus are given by

$$FIX(R) = (x_{5} = 0, x_{7} = 0, x_{9} = 0) \cup (x_{5} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{7} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{9} = 0)$$

$$\cup (x_{5} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{7} = 0, x_{9} = \frac{1}{2}) \cup (x_{5} = 0, x_{7} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{9} = \frac{1}{2}),$$

$$FIX(R\theta) = (x_{4} = 0, x_{6} = 0, x_{9} = 0) \cup (x_{4} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{6} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{9} = 0)$$

$$\cup (x_{4} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{6} = 0, x_{9} = \frac{1}{2}) \cup (x_{4} = 0, x_{6} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{9} = \frac{1}{2}),$$

$$FIX(R\omega) = (x_{5} = 0, x_{6} = 0, x_{8} = 0) \cup (x_{5} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{6} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{8} = 0)$$

$$\cup (x_{5} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{6} = 0, x_{8} = \frac{1}{2}) \cup (x_{5} = 0, x_{6} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{8} = \frac{1}{2}),$$

$$FIX(R\theta\omega) = (x_{4} = 0, x_{7} = 0, x_{8} = 0) \cup (x_{4} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{7} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{8} = 0)$$

$$\cup (x_{4} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{7} = 0, x_{8} = \frac{1}{2}) \cup (x_{4} = 0, x_{7} = \frac{1}{2}, x_{8} = \frac{1}{2}).$$

The fixed planes in (4.102), preserved by the action of Rg, with $g \in \{\theta, \omega, \theta\omega\}$, wrap four sLag 3-cycles of the same homology class on the $T_{SO(12)}^6 \left[\Pi^3\right]_{O6_{Rg}}$

$$\operatorname{FIX}(Rg) = 4 \left[\Pi^3 \right]_{\operatorname{O6}_R g} , \qquad (4.103)$$

where the cycles in the homology class $\left[\Pi^3\right]_{O6_{R_g}}$ are specified according to (4.70) by the wrapping numbers

$$[\Pi^{3}]_{O6_{R\theta}} = (2,0) \times (1,0) \times (1,0), \qquad [\Pi^{3}]_{O6_{R\theta}} = (0,1) \times (0,-1) \times (2,0), \qquad (4.104)$$

$$[\Pi^{3}]_{O6_{R\theta}} = (2,0) \times (0,1) \times (0,-1), \qquad [\Pi^{3}]_{O6_{R\theta_{0}}} = (0,1) \times (2,0) \times (0,-1).$$

The O6-planes preserved by the whole orientifold group are therefor given by

$$4\Pi_{O6}^{3} = 4\left([\Pi^{3}]_{O6_{R}} + [\Pi^{3}]_{O6_{R\theta}} + [\Pi^{3}]_{O6_{R\omega}} + [\Pi^{3}]_{O6_{R\theta\omega}}\right).$$
(4.105)

According to (4.69) the calibration phase of Π_{O6}^3 is given by $\vartheta = 0$.

sLag bulk 3-cycles

In section 4.1.4 sLag 3-cycles on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ where introduced. They can be used to construct bulk 3-cycles on the orbifold, which are wrapped by D6-branes. The 1-cycles $\Pi_{(h)}^1 = (n^h, m^h)$ of the sLag 3-cycle on the *h*-th plane transforms under the point group elements as

$$\mathbb{Z}_2: (n^h, m^h) \to -(n^h, m^h),$$
 (4.106)

when the group elements have a non-trivial action in that plane. Since each point group element acts non-trivially on two planes, the two signs from the transformations of the two 1-cycles cancel in the product $\prod_{h=1}^{3} (n^h, m^h)$ and the corresponding 3-cycle transforms trivially and is mapped to itself. From (4.80), it can be deduced that a bulk 3-cycle on the orbifold $\prod_{Bulk}^{3} \in H_3(T_{SO(12)}^6/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2))$ is given by

$$\Pi_{\text{Bulk}}^{3} = \Pi^{3} + \theta \Pi^{3} + \omega \Pi^{3} + \theta \omega \Pi^{3} = 4\Pi^{3}, \qquad (4.107)$$

where $\Pi^3 \in H_3(T_{SO(12)}^6)$ denotes a sLag 3-cycle on the torus. Let two 3-cycles on the torus be denoted by Π_a^3 and Π_b^3 and the corresponding bulk cycles on the orbifold by $\Pi_{Bulk,a}^3 = 4\Pi_a^3$ and $\Pi_{Bulk,b}^3 = 4\Pi_b^3$. The intersection number I_{ab}^{orbi} of the two bulk cycles on the orbifold is related to the intersection number I_{ab} of the two cycles Π_a^3 and Π_b^3 on the torus by

$$I_{ab}^{\text{orbi}} = \frac{1}{4} \left[\Pi_a^3 \right]_{\text{Bulk}} \cdot \left[\Pi_b^3 \right]_{\text{Bulk}} = \frac{1}{4} 4 \left[\Pi_a^3 \right] \cdot 4 \left[\Pi_b^3 \right] = 4I_{ab} \,. \tag{4.108}$$

with $I_{ab} = [\Pi_a^3] \cdot [\Pi_b^3]$, where the prefactor of 1/4 after the first equal sign arises from the identification of intersection points by the point group. According to that the intersection numbers of bulk cycles are always multiples of four and therefore it seems that on $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ orbifolds, there are possibly smaller cycles, given by half of a bulk cycle. But in order not to get projected out by the orbifold projection, they must go through fixed points. The spacetime reflection *R* maps cycles to their orientfold image, or to be more precisely a cycle with wrapping numbers $\Pi^3 = \prod_{h=1}^3 (n^h, m^h)$ is mapped to $\Pi^{3'} = \prod_{h=1}^3 (n^h, -m^h)$. An invariant 3-cycle $\Pi_{inv}^3 \in H_3(T_{SO(12)}^6/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R))$ on the orientifold is then given by a superposition of orbifold invariant 3-cycles with their orientifold images

$$\Pi_{\rm inv}^3 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\Pi_{\rm Bulk}^3 + \Pi_{\rm Bulk}^3' \right) = 2 \left(\Pi^3 + \Pi^3' \right), \quad \text{with} \quad R : \Pi^3 \to \Pi^3', \quad \Pi^3 \in H_3 \left(T_{\rm SO(12)}^6 \right), \quad (4.109)$$

In section 4.2.3 it is explained that D6-branes share the same supersymmetry, when they are wrapped on cycles with the same calibration phase. The O6-planes fix the calibration phase to $\vartheta = 0$. Therefor, in order to preserve $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry, the calibration phase of the D6-branes have to be $\vartheta = 0$ and inserting it into (4.69), one gets the supersymmetry condition

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(\tau_h)m^h}{n^h + \operatorname{Re}(\tau_h)m^h} = 0, \quad \operatorname{Re}(\tau_h) \in \mathbb{Z}, \operatorname{Im}(\tau_h) \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4.110)

for wrapping numbers of D6-brane cycles on the deformed $T_{SO(12)}^6$.

Fractional 3-cycles

The fixed point resolution exposes that the fixed loci of the point group are $\mathbb{CP}^1 \oplus (T^2_{SO(4)}/\mathbb{Z}_2)$'s. A \mathbb{CP}^1 is topologically isomorphic to a 2-sphere S^2 , which means each \mathbb{CP}^1 contains a non-trivial 2-cycle, the S^2 itself. The 2-cycles belonging to the exceptional divisors of the orbifold, are denoted by e_{ij}^g , where $g \in \{\theta, \omega, \theta\omega\}$ denotes the generator of the twisted sector and (ij), with $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$, denote the position of the fixed point in the two planes, on which g acts non-trivially. The fixed loci are placed on the points $(0, 0), (\frac{1}{2}, 0), (0, \frac{1}{2}), (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ on each plane and when they are labeled by

$$(0,0) \to 1, \quad (\frac{1}{2},0) \to 2, \quad (0,\frac{1}{2}) \to 3, \quad (\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}) \to 4,$$
 (4.111)

for example the S^2 from the resolution of FIX(θ) = $(0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0, T_{inv}^2)$ is wrapped by the 2-cycle, which is denoted by e_{21}^{θ} . The transformation rules for the terms in the orbifold partition function (4.82) under the modular transformations, allows different phases ϵ for the two sets

$$\{Z(\mathbb{1},\mathbb{1})\} \cup \{Z(g_1,g_2), Z(g_1,g_1 \cdot g_2), Z(g_2,g_1), \\ Z(g_2,g_1 \cdot g_2), Z(g_1 \cdot g_2,g_2), Z(g_1 \cdot g_2,g_1)\} \setminus \{Z(\mathbb{1},\mathbb{1})\},$$

with $\forall g_1, g_2 \in \{1, \theta, \omega, \theta\omega\}$. That means one can choose two different phases ϵ : One for Z(1, 1) and one for all other terms, s.t. the action of the orbifold on the S^2 's at the fixed points can be given by [78]

$$S^2 \to \epsilon S^2$$
, with $\epsilon = \pm 1$. (4.112)

The choice $\epsilon = -1$ is called "with discrete torsion" and implies that the orbifold action on the collapsed 2-cycles is given by

$$e_{ij}^g \to -e_{ij}^g. \tag{4.113}$$

Together with a 1-cycle wrapping the fixed torus of the corresponding twisted sector, e_{ij}^g forms a 3-cycle which is called a twisted cycle and is invariant under the orbifold action [81]. Therefore the orbifold with discrete torsion contains at each twisted sector, a two dimensional homology of twisted 3-cycles, spanned by the following two homology classes

$$[\alpha_{ij,n}^g] = 2[e_{ij}^g] \otimes [a], \quad [\alpha_{ij,m}^g] = 2[e_{ij}^g] \otimes [b], \tag{4.114}$$

with a and b denoting 1-cycles of the T^2 defined as in (4.66). Twisted 3-cycle can then be expressed by

$$\Pi_{ij,g}^{3} = n[\alpha_{ij,n}^{g}] + m[\alpha_{ij,m}^{g}], \quad n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(4.115)

with *n*, *m* as the wrapping numbers around the *a* and *b* cycle of the T_{fix}^2 . For the self-intersection number $[e_{ij}] \cdot [e_{kl}] = -2\delta_{ik}\delta_{jl}$ [78], intersection numbers with twisted 3-cycles are given by

$$[\Pi_{ij,q}^{3}]_{a} \cdot [\Pi_{kl,h}^{3}]_{h} = -4\delta_{ik}\delta_{jl}\delta_{gh}(n_{a}m_{b} - m_{a}n_{b}) .$$
(4.116)

Then by (4.81) the whole fraction cycle is given by [78]

$$\Pi_{\text{frac}}^3 = \frac{1}{4} \Pi_{\text{Bulk}}^3 + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{g \in \{\theta, \omega, \theta\omega\}} \sum_{(i,j) \in \mathbf{x}_{\text{fix}}^g} \epsilon_{ij}^g \Pi_{ij,g}^3 , \qquad (4.117)$$

where $\epsilon_{ij}^g = \pm 1$ defines the charge of the collapsed brane, wrapping $\prod_{ij,g}^3$, and determines the orientation of the cycle around the S^2 at the fixed point labeled by (ij). The charges of the collapsed cycles are not independent from each other but need to satisfy certain relation due to consistency reasons⁶. The fractional cycle in (4.117) describes a cycle on the torus, whose orbifold images are collapsed at fixed loci and wrap twisted cycles.

In the following however orientifolds without discrete torsion are considered and therefor the D6-branes do not wrap fractional cycles. They where introduced for the sake of completeness and to mention the further possibilities there are for string compactification.

Factorisable vs. non-factorisable

In order to compare orientifolds, their Hodge numbers are a good quantity to look at. The 1-forms dz_i and $d\overline{z}_i$ correspond via deRham duality to 1-cycles, wrapping the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ in the *i*-th plane, hence belonging to the cohomology groups $H^{1,0}(T_{SO(12)}^6)$ and $H^{0,1}(T_{SO(12)}^6)$. By wedging the 1-forms, the (p,q)-forms

$$dz_{i_1} \wedge ... \wedge dz_{i_p} \wedge d\bar{z}_{j_1} \wedge ... \wedge d\bar{z}_{j_q}, \quad \text{with} \quad i_1, ..., i_p, j_1, ..., j_q \in \{1, ..., \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \left(T^6_{\text{SO}(12)} \right) \}, \qquad (4.118)$$

span a basis for the (p, q)-th cohomology group $H^{p,q}(T_{SO(12)}^6)$. Using the antisymmetric behaviour of the wedge product, from straight combinatorics it follows that dim $(H^{p,q}) = {3 \choose p} {3 \choose q}$. The cohomology groups $H^{p,q}$, $H^{q,p}$, $H^{3-p,3-q}$ and $H^{3-q,3-p}$ are dual to each other via the combination of deRham-, Hodge-, and Poincare duality ⁷. Hence for a complex three dimensional manifold it is sufficient to look at cohomology groups $H^{1,0}$, $H^{1,1}$, $H^{2,0}$, $H^{2,1}$, $H^{3,0}$ and $H^{3,3}$. On the orbifold only (p,q)-forms invariant under the point group are preserved. The action of a twist element $g \in P$ on the cohomology group elements from (4.118) is given by

$$e^{2\pi i v_{i_1}} dz_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge e^{2\pi i v_{i_p}} dz_{i_p} \wedge e^{-2\pi i v_{j_1}} d\overline{z}_{j_1} \wedge \dots \wedge de^{-2\pi i v_{j_q}} \overline{z}_{j_q}.$$

$$(4.119)$$

Due to the condition (4.36) for the twist vectors, the (2, 0)- and (1, 0)-forms are always projected away and the (3, 0)- and (3, 3)-form are always preserved. Hence $h^{1,0} = h^{2,0} = 0$ and $h^{3,0} = h^{3,3} = 1$ for all orbifolds (with the holonomy given by a discrete subgroup of SU(3)), where $h^{p,q} = \dim \left(H^{p,q} \left(\frac{T_{SO(12)}^6}{\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2} \right) \right)$ are the Hodge numbers on the orbifold. Therefor it is sufficient to investigate the Hodge numbers $h^{1,1}$ and $h^{2,1}$. The (1, 1)- and (2, 1)-forms preserved by the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ point group are

$$dz_i \wedge d\overline{z}_i, \quad dz_i \wedge dx_i \wedge d\overline{z}_k, \quad \text{for} \quad i \neq j \neq k, \quad i, j, k \in \{1, 2, 3\}.$$

$$(4.120)$$

⁶ For more details see [78]

⁷ For more details, see appendix B of [20].

Therefor the Hodge numbers on the orbifold, which are inherited from the torus, are given by

$$h_{\rm un}^{0,0} = h_{\rm un}^{3,0} = 1$$
, $h_{\rm un}^{1,1} = h_{\rm un}^{2,1} = 3$, (4.121)

from the invariant forms of (4.120). But the orbifold further contains exceptional divisors at fixed loci. Each fixed locus is topologically isomorphic to $S^2 \times T^2$, where the sphere contains one (1, 1)-form. The contribution to the Hodge numbers from the exceptional divisors depend on the choice of discrete torsion $\epsilon = \pm 1$. For the case without discrete torsion $\epsilon = +1$ the point group acts trivially on the sphere and the (1, 1)-form on the S^2 is preserved. For the case with discrete torsion $\epsilon = -1$ the (1, 1)-form gets a sign, but together with the 1-form on the fixed torus, which also gets a sign, the (2, 1)-form on the $S^2 \times T^2$ is preserved by the point group. Hence the 24 exceptional divisors on $T_{SO(12)}^6/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2)$ contribute

$$h_{\rm tw}^{1,1} = 24$$
 without discrete torsion $h_{\rm tw}^{2,1} = 24$ with discrete torsion, (4.122)

s.t. the the Hodge numbers of $T_{SO(12)}^6/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2)$ are given by

$$(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = \begin{cases} (27,3), & \epsilon = +1\\ (3,27), & \epsilon = -1 \end{cases}$$
 (4.123)

The features resulting from the non-factorisable structure of the orbifold are turned off in the factorisable orbifold $T_{\text{fact}}^6 / (\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2)$, with $T_{\text{fact}}^6 = \mathbb{R}^6 / \Lambda_{\text{fact}}^6$, where $\Lambda_{\text{SO}(12)} \subset \Lambda_{\text{fact}}^6$ is defined in section 4.1.4. The Hodge numbers of the factorisable orbifold are discussed in [78] and given by

$$(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = \begin{cases} (51,3), & \epsilon = +1\\ (3,51), & \epsilon = -1 \end{cases}$$
 (4.124)

The spacetime reflection R, acting as complex conjugation, maps (p, q)-forms to (q, p)-forms, hence the (p, q)-th cohomology group gets mapped to the (q, p)-th cohomology group

$$R: H^{p,q} \to H^{q,p}, \tag{4.125}$$

and forms in $H^{1,1}$ and linear combinations of forms in $H^{2,1} \oplus H^{1,2}$ are preserved on the orientifold. Hence by comparison of Hodge numbers of the factorisable orientifold with the non-factorisable orientifold it seems evident that the non-factorisable orientifold has less structrure than the factorisable orientifold and hence compactification on the non-factorisable orientifold is more restrictive. Further the number of O6-planes on the non-factorisable orientifold is also reduced to half of the number of O6-planes on the factorisable orientifold. For D6-branes on the non-factorisable orientifold that means, their wrapping numbers are more restricted than on the factorisable orientofold, as will be seen in the following of this chapter.

4.2 Intersecting D-branes on $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ -Orientifolds

In this section Type IIA string theory compactified on $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ -orientifolds

Type IIA :
$$M^{1,9} \to \mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times \frac{T^6}{\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R}$$
 (4.126)

is discussed and the resulting massless spectra in four dimensions is analyzed. The generators of the orientifolding group are given by (4.86) and (4.87). Since the spacetime reflections preserve O6-planes, D6-branes have to be included in order to cancel the total R-R charge [41]. Open string on the D6-branes lead to a chiral spectrum in four dimensions [49]. Models arising from these kind of orientifolds have been discussed mostly for factorisabel tori, for example in [81–83]. But also for non-factorisable orientifolds there has been attempts to construct realistic intersecting D-brane models for example in [77].

4.2.1 Massless states from type IIA closed strings

Compactifying the ten dimensional spacetime according to (4.126) on the orientifold, decomposes the group of spacetime isometries SO(1,9) into the Lorentz group SO(1,3) acting on the uncompact space $\mathbb{R}^{1,3}$ and an SO(6) part, acting on the internal space. The point group elements $g \in \{\theta, \omega, \theta\omega\}$ are expressed in an SO(6) representation by

$$g = \exp\left(2\pi i \sum_{h=1}^{3} v_h H_h\right), \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{v} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}(1, -1, 0)^T & \text{for } \theta, \\ \frac{1}{2}(0, 1, -1)^T & \text{for } \omega, \end{cases}$$
(4.127)

and H_h the three Cartan generators of SO(6). The transformation behaviour of the string states under the SO(1,3) factor of SO(1,9) determines what kind of field the states correspond to in four dimensions. In appendix A the transformation of the massless Type IIA closed string states under the algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$, which is the little group of massless particles in four dimensions, is investigated. Further their transformation under the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ point group and the orientifold projection by ΩR has been coomputed and that way the invariant states on $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ orientifolds are determined.

The dimensional reduction of the eight massless NS states lead to a massless vector field and six scalars. The decomposition of the eight chiral and eight antichiral states in the left- and rightmoving R sector, leads to four chiral and four antichiral spinors in four dimensions. Combining the left- and rightmoving states to closed string states, 64 states in each of the NS-NS, NS-R, R-Ns and R-R sector arise. Their representation under the algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$ for the uncompact space is deduced by decomposing the products of left-and rightmoving states into irreducible representations. The trace, antisymmetric and symmetric part of the product of the four dimensional vectors from the left- and rightmoving NS sector, form a dilaton, B-field and graviton in the uncompact space, where the combinations of the vectors with the six scalars and the scalars with each other in the NS-NS sector provide the four dimensional spectrum with 12 graviphotons and 36 scalars. In the NS-R sector the decomposition of the vector with the four fermions gives four dilatinos and four gravitinos and the combination of the six scalars with the four fermions lead to 24 fermions. The R-NS sector contains also four dilatinos, four gravitinos and 24 fermions, but each has the opposite chirality as in the fields in the NS-R sector. The product of a chiral an antichiral fermion in four dimensions, decompose for the massless case into two scalars and a vector field. Hence the combination of four chiral and four antichiral fermions in the R-R sector lead to 16 vector potentials and 32 scalars. The massless spectrum achieved that way by the dimensional reduction of the massless Type IIA closed string states fit into a $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ supergravity multiplet. The trivial holonomy in the compact space, which was assumed by the decomposition of the states, leaves all supercharges unbroken and hence the 32 supercharges of Type IIA form eight supersymmetry generators in four dimensions.

Untwisted sector

The states from the initial closed string states in ten dimensions, which are invariant under the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ projection, form the set of untwisted massless states on the orbifold. The 12 graviphotons and 24 scalars from the NS-NS sector are projected out. Further one gravitino, dilatino and six fermions are preserved in each of the NS-R and R-NS sector. In the R-R sector 1/4 of the states survive the point group projection, s.t. four vector potentials and eight scalars remain. As explained in section 4.1.2 only eight of the 32 supercharges in Type IIA are preserved by the point group. The field content formed by the untwisted states, fit into a griviton multiplet three vector and four hyper multiplets of $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ supersymmetry in four dimensions. By the orientifold projection ΩR half of those states get further projected out, s.t. in the NS-NS sector ten scalars, including the dilaton, and the graviton are preserved, the NS-R and R-NS sector form invariant linear combinations, s.t. one dilatino, one gravitino and six other fermions remain and in the R-R sector the symmetric part in the tensor product of the antichiral and chiral fermion are projected out, leaving in total three scalars. The orientifold action reduces the supersymmetry further to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ in four dimensions and the states remaining from the massless Type IIA closed string states on the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ orientifold form a graviton multiplet and seven chiral multiplets. It seems that ΩR preserves from each of the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vector multiplet and hyper multiplet a $\mathcal{N} = 1$ chiral multiplet. Comparing the number of multiplets with the Hodge numbers of a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ orbifold (as in section 4.1.5), the vector multiplets in the untwisted states correspond to the number of non-tivially closed (1, 1)-forms in the bulk $h_{un}^{1,1}$ (as in (4.121)), where the number of hyper multiplets is related to the number of non-trivially closed (2, 1)-forms in the bulk by $h_{un}^{2,1} + 1$ [84, 85]. Since the (1, 1)-form get mapped to themselves by the orientifold projection their eigenvalue to ΩR be ± 1 . Since only chiral multiplets remain from each vector multiplet, by the correspondence of the differential forms and the supersymmetry multiplets⁸, it seems that the (1, 1)-forms from the bulk transform with a sign under ΩR .

Twisted sector

According to (4.43), twisted states from closed strings, which arise due to the non-trivial structure of the orbifold fixed points can arise. Applying the twisted boundary conditions in (4.43) to the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ orbifold, the moddings of the bosonic and fermionic oscillators from twisted strings at a *g* fixed point get shifted by 1/2 in the direction on which the *g* acts non-trivially. For example θ from (4.86) acts on the directions x^i , with $i \in \{4, ..., 7\}$, non-trivally, thus the bosonic and fermionic oscillators modes in those directions are given by

$$i \in \{4, ..., 7\} \begin{cases} \alpha_{n-1/2}^{i} & \text{for bos. sector} \\ b_{n}^{i} & \text{for NS sector} \\ b_{n-1/2}^{i} & \text{for R sector} \end{cases}$$
(4.128)

where for the remaining directions the moddings of the oscillators do not change. The oscillator moddings for the other twisted sectors are determined analogously. The ground state energies E_0^{tw} for the twisted NS and R sector get modified due to the different moddings of the oscillators. The ground state energies are determined by normal ordering constants arising from commuting oscillator modes in the quantized theory. Therefor the ground state energy gets the contribution Z_{μ} from oscillator modes for each directions μ by

$$Z_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{w>0} w - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{w+r>0} (w+r) , \qquad (4.129)$$

⁸ for more details see [86].

with $r \in \{0, 1/2\}$ for the R/NS sector and w the moddings of the oscillators. The first term is the contribution from the bosonic oscillators and the second term the contribution from the fermionic oscillators. For a $g \in \mathbb{Z}_2$ twisted sectors, $w \in \mathbb{Z}$ for the directions in which g acts trivially and $w \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}$ for directions in which g acts non-trivially and the ground state energies are given by then given by

$$E_0^{\rm tw} = \sum_{\mu=2}^9 Z_\mu = 0, \qquad (4.130)$$

for the NS and R sector. Hence the twisted NS and R ground states are massless and because the both twisted sectors contain each four zeromodes, which satisfy the four dimensional Clifford algebra, the ground states are four fold degenerate. A GSO-projection, which is consistent with the choice for ΩR , preserves in the left-and rightmoving sector the same two massless states in the twisted NS sector, where in the twisted R sector the opposite states are preserved in the left- and rightmoving sector. From the four dimensional point of view, the twisted NS states transform as scalars, where in each of the twisted leftand rightmoving R sector the two states transform as a fermion, but with opposite chiralities. Each \mathbb{Z}_2 fixed locus contains four scalars from the NS-NS sector, four fermions from the NS-R and R-NS sector and a vector field and two scalars in the R-R sector. They fit into a $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ vector multiplet. However the second \mathbb{Z}_2 of the point group breaks the $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetry to $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ by projecting out half of the twisted states. The $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ vector multiplet decomposes into an $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vector multiplet and a $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ hyper multiplet. Which of those multiplets are preserved depends on the choice of discrete torsion. For the case without discrete torsion the vector multiplet is preserved, where for the case with discrete torsion the hyper multiplet is preserved. Comparing the number of multiplets in the twisted sector with the Hodge numbers from the exceptional divisors of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ orbifolds, the vector multiplets can be associated to the (1, 1)-forms, where the hyper multiplets correspond to (2, 1)-forms, which is consistent with the behaviour under discrete torsion.

4.2.2 Massless spectrum from intersecting D6-branes

Supersymmetric D6-branes

D6-branes are six dimensional dynamical objects spreading out a seven dimensional worldvolume Σ_7 in spacetime. Their loci are determined by Neumann boundary conditions along the directions tangent to brane volume and Dirichlet boundary conditions along directions normal to the brane volume. D6-branes are spacetimefilling in the uncompact space and wrap 3-cycles in the compact space X^6

$$\Sigma_7 = \mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times \Pi^3 \subset \mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times X^6, \quad \text{with} \quad \Pi^3 \in H_3(X^6).$$
(4.131)

A D6-brane carries a brane tension given by $\mu_6 = \frac{(\alpha')^{-7/2}}{(2\pi)^6}$ and therefor Σ_7 tends to minimize its volume. Hence the D6-brane has to wrap a volume minimizing 3-cycle, which means Π^3 has to be a sLag cycle [87–90]. According to the discussion in section 4.1.4, D6-branes on a T^6 have in each complex plane the shape of straight lines. Generalizing the case for intersecting branes in section 3.2.2 to three complex dimensions, D6-branes intersect at points on the T^6 and unlike to the uncompact example on \mathbb{C} , the identification of points differing by lattice vector leads possibly to more than one intersection point. Chan-Paton labels of open string states attached to a single stack of D6-branes form states of the adjoint representation $\mathbf{adj} \subseteq \Box \otimes \overline{\Box}$ of the gauge group on that stack. String states from open strings attached to two different stacks of D6-branes a and b are located at the intersection points of a and b on the T^6 and their Chan-Paton labels transform in the bifundamental representation ($\Box_a, \overline{\Box}_b$) of the gauge groups on *a* and *b*. From the four dimensional point of view the string states on a single stack of D6-branes lead to gauge fields of the corresponding gauge symmetry and strings states on two different stacks of D6-branes behave like chiral matter. Since the D6-branes fill out the whole uncompact space, open strings on D6-branes enjoy N boundary conditions in the uncompact space and can propagate there freely. The mass of an open string state on two D6-branes *a* and *b* is given by [49, 91]

$$\alpha' M^{2} = \frac{Y^{2}}{4\pi^{2}\alpha'} + N_{\rm B} + N_{\rm F} + r \sum_{h=1}^{3} v_{ab}^{h} - r, \quad r = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{R sector} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \text{NS sector} \end{cases},$$
(4.132)

where $v_{ab}^{h} = \theta_{ab^{h}/\pi}$, with θ_{ab}^{h} the relative angles of the branes *a* and *b* on the *h*-th complex plane and *Y* measuring the distance stretched by the string. The lightest states at intersection points are given by [92]

$$\alpha' M^2 = \frac{(\vec{r} - \vec{v}_{ab})^2}{2} + \sum_{h=1}^3 \frac{1}{2} |v_{ab}^h| \left(1 - |v_{ab}^h|\right) - \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (4.133)$$

where $\vec{v}_{ab} = (0, v_{ab}^1, v_{ab}^2, v_{ab}^3)^T$ and $\vec{r} = (r_0, r_1, r_3, r_4)^T$, with $r_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ for NS states and $r_i \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}$ for R states, where $r_0 = 0$ denotes a scalar, $r_0 = \pm \frac{1}{2}$ a chiral, antichiral Weyl spinor and $r_0 = \pm 1$ vector fields in four dimensions. The four dimensional spectrum of light states in four dimensions is listed in table 4.2 for the case where $\theta_{ab}^1, \theta_{ab}^2 > 0$ and $\theta_{ab}^3 < 0$ [92]. At the intersection points there is always a massless fermion in

sector	$\vec{r} - \vec{v}_{ab}$	$\alpha' M^2$	4d field
NS:	$(0, -1 + v_{ab}^1, v_{ab}^2, v_{ab}^3)$	$\frac{1}{2}\left(-v_{ab}^{1}+v_{ab}^{2}-v_{ab}^{3}\right)$	scalar
	$\left(0, v_{ab}^1, -1 + v_{ab}^2, v_{ab}^3\right)$	$\frac{1}{2}\left(v_{ab}^{1}-v_{ab}^{2}-v_{ab}^{3}\right)$	scalar
	$(0, v_{ab}^1, v_{ab}^2, 1 + v_{ab}^3)$	$\frac{1}{2}\left(v_{ab}^{1}+v_{ab}^{2}+v_{ab}^{3}\right)$	scalar
	$\left(0, -1 + v_{ab}^1, -1 + v_{ab}^2, 1 + v_{ab}^3\right)$	$1 - \frac{1}{2} \left(v_{ab}^1 + v_{ab}^2 - v_{ab}^3 \right)$	scalar
R:	$\left(-\frac{1}{2}\cdot-\frac{1}{2}+v_{ab}^{1},-\frac{1}{2}+v_{ab}^{2},\frac{1}{2}+v_{ab}^{3}\right)$	0	Weyl spinor

Table 4.2: Light open string states at intersection points of D6-branes and their representation in the uncompact space.

four dimensions and for

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \theta_{ab}^{h} = 0, \qquad (4.134)$$

the NS sector provides the four dimensional spectrum with a massless scalar, s.t. an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ chiral multiplet in four dimensions is formed at each intersection point. The condition (4.134) is satisfied, when both D-branes *a* and *b* wrap 3-cycles with the same calibration phase. The calibration phase determines which subset of supercharges from the bulk is preserved on the brane [88], since the D6-branes are BPS states in Type IIA [46]. When both branes share the same calibration phase it means they preserve the same supercharges on their volume. Further the condition (4.134) is similar to the condition (4.36) for twist vectors for orbifolds preserving one killing spinor. The killing spinors preserved on the D-branes *a* and *b* are related by a *SU*(3) transformation according to (4.134), which is the supersymmetry condition on orbifolds.

$\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ -projection

In section 4.1.5 it was discussed that $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ invariant cycles wrap twice a torus cycle, which passes through $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ fixed points. That means a D6-brane *a* wrapping N_a times a cycle Π_a^3 on the torus, becomes under the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ action a brane wrapping $\frac{N_a}{2}$ times an orbifold cycle. Under the action of the spacetime involution *R*, *a* gets mapped to an image brane *a'*, which wraps the image cycle $\Pi_{a'}^3$, where $R : \Pi_a^3 \to \Pi_{a'}^3$. On the level of the gauge groups this means, that a $U(N_a) \times U(N'_a)$ gauge group on the torus, with $U(N'_a)$ the gauge symmetry on the image branes to the stack generating $U(N_a)$, gets broken by the point group to a $U(N_a/2) \times U(N'_a/2)$ gauge symmetry and the spacetime refelection further reduces the gauge symmetry to $U(N_a/2)$ [81]:

$$U(N_a) \times U(N_a) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2} U(N_a/2) \times U(N_a/2) \xrightarrow{R} U(N_a/2).$$
(4.135)

However if the stacks *a* and *a'* lie on top of an O-plane, they can be viewed as a single stack with $2N_a$ branes getting mapped by *R* to themselves. The gauge symmetry of D-branes on top of O-planes are determined by the effect of worldsheet parity on the Chan-Paton labels: Open string states on a stack on top of an O-plane have to form invariant states under worldsheet parity. Worldsheet parity interchanges the two open string endpoints and therefore Ω acts on the Chan-Paton labels as transposing them

$$\Omega: |ij\rangle \to \gamma |ji\rangle \gamma^{-1}, \qquad (4.136)$$

with γ containing the action of Ω on the gauge indices. Acting twice with Ω has to give back initial state

$$\Omega^{2}: |ij\rangle \to \gamma \left(\gamma |ji\rangle \gamma^{-1}\right)^{T} \gamma^{-1} = |ij\rangle$$
(4.137)

leading to $\gamma = \pm \gamma^T$. The condition is solved by $\gamma = \mathbb{1}_N$ for the plus sign and by $\gamma = i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbb{1}_{N/2} \\ \mathbb{1}_{N/2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ for the minus sign. Recalling the open string boundary conditions (3.6), (3.7) and inserting the open string mode expansions into them, one receives for N boundary conditions on both end points

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = x^{\mu} + \frac{2\pi\alpha'}{\ell}p^{\mu}\sigma^{0} + i\sqrt{2\alpha'}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}\setminus\{0\}}\frac{1}{n}\alpha_{n}^{\mu}e^{-i\pi n\sigma^{0}/\ell}\cos\left(n\pi\sigma^{1}/\ell\right),\qquad(4.138)$$

and for D boundary conditions on both end points

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma^{0},\sigma^{1}) = x^{\mu} + \frac{1}{\ell}c^{\mu}\sigma^{1} + \sqrt{2\alpha'}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}\setminus\{0\}}\frac{1}{n}\alpha_{n}^{\mu}e^{-i\pi n\sigma^{0}/\ell}\sin\left(n\pi\sigma^{1}/\ell\right).$$
(4.139)

Using the fact that worldsheet partity acts on the strings as

$$\Omega R: X^{\mu}(\sigma^0, \sigma^1) = \begin{cases} X^{\mu}(\sigma^0, \ell - \sigma^1) & \text{for N} \\ -X^{\mu}(\sigma^0, \ell - \sigma^1) & \text{for D} \end{cases},$$
(4.140)

it can be deduced that the oscillators transform as $\Omega R : \alpha_n^{\mu} \to \alpha_n^{\mu}$. Analogous the fermionic oscillators transform as $\Omega R : b_{n+r}^{\mu} \to e^{i\pi(n+r)}b_{n+r}^{\mu}$. The massless open string states then transform as

$$\Omega R: b^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes |ij\rangle \to i\eta_{\rm NS} b^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes \gamma |ij\rangle\gamma^{-1}, \quad b^{\mu}_{0}|0\rangle_{\rm R} \otimes |ij\rangle \to \eta_{\rm R} b^{\mu}_{0}|0\rangle_{\rm R} \otimes \gamma |ij\rangle\gamma^{-1}, \quad (4.141)$$

with $\eta_{\text{NS/R}}$ capturing the transformation behavior of the ground states ΩR : $|0\rangle_{\text{NS/R}} \rightarrow \eta_{\text{NS/R}}|0\rangle_{\text{NS/R}}$. For $\eta_{\text{R}} = -i\eta_{\text{NS}} =: \eta$, the massless open string states stay invariant, when the Chan-Paton factors transform as

$$|ij\rangle = \eta\gamma|ij\rangle\gamma^{-1}. \tag{4.142}$$

Since Ω is an involution on the worldsheet $\eta = \pm 1$. For those two choices, the Chan-Paton factors belonging to fundamental representations of [41]

$$|ij\rangle \in \begin{cases} SO(N) & \text{for } |ij\rangle = \gamma |ij\rangle\gamma^{-1} \\ USp(N) & \text{for } |ij\rangle = -\gamma |ij\rangle\gamma^{-1} \end{cases}$$
(4.143)

preserve the massless NS and R open string states. The choice for η has to be specified in accord with tadpole cancellation condition. As going to be explained in section 4.2.3, the total R-R charge needs to vanish. That means the amplitudes for interaction of O-planes and D-branes via R-R closed strings among each other needs to interfere destructively [41]. Therefore the amplitude of the interactions between O-planes with D-branes need to have the opposite sign as O-planes with O-planes and D-branes with D-branes need to have the opposite sign as O-planes with O-planes and D-branes with D-branes for Type IIA strings on a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ orientifold this is the case for the Chan-Paton factors belonging to US p(N) [81].

The massless spectrum in four dimensions received from intersection D6-branes *a* and *b* on a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ orientifold is listed in table 4.3 [81]. I_{ab} is the intersection number of the cycles, wrapped by *a* and *b*, and $G_{\alpha} \in \{U(N_{\alpha}), SO(N_{\alpha}), US p(N_{\alpha})\}$, with $\alpha \in \{a, b\}$, the gauge symmetry on the branes. When branes intersect with their orientifold images one gets beside bifundamental matter also chiral matter in the symmetric and antisymmetric irreducible representations $\mathbf{Sym}_{\alpha} \subset \Box_{\alpha} \otimes \Box_{\alpha}$ and $\mathbf{Anti}_{\alpha} \subset \Box_{\alpha} \otimes \Box_{\alpha}$. Their multiplicity depend on the number of O-planes N_{O6} .

sector	multiplicity	rep. $G_a \times G_b$
a	1	$(\mathbf{adj}_a, 1)$
b	1	$(1, \mathbf{adj}_b)$
$a \cap b + a' \cap b'$	I_{ab}	$(\Box_a, \overline{\Box}_b)$
$a \cap b' + a' \cap b$	$I_{ab'}$	(\square_a, \square_b)
$a \cap a' + a' \cap a$	$\frac{\frac{1}{2}(I_{aa'} - N_{06}I_{a,06})}{\frac{1}{2}(I_{aa'} + N_{06}I_{a,06})}$	$(\mathbf{Sym}_a, 1)$ $(\mathbf{Anti}_a, 1)$

Table 4.3: Gauge representation of massless open strings states on intersecting branes and their number of families in four dimensions.

4.2.3 Consistency conditions and anomaly cancellation for D6-branes

O6-planes, as well as D6-branes, are charged under the RR 7-form gauge fields C_7 [41]. From Maxwells theory for higher dimensions the equations of motion for RR 7-forms are given by

$$d * dC_7 \propto J, \tag{4.144}$$

where J is the R-R charge density and * the Hodge star. Integrating (4.144) over a compact space, the left-hand side of (4.144) has to vanish due to Gauss law. Hence the right-hand side must also vanish, s.t. the total R-R charge in the compact space has sum up to zero. Otherwise the interactions of O6-planes and D6-branes via R-R closed strings lead to divergent amplitudes, called tadpoles. The R-R charge of an O6-plane is -4 times the RR charge of a D6-brane and to cancel the charge of an O-plane four D-branes, wrapping cycles from the same homology class as the O-plane cycle, has to be inserted [54, 55, 83]. Hence the tadpole cancelation condition is given by

$$\sum_{a} N_a \left[\Pi_a^3 \right] + \sum_{a'} N_a \left[\Pi_{a'}^3 \right] - 4N_{O6} \left[\Pi_{O6}^3 \right] = 0.$$
(4.145)

Due to the presence of chiral matter in the four dimensional spectrum, anomalies in the four dimensional theory are possible. In [45, 93–97] such anomalies are discussed also for orientifold compactifications, where some of the arguments are repeated in the following of this section. The possible four dimensional anomalies are $SU(N)^3$ cubic anomalies, mixed $U(1) - a - SU(N_b)^2$ anomalies and mixed U(1)-gravitational anomalies, arising from the U(1) and SU(N) factors in the U(N) gauge groups on the brane volumes⁹. The cubic anomalies \mathcal{R}^{aaa} , coming from the current $\overline{\psi}\overline{\sigma}\psi$ with ψ a chiral fermion in the fundamental representation \Box_a of $SU(N_a)$, are proportional to the trace

$$\mathcal{A}^{aaa}_{\Box_a} = \operatorname{Tr}\left(T^a\left\{T^a, T^a\right\}\right),\tag{4.146}$$

for each generators T^a of $SU(N_a)$, where the trace is taken over indices in the gauge representation. Using the relations ¹⁰

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\operatorname{Sym}_{a}}F^{2} = (N_{a} + 4)\operatorname{Tr}_{\Box_{a}}, \quad \operatorname{Tr}_{\operatorname{Anti}_{a}}F^{2} = (N_{a} - 4)\operatorname{Tr}_{\Box_{a}}, \quad (4.147)$$

with *F* the fieldstrength of $SU(N_a)$ and Tr_{α} the trace taken over the gauge indices in the α representation, the anomalies coming from chiral fermions in the antifundamental, symmetric and antisymmetric representations $\overline{\Box}_a$, **Sym**_a and **Anti**_a are related to the anomaly from fundamental fields by

$$\mathcal{A}_{\overline{\square}_a}^{aaa} = -\mathcal{A}_{\square_a}^{aaa}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{Sym}_a}^{aaa} = (N_a + 4)\mathcal{A}_{\square_a}^{aaa}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{Anti}_a}^{aaa} = (N_a - 4)\mathcal{A}_{\square_a}^{aaa}.$$
(4.148)

For an intersecting D6-brane setup with O6-planes, the total cubic $S U(N_a)^3$ anomaly $\mathcal{R}_{\text{total}}^{aaa}$ for coming from all chiral fields with the corresponding multiplicity from table 4.3 is given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{total}}^{aaa} = \left\{ \sum_{b \neq a} N_b \left(I_{a'b} - I_{ab} \right) + \frac{N_a - 4}{2} \left(I_{aa'} + N_{O6} I_{a,O6} \right) + \frac{N_a + 4}{2} \left(I_{aa'} - N_{O6} I_{a,O6} \right) \right\} \mathcal{A}_{\square_a}^{aaa}, \quad (4.149)$$

⁹ $U(N) \simeq (S U(N) \times U(1)) / \mathbb{Z}_N$ as will be explained in section 6.2.2.

¹⁰ Given in appendix B of [86]

and using $I_{ab} = \left[\Pi_a^3\right] \cdot \left[\Pi_b^3\right]$ one can factor out Π_a^3 , s.t the total cubic anomaly is proportional to

$$\sum_{b} N_b \left(\left[\Pi_b^3 \right] + \left[\Pi_{b'}^3 \right] \right) - 4 N_{O6} \left[\Pi_{O6}^3 \right]$$
(4.150)

and hence vanishes, when tadpole cancelation is satisfied. The mixed $U(1)_a - SU(N_b)^2$ anomalies are given by

$$\mathcal{A}^{abb} = \mathrm{Tr}\left(Q_a T^b T^b\right),\tag{4.151}$$

where Q_a is the $U(1)_a$ generator. Again using the relations (4.147), the mixed $U(1)_a - S U(N_b)^2$ anomalies are proportional to

$$\mathcal{A}^{abb} \propto \sum_{b} N_b \left(I_{ab} - I_{a'b} \right) \,, \tag{4.152}$$

and hence non zero. However they can get canceled by a four dimensional Green-Schwarz mechanism [92, 98]. In the following the anomaly cancellation is illustrated by using the arguments in [20]. The terms $\int_{\Sigma_7} C_5 \wedge \text{Tr}F$ and $\int_{\Sigma_7} C_3 \wedge \text{Tr}F^2$ in the Chern-Simons action in (3.45) express how the gauge groups on the brane volumes couple to the 5-form and 3-form gauge potentials. First a basis for the $H_3(X^6)$ is introduced by $\{[\alpha_k], [\beta^k]\}_{k \in \{1, \dots, 4\}}$, where $[\alpha_k]$ are dual to $[\beta^k]$ in the sense that $[\alpha_k] \cdot [\beta^l] = \delta_k^l$. Now let the stack *a* wrap a cycle in the internal space from the homology class $[\alpha_k]$ and the stack *b* a cycle $[\beta^l]$ Then integrating the 5-form C_5 on the stack *a* and the 3-form C_3 on the stack *b* over the internal space leads to a 2-form B_2 and scalar θ in four dimensions

$$B_{2}^{k} = \int_{[\alpha_{k}]} C_{5}, \quad \theta_{l} = \int_{[\beta^{l}]} C_{3}.$$
(4.153)

Remembering that the C_5 gauge potential is the magnetic dual of C_3 in ten dimensions and they are related via $dC_5 = *dC_3$, the four dimensional relation θ_l and B_2^k follows¹¹

$$\partial_{\mu}B_{\nu\rho}^{k} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\partial^{\sigma}\theta_{l}. \qquad (4.155)$$

Let the brane *a* containing the $U(1)_a$ wrap the cycle Π_a^3 and the brane *b*, containing the $SU(N_b)$ factor wrap the cycle Π_b^3 . Then integrating out the internal space from the Chern-Simons term $N_a \int_{\mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times \Pi_a^3} C_5 \wedge \text{Tr}F_a$ from the brane *a* and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times \Pi_b^3} C_3 \wedge \text{Tr}F_b^2$ from the brane *b* the four dimensional couplings of the $U(1)_a$ to B_2^k and $SU(N_a)$ to θ_l is given by

$$N_a s_{ak} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{1,3}} B_2^k \wedge \operatorname{Tr} F_a, \quad q_b^l \int_{\mathbb{R}^{1,3}} \theta_l \wedge \operatorname{Tr} F_b^2, \qquad (4.156)$$

where $s_{ak} = [\Pi_a^3] \cdot [\alpha_k]$ and $q_b^l = [\Pi_b^3] \cdot [\beta^l]$ contain the overlap of the brane cycles with the cycle wrapped by the gauge potentials. The field B_2^k couples to the $U(1)_a$ gauge boson and the field θ^l to two $SU(N_b)$ gauge bosons and due to the relation (4.154) the $U(1)_a$ can couple to two $SU(N_b)$'s via the exchange

$$\partial_{\mu} \int_{\left[\alpha_{k}\right]} C_{5} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \partial^{\sigma} \int_{\left[\beta^{l}\right]} C_{3} , \qquad (4.154)$$

¹¹ Integrating the equation $dC_5 = *dC_3$ over the compact space one receives

where C_5 fills out the directions ν and ρ in the uncompact space. Inserting the definitions of B_2^k and θ_l the relation in four dimensions $\partial_\mu B_2^k = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \partial^\sigma \theta_l$ follows.

of the scalar field θ^l , generating four dimensional Green-Schwarz terms. The Green-Schwarz terms interfere destructively with the $U(1)_a - S U(N_b)^2$ anomaly terms and therefor the mixed $U(1)_a - S U(N_b)^2$ anomalies are canceled. Similar the mixed gravitational anomalies also vanish¹². However the coupling of the U(1) gauge boson to the field B_2^k breaks the U(1) symmetry through a Stückelberg mechanism, where θ^l behaves as an axion with a shift symmetry¹³. The broken U(1) remains as a discrete symmetry [99]. The non-anomalous U(1), is a linear combination of the other U(1) and its generator Q_Y is given by a linear combination of the other U(1) generators Q by

$$Q_Y = \sum_{a \in \{U(1)\}} c_a Q_a , \qquad (4.157)$$

where the coefficients c_a are determined by the conditons

$$\sum_{a} N_a \left(s_{ak} - s_{a'k} \right) c_a = 0, \quad \forall k \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}.$$
(4.158)

4.3 Model building on $T^6_{\mathrm{SO}(12)}/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R)$

4.3.1 Towards realistic four dimensional particle physics

sector	$U(4) \times U(2) \times U(2)$
ab + ab'	3 × (4 , 2 , 1)
ac + ac'	$3 \times (\overline{4}, 1, 2)$
bc + b'c	$(I_{bc} + I_{b'c}) \times (1, 2, 2)$

Table 4.4: Pati-Salam	from	intersecting	branes.
-----------------------	------	--------------	---------

The results achieved in [58, 81, 82, 100–102] are just some examples for the progress in constructing realistic four dimensional particle physics models with intersecting D-branes on orientifolds. There has been also some attempts to construct intersecting brane models on non-factorisable orientifolds as in [77, 103–105]. The term "realistic" in the context of string compactifiaction is used for the following six criteria:

- (i) The maximal supersymmetry in the massless four dimensional spectrum should be N = 1. Otherwise one receives a non chiral spectrum.
- (ii) The gauge group of the theory should be either $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$, where the U(1) has the properties of hypercharge, or a GUT group of the SM, s.t. it is possible to break the gauge group to the SM.
- (iii) The massless chiral spectrum should contain at least three families of quarks and leptons.

¹² For more details see [86].

¹³ The four dimensional coupling of B_2 and the U(1) gauge bosonis given by $cB_2 \wedge F$ in the Lagrangian, with F the U(1) fieldstrength. Substituting the field B_2 by its magnetic dual scalar θ by using the relation (4.155), the corresponding term in the Lagrangian becomes $2(cA + d\theta)^2$, which indicate massterms for the gauge bosons. The term is symmetric under $A \rightarrow A + d\Lambda$, when the scalar θ admits the simultaneous shift symmetry of $\theta \rightarrow \theta - c\Lambda$, s.t. only a subset of the U(1) symmetry is preserved.

sector	$U(3)_{\rm B} \times U(2)$	$Q_{\rm B}$	$Q_{\rm L}$	Q_b	Q_{I_1}	Q_{I_1}	Field
$a_1b + a_1b'$	$3 \times (3, 2)$	1	0	-1	0	0	Q_L
$a_2b + a_2b'$	$3 \times (1, 2)$	0	1	-1	0	0	L
$a_1'c_1$	$3 \times (\overline{3}, 1)$	-1	0	0	1	0	и
$a_1'c_2$	$3 \times (\overline{3}, 1)$	-1	0	0	0	1	d
a'_2c_1	$3 \times (1, 1)$	0	-1	0	1	0	ν_R
$a_2^{\overline{i}}c_2$	$3 \times (1, 1)$	0	-1	0	0	1	e_R
$bc_1 + b'c_1$	$(I_{bc} + I_{b'c}) \times (2, 1)$	0	0	1	1	0	H_u
$bc_2 + b'c_2$	$(I_{bc}+I_{b'c})\times(2,1)$	0	0	-1	0	1	H_d

Table 4.5: Pati-Salam to $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$.

- (iv) It should be possible to construct Yukawa couplings between chiral fermions and a scalar field, in order for the quarks and leptons to gain masses via a Higgs mechanism. It is further desired that the couplings allow mass hierachies.
- (v) Vector-like exotics should be absent in the massless spectrum.
- (vi) Absence of anomalies and tadpoles.

The first criterion is satisfied, when the extra dimensions are compactified on an orientifold described as described in section 4.1.2 and D-branes are placed, which share the same calibration phase. The gauge group and particle spectrum is controlled by the number of branes on a stack and the intersection numbers of the branes. There are two types of models, which can be constructed: In the first type the S U(2) factor comes from a stack of branes with a U(2) symmetry on them and in the second type the S U(2) factor comes from a stack of branes on top of O-planes with a US p(2) symmetry on them. Both choices are possible since $SU(2) \subset U(2)$ and $SU(2) \simeq USp(2)$. The amount and wrapping numbers of D6-branes are restricted by the tadpole cancellation condition. Further, anomaly cancellation leads to the U(1)charges of the fields. In order to allow Yukawa couplings, the D-brane configuration must obey a certain geometry: A Yukawa coupling between three fields accrues from worldsheet instantons connecting the three fields [106]. This is only possible, when the branes on which the three fields sit, form the boundary for worldsheet instantons. When three stacks of branes intersect non trivially and no stack is parallel to the other two stacks, worldsheet instantons can stretch between the D-branes and the fields, sitting at their intersection points, couple via the instanton and allow Yukawa couplings. Since the instanton strength is supressed by its area spread out in the internal space, mass hierachies can naturally arise in intersecting D-brane models and different masses in the low energy mass spectrum can be explained by the global geometry of the internal space. A simple GUT model containing the correct Yukawas is given by $U(4) \times U(2) \times U(2)$ Pati-Salam, for example discussed in [107]. In order to realize Pati-Salam from intersecting branes, one needs at least three stacks of branes. Let the three stacks be denoted by a, b and c. All three stacks are placed apart from O-planes, s.t. orientifold images a', b', c' need to be included to the setup. The number N_{α} of D-branes on the stacks $\alpha \in \{a, b, c\}$ are

$$N_a = 4, \quad N_b = N_c = 2. \tag{4.159}$$

Their intersection numbers have to be

$$I_{ab} + I_{ab'} = 3$$
, $I_{ac} = -3$, $I_{ac'} = 0$, $I_{bc} + I_{b'c} \neq 0$. (4.160)

Then one gets three generations of bifundamentals in $SU(4) \times SU(2)$ and a non vanishing amount of bifundamentals in $SU(2)^2$:

$$3 \times (\mathbf{4}, \mathbf{2}), \ 3 \times (\overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{2}) \in SU(4) \times SU(2), \quad (I_{bc} + I_{b'c}) \times (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2}) \in SU(2) \times SU(2).$$
 (4.161)

By splittint the stack a into two stacks $a = a_1 + a_2$, with $N_{a_1} = 3$ and $N_{a_2} = 1$, the group U(4) breaks to

$$U(4) \xrightarrow{a \to a_1 + a_2} U(3)_{\rm B} \times U(1)_{\rm L} \tag{4.162}$$

and the fields (4, 2) and $(\overline{4}, 2)$ decompose into

$$(4,2) \to (3,2) \oplus (1,2), \quad (\overline{4},2) \to (\overline{3},2) \oplus (1,2).$$
 (4.163)

By further splitting the stack c into $c = c_1 + c_2$, with $N_{c_1} = N_{c_2} = 1$, the second U(2) gauge group breaks to

$$U(2) \xrightarrow{c \to c_1 + c_2} U(1)_{I_1} \times U(1)_{I_2}$$

$$(4.164)$$

and the fields (2, 2) and $(\overline{3}, 2) \oplus (1, 2)$ decompose into

$$(\overline{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{2}) \oplus (\overline{\mathbf{1}}, \mathbf{2}) \to (\overline{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{1}) \oplus (\overline{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{1}) \oplus (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}) \oplus (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}), \quad (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2}) \to (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{1}) \oplus (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{1}).$$
(4.165)

The total number of chiral fields and its representation under the gauge groups, before and after the Higgsing¹⁴, are listed in table 4.4 and 4.5, where Q_B and Q_b are the generators of the U(1)'s in $U(3)_B$ and U(2). When the remaining massless $U(1)_Y$ is generated by the following linear combination

$$Q_{\rm Y} = \frac{1}{6}Q_{\rm B} - \frac{Q_{\rm L} + Q_{\rm I_1} - Q_{\rm I_2}}{2}, \qquad (4.166)$$

 $U(1)_{\rm Y}$ serves as the SM-like hypercharge and the fields listed in table 4.5 are indeed SM-like chiral matter. In order not to overshoot the tadpole cancellation condition, the cycles Π_{α}^3 , wrapped by the branes $\alpha \in \{a, b, c\}$, need to satisfy

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \{a,b,c\}} N_{\alpha}[\Pi_{\alpha}^{3}] + \sum_{\alpha \in \{a',b',c'\}} N_{\alpha}[\Pi_{\alpha}^{3}] \le 4N_{\rm O6}[\Pi_{\rm O6}^{3}].$$
(4.167)

If more branes are needed to saturate the tadpole cancellation, additional fields on the extra branes arise. In order not to spoil the SM-like particle content in low energies, the new fields should not form vector-like exotics and a mechanism, to give them high masses and decouple them from the low energy spectrum, needs to be implemented. In Pati-Salam models arising from intersecting branes, as in (4.5), it is possible to construct the trilinear couplings

$$(Q_L H_u u)$$
, $(Q_L H_d d)$, $(L H_u v_R)$ and $(Q_L H_d e_R)$, (4.168)

which gives the quarks and leptons masses, proportional to the coupling strength, when vev's for H_u and H_d are turned on.

¹⁴ The seperation of branes from a stack is denoted as Higgsing, since massless states, from strings attached to both stacks, become massive and the process can be viewed as a Higgs mechanism.

4.3.2 Supersymmetric toy model on $T^6_{SO(12)}/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R)$

Let six stacks of D6-branes $\alpha \in \{a, b, c, h_1, h_2, h_3\}$ wrap N_{α} times the 3-cycles Π_{α}^3 on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$, with wrapping numbers given in table 4.6. The stacks *a* and *c* are oblique to the O-planes, where the

stack α	$\Pi^3_\alpha = \prod^3_{h=1} (n^h_\alpha, m^h_\alpha)$	N_{lpha}
a	$(2,0) \times (1,1) \times (1,-1)$	6
b	$(0,1) \times (2,0) \times (0,-1)$	2
с	$(1,1) \times (1,-1) \times (2,0)$	2
h_1	$(2,0) \times (0,1) \times (0,-1)$	2
h_2	$(0,1) \times (0,-1) \times (2,0)$	6
h_3	$(0,1) \times (2,0) \times (0,-1)$	6

Table 4.6: Intersecting D6-branes on $T_{SO(12)}^6$

stacks b, h_1 , h_2 and h_3 are on top of O-planes. The stacks b and h_3 are parallel but separated from each other. In order for the D-branes to wrap calibrated cycles with the calibration phase $\vartheta = 0$, the deformation parameters of the torus have to be chosen to be $\text{Im}(\tau_1) = \text{Im}(\tau_2) = \text{Im}(\tau_3) = 1$ and $\text{Re}(\tau_1) = \text{Re}(\tau_2) = \text{Re}(\tau_3) = 0$. The tadpole cancellation condition (4.145) is satisfied and therefore non-abelian and mixed anomalies are absent from the resulting model. The gauge symmetry arising from the D-branes is $U(3) \times S U(2)^2 \times US p(6)^2$, where the S U(2) factors are generated by the stacks b and h_1 . The non-vanishing intersection numbers for the intersecting branes are¹⁵

$$I_{ab} = 2, \quad I_{ac} = -4, \quad I_{bc} = 2, \quad I_{ah_2} = -2,$$
 $I_{ah_3} = 2, \quad I_{ch_1} = 2, \quad I_{ch_3} = -2.$
(4.169)

The four dimensional spectrum of chiral matter resulting from string states at the intersection points is listed in table 4.7. Two families of lefthanded quark-like fields, four families of righthanded quark-like

sector	$U(3)_a \times S U(2)_b \times S U(2)_{h_1} \times US p(6)_{h_2} \times US p(6)_{h_3}$	$U(1)_a$	$U(1)_c$	Field
$a \cap b$	2 × (3, 2, 1, 1, 1)	+1	0	Q
$a \cap c$	$4 \times (\overline{3}, 1, 1, 1, 1)$	-1	+1	q
$b \cap c$	$2 \times (1, 2, 1, 1, 1)$	0	-1	H
$a \cap h_2$	$2 \times (\overline{3}, 1, 1, 6, 1)$	-1	0	ϕ_1
$a \cap h_3$	$2 \times (\overline{3}, 1, 1, 1, 6)$	+1	0	ϕ_2
$c \cap h_1$	$2 \times (1, 1, 2, 1, 1)$	0	+1	h
$c \cap h_3$	2 × (1, 1, 1, 1, 6)	0	-1	arphi

Table 4.7: Four dimensional spectrum of chiral matter.

fields and two Higgs-like fields are contained in the toy model. The remaining fields are exotic chiral matter, because, due to their charge under the US p(6) gage groups, they cannot even remotely be associated to any SM particle. Both U(1) factors are anomaly free as can be seen from the vanishing of the total U(1) charges of the chiral fields. However non of the U(1)'s have the properties to be the SM hypercharge U(1). Even though the above model is just a toy model, several aspects of model building on

¹⁵ Remember that the intersection number on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ is given by $I_{ab} = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^3 (n_a^h m_b^h - n_b^h m_a^h)$.

the $T_{SO(12)}^6/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R)$ orientifold can be elucidated. As already pointed out in [77] it is not possible to have models with an odd number of families, which is why one has to construct models with at least four generations and find a mechanism to make the extra families massive in such a way that only three families remain in the low energy limit. However the tadpole cancellation condition is more restrictive for the non-factorisable orientifold that for the factorisable orientifold, since the number of O-planes is reduced to half of the number as possible on factorisable orientifolds, which consequently reduces the possible number of wrappings for the D-branes. In order not to overshoot the tadpole cancellation condition the wrapping numbers for the stack carrying the SU(3) color symmetry have to be minimized. This was tried for the stack a in table 4.6. The electroweak SU(2) factor can be generated from branes on top of O-planes. That allows to spare half of the amount of branes, which are needed when the SU(2)factor comes from a U(2) gauge group. However at least one further stack is needed, which intersects non-trivially with the stacks containing the SU(3) and SU(2) gauge groups. Otherwise massterms cannot be constructed. If the third stack had a U(2) symmetry on it, by separating the stack to two stacks and breaking the U(2) to $U(1) \times U(1)$, up- and down-like quarks and two Higgs fields, connecting the left-and righthanded quarks, could be realized. However tadpole cancellation only allowed for the stack c in table 4.6 a U(1) gauge symmetry. The only realistic feature the above model realizes is allowing Yukawa couplings for the fields Q, H and q. Let the Yukawa coupling of the fields $\{Q_i\}_{i \in \{1,2\}}, \{H_i\}_{i \in \{1,2\}}$ and ${q_k}_{k \in {1,...,4}}$ be given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{Yuk}} = Y_{ijk} Q^i H^j q^k, \qquad (4.170)$$

with *i*, *j*, *k* labeling the families of the three fields. The factor Y_{ijk} gives the coupling strength of the trilinear coupling. The term \mathcal{L}_{Yuk} can be expressed as the product $\mathbf{3} \otimes \mathbf{1} \otimes \overline{\mathbf{3}}$ in the SU(3) representation and as $\mathbf{2} \otimes \mathbf{2} \otimes \mathbf{1}$ in the SU(2) representation. The antisymmetric part of both tensor products contain a singlet, hence \mathcal{L}_{Yuk} is invariant under the $SU(3) \times SU(2)$ factor of the model. Since the U(1) charges add up to zero in \mathcal{L}_{Yuk} and the fields Q, H and q are not charged under the remaining gauge groups, \mathcal{L}_{YUk} is indeed a gauge invariant coupling in the model and the fields Q and q acquire mass by giving the fields H^j vev's through a Higgs mechanism.

It is difficult to get a spectrum with four families and simultaneously gauge groups, which are big enough to reproduce the whole SM gauge group with the SM field content from the particular orientifold. As can already be seen in table 4.7 only the field q has four generations, where for the other fields there are just two families. However turning on discrete torsion might relieve the constraints on the D-brane wrapping numbers. In order to fully turn away from the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ has to investigate, whether discrete torsion does not bring along more structure for model building [108].

CHAPTER 5

Yukawa couplings from D6-branes on $T_{SO(12)}^6$

As discussed in section 4.3.1, there is the hope that realistic four dimensional particle physics models can be realised in orientifold models with intersecting branes on them. It is then necessary that one can compute Yukawa couplings in for the models. The couplings in orientifolds are inherited by the couplings in the underlying torus, which is why it is necessary to be able to compute Yukawa couplings on the torus as an intermediat step. In [106] Yukawa couplings from intersecting branes on factorisable tori where already computed. In this chapter the generalization to Yukawa couplings on a non-factorisable is presented. It is based on the discussion in [109].

5.1 Yukawa couplings from D6-branes

5.1.1 Yukawa couplings from worldsheet instantons

A worldsheet instanton is a worldsheet with the topology of a disc embedded into the inernal space, s.t. it is localized at a point in the uncompact space and can be viewed as an instanton in four dimensions. They are discussed in [52, 76, 110–112]. Since boundaries of worldsheets are attached to D-branes, worldsheet instantons are stretched between D-branes. Let *D* be a worldsheet with the topology of a disc and $\partial D = d$ its boundary. Let the 3-cycles $\Pi_{\alpha}^3 \in H_3(X^6)$ in the internal space X^6 , be wrapped by the D6-branes α . The embedding *f* of *D* into X^6 has to be given by the following properties [76]

$$f: d \to f(d) \in \bigcup_{\alpha} \Pi_{\alpha}^{3}, \quad D \to f(D) \in H_{2}\left(X^{6}, \bigcup_{\alpha} \Pi_{\alpha}^{3}\right),$$
(5.1)

where $H_2(X^6, \bigcup_{\alpha} \Pi^3_{\alpha})$ is the space of two dimensional surfaces in X^6 , with their boundaries on $\bigcup_{\alpha} \Pi^3_{\alpha}$. Further f(D) has to satisfy the classical equations of motion, which for worldsheets translates to the condition that the area, streched out by the worldsheet, has to be minimized. Hence f(D) has to be calibrated by the Kähler 2-form, s.t. its volume is given by

$$\operatorname{Vol}\left(f(D)\right) = \int_{f(D)} \omega_2, \qquad (5.2)$$

which means f(D) wraps holomorphic 2-cycles. Since the worldsheet also couple to the U(1) gauge field on the branes, it can collect phases, due to Wilson lines θ_{α} on the branes, which is given by [76]

$$e^{2\pi i \theta_{\alpha}} = e^{2\pi i \int_{f(d)} A_{\alpha}}, \qquad (5.3)$$

where A_{α} is the U(1) gauge field on the brane α . The coupling strength *I* of the instanton is exponentially supressed by the worldsheet area and proportional to the U(1) phases [113]

$$I \propto \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'}\int_{f(D)}\omega_2 + 2\pi i\sum_{\alpha}\int_{f(d)}A_{\alpha}\right\}.$$
(5.4)

Since on a compact space cycles can be wrapped multiple times, f(D) is specified by its wrapping number *n* around the 2-cycle $\Sigma^2 \in H_2(X^6, \bigcup_{\alpha} \prod_{\alpha}^3)$. A Yukawa coupling describes the interaction of three chiral fields. As already discussed, in intersecting D-brane setups, chiral fields are located at intersection points of two D6-branes. Let the three chiral fields, denoted by ϕ^i , ϕ^j and ϕ^k , belong to the following bifundamental representations

$$\phi^{i} \simeq (\Box_{a}, \overline{\Box}_{b}) , \quad \phi^{j} \simeq (\Box_{c}, \overline{\Box}_{a}) , \quad \phi^{k} \simeq (\Box_{b}, \overline{\Box}_{c}) ,$$
 (5.5)

for example in a $U(N_a) \times U(N_b) \times U(N_c)$ gauge theory. Then they sit at the intersection points

$$i \in \Pi_a^3 \cap \Pi_b^3, \quad j \in \Pi_c^3 \cap \Pi_a^3, \quad k \in \Pi_b^3 \cap \Pi_c^3, \tag{5.6}$$

where Π_{α}^3 , $\alpha \in \{a, b, c\}$, are the 3-cycles wrapped by the branes α , which carry the gauge group $U(N_{\alpha})$. The Yukawa coupling between the fields ϕ^i , ϕ^j and ϕ^k is denoted by Y_{ijk} . At the CFT level, tree level contributions to Y_{ijk} are described by correlation functions of three Vertex operators V^i , V^j and V^k on a worldsheet with the topology of a disc D

$$Y_{ijk} \simeq \langle V^i \, V^j \, V^k \rangle_D \,. \tag{5.7}$$

The vertex operators V^i, V^j, V^k create the CFT states, which correspond to the fields ϕ^i, ϕ^j, ϕ^k in spacetime. That means, from the spacetime point of view, tree level constributions to the Yukawa coupling Y_{ijk} arise from worldsheet instantons, where the embedding f of D into X^6 has to satisfy the conditions:

• $f: D \to f(D) \in H_2(X^6, \bigcup_{\alpha \in \{a,b,c\}} \Pi^3_{\alpha}),$

•
$$f: d \to f(d) \in \bigcup_{\alpha \in \{a,b,c\}} \prod_{\alpha}^3$$

- $\{i, j, k\} \in f(d)$ and
- $\int_{f(D)} \omega_2 = \operatorname{Vol}(f(D)).$

The sum over all instantons satisfying the above four conditions lead to the tree level contribution of Y_{ijk} [106]

$$Y_{ijk} \propto \sum_{f(D)\in H_2(X^6, \bigcup_{\alpha\in\{a,b,c\}}\Pi^3_{\alpha})} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'}\int_{f(D)}\omega_2 + 2\pi i\sum_{\alpha\in\{a,b,c\}}\int_{f(d)}A_{\alpha}\right\}.$$
(5.8)

5.1.2 Yukawa couplings on the torus

Since the Kähler 2-form on a flat torus is given by the sum $\omega_2 = \frac{i}{2} \sum_h dz_h \wedge d\overline{z}_h$, with $z_h = x_{2h-1} + ix_{2h}$, the condition for f(D) to wrap holomorphic 2-cycles in T^{2n} becomes

$$\frac{i}{2} \int_{f(D)} \sum_{h=1}^{n} \mathrm{d}z_h \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{z}_h = \mathrm{Vol}(f(D))\,,\tag{5.9}$$

which shows that worldsheet instantons on a torus are given by a sum over n two dimensional surfaces, each spreading out in a complex plane. Further the boundary of the instanton has to be placed on D6-branes. As explained in section 4.1.4 D6-branes in tori span in each complex plane a straight line and therefor, to connect three different intersection points, the instantons have the shape of triangles in each complex plane. The edges of the triangle lie on D6-branes and the corners of the triangles are intersection points of the branes. The strategy to compute Yukawa couplings consists of the following steps:

- 1. Parametrizing the three D6-branes a, b, c on the covering space \mathbb{R}^6 .
- 2. Calculating the loci of intersection points of the D-branes and finding a labeling i, j, k for the inequivalent intersection points on the torus.
- 3. Computing all triangles which connect three intersection points, labeled by the same triplet (i, j, k).
- 4. Inserting the areas of the triangles into (5.8) and adding Wilson lines if necessary.

5.2 Yukawa couplings on T^2

5.2.1 Computing Yukawa couplings on T^2

Yukawa couplings on factorisable T^6 have been discussed intensively in [106]. For Yukawa couplings in factorisable tori, one computes Yukawa couplings on each two dimensional T^2 factor and considers the product of the two dimensional couplings. In the following it will first be revised how Yukawa couplings on a T^2 are computed and some arguments in [106] are repeated, in order to adjust them to the more general case when the non-factorisable torus is discussed. In the following the two dimensional torus $T^2 = \mathbb{R}^2/\Lambda^2$ is considered, whose underlying lattice Λ^2 is spanned by the basis vectors

$$\vec{\alpha}_1 = R \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\vec{\alpha}_2 = R \begin{pmatrix} \text{Re}\tau \\ \text{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix}$, (5.10)

where $R^2 \text{Im}(\tau) \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tau \in \mathbb{C}$ are the Kähler and complex structure modulus. Let the three branes, which are denoted by *a*, *b* and *c*, be placed into the torus. Each brane $\alpha \in \{a, b, c\}$ wraps a sLag 1-cycle $\Pi^1_{\alpha} \in H_1(T^2)$ on the torus. The wrapping numbers of α around the cycle, generated by $\vec{\alpha}_1$, is denoted by n_{α} and the cycle, generated by $\vec{\alpha}_2$, by m_{α} :

$$\Pi_{\alpha}^{1} = (n_{\alpha}, m_{\alpha}). \tag{5.11}$$

In order to calculate the Yukawa couplings, the four steps described in section 5.1.2 are followed :

1. **Parametrizing the D-branes in** \mathbb{R}^2 : The brane α is parametrized in \mathbb{R}^2 by the set of points $\{\vec{x}_{\alpha}\}$, which satisfy the equation

$$\vec{x}_{\alpha} = \vec{s}_{\alpha} + R \begin{pmatrix} n_{\alpha} + m_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ m_{\alpha} \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix} \mu_{\alpha} + \vec{\lambda}_{\alpha}, \quad \vec{\lambda}_{\alpha} \in \Lambda^{2}, \, \mu_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}, \quad (5.12)$$

with

$$\vec{s}_{\alpha} = R \begin{pmatrix} -m_{\alpha} \operatorname{Im}\tau \\ n_{\alpha} + m_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re}\tau \end{pmatrix} \frac{\epsilon_{\alpha} \operatorname{Vol}(T^{2})}{\|\Pi_{\alpha}^{1}\|^{2}}, \quad \vec{\lambda}_{\alpha} = R \begin{pmatrix} p_{1} + p_{2} \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ p_{2} \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix}, \quad p_{1}, p_{2} \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(5.13)

The vector \vec{s}_{α} is a displacement vector, where ϵ_{α} is the shortest distance of the brane to the origin, measured in units of Vol $(T^2)/||\Pi_{\alpha}^1||$. Vol (T^2) is the the volume of the torus and $||\Pi_{\alpha}^1||$ is the lenght

of the cycle Π^1_{α}

$$Vol(T^{2}) = R^{2}Im\tau, \quad ||\Pi_{\alpha}^{1}|| = R\sqrt{n_{\alpha}^{2} + 2n_{\alpha}}, m_{\alpha}Re\tau + |\tau|^{2}m_{\alpha}^{2}.$$
 (5.14)

The displacement vector parametrizes the displacement of the brane to the origin. The lattice vectors $\vec{\lambda}_{\alpha}$ generate the images of α , generated by lattice translations, in \mathbb{R}^2 .

2. Intersection points on \mathbb{R}^2 : In [106] inequivalent intersection points on a T^2 were labeled by an integer $i \in \{0, 1, ..., |I_{ab}| - 1\}$, where $I_{ab} = n_a m_b - n_b m_a$ is the intersection number of the cycles Π_a^1 and Π_b^1 on the torus. The notation can be adopted for general tori, but since the aim is to generalize the concepts to non factorisable tori, one needs to keep track of how the lattice vectors $\vec{\lambda}_a$ depend on the intersection points. The loci (*ab*) of intersection points of the brane *a* with *b* is found by solving the equation $\vec{x}_a = \vec{x}_b$. The solutions are given by

$$(ab): \left. \mathbb{R}^2 \right|_{a \cap b} = \vec{s}_b + R \begin{pmatrix} n_b + m_b \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ m_b \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix} \mu_b + \vec{\lambda}_b \,, \tag{5.15}$$

with

$$\mu_b = (q_1 - p_1) \frac{m_a}{I_{ab}} - (q_2 - p_2) \frac{n_a}{I_{ab}} + \frac{\epsilon_a}{I_{ab}} - \frac{v_{ab}\epsilon_b}{\|\Pi_b^1\| \cdot \|\Pi_b^1\|},$$
(5.16)

where

$$v_{ab} = \frac{n_a n_b + \text{Re}\tau(n_a m_b + n_b m_a) + |\tau|^2 m_a m_b}{I_{ab}}.$$
 (5.17)

One gets an infinit amount of intersection points in \mathbb{R}^2 , where each intersection point is generated by the images under lattice translation of *a* and *b*. However all intersection points, which differ by lattice vectors, are identified on the torus and only those, which cannot be identified, are inequivalent intersection points on the torus. Taking a closer look at (5.16) one finds for *g.c.d.*(n_a , m_a) = 1, that the parameter μ_b can be expressed by a label *i* as

$$\mu_b = \frac{i}{I_{ab}} + \frac{\epsilon_a}{I_{ab}} - \frac{v_{ab}\epsilon_b}{\|\Pi_b^1\| \cdot \|\Pi_b^1\|}, \quad i \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(5.18)

where the intersection points with $i \in \{0, 1, ..., |I_{ab}| - 1\}$ form the set of inequivalent intersection points on T^2 . The index *i* is used to label the intersection points on the torus and the inequivalent intersection points on the torus are determined by

$$(ab): T^{2}\Big|_{a\cap b} = \vec{s}_{b} + R\binom{n_{b} + m_{b}\operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_{b}\operatorname{Im}\tau} \left(\frac{i}{I_{ab}} + \frac{\epsilon_{a}}{I_{ab}} - \frac{v_{ab}\epsilon_{b}}{\|\Pi_{b}^{1}\| \cdot \|\Pi_{b}^{1}\|}\right)$$
(5.19)

with

$$i \in \frac{\mathbb{Z}}{I_{ab}\mathbb{Z}}, \quad (q_1 - p_1)m_a - (q_2 - p_2)n_a = i \mod I_{ab}.$$
 (5.20)

It will turn out for six dimensional tori, the intersection points can be denoted by labels, which belong to more general three dimensional lattices. Including the brane c one further gets the intersection points between a and c, given by

$$(ac): \left. \mathbb{R}^2 \right|_{c\cap a} = \vec{s}_a + R \binom{n_a + m_a \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_a \operatorname{Im}\tau} \left(\frac{j}{I_{ca}} + \frac{\epsilon_c}{I_{ca}} - \frac{v_{ac}\epsilon_a}{\|\Pi_a^1\| \cdot \|\Pi_a^1\|} \right) + \vec{\lambda}_a \,, \tag{5.21}$$

and intersection points between b and c

$$(bc): \left. \mathbb{R}^2 \right|_{b\cap c} = \vec{s}_c + R \binom{n_c + m_c \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_c \operatorname{Im}\tau} \left(\frac{k}{I_{bc}} + \frac{\epsilon_b}{I_{bc}} - \frac{v_{cb}\epsilon_c}{\|\Pi_c^1\| \cdot \|\Pi_c^1\|} \right) + \vec{\lambda}_c , \qquad (5.22)$$

with

$$j \in \frac{\mathbb{Z}}{I_{ca}\mathbb{Z}}, \ k \in \frac{\mathbb{Z}}{I_{bc}\mathbb{Z}} \quad \text{and} \quad \vec{\lambda}_a, \ \vec{\lambda}_c \in \Lambda^2.$$
 (5.23)

The labels j and k depend on lattice vectors analogous to (5.20).

3. Closed triangles in \mathbb{R}^2 : When the branes *a*, *b* and *c* form closed triangles, the edges of the triangles lie on the branes and the corners of the triangle are intersection points. The edges \vec{z}_a , \vec{z}_b and \vec{z}_c of a triangle \triangle^{ijk} , whose corners are labeld by *i*, *j* and *k*, are computed by subtracting the corresponding intersection points (*ab*), (*bc*) and (*ca*) from each other. That way one gets the expressions

$$\vec{z}_{a} = \vec{v}_{a} + R \begin{pmatrix} n_{a} + m_{a} \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ m_{a} \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix} \left(\frac{j}{I_{ca}} + \frac{\epsilon_{c}}{I_{ca}} - \frac{v_{ac}\epsilon_{a}}{||\Pi_{a}^{1}|| \cdot ||\Pi_{a}^{1}||} \right)$$
(5.24)

$$-R \begin{pmatrix} n_{b} + m_{b} \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ m_{b} \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix} \frac{i}{I_{ab}} + R \begin{pmatrix} p_{1} - q_{1} + (p_{2} - q_{2}) \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ (p_{2} - q_{2}) \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\vec{z}_{b} = \vec{v}_{b} + R \begin{pmatrix} n_{b} + m_{b} \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ m_{b} \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix} \left(\frac{i}{I_{ab}} + \frac{\epsilon_{a}}{I_{ab}} - \frac{v_{ab}\epsilon_{b}}{||\Pi_{b}^{1}|| \cdot ||\Pi_{b}^{1}|| \right) -R \begin{pmatrix} n_{c} + m_{c} \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ m_{c} \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix} \frac{k}{I_{bc}} + R \begin{pmatrix} q_{1} - t_{1} + (q_{2} - t_{2}) \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ (q_{2} - t_{2}) \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\vec{z}_{c} = \vec{v}_{c} + R \begin{pmatrix} n_{c} + m_{c} \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ m_{c} \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix} \left(\frac{k}{I_{bc}} + \frac{\epsilon_{b}}{I_{bc}} - \frac{v_{cb}\epsilon_{c}}{||\Pi_{c}^{1}|| \cdot ||\Pi_{c}^{1}|| \right) -R \begin{pmatrix} n_{a} + m_{a} \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ m_{a} \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix} \frac{j}{I_{ca}} + R \begin{pmatrix} t_{1} - p_{1} + (t_{2} - p_{2}) \operatorname{Re}\tau \\ (t_{2} - p_{2}) \operatorname{Im}\tau \end{pmatrix},$$

with $p_1, q_2, q_1, q_2, t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and

$$\vec{v}_{a} = -R \binom{n_{b} + m_{b} \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_{b} \operatorname{Im}\tau} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{a}}{I_{ab}} - \frac{v_{ab}\epsilon_{b}}{\|\Pi_{b}^{1}\| \cdot \|\Pi_{b}^{1}\|} \right) + \vec{s}_{a} - \vec{s}_{b}, \qquad (5.25)$$

$$\vec{v}_{b} = -R \binom{n_{c} + m_{c} \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_{c} \operatorname{Im}\tau} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{c}}{I_{bc}} - \frac{v_{bc}\epsilon_{c}}{\|\Pi_{c}^{1}\| \cdot \|\Pi_{c}^{1}\|} \right) + \vec{s}_{b} - \vec{s}_{c}, \qquad (5.25)$$

$$\vec{v}_{c} = -R \binom{n_{a} + m_{a} \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_{a} \operatorname{Im}\tau} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{c}}{I_{ca}} - \frac{v_{ac}\epsilon_{a}}{\|\Pi_{a}^{1}\| \cdot \|\Pi_{a}^{1}\|} \right) + \vec{s}_{c} - \vec{s}_{a}.$$

The edges \vec{z}_{α} have to be parallel to the brane α , since the corners connected by \vec{z}_{α} lie both on that brane. Hence the scalar product of \vec{z}_{α} with the directional vector orthogonal to α has to vanish

$$\vec{z}_{\alpha} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} -m_{\alpha} \operatorname{Im}\tau \\ n_{\alpha} + m_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re}\tau \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
(5.26)

This is only the case if the parameters $p_1, p_2, ..., t_2$ satisfy the three Diophantine equations

$$-i = (p_1 - q_1)m_a - (p_2 - q_2)n_a,$$

$$-k = (q_1 - t_1)m_b - (q_2 - t_2)n_b,$$

$$-j = (t_1 - p_1)m_c - (t_2 - p_2)n_c.$$
(5.27)

In order to solve (5.27) it is helpful to relabel the intersection points by

$$i \to \frac{iI_{ac}}{d_a}, \quad j \to \frac{jI_{cb}}{d_c}, \quad k \to \frac{kI_{ba}}{d_b},$$
 (5.28)

where $d_a = g.c.d.(I_{ab}, I_{ca})$, $d_b = g.c.d.(I_{bc}, I_{ab})$ and $d_c = g.c.d.(I_{ca}, I_{bc})$. After relabeling one can find infinitly many solutions to (5.27), which are given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} p_1 - q_1 \\ p_2 - q_2 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{i}{d_a} \begin{pmatrix} n_c \\ m_c \end{pmatrix} + s_a \begin{pmatrix} n_a \\ m_a \end{pmatrix}, \quad s_a \in \mathbb{Z}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} q_1 - t_1 \\ q_2 - t_2 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{k}{d_b} \begin{pmatrix} n_a \\ m_a \end{pmatrix} + s_b \begin{pmatrix} n_b \\ m_b \end{pmatrix}, \quad s_b \in \mathbb{Z}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} t_1 - p_1 \\ t_2 - p_2 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{j}{d_c} \begin{pmatrix} n_b \\ m_b \end{pmatrix} + s_c \begin{pmatrix} n_c \\ m_c \end{pmatrix}, \quad s_c \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

$$(5.29)$$

The intersection numbers satisfy the relation

$$\binom{n_c}{m_c}I_{ab} + \binom{n_a}{m_a}I_{bc} + \binom{n_a}{m_a}I_{ca} = 0$$
(5.30)

and for $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}, m_{\alpha}) = 1$ it can be seen, that if for a pair of intersection numbers have $d_{\alpha} \neq 1$, then the other intersection number contains a factor of d_{α} , s.t. $d = d_a = d_b = d_c = g.c.d.(I_{ab}, I_{bc}, I_{ca})$. For some cases, the relabeling defined in (5.28) labels two inequivalent intersection points by the same label. An example is given by the case with the intersection numbers $I_{ab} = 4$ and $I_{ca} = 6$. The six labels $j \in \{0, 1, ..., 5\}$ are asigned to the new labels $j' = 2j \mod 6$

$$0 \to 0, \quad 1 \to 2, \quad 2 \to 4, \quad 3 \to 0, \quad 4 \to 2, \quad 5 \to 4, \tag{5.31}$$

leaving only three ineqivalent labels $j' \in \{0, 2, 4\}$, where the 'old' labels $i \in \{1, 3, 5\}$ are lost. The fact that after relabeling some intersection points have no "new" labels, leads to the problem that triangles connected to those intersection points cannot be computed. However it will turn out that for the case $d \neq 1$, for each triangle there are further *d* congruent triangles, from couplings fields with different labels *i*, *j*, *k*, and each triangle, whose "new" label vanishes, can be calculated by a congruent triangle, of a coupling, whose involved fields have "new" labels. Continuing the computations, one finds the vector \vec{v}_{α} is parallel to α , since the scalar product with $(-m_{\alpha} \text{Im}\tau, n_a + m_a \text{Re}\tau)^T$ vanishes. Therefore \vec{v}_{α} can also be expressed by the projection onto the directional vector of α by

$$\vec{v}_a = R^2 \binom{n_\alpha + m_\alpha \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_\alpha \operatorname{Im}\tau} \frac{\vec{v}_\alpha \cdot \binom{n_\alpha + m_\alpha \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_\alpha \operatorname{Im}\tau}}{\|\Pi_\alpha^1\| \cdot \|\Pi_\alpha^1\|}.$$
(5.32)

Inserting the results into (5.24) and using the relations (5.30),

$$v_{ab} + v_{ca} = \|\Pi_a^1\| \cdot \|\Pi_a^1\| \frac{I_{cb}}{I_{ab}I_{ca}}$$
(5.33)

and

$$\frac{v_{ab}{}^{2}I_{ab}}{\|\Pi_{a}^{1}\| \cdot \|\Pi_{b}^{1}\|} + \frac{I_{ab}{}^{2}}{\|\Pi_{a}^{1}\| \cdot \|\Pi_{b}^{1}\|I_{ab}} = \frac{1}{I_{ab}},$$
(5.34)

the edges \vec{z}_{α} can be expressed

$$\vec{z}_{a} = R \binom{n_{a} + m_{a} \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_{a} \operatorname{Im}\tau} I_{cb} \left(\frac{j}{d_{c} I_{ca}} + \frac{i}{d_{a} I_{ab}} + \frac{I_{bc} \epsilon_{a} + I_{ca} \epsilon_{b} + I_{ab} \epsilon_{c}}{I_{ca} I_{ab} I_{bc}} + \frac{s_{a}}{I_{cb}} \right),$$

$$\vec{z}_{b} = R \binom{n_{b} + m_{b} \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_{b} \operatorname{Im}\tau} I_{ca} \left(\frac{i}{d_{a} I_{ab}} + \frac{k}{d_{b} I_{bc}} + \frac{I_{bc} \epsilon_{a} + I_{ca} \epsilon_{b} + I_{ab} \epsilon_{c}}{I_{ca} I_{ab} I_{bc}} + \frac{s_{b}}{I_{ca}} \right),$$

$$\vec{z}_{c} = R \binom{n_{c} + m_{c} \operatorname{Re}\tau}{m_{c} \operatorname{Im}\tau} I_{ab} \left(\frac{j}{d_{c} I_{ca}} + \frac{k}{d_{b} I_{bc}} + \frac{I_{bc} \epsilon_{a} + I_{ca} \epsilon_{b} + I_{ab} \epsilon_{c}}{I_{ca} I_{ab} I_{bc}} + \frac{s_{c}}{I_{ca} I_{ab} I_{bc}} \right).$$
(5.35)

For \triangle^{ijk} to be closed, the edges need to satisfy the Diophantine equation

$$\vec{z}_a + \vec{z}_b + \vec{z}_c = 0, \qquad (5.36)$$

which is solved by

$$s_a = -\frac{k}{d_b} + \frac{I_{bc}}{d}(\ell + l_0), \quad s_b = -\frac{j}{d_c} + \frac{I_{ca}}{d}(\ell + l_0), \quad s_c = -\frac{i}{d_a} + \frac{I_{ab}}{d}(\ell + l_0), \quad (5.37)$$

with $d = d_a = d_b = d_c$ and $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$. l_0 is a function mapping the labels *i*, *j*, *k* to numbers in \mathbb{Z}_d

$$l_0: (i, j, k) \to \left\{0, \frac{1}{d}, ..., \frac{d-1}{d}\right\}$$
 (5.38)

and is needed to ensure that in (5.29) the lefthand side is indeed integer and thus correspond to integer lattice shifts. Further the condition that the lefthand side of (5.29) is integer leads to selection rules for *i*, *j* and *k*, which were postulated in [106], and unveils that not all combinations of labels belong to closed triangles, when $d \neq 1$.

4. **Computing Yukawa couplings:** After inserting (5.37) into (5.35), the edges \vec{z}_{α} for designated labels *i*, *j*, *k*, depend only on the free parameter ℓ . ℓ corresponds to the winding number of the triangle around the torus and hence denotes the winding number of the instanton. The area Vol(\triangle^{ijk}) of the triangles are calculated via

$$\operatorname{Vol}(\triangle^{ijk}) = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{|\vec{z}_a|^2 |\vec{z}_b|^2 - (\vec{z}_a \cdot \vec{z}_b)^2}$$
(5.39)

and is given by the expression

$$\operatorname{Vol}(\triangle^{ijk}) = \frac{1}{2}A|I_{ab}I_{bc}I_{ca}| \left(\frac{i}{d_a I_{ab}} + \frac{j}{d_c I_{ca}} + \frac{k}{d_b I_{bc}} + \tilde{\epsilon} + \frac{l_0}{d} + \frac{\ell}{d}\right)^2,$$
(5.40)

with $A = \text{Vol}(T^2)$ and $\tilde{\epsilon} = (I_{bc}\epsilon_a + I_{ca}\epsilon_b + I_{ab}\epsilon_c)/I_{ca}I_{ab}I_{bc}$. Substituting A by -iK, where $K = B_2 + iA$ is the complexified Kähler structure modulus, the instanton is allowed to couple to a B-field B. Wilson lines on the branes can be further turned on, as in [106], s.t. the instanton collects the U(1) phases $e^{2\pi I_{ab}\theta_c}$, $e^{2\pi I_{ca}\theta_b}$ and $e^{2\pi I_{bc}\theta_a}$, when going around the branes. Inserting the instantons into the sum in (5.8), the Yukawa couplings on the T^2 are given by

$$\mathcal{Y}_{ijk} \propto \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{\frac{1}{2}(\delta + \ell/d)^2 \kappa} e^{2\pi i (\delta + \ell/d)\phi}$$
(5.41)

with

$$\delta = \frac{i}{d_a I_{ab}} + \frac{j}{d_c I_{ca}} + \frac{k}{d_b I_{bc}} + \tilde{\epsilon} + \frac{l_0(i, j, k)}{d}, \qquad (5.42)$$

$$\phi = I_{ab}\theta_c + I_{ca}\theta_b + I_{bc}\theta_a,$$

$$\kappa = \frac{iK}{2\pi\alpha'}|I_{ab}I_{bc}I_{ca}|.$$

5.2.2 Example: Branes with non coprime intersection numbers in T^2

To illustrate the discussion in section 5.2.1, the following toy model will be investigated: Let the three branes a, b, c wrap cycles, with the following wrapping numbers

$$(n_a, m_a) = (1, 0), \quad (n_a, m_a) = (1, 2), \quad (n_a, m_a) = (1, -4).$$
 (5.43)

The intersection numbers for the setup are

$$I_{ab} = 2, \quad I_{bc} = -6, \quad I_{ca} = 4.$$
 (5.44)

By relabeling i, j, k under the prescription (5.28) one gets the "new" labels

$$i: (0,1) \to (0,-), \quad j: (0,1,2,3) \to (0,3,2,1), \quad k: (0,1,2,3,4,5) \to (0,5,4,3,2,1),$$
 (5.45)

and observes that the "old" label i = 1 has no "new" label. But for d = 2, couplings with the "old" label i = 1 can be expressed by a coupling, which are congruent to couplings with the "old" label i = 0. But first one has to determine the selection rules for the labels i, j, k. Demanding the lefthand side of (5.29) to be integer for the case at hand, for i = 0 the conditions are given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \left(\frac{k}{2} - 3l_0\right) \in \mathbb{Z}^2,$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\2 \end{pmatrix} \left(\frac{j}{2} + 2l_0\right) - \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \frac{k}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}^2,$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\-4 \end{pmatrix} l_0 - \begin{pmatrix} 1\\2 \end{pmatrix} \frac{j}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}^2.$$

$$(5.46)$$

The function $l_0(i, j, k)$ can take the values $\{0, \frac{1}{2}\}$. For $l_0 = 0$, k and j have to be even, where for $l_0 = \frac{1}{2}$, k and j have to be odd. The selection rules are hence

$$k + j = 0 \mod 2 \tag{5.47}$$

and an explicit choice for the function l_0 is for example $l_0 = \frac{j}{2}$. Then the quantity $x_0 = \frac{i}{I_{ab}} + \frac{k}{I_{bc}} + \frac{j}{I_{ca}} + l_0$ becomes

$$x_0 = \frac{3j}{4} - \frac{k}{6}.$$
 (5.48)

For the triangles with a corner labeled by the "old" label i = 1, one needs to find a congruent triangle



Figure 5.1: Three intersecting branes on a T^2 : The blue, green and red line indicate the position of the branes *a*, *b* and *c* on the fundamental domain of the T^2 , where the blue, brown and red integers, label the intersection points *i*, *j* and *k*. The primed labels, are labels after relabeling and the unprimed labels are the "old" labels.

with a corner denoted by the "old" label i = 0. This can be achieved by taking the triplet of "old" labels (i, j, k) and shifting them by

$$(i, j, k) \to (i, j, k) + \frac{1}{d}(I_{ab}, I_{ca}, I_{bc})$$
 (5.49)

to receive the intersection points of the congruent triangle. Afterwards one needs to relabel the intersection points and inserts them into x_0 . For example, the intersection points with the old labels (0, 3, 1) and (1, 1, 4) each form three corners of two congruent triangles, as can be seen in figure 5.1. Since (1, 1, 4) has no *i* label after relabeling, one has to shift the triplet by

$$(1, 1, 4) \rightarrow (1, 1, 4) + \frac{1}{2}(2, 4, -6) = (0, 3, 1)$$
 (5.50)

and sees that the shift indeed mapped the triplet of labels to labels, corresponding to the congruent triangle.

5.3 Yukawa couplings on $T_{SO(12)}^6$

5.3.1 Labeling inequivalent intersections

In this section the notation used in [106], for labeling intersection points on a T^6 , is extended. Already in the two dimensional case one could observe the relevance of finding a convenient labeling for the intersection points in order to compute the Yukawa couplings. In [106] the intersection points of 3-cycles on a factorisable T^6 are labeled by a triplet of integers $j = (j^{(1)}, j^{(2)}, j^{(3)})$, where each $j^{(h)}$ corresponds to the label of the intersection point on the T^2 factor lying in the *h*-th plane. Since the three T^2 factors are independent from each other the label *j* belongs to the factorisable lattice

$$j \in \bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\mathbb{Z}}{|I_{ab}^{(h)}|\mathbb{Z}}.$$
(5.51)

On the non factorisable torus $T_{SO(12)}^6$, it is not possible to subdivide the torus into independent T^2 factors, but since the brane cycles factorise into mutually orthogonal lines, it is possible to adopt the notation of labeling the intersection points by triplets of integers. However it will be shown that *j* belongs to a more general three dimensional lattice

$$j \in \Lambda^3_{ab} \,. \tag{5.52}$$

Let a brane α wrap a 3-cycle $\Pi_{\alpha}^3 = (n_{\alpha}^1, m_{\alpha}^1) \times (n_{\alpha}^2, m_{\alpha}^2) \times (n_{\alpha}^3, m_{\alpha}^3)$. Taking all images under *SO*(12) lattice translations into account the brane position \vec{x}_{α} on the covering space \mathbb{R}^6 is given by

$$\vec{x}_{\alpha} = \left(n_{\alpha}^{1}\mu_{\alpha}^{(1)}, m_{\alpha}^{1}\mu_{\alpha}^{(1)}, n_{\alpha}^{2}\mu_{\alpha}^{(2)}, m_{\alpha}^{2}\mu_{\alpha}^{(2)}, m_{\alpha}^{3}\mu_{\alpha}^{(3)}, m_{\alpha}^{3}\mu_{\alpha}^{(3)}\right)^{T} + \vec{\lambda},$$
(5.53)

with $\vec{\lambda} \in \Lambda_{SO(12)}$ generating the images under the compactification lattice and $\mu^{(1)}, \mu^{(2)}, \mu^{(3)} \in \mathbb{R}$, denoting the points on each 1-cycles. For now it is implied that α goes trough the origin and a displacement vector is not needed. Since the intersection number is a topological quantity, displacements of the brane do not change the intersection numbers or the labeling of intersection points. The intersection points of two branes *a* and *b* are given by the solutions to the equation $\vec{x}_a = \vec{x}_b$, which are

$$\mathbb{R}^{6}\Big|_{a\cap b} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \left(A_{ab}n_{a}^{1}, A_{ab}m_{a}^{1}, B_{ab}n_{a}^{2}, B_{ab}m_{a}^{2}, C_{ab}n_{a}^{3}, C_{ab}m_{a}^{3}, \right)^{T}, \quad \text{with} \\ A_{ab} = \frac{t_{1}m_{b}^{1} - t_{2}n_{b}^{1}}{I_{ab}^{(1)}}, B_{ab} = \frac{t_{3}m_{b}^{2} - t_{4}n_{b}^{2}}{I_{ab}^{(2)}}, C_{ab} = \frac{t_{5}m_{b}^{3} - t_{6}n_{b}^{3}}{I_{ab}^{(3)}}, \\ I_{ab}^{(h)} = (n_{a}^{h}m_{b}^{h} - n_{b}^{h}m_{b}^{h}), \ \vec{t} = (t_{1}, t_{2}, t_{3}, t_{4}, t_{5}, t_{6})^{T} \in \Lambda_{\text{SO}(12)} \right\}.$$

The parameters A_{ab} , B_{ab} and C_{ab} are the same as in (5.16) for the two dimensional case, with the displacements ϵ_a and ϵ_b set to zero. That means, by introducing labels $j^{(h)}$ for the intersections in the *h*-th plane, that they can be defined analogous to the factorisable case by (5.20). The crucial difference is however that the components t_i of the lattice vectors in (5.20) are no longer independent of the components in the other planes and therefor the labels $j^{(h)}$ are also not independent of labels from other planes. Thus the triplet *j* can in general not be factorised. The intersection number on $T_{SO(12)}^6$ is half of the intersection number on the factorisable torus [77]

$$I_{ab} = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)}.$$
 (5.55)
Hence the index of the lattice Λ_{ab}^3 has to be $|\Lambda_{ab}^3| = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^3 I_{ab}^{(h)}$. The following example illustrates how the lattice for the labels is constructed: Let the wrapping numbers of *a* and *b* be given by

$$\forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \,\forall_{\alpha \in \{a,b\}} \left(n_{\alpha}^{h} + m_{\alpha}^{i} = 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1 \right).$$
(5.56)

Then the inequivalent labels belong to

$$j \in \left\{ \left(t_1 m_b^1 - t_2 n_b^1, \ t_3 m_b^2 - t_4 n_b^2, \ t_5 m_b^3 - t_6 n_b^3 \right) \middle| \vec{t} \in \Lambda_{\text{SO}(12)} \right\}.$$
(5.57)

The projections of j onto the h-th plane are computed via

$$j^{(h)} = t_{2h-1}m_b^h - t_{2h}n_b^h \in \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (5.58)$$

with

$$t_{2h-1}m_b^h - t_{2h}n_b^h = \begin{cases} even & \text{for } t_{2h-1} + t_{2h} = even \\ odd & \text{for } t_{2h-1} + t_{2h} = odd \end{cases}.$$
(5.59)

When the labels $j^{(h)}$ are composed to the triplet j, one has to take into account that $\sum_{h=1}^{3} t_{2h-1} + t_{2h}$ has to be even for \vec{t} to be an SO(12) root. Then $j^{(h)}$ can only be odd for an even number of planes, where it can be even for an odd number of planes. The generators of the SO(6) Lie lattice, $\vec{\alpha}_1 = (1, -1, 0)^T$, $\vec{\alpha}_2 = (0, 1, -1)^T$ and $\vec{\alpha}_3 = (0, 1, 1)^T$, spann a lattice satisfying the criteria for j and hence j belongs to the SO(6) Lie lattice $\Lambda_{SO(6)}$. Since $I_{ab}^{(h)}$ are all even the following shifts

$$j^{(h)} \to j^{(h)} + I^{(h)}_{ab}$$
 (5.60)

in (5.54) can be absorbed by a lattice vector $\vec{\lambda}$, s.t. *j* and $j + (..., I_{ab}^{(h)}, ...)$ labels equivalent intersection points on the torus. Therefor the labels for inequivalent intersection on the torus belong to the lattice

$$j \in \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)} \mathbb{Z}}.$$
(5.61)

The index of the lattice is computed by the quotient

$$\left|\frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)} \mathbb{Z}}\right| = \left|\frac{E_{\bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)} \mathbb{Z}}}{E_{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}}\right|,\tag{5.62}$$

with E_{Λ} the volume of the fundamental cell of Λ . The volumes for a fundamental cell of a lattice is determined by the determinant of the dreibein of the lattices. Hence

$$E_{\Lambda_{SO(6)}} = \det \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = 2,$$

$$E_{\bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)} \mathbb{Z}} = \det \begin{pmatrix} I_{ab}^{(1)} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I_{ab}^{(2)} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I_{ab}^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)},$$
(5.63)

and the index $\left|\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)}\mathbb{Z}}\right| = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)}$ is indeed the expected intersection number on $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$. In appendix B various cases for Λ_{ab}^{3} are discussed and it is concluded that the index of Γ_{ab} is always in accordance with (5.55).

5.3.2 Computing Yukawa couplings on $T_{SO(12)}^6$

In the above section the intersection points on $T_{SO(12)}^6$ where investigated and a labeling for them where introduced. The next step is to compute the triangles formed by three intersecting branes. Let the branes be parametrized as in (4.72), but this time the branes do not need to intersect the origin necessarily. The displacement of the brane α from the origin is captured in the displacement vector \vec{s}_{α} similar to (5.13) in the the two dimensional case, s.t. the cycle Π_{α}^3 is shifted by

$$\Pi^3_{\alpha} \to \Pi^3_{\alpha} + \vec{s}_{\alpha} \,, \tag{5.64}$$

in (4.72), where the displacement vector fot the six dimensional case is given by

$$\vec{s}_{\alpha} = \left(-m_{\alpha}^{1} \frac{\epsilon_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{\|\Pi_{\alpha}^{1}\|^{2}}, n_{\alpha}^{1} \frac{\epsilon_{\alpha}^{1}}{\|\Pi_{\alpha}^{1}\|^{2}}, -m_{\alpha}^{2} \frac{\epsilon_{\alpha}^{2}}{\|\Pi_{\alpha}^{2}\|^{2}}, n_{\alpha}^{2} \frac{\epsilon_{\alpha}^{2}}{\|\Pi_{\alpha}^{2}\|^{2}}, -m_{\alpha}^{3} \frac{\epsilon_{\alpha}^{3}}{\|\Pi_{\alpha}^{3}\|^{2}}, n_{\alpha}^{3} \frac{\epsilon_{\alpha}^{3}}{\|\Pi_{\alpha}^{3}\|^{2}}\right)^{T}, \quad (5.65)$$

with $||\Pi_{\alpha}^{h}||^{2} = (n_{\alpha})^{2} + (m_{\alpha})^{2}$ the length of the cycle in the *h*-th plane. Since the worldsheet instantons are given by a sum of three triangles, each located on a different plane, one has to investigate the projections of the branes on each plane, because they form the triangles. The projections of the intersection points on the *h*-th plane are corners for the triangles in those planes and are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{p}_{ab}^{(h)} &= \binom{n_b^h}{m_b^h} \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{\epsilon_a^h}{I_{ab}^{(h)}} - \frac{\left(m_b^h m_a^h + n_a^h n_b^h\right) \epsilon_b^h}{\left((n_b^h)^2 + (m_b^h)^2\right) I_{ab}^{(h)}} \right) + \\ &\qquad \left(-\frac{m_b^h}{n_b^h} \right) \frac{\epsilon_b^h}{(n_b^h)^2 + (m_b^h)^2} + \binom{p_{2h-1}}{p_{2h}} , \\ \mathbf{p}_{ac}^{(h)} &= \binom{n_a^h}{m_a^h} \left(\frac{j^{(h)}}{I_{ca}^{(h)}} + \frac{\epsilon_c^h}{I_{ca}^{(h)}} - \frac{\left(m_c^h m_a^h + n_c^h n_a^h\right) \epsilon_a^h}{\left((n_a^h)^2 + (m_a^h)^2\right) I_{ca}^{(h)}} \right) + \\ &\qquad \left(-\frac{m_a^h}{n_a^h} \right) \frac{\epsilon_a^h}{(n_a^h)^2 + (m_a^h)^2} + \binom{q_{2h-1}}{q_{2h}} , \\ \mathbf{p}_{bc}^{(h)} &= \binom{n_c^h}{m_c^h} \left(\frac{k^{(h)}}{I_{bc}^{(h)}} + \frac{\epsilon_b^h}{I_{bc}^{(h)}} - \frac{\left(m_c^h m_b^h + n_c^h n_b^h\right) \epsilon_c^h}{\left((n_c^h)^2 + (m_c^h)^2\right) I_{bc}^{(h)}} \right) + \\ &\qquad \left(-\frac{m_c^h}{n_c^h} \right) \frac{\epsilon_c^h}{(n_c^h)^2 + (m_c^h)^2} + \binom{t_{2h-1}}{t_{2h}} , \end{aligned}$$
(5.66)

with *i*, *j*, *k* labels for the inequivalent intersection points of the branes *a*, *b*, *c*, as explained in section 5.3.1, and $\mathbf{p}_{ab}^{(h)}$ the projection of the intersection point $\mathbf{p}_{ab} =: \mathbb{R}^6 |_{a \cap b}$ onto the *h*-th plane. In the following triangles, which are located in the *h*-th plane and whose corners are labeld by *i*, *j*, *k*, are denoted by $\triangle_{(h)}^{ijk}$. The edges $z_a^{(h)}$, $z_b^{(h)}$ and $z_c^{(h)}$ of $\triangle_{(h)}^{(ijk)}$ are obtained by subtracting the intersection points with the

corresponding labels. The edges for the triangles are then expressed by

$$z_{a}^{(h)} = \vec{v}_{a}^{h} + {\binom{n_{a}^{h}}{m_{a}^{h}}} \left(\frac{j^{(h)}I_{cb}^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}I_{ac}^{(h)}} + \frac{\epsilon_{c}^{h}}{I_{ca}^{(h)}} - \frac{\left(m_{a}^{h}m_{c}^{h} + n_{a}^{h}n_{c}^{h}\right)\epsilon_{a}^{h}}{\left((n_{a}^{h})^{2} + (m_{a}^{h})^{2}\right)I_{ca}^{(h)}} \right) \\ - {\binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}}} \frac{i^{(h)}I_{ac}^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}I_{ab}^{(h)}} + {\binom{q_{2h-1} - p_{2h-1}}{q_{2h} - p_{2h}}} \right),$$
(5.67)
$$z_{b}^{(h)} = \vec{v}_{b}^{h} + {\binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}}} \left(\frac{i^{(h)}I_{ac}^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{\epsilon_{a}^{h}}{I_{ab}^{(h)}} - \frac{\left(m_{a}^{h}m_{b}^{h} + n_{a}^{h}n_{b}^{h}\right)\epsilon_{b}^{h}}{\left((n_{b}^{h})^{2} + (m_{b}^{h})^{2}\right)I_{ab}^{(h)}} \right) \\ - {\binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}}} \frac{k^{(h)}I_{ba}^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}I_{cb}^{(h)}} + {\binom{p_{2h-1} - t_{2h-1}}{p_{2h} - t_{2h}}} \right),$$

$$z_{c}^{(h)} = \vec{v}_{c}^{h} + {\binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}}} \left(\frac{k^{(h)}I_{ba}^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}I_{bb}^{(h)}} + \frac{\epsilon_{b}^{h}}{I_{bc}^{(h)}} - \frac{\left(m_{c}^{h}m_{b}^{h} + n_{c}^{h}n_{b}^{h}\right)\epsilon_{c}^{h}}{\left((n_{c}^{h})^{2} + (m_{c}^{h})^{2}\right)I_{bc}^{(h)}} \right) \\ - {\binom{n_{a}^{h}}{m_{a}^{h}}} \frac{j^{(h)}I_{cb}^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}I_{ca}^{(h)}} + {\binom{t_{2h-1} - q_{2h-1}}{t_{2h} - q_{2h}}} \right),$$

with the two dimensional vectors

$$\vec{v}_{a}^{h} = -\binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{a}^{h}}{I_{ab}^{(h)}} - \frac{(m_{b}^{h}m_{a}^{h} + n_{a}^{h}n_{b}^{h})\epsilon_{b}^{h}}{((n_{b}^{h})^{2} + (m_{b}^{h})^{2})I_{ab}^{(h)}} \right) + \binom{-m_{a}^{h}}{n_{a}^{h}} \frac{\epsilon_{a}^{h}}{(n_{a})^{2} + (m_{a})^{2}} \\ -\binom{-m_{b}^{h}}{n_{b}^{h}} \frac{\epsilon_{b}^{h}}{(n_{b}^{h})^{2} + (m_{b}^{h})^{2}}, \\ \vec{v}_{b}^{h} = -\binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{b}^{h}}{I_{bc}^{(h)}} - \frac{(m_{b}^{h}m_{c}^{h} + n_{c}^{h}n_{b}^{h})\epsilon_{c}^{h}}{((n_{c}^{h})^{2} + (m_{c}^{h})^{2})I_{bc}^{(h)}} \right) + \binom{-m_{b}^{h}}{n_{b}^{h}} \frac{\epsilon_{b}^{h}}{(n_{b})^{2} + (m_{b})^{2}} \\ -\binom{-m_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}} \frac{\epsilon_{c}^{h}}{(n_{c}^{h})^{2} + (m_{c}^{h})^{2}}, \\ \vec{v}_{c}^{h} = -\binom{n_{a}^{h}}{(n_{b}^{h})^{2}} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{c}^{h}}{I_{ca}^{(h)}} - \frac{(m_{c}^{h}m_{a}^{h} + n_{a}^{h}n_{c}^{h})\epsilon_{a}^{h}}{((n_{a}^{h})^{2} + (m_{a}^{h})^{2})I_{ca}^{(h)}} \right) + \binom{-m_{c}^{h}}{n_{c}^{h}} \frac{\epsilon_{c}^{h}}{(n_{c})^{2} + (m_{c})^{2}} \\ -\binom{-m_{a}^{h}}{(n_{a}^{h})^{2} + (m_{a}^{h})^{2}},$$

$$(5.68)$$

where the components $i^{(h)}$, $j^{(h)}$ and $k^{(h)}$ where already relabeled by the prescription (5.28). The edges $z_{\alpha}^{(h)}$ have to be parallel to brane α in the *h*-th plane, yielding the following three Diophantine equations for

each plane

$$n_{a}^{h}(q_{2h} - p_{2h}) - m_{a}^{h}(q_{2h-1} - p_{2h-1}) = -\frac{i^{(h)}I_{ac}^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{h}},$$

$$n_{b}^{h}(t_{2h} - p_{2h}) - m_{b}^{h}(t_{2h-1} - p_{2h-1}) = -\frac{k^{(h)}I_{ba}^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{h}},$$

$$n_{c}^{h}(p_{2h} - t_{2h}) - m_{c}^{h}(p_{2h-1} - t_{2h-1}) = -\frac{j^{(h)}I_{cb}^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{h}},$$
(5.69)

which are equivalent to (5.27) in the two dimensional case in section 5.2.1. The solutions are given by (5.29) for each plane. But in contrast to the factorisable case it is not enough to impose

$$\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}} \binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}} + s_{a}^{(h)} \binom{n_{a}^{h}}{m_{a}^{h}} = \binom{q_{2h-1} - p_{2h-1}}{q_{2h} - p_{2h}} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}, \quad s_{a}^{(h)} \in \mathbb{Z},
-\frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} \binom{n_{a}^{h}}{m_{a}^{h}} + s_{b}^{(h)} \binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}} = \binom{t_{2h-1} - p_{2h-1}}{t_{2h} - p_{2h}} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}, \quad s_{b}^{(h)} \in \mathbb{Z},
-\frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}} \binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}} + s_{c}^{(h)} \binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}} = \binom{p_{2h-1} - t_{2h-1}}{p_{2h} - t_{2h}} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}, \quad s_{c}^{(h)} \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(5.70)

but the information, that the pairs (p_{2h-1}, p_{2h}) , (q_{2h-1}, q_{2h}) and (t_{2h-1}, t_{2h}) are components of *SO*(12) lattice vectors, needs to be implemented. That leads to the following additional conditions

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(-s_a^{(h)}(n_a^h + m_a^h) + \frac{i^{(h)}(n_c^h + m_c^h)}{d_a^{(h)}} \right) = 0 \mod 2,$$

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(-s_b^{(h)}(n_b^h + m_b^h) + \frac{k^{(h)}(n_a^h + m_a^h)}{d_b^{(h)}} \right) = 0 \mod 2,$$

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(-s_c^{(h)}(n_c^h + m_c^h) + \frac{j^{(h)}(n_b^h + m_b^h)}{d_c^{(h)}} \right) = 0 \mod 2.$$
(5.71)

Applying the relations (5.30), (5.33) and (5.34) and inserting the results into $z_a^{(h)}$, $z_b^{(h)}$ and $z_c^{(h)}$ one gets

$$z_{a}^{(h)} = \binom{n_{a}^{h}}{m_{a}^{h}} I_{bc}^{(h)} \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)} I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}} + \tilde{\epsilon}^{(h)} + \frac{s_{a}^{(h)}}{I_{bc}^{(h)}} \right),$$

$$z_{b}^{(h)} = \binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}} I_{ca}^{(h)} \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)} I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)} I_{bc}^{(h)}} + \tilde{\epsilon}^{(h)} + \frac{s_{b}^{(h)}}{I_{ca}^{(h)}} \right),$$

$$z_{c}^{(h)} = \binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}} I_{ab}^{(h)} \left(\frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}} + \tilde{\epsilon}^{(h)} + \frac{s_{c}^{(h)}}{I_{ab}^{(h)}} \right),$$
(5.72)

with $\tilde{\epsilon}^{(h)} = \frac{I_{bc}^{(h)}\epsilon_a^h + I_{ca}^{(h)}\epsilon_b^h + I_{ab}^{(h)}\epsilon_c^h}{I_{ab}^{(h)}I_{bc}^{(h)}I_{ca}^{(h)}}$. For $\Delta_{(h)}^{ijk}$ to close

$$z_a^{(h)} + z_b^{(h)} + z_c^{(h)} = 0, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\},$$
(5.73)

has to be satisfied. Inserting the expressions from (5.72) into (5.73), the parameters $s_a^{(h)}$, $s_b^{(h)}$ and $s_c^{(h)}$ are allowed to depend on a single independent parameter $\ell^{(h)}$ given by

$$s_{a}^{(h)} = \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} + \frac{I_{bc}^{(h)}\left(\ell^{(h)} + l_{0}^{(h)}\right)}{d^{(h)}},$$

$$s_{b}^{(h)} = \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}} + \frac{I_{ca}^{(h)}\left(\ell^{(h)} + l_{0}^{(h)}\right)}{d^{(h)}},$$

$$s_{c}^{(h)} = \frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}} + \frac{I_{ab}^{(h)}\left(\ell^{(h)} + l_{0}^{(h)}\right)}{d^{(h)}},$$
(5.74)

where $l_0^{(h)}$ is a function of $i^{(h)}$, $j^{(h)}$ and $k^{(h)}$ as explained in (5.38), and makes sure that $s_a^{(h)}$, $s_b^{(h)}$ and $s_c^{(h)}$ lead to integer lattice shifts in (5.29). Composing the parameters $\ell^{(h)}$ from each plane to a triplet $\ell = (\ell^{(1)}, \ell^{(2)}, \ell^{(3)}), \ell$ can be expressed as an element from a three dimensional lattice. For the factorisable torus, ℓ is given by [106]

$$\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^3. \tag{5.75}$$

For the present case however, inserting (5.74) into (5.70) and (5.71) leads to selection rules for ℓ , s.t. ℓ belongs in general to a generic three dimensional lattice Λ^3 , possibly with a label dependent off-set

$$\ell = \left(\ell^{(1)}, \ell^{(2)}, \ell^{(3)}\right) \in \Lambda_3.$$
(5.76)

The lattice Λ_3 is determined by the selection rules

$$-\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}}\binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}}\binom{n_{a}^{h}}{m_{a}^{h}} + \frac{I^{(h)}_{cb}\left(\ell^{(h)} + I^{(h)}_{0}\right)}{d^{(h)}}\binom{n_{a}^{h}}{m_{a}^{h}} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2},$$

$$-\frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}}\binom{n_{a}^{h}}{m_{a}^{h}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}}\binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}} + \frac{I^{(h)}_{ca}\left(\ell^{(h)} + I^{(h)}_{0}\right)}{d^{(h)}}\binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2},$$

$$-\frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}}\binom{n_{b}^{h}}{m_{b}^{h}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}}\binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}} + \frac{I^{(h)}_{ca}\left(\ell^{(h)} + I^{(h)}_{0}\right)}{d^{(h)}}\binom{n_{c}^{h}}{m_{c}^{h}} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2},$$
(5.77)

and

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(-\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}} N_{c}^{(h)} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} N_{a}^{(h)} + \frac{I_{cb}^{(h)} \left(\ell^{(h)} + I_{0}^{(h)}\right)}{d^{(h)}} N_{a}^{(h)} \right) = 0 \mod 2,$$

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(-\frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} N_{a}^{(h)} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}} N_{b}^{(h)} + \frac{I_{ca}^{(h)} \left(\ell^{(h)} + I_{0}^{(h)}\right)}{d^{(h)}} N_{b}^{(h)} \right) = 0 \mod 2,$$

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(-\frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}} N_{b}^{(h)} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}} N_{c}^{(h)} + \frac{I_{ab}^{(h)} \left(\ell^{(h)} + I_{0}^{(h)}\right)}{d^{(h)}} N_{c}^{(h)} \right) = 0 \mod 2,$$
(5.78)

where $N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$ is defined as $N_{\alpha}^{(h)} =: n_{\alpha}^{h} + m_{\alpha}^{h}$. The surface of the instanton, connecting the intersection points *i*, *j*, *k* and wrapping number ℓ around the torus, is denoted by $A_{ijk}(\ell)$. The area of $A_{ijk}(\ell)$ in each plane is

then computed by inserting (5.72) into (5.40) and therefore the whole area spread out by the instanton is given by the sum

$$A^{ijk}(\ell^{(h)}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{h=1}^{3} |I_{ab}^{(h)} I_{bc}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}| \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_a^{(h)} I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_a^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_b^{(h)} I_{bc}^{(h)}} + \tilde{\epsilon}^{(h)} + \frac{\ell^{(h)}}{d^{(h)}} \right)^2 .$$
(5.79)

By turning on the deformation parameter R_h and τ_h in each plane, as explained in example (ii) in section 4.1.1, the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ gets deformed. By complexifying the Kähler structure modulus as

$$K_h = R_h^2 \operatorname{Im}(\tau_h) \to B_h + i R_h^2 \operatorname{Im}(\tau_h), \qquad (5.80)$$

in the *h*-th plane, the worldsheet instanton is allowed to couple to a B-field, with the components B_h in the *h*-th plane. Using the result for the two dimensional case in section 5.2.1, it can be deduce that the volume of each triangle $\Delta_{(h)}^{ijk}$ is scaled by $-iK_h$. The Yukawa coupling for fields, sitting at the intersection points *i*, *j*, *k*, is given, according to (5.8), by the sum of all instantons connecting the corresponding intersection points

$$Y_{ijk} = h_{qu} \sum_{\ell \in \Lambda^3} \exp\left(-\frac{A_{ijk}(\ell)}{2\pi\alpha'}\right),$$
(5.81)

with

$$A_{ijk}(\ell) = -\frac{i}{2} \sum_{h=1}^{3} K^{(h)} |I_{ab}^{(h)} I_{bc}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}| \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_a^{(h)} I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_a^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_b^{(h)} I_{bc}^{(h)}} + \tilde{\epsilon}^{(h)} + \frac{\ell^{(h)}}{d^{(h)}} \right)^2.$$
(5.82)

The factor h_{qu} contains the quantum contribution to the Yukawa couplings.

5.3.3 Example

Here an illustrative example on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ with three branes *a*, *b*, *c*, whose wrapping numbers are listed in table 5.1, is discussed. Investigating the wrapping numbers, one observes that only the brane *a* satisfies

	h = 1	h = 2	<i>h</i> = 3
(n_a^h, m_a^h)	(1,-3)	(1,1)	(1,1)
(n_b^h, m_b^h)	(1,0)	(2,0)	(1,-2)
(n_c^h, m_c^h)	(2,3)	(4,6)	(1,-1)
$I_{ab}^{(h)}$	3	-2	-3
$I_{ac}^{(h)}$	9	2	-2
$I_{bc}^{(h)}$	3	12	1
$d^{(h)}$	3	2	1

Table 5.1: Example

the condition (4.73), which is why $g.c.d.(n_b^2, m_b^2) = 2$ and $g.c.d.(n_c^2, m_c^2) = 2$. First one has to compute the labels for the intersection points. Following (5.54), the intersection points \mathbf{p}_{ab} of a and b are

$$\mathbf{p}_{ab} = \left\{ \left(\frac{-3t_1 - t_2}{-3}, 0, 2\frac{t_3 - t_4}{2}, 0, \frac{t_5 - t_6}{3}, -2\frac{t_5 - t_6}{3} \right) \middle| \vec{t} \in \Lambda_{\text{SO}(12)} \right\}$$
(5.83)

and their labels are given by

$$i = (-3t_1 - t_2, t_3 - t_4, t_4 - t_6) .$$
(5.84)

For t_i being components of SO(12) lattice vectors, the labels *i* belongs to the SO(6) root lattice. Inserting the labels into (5.83) and shifting them by

$$i \to i + (0, 2, 0), \quad i \to i + (3, 1, 0), \quad i \to i + (0, 1, 3)$$
(5.85)

lead to equivalent intersection points on the torus. Hence the inequivalent labels belong the lattice

$$i \in \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_{ab}}, \qquad (5.86)$$

with

$$\Gamma_{ab} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{3} n_i \vec{e}_i \middle| n_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \ \vec{e}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\2\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \vec{e}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 3\\1\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \vec{e}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\3 \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$
(5.87)

The lattice for the labels *i* correspond to case 7 in appendix B, with the first and second plane permuted. Relabeling the intersection points according to (5.28), the mapping of the "old" labels to the "new" labels is given by

$$(i^{(1)}, i^{(2)}, i^{(3)}) \to (3i^{(1)}, i^{(2)}, -2i^{(3)}) \mod \Gamma_{ab}.$$
 (5.88)

In tabel 5.2 the "old" and "new" labels are listed together with the coordinates of the corresponding intersections of a and b. When inequivalent labels get mapped to equivalent labels by relabeling, the

old label <i>i</i>	new label <i>i</i> '	coordinates
(0,0,0)	(0,0,0)	(0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)
(1,0,1)	-	$(-\frac{1}{3}, 0, 0, 0, \frac{1}{3}, -\frac{2}{3})$
(2,0,0)	-	$(-\frac{2}{3}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(0,0,2)	(0,0,2)	$(0, 0, 0, 0, \frac{2}{3}, -\frac{4}{3})$
(2,0,2)	-	$\left(-\frac{2}{3}, 0, 0, 0, \frac{2}{3}, -\frac{4}{3}\right)$
(1,1,0)	-	$(-\frac{1}{3}, 0, 1, 0, 0, 0)$
(2,1,1)	(0,0,1)	$(0, 0, 1, 0, \frac{1}{3}, -\frac{2}{3})$
(2,1,1)	-	$\left(-\frac{2}{3}, 0, 1, 0, \frac{1}{3}, -\frac{2}{3}\right)$
(1,1,2)	-	$(-\frac{1}{3}, 0, 1, 0, \frac{1}{3}, -\frac{4}{3})$

Table 5.2: Intersection points *a* and *b*

corresponding intersection point is not assigned by a "new" label. For example the intersection point with the "old" label i = (1, 0, 1) gets mapped to i' = (3, 0, -2). Shifting the "new" label by the lattice vector $(-3, 0, 3) \in \Gamma_{ab}$, one receives (0, 0, 1). But the intersection point with the "old" label (2, 1, 1) gets also mapped to the "new" label i' = (0, 0, 1). Therefor intersection points with the "old" label (1, 0, 1) lose their label after relabeling. Similar, intersection points initially labeled by (2, 0, 0), (2, 0, 2), (1, 1, 0), (2, 1, 1) and (1, 1, 2) also lose their labels after relabeling and only three new labels remain (see table 5.2). Next the "old" and "new" labels for the intersections between *b* and *c* and intersections between *a* and *c* are computed. The intersection points **p**_{ac} between *a* and *c* are given by

$$\mathbf{p}_{ac} = \left\{ \left(\frac{3t_1 - 2t_2}{9}, -3\frac{3t_1 - 2t_2}{9}, \frac{6t_3 - 4t_4}{2}, \frac{6t_3 - 4t_4}{2}, \frac{t_5 + t_6}{2}, \frac{t_5 + t_6}{2} \right) \middle| \vec{t} \in \Lambda_{\mathrm{SO}(12)} \right\},$$
(5.89)

and are labeled by

$$j = (3t_1 - 2t_2, 6t_3 - 4t_4, -t_5 - t_6).$$
(5.90)

For $\vec{t} \in \Lambda_{SO(12)}$ the labels *j* belong to the lattice $\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}$. Shifts in *j* which map points in (5.89) to points differing by SO(12) lattice vectors are given by

$$j \to j + (9,0,0), \quad j \to j + (0,2,0), \quad j \to j + (0,0,2),$$
(5.91)

s.t. the space of labels for inequivalent intersection points \mathbf{p}_{ac} is

$$j \in \frac{\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}}{9\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z}}.$$
(5.92)

The lattice for *j* corresponds to case 6 in appendix B and the prescription for relabeling of *j* is given by

$$(j^{(1)}, j^{(2)}, j^{(3)}) \to (-j^{(1)}, -6j^{(2)}, -j^{(3)}) \mod 9\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z}.$$
 (5.93)

On the torus the intersection points \mathbf{p}_{bc} of b and c are given by the set

$$\mathbf{p}_{bc} = \left\{ \left(2\frac{t_2}{3}, 3\frac{t_2}{3}, 4\frac{2t_4}{12}, 6\frac{2t_4}{12}, 2t_5 + t_6, -2t_5 - t_6 \right) \middle| \vec{t} \in \Lambda_{\mathrm{SO}(12)} \right\},\tag{5.94}$$

with the corresponding labels

$$k = (t_2, 2t_4, 2t_5 + t_6) \tag{5.95}$$

take values on the lattice $\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}$. Intersection points \mathbf{p}_{bc} are mapped to equivalent intersection points on the torus by

 $k \to k + (0, 0, 1), \quad k \to k + (0, 12, 0), \quad k \to k + (3, 6, 0).$ (5.96)

Hence the set of inequivalent labels belong to the quotient lattice

$$k \in \frac{\mathbb{Z} \otimes 2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}}{\Gamma_{bc}}, \tag{5.97}$$

with

$$\Gamma_{bc} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{3} n_i \vec{e}_i \middle| n_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \ \vec{e}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix}, \ \vec{e}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\12\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \vec{e}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 3\\6\\0 \end{pmatrix} \right\},$$
(5.98)

which corresponds to case 8 in appendix B. The set of inequvialent labels before and after relabeling as well as the coordinates of the intersection points \mathbf{p}_{ca} and \mathbf{p}_{bc} are listed in the tables 5.3 and 5.4. All the information needed to compute Yukawa couplings arising for the setup in table 5.1 is contained in the tables 5.2, 5.3 and 5.4. As an illustrative example, the Yukawa couplings of the field sitting at the intersection point i = (0, 0, 0) is computed. Applying (5.70) and (5.71), the selection rules for the couplingstake the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} s_{a}^{(1)} \\ -3s_{a}^{(1)} \\ s_{a}^{(2)} \\ s_{a}^{(2)} \\ s_{a}^{(3)} \\ s_{a}^{(3)} \\ s_{a}^{(3)} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} s_{b}^{(1)} - \frac{k^{(1)}}{3} \\ k^{(1)} \\ 2s_{b}^{(2)} - \frac{k^{(2)}}{2} \\ -\frac{k^{(2)}}{2} \\ -\frac{k^{(2)}}{2} \\ s_{b}^{(3)} - k^{(3)} \\ -2s_{b}^{(3)} - k^{(3)} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 2s_{c}^{(1)} - \frac{j^{(1)}}{3} \\ 3s_{c}^{(1)} \\ 4s_{c}^{(2)} - j^{(2)} \\ 6j^{(2)} \\ s_{c}^{(3)} - j^{(3)} \\ -s_{c}^{(3)} + 2j^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \in \Lambda_{SO(12)}$$
(5.99)

old label j	new label j'	coordinates
(0,0,0)	(0,0,0)	(0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)
(1,0,0)	(8,0,0)	$(\frac{1}{9}, -\frac{1}{3}, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(2,0,0)	(7,0,0)	$(\frac{2}{9}, -\frac{2}{3}, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(3,0,0)	(6,0,0)	$(\frac{1}{3}, -1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(4,0,0)	(5,0,0)	$(\frac{4}{9}, -\frac{4}{3}, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(5,0,0)	(4,0,0)	$(\frac{5}{9}, -\frac{5}{3}, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(6,0,0)	(3,0,0)	$(\frac{2}{3}, -2, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(7,0,0)	(2,0,0)	$(\frac{7}{9}, -\frac{7}{3}, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(8,0,0)	(1,0,0)	$(\frac{8}{9}, -\frac{8}{3}, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(0,0,1)	(0,0,1)	$(0, 0, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$
(1,0,1)	(8,0,1)	$(\frac{1}{9}, -\frac{1}{3}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$
(2,0,1)	(7,0,1)	$\left(\frac{2}{9}, -\frac{2}{3}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$
(3,0,1)	(6,0,1)	$\left(\frac{1}{3}, -1, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$
(4,0,1)	(5,0,1)	$(\frac{4}{9}, -\frac{4}{3}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$
(5,0,1)	(4,0,1)	$(\frac{5}{9}, -\frac{5}{3}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$
(6,0,1)	(3,0,1)	$(\frac{2}{3}, -2, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$
(7,0,1)	(2,0,1)	$\left(\frac{7}{9}, -\frac{7}{3}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$
(8,0,1)	(1,0,1)	$\left(\frac{8}{9}, -\frac{8}{3}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$

Table 5.3: Intersection points c and a

and for the triangles to close, the parameters s_{α} have to be the following functions of instanton winding numbers ℓ :

$$s_{a}^{(1)} = \frac{k^{(1)}}{3} + \ell^{(1)}, \quad s_{a}^{(2)} = \frac{k^{(2)}}{2} + 6\ell^{(2)}, \quad s_{a}^{(3)} = k^{(3)} + \ell^{(3)},$$

$$s_{b}^{(1)} = \frac{j^{(1)}}{3} - 3\ell^{(1)}, \quad s_{b}^{(2)} = \frac{j^{(2)}}{2} - \ell^{(2)}, \quad s_{b}^{(3)} = j^{(3)} + 2\ell^{(3)},$$

$$s_{c}^{(1)} = \ell^{(1)}, \quad s_{c}^{(2)} = -\ell^{(2)}, \quad s_{c}^{(3)} = -3\ell^{(3)}.$$

(5.100)

Inserting (5.100) into (5.99) yields conditions on k and j as well as on ℓ . For the vectors in (5.99) to be vectors with integer components, one receives from the selection rules the following conditions

$$\ell^{(1)} = -\frac{k^{(3)}}{3} + l^{(1)}, \quad \text{with} \quad l^{(1)} \in \mathbb{Z},$$

$$\frac{j^{(1)}}{3} = p + \frac{k^{(1)}}{3}, \quad \text{with} \quad p \in \mathbb{Z},$$

$$\ell^{(2)} = \frac{l^{(2)}}{2}, \quad \text{with} \quad l^{(2)} \in \mathbb{Z},$$

$$\ell^{(3)} = l^{(3)}, \quad \text{with} \quad l^{(3)} \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

(5.101)

Further imposing (5.99) to be SO(12) lattice vectors yield the condition

$$l^{(1)} + l^{(2)} + p + j^{(3)} = 0 \mod 2.$$
(5.102)

old label k	new label k'	coordinates
(0,0,0)	(0,0,0)	(0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)
(1,0,0)	(-1,0,0)	$(-\frac{2}{3}, -1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(2,0,0)	(-2,0,0)	$(-\frac{4}{3}, -2, 0, 0, 0, 0)$
(0,2,0)	(0,2,0)	$(0, 0, \frac{2}{3}, -1, 0, 0)$
(1,2,0)	(-1,2,0)	$(-\frac{2}{3}, -1, -\frac{2}{3}, -1, 0, 0)$
(2,2,0)	(-2,2,0)	$\left(-\frac{4}{3},-2,-\frac{2}{3},-1,0,0\right)$
(0,4,0)	(0,4,0)	$(0, 0, -\frac{4}{3}, -2, 0, 0)$
(1,4,0)	(-1,4,0)	$(-\frac{2}{3}, -1, -\frac{4}{3}, -2, 0, 0)$
(2,4,0)	(-2,4,0)	$\left(-\frac{4}{3},-2,-\frac{4}{3},-2,0,0\right)$
(0,6,0)	(0,6,0)	(0, 0, -2, -3, 0, 0)
(1,6,0)	(-1,6,0)	$(-\frac{2}{3}, -1, -2, -3, 0, 0)$
(2,6,0)	(-2,6,0)	$\left \left(-\frac{4}{3}, -2, -2, -3, 0, 0 \right) \right $
(0,8,0)	(0,8,0)	$(0, 0, -\frac{8}{3}, -4, 0, 0)$

(-1,8,0)

(-2,6,0)

(0,10,0)

(-1,10,0)

(-2,10,0)

Chapter 5 Yukawa couplings from D6-branes on $T_{SO(12)}^6$

(1, 8, 0)

(2,6,0)

(0,10,0)

(1,10,0)

(2,10,0)

Table 5.4: Intersection points *b* and *c*

The selection rules in (5.102) obliges the winding numbers of the instanton to belong to the lattice

$$\Lambda_{\text{SO}(4)} \otimes \mathbb{Z} = \text{span}\left((1, 1, 0)^T, (1, -1, 0)^T, (0, 0, 1)^T\right),$$
(5.103)

 $(0,0, -\frac{3}{3}, -4, 0, 0)$ $(-\frac{2}{3}, -1, -\frac{8}{3}, -4, 0, 0)$ $(-\frac{4}{3}, -2, -\frac{8}{3}, -4, 0, 0)$ $(0, 0, -\frac{10}{3}, -5, 0, 0)$ $(-\frac{2}{3}, -1, -\frac{10}{3}, -5, 0, 0)$

 $-2, -\frac{10}{3}, -5, 0, 0)$

with an offset depending on $j^{(3)} + p$. For example, the fields sitting at the intersection points with the "new" labels i = (0, 0, 0), j = (8, 0, 0) and k = (-1, 0, 0) have a non trivial Yukawa coupling, since $j^{(1)}$ and $k^{(1)}$ indeed satisfy the second condition in (5.101) with p = 3. The Yukawa coupling for them is given by

$$-h_{\rm qu} \sum_{l \in (1,0,0) + \Lambda_{\rm SO(4)} \otimes \mathbb{Z}} \exp\left(-\frac{\pi}{\alpha'} \left[9A^{(1)} \left(8 + 3l^{(1)}\right)^2 + 12A^{(2)}l^{(2)^2} + 6A^{(3)}l^{(3)^2}\right]\right)$$
(5.104)

The boundaries of the worldsheet instanton, which are attached to the branes, are parametrized by the vectors

$$\begin{pmatrix} z_a^{(1)} \\ z_a^{(2)} \\ z_a^{(3)} \\ z_a^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{8}{9} + l^{(1)} \\ \frac{8}{3} - 3l^{(1)} \\ 3l^{(2)} \\ l^{(3)} \\ l^{(3)} \\ l^{(3)} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} z_b^{(1)} \\ z_b^{(2)} \\ z_b^{(3)} \\ z_b^{(3)} \\ -4l^{(3)} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} z_c^{(1)} \\ z_c^{(2)} \\ z_c^{(3)} \\ z_c^$$

The leading contribution to the Yukawa coupling has either the winding number l = (1, 0, 0) or l = (0, 1, 0) depending on the value for the moduli $A^{(1)}$ and $A^{(2)}$.

Not all intersection points between a and b have "new" labels. To compute Yukawa couplings of fields sitting at those intersection points, one proceeds as in the two dimensional case in section 5.2.2: Let the



Figure 5.2: Worldsheet Instanton from intersecting branes: The three square bases, depict the three planes and the blue, green and red lines indicate the position of the branes *a*, *b* and *c* in the planes. The area spread out by the leading order worldsheet instanton, coupling to the intersection points with the "new" labesl i = (0, 0, 0), j = (-1, 0, 0) and k - (8, 0, 0) is highlighted by the color pink.

"old" labels, of the coupling considered, be denoted by i_1 , j_1 and k_1 , where for example i_1 has no "new" label. The label i_1 is shifted by a fraction of an equivalence shift and mapped to another label i_2 , which is not removed by relabeling, by

$$i_2 = i_1 - \frac{\delta}{d} \vec{\lambda}_{ab}, \quad \text{with} \quad \delta \in \{1, ..., d-1\}, \quad \vec{\lambda}_{ab} \in \Gamma_{ab}.$$
 (5.106)

The integer *d* is the greatest common divisor of the three intersection numbers. Next the other two "old" labels j_1 and k_1 , belonging to the coupling, are shifted by the same fraction of the corresponding equivlanece shifts

$$j_1 \to j_2 = j_1 - \frac{\delta}{d}\vec{\lambda}_{ca}, \quad k_1 \to k_2 = k_1 - \frac{\delta}{d}\vec{\lambda}_{bc}, \quad \vec{\lambda}_{ca} \in \Gamma_{ca}, \, \vec{\lambda}_{bc} \in \Gamma_{bc} \,. \tag{5.107}$$

The shifts in (5.106) and (5.107) have to be chosen, s.t. the labels i_2 , j_2 and k_2 exist and the instanton connecting the corresponding intersection points is congruent to the instanton connecting the points labeled by i_1 , j_1 and k_1 . On the other hand, if the "new" labels of i_2 , j_2 and k_2 do not satisfy the selection rules, the corresponding Yukawa coupling is zero. That way for example the coupling with the "old" labels $i_1 = (2, 0, 0)$, $j_1 = (4, 0, 0)$, $k_1 = (2, 6, 0)$ can be computed, even though relabeling leads to the loss of i_1 's label. To compute the coupling, the labels are shifted by

$$i \to i - \frac{1}{3}(6, 0, 0), \quad j \to j - \frac{1}{3}(9, 0, 0), \quad k \to k - \frac{1}{3}(3, 18, 0),$$
 (5.108)

s.t. one receives the shifted labels $i_2 = (0, 0, 0)$, $j_2 = (1, 0, 0)$ and $k_2 = (1, 0, 0)$. As one can see in figure 5.3, the leading order instanton connecting the labels i_1 , j_1 and k_1 is indeed congruent to the instanton connecting i_2 , j_2 and k_2 . Relabeling i_2 , j_2 and k_2 shows that the corresponding Yukawa coupling is given by (5.104).



Figure 5.3: Worldsheet instanton coupling to intersection points with no label: The area spread out by worldsheet instanton coupling to the intersection points, labeled by the "old" labels i = (2, 0, 0), j = (4, 0, 0) and k = (2, 6, 0), is highlighted by the color yellow. However after relabeling the intersection points are labeled by j = (5, 0, 0) and k = (-2, 6, 0), but *i* has no new label. Comparing the area with the worldsheet instanton from figure 5.2, both instantons clearly spread out areas with the same volume.

CHAPTER 6

Yukawa couplings from D9-branes on the dual $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$

In this chapter the T-dual of intersecting D6-branes on $T_{SO(12)}^6$, with three T-dualized directions, is considered and the Yukawa couplings from a T-dual setup to the one in chapter 5.3 is computed. Besides of serving as a consistency check, the computations lead to the quantum contribution of the Yukawa couplings on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$. The discussion is based on the work [114] and extends the results of [115].

6.1 From $T_{SO(12)}^6$ to the dual $T_{SO(12)}^6$

6.1.1 Buscher rules

In this section T-duality on more general spaces than discussed in section 3.2.3 is introduced and therefore the results of [53] are revised in order to approach a T-dual torus of $T_{SO(12)}^6$. Consider a manifold with metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and a background field $B_{\mu\nu}$. For open strings on the manifold, the action (3.39) describes the coupling of the open strings to the spacetime. Let the action be invariant under

$$X^{\mu} \to X^{\mu} + 2\pi R \tag{6.1}$$

for one spatial direction $\mu = \theta$. Invariance under (6.1) implies circle compactification of the direction θ on a S^1 with radius R. The remaining directions are left uncompact. Decomposing (3.39) in components of uncompact directions $i \in \{\mu\} \setminus \{\theta\}$ and circle compactified direction θ , the open string action can be expressed as

$$S = -\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} d^2\sigma \left[\left(g_{\theta\theta}\partial_{\alpha}\theta\partial_{\beta}\theta + 2g_{\theta i}\partial_{\alpha}\theta\partial_{\beta}X^j + g_{ij}\partial_{\alpha}X^i\partial_{\beta}X^j \right) \eta^{\alpha\beta} + \left(2B_{i\theta}\partial_{\alpha}X^i\partial_{\beta}\theta + B_{ij}\partial_{\alpha}X^i\partial_{\beta}X^j \right) \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \right] - \int_{\partial\Sigma} d\sigma^0 \left(A_i\partial_0X^i + A_\theta\partial_0\theta \right).$$
(6.2)

Let the isometry in (6.1) be generated by the infenitesimal translations $\theta \to \theta + \epsilon$. The symmetry can be implemented into the action (6.2) by making it in a covariant. Therefor a covariant derivative $\partial_{\alpha}\theta \to D_{\alpha}\theta = \partial_{\alpha}\theta + V_{\alpha}$ needs to be introduced, where V_{α} transforms as $V_{\alpha} \to V_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha}\epsilon$. By gauge fixing $\theta = 0$, one recives

$$S' = -\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} d^2\sigma \left[\left(g_{\theta\theta} V_{\alpha} V_{\beta} + 2g_{\theta i} V_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} X^j + g_{ij} \partial_{\alpha} X^i \partial_{\beta} X^j \right) \eta^{\alpha\beta} + \left(2B_{i\theta} \partial_{\alpha} X^i V_{\beta} + B_{ij} \partial_{\alpha} X^i \partial_{\beta} X^j \right) \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} + 2\tilde{\theta} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} V_{\beta} \right] - \int_{\partial\Sigma} d\sigma^0 \left(A_i \partial_{\sigma^0} X^i + A_{\theta} V_0 + \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} \tilde{\theta} V_0 \right),$$

$$(6.3)$$

where the information $\partial_{\alpha}\theta = V_{\alpha}$ is kept in (6.3) by introducing a Lagrange multiplier $\tilde{\theta}$. The equations of motion for $\tilde{\theta}$ lead to the constraint $\partial_{\alpha}V_{\beta}\epsilon^{\alpha\beta} = 0$ and inserting the the solutions into (6.3) returns to (6.2). The Lagrange multiplier $\tilde{\theta}$ corresponds to the T-dual direction of θ . By integrating out the field V_{α} in (6.3) one receives the T-dual action \tilde{S} to (6.2). The equations of motion for V_{α} are

$$\left(g_{\theta\theta}V_{\beta} + g_{\theta i}\partial_{\beta}X^{j}\right)\eta^{\alpha\beta} + B_{\theta i}\partial_{\beta}X^{j}\epsilon^{\alpha\beta} = -\partial_{\beta}\tilde{\theta}\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(6.4)

with the additional constraint

$$A_{\theta} + \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'}\tilde{\theta} = 0 \tag{6.5}$$

coming from the boundary term. Inserting the equations of motion back into (6.3) leads to

$$\tilde{S} = -\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} d^2\sigma \left[\left(\tilde{g}_{\theta\theta} \partial_{\alpha} \tilde{\theta} \partial_{\beta} \tilde{\theta} + 2 \tilde{g}_{\theta i} \partial_{\alpha} \tilde{\theta} \partial_{\beta} X^j + \tilde{g}_{ij} \partial_{\alpha} X^i \partial_{\beta} X^j \right) \eta^{\alpha\beta} + \left(2 \tilde{B}_{i\theta} \partial_{\alpha} X^i \partial_{\beta} \tilde{\theta} + B_{ij} \partial_{\alpha} X^i \partial_{\beta} X^j \right) \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \right] - \int_{\partial \Sigma} d\sigma^0 A_i \partial_{\sigma^0} X^i ,$$
(6.6)

with

$$\widetilde{g}_{\theta\theta} = g_{\theta\theta}^{-1}, \quad \widetilde{g}_{\theta i} = g_{\theta\theta}^{-1} B_{\theta i}, \quad \widetilde{B}_{\theta i} = g_{\theta\theta}^{-1} g_{\theta i},$$

$$\widetilde{g}_{ij} = g_{ij} - g_{\theta\theta}^{-1} \left(g_{\theta i} g_{\theta j} - B_{\theta i} B_{\theta j} \right), \quad \widetilde{B}_{ij} = B_{ij} - g_{\theta\theta}^{-1} \left(g_{\theta i} B_{\theta j} - B_{\theta i} g_{\theta j} \right).$$
(6.7)

The relations (6.7) for the metric and B-field components between the dual theories are called the Buscher rules. Notice that in (6.6) the gauge field A lost its component in the T-dualized direction and in order to perserve the gauge symmetry of the B-field, open string have no longer N boundary conditions in that direction. This consequently means that a D*p*-brane containing the gauge field A on its volume and extending in the direction θ becomes, by T-dualizing θ , a D(p - 1)-brane, localised at a point in the direction $\tilde{\theta}$. On the other hand, since T-dualizing twice the same direction is a trivival transformation, T-dualizing a transverse direction of a D*p*-brane, needs to lead in the dual picture to a D(p + 1)-brane, which fills out the T-dualized direction. In section 3.2.3 T-duality for circle compactification was introduces. T-duality exchanges N with D boundary conditions and vice versa while inverting the radius. In general the flipping of open string boundary holds in T-duality holds due to (6.5). For the case where the direction $\mu = 9$ of the ten dimensional Minkowski space $\mathbb{R}^{1,9}$ is compactified on a S^1 with radius R, the corresponding metric is given by $g_{\mu\nu} = diag(-1, 1, ..., 2\pi R)$. Applying the Buscher rule $\tilde{g}_{\theta\theta} = g_{\theta\theta}^{-1}$ one receives the metric $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = diag(-1, 1, ..., 2\pi \frac{\alpha'}{R})$, with $\alpha' = (2\pi)^{-2}$, which leads in the dual theory to an S^1 with radius $\frac{\alpha'}{R}$. Hence the Buscher rules are indeed a more general formulation for what was encountered in section 3.2.3.

6.1.2 T-dualizing $T_{SO(12)}^6$ with D6-branes

Dual of $T_{SO(12)}^6$

In section 4.1.1 deformations of $T_{SO(12)}^6$, where described by turning on the deformation parameters τ_h and R_h . The deformations where chosen, in such a way that the hermitian metric remained diagonal and line element is given by

$$d^{2}s = \sum_{h=1}^{3} R_{h}^{2} |1 - \tau_{h}|^{2} |dw_{h}|^{2}, \qquad (6.8)$$

with the complex coordinates

$$w_1 = y_1 + \frac{\tau_1 y_2}{1 - \tau_1}, \quad w_2 = y_3 - \frac{y_2}{1 - \tau_2} + \frac{\tau_2 y_4}{1 - \tau_2}, \quad w_3 = y_5 - \frac{y_4}{1 - \tau_3} + \frac{1 + \tau_3}{1 - \tau_3} y_6.$$
(6.9)

Now a B-field is included, which contains non vanishing components for each complex plane individually, s.t. it is given by ¹

$$B = \frac{i}{2} \sum_{h=1}^{3} R_h^2 |1 - \tau_h|^2 B_h \mathrm{d}w_h \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_h \,. \tag{6.10}$$

The Kähler 2-from, deduced from (4.10) and expressed in the lattice basis is given by

$$\omega_2 = \sum_{h=1}^3 R_h^2 |1 - \tau_h|^2 dw_h \wedge d\overline{w}_h = \sum_{h=1}^3 R_h^2 |1 - \tau_h|^2 \operatorname{Im}(\tau_h) \operatorname{Re}(dw_h) \wedge \operatorname{Im}(dw_h), \quad (6.11)$$

s.t. the complexified Kähler from becomes

$$\omega_2 = \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left\{ R_h^2 |1 - \tau_h|^2 B_h + i R_h^2 |1 - \tau_h|^2 \operatorname{Im}(\tau_h) \right\} \operatorname{Re}(\mathrm{d}w_h) \wedge \operatorname{Im}(\mathrm{d}w_h) \,. \tag{6.12}$$

A T-duality transformation in each plane individually is performed, by T-dualizing the 1-cycles, which are generated by

 $y_1 \to y_1 + 1, \quad y_3 \to y_3 + 1, \quad \text{and} \quad y_5 \to y_5 + 1.$ (6.13)

That way each T-duality transformation does not affect the other planes. The line element obtained by applying the Buscher rules is

$$d^2 s = \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{|dw_h|^2}{R_h^2 |1 - \tau_h|^2},$$
(6.14)

and the B-field becomes

$$B = \frac{i}{2} \frac{\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{\tau}_1) - |\tau_1|^2}{|1 - \tilde{\tau}_1|^2} \frac{dw_1 \wedge d\overline{w}_1}{\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_1)} + \frac{i}{2} \frac{1 - \operatorname{Re}(\tilde{\tau}_2)}{|1 - \tilde{\tau}_2|^2} \frac{dw_2 \wedge d\overline{w}_2}{\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_2)} + \frac{i}{2} \frac{1 - \operatorname{Re}(\tilde{\tau}_3)}{|1 - \tilde{\tau}_3|^2} \frac{dw_3 \wedge d\overline{w}_3}{\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_3)} - dy_3 \wedge dy_4 - dy_5 \wedge dy_6,$$
(6.15)

¹ Expressing the B-field in orthonormal coordinates $(x_1, ..., x_6)$, it takes the simple form $B = \sum_{h=1}^{3} B_h dx_{2h-1} \wedge dx_{2h}$.

for the dual torus $\tilde{T}_{SO(12)}^6$, where the complex coordinates are defined by

$$w_1 = y_1 + \tilde{\tau}_1 y_2, \quad w_2 = y_3 + \tilde{\tau}_2 (y_4 - y_2), \quad w_3 = y_5 + \tilde{\tau}_3 (2y_6 - y_4), \quad (6.16)$$

with the complex structure moduli $\tilde{\tau}_h$ defined by

$$\tilde{\tau}_h = B_h + iR_h^2 \operatorname{Im}(\tau_h) \,. \tag{6.17}$$

Comparing the moduli of $T_{SO(12)}^6$ with $\tilde{T}_{SO(12)}^6$, one observes, that the components of the hermitian metric have been inverted and the complex structure moduli has been exchanged by the complexified Kähler moduli. In the following of this chapter let the six dimensional torus T^6 be described by the line element

$$d^{2}s = \sum_{h=1}^{3} A_{h}^{2} |dw_{h}|^{2}, \qquad (6.18)$$

with the complex coordinates defined by

$$w_1 = y_1 + K_1 y_2, \quad w_2 = y_3 + K_2 (y_4 - y_2), \quad w_3 = y_5 + K_3 (2y_6 - y_4).$$
 (6.19)

Choosing the deformation parameters by $A_h^2 = R_h^{-2}|1 - \tau_h|^{-2}$ and $K_h = B_h + iR_h^2 \text{Im}(\tau_h)$ one receives the dual torus of $T_{\text{SO}(12)}^6$ in (6.14).

Magnetic flux on $ilde{T}^6_{SO(12)}$

In this section the T-duality transformations along the directions, given in (6.13), and its effect on the open string sector are investigated. A D6-brane wrapping a sLag cycle Π^3 on $T_{SO(12)}^6$, with the wrapping numbers

$$\Pi^{3} = (n^{1}, m^{1}) \times (n^{2}, m^{2}) \times (n^{3}, m^{3}), \qquad (6.20)$$

is included. The cycle is parametrized in the covering space \mathbb{R}^6 by the equations

$$x_{2h} = \frac{m^h}{n^h} x_{2h-1}, \quad h \in \{1, 2, 3\}$$
(6.21)

and by performing a change of basis into the lattice basis, one gets

$$y_1 = \frac{n^1}{N^{(1)}} y_2, \quad y_3 = \frac{m^2}{N^{(2)}} y_2 + \frac{n^2}{N^{(2)}} y_4, \quad y_5 = \frac{m^3}{N^{(3)}} y_4 + \frac{n^3 - m^3}{N^{(3)}} y_6, \tag{6.22}$$

where we defined $N^{(h)} = n^h + m^h$. The parametrizations describe N boundary conditions for open strings, because the lines describe the loci in \mathbb{R}^6 on which open strings can propagat freely. As described in section 6.1.1 N and D boundary conditions are exchanged and the T-dualized directions y_1 , y_3 and y_5 , correspond in the dual picture to gauge field components. The gauge field corresponding to the boundary conditions in (6.22) is according to (6.5) given by

$$A_1 = -2\pi \frac{n^1}{N^{(1)}} y_2 , \quad A_3 = -2\pi \frac{m^2 y_2 + n^2 y_4}{N^{(2)}} , \quad A_5 = -2\pi \frac{m^3 y_4 + (n^3 - m^3) y_6}{N^{(3)}} , \tag{6.23}$$

where $\alpha' = (2\pi)^{-2}$ was set. A 1-form gauge field with the components given in (6.23) can be deduced from a 2-form field strength given by

$$F = \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_1)} \frac{n^1}{N^{(1)}} \mathrm{d}w_1 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_1 + \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_2)} \frac{m^2}{N^{(2)}} \mathrm{d}w_2 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_2 \qquad (6.24)$$
$$+ \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_3)} \frac{m^3}{N^{(3)}} \mathrm{d}w_3 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_3 + 2\pi \mathrm{d}y_3 \wedge \mathrm{d}y_4 + 2\pi \mathrm{d}y_5 \wedge \mathrm{d}y_6 \,.$$

Together with the B-field, the gauge invariant fieldstrength defined in (3.40) can be computed:

$$\mathcal{F} = \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_1)} \left(\frac{\mathrm{Re}(\tilde{\tau}_1) - |\tau_1|^2}{|1 - \tilde{\tau}_1|^2} + \frac{n^1}{N^{(1)}} \right) \mathrm{d}w_1 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_1 \qquad (6.25)$$
$$+ \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_2)} \left(\frac{1 - \mathrm{Re}(\tilde{\tau}_2)}{|1 - \tilde{\tau}_2|^2} + \frac{m^2}{N^{(2)}} \right) \mathrm{d}w_2 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_2$$
$$+ \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_3)} \left(\frac{1 - \mathrm{Re}(\tilde{\tau}_3)}{|1 - \tilde{\tau}_3|^2} + \frac{m^3}{N^{(3)}} \right) \mathrm{d}w_3 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_3 \,.$$

The terms proportional to $dy_3 \wedge dy_4$ and $dy_5 \wedge dy_6$ in *F* and *B* drop out in \mathcal{F} , which means that a simulataneous gauge transformation on *B* and *F* can be performed, which brings the field strength tensor into the holomorphic form

$$\frac{F}{i\pi} = \frac{n^1}{N^{(1)}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w_1 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_1}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_1)} + \frac{m^2}{N^{(2)}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w_2 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_2}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_2)} + \frac{m^3}{N^{(3)}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w_3 \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_3}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_3)} \,. \tag{6.26}$$

The absence of (2, 0)- and (0, 2)-forms in *F* confirms that the D9-brane, dual to the D6-brane, wrapping the cycle (6.20), preserves superymmetry and wraps calibrated cycles on the torus [87, 116]. The sLag condition $\omega_2|_{\Pi^3} = 0$ for D6-brane cycles is translated to the condition that $F^{(2,0)} = F^{(0,2)} = 0$ for D9-brane fluxes. The gauge symmetry living on the D9-branes is a $U(N_{D9})$ symmetry, with N_{D9} denoting the wrapping number of the D9-brane around the torus. It is consitent to asume that N_{D9} is equal to the intersections of the corresponding D6-brane in the dual theory with the T-dualized cycle. Let the D6-brane wrap the cycle $\Pi^3 N_{D6}$ times, which means the gauge symmetry on the D6-brane volume is $U(N_{D6})$. Then, incorporating the multiplicity from Π^3 wrapping the cycle $(1, -1) \times (1, -1) \times (1, -1)^2$, the wrapping number N_{D9} is related to the wrapping number N_{D6} by

$$N_{\rm D9} = \frac{N^{(1)} N^{(2)} N^{(3)}}{2} N_{\rm D6} =: N N_{\rm D6} , \qquad (6.27)$$

which implies that the gauge symmetry on thr D9-brane is $U(NN_{D6})$. At first sight this seems like a different gauge symmetry arises on the dual theory, but Wilson lines break the gauge symmetry to

$$U(N_{\rm D9}) \to U(N_{\rm D6}),$$
 (6.28)

as will be explained in the following.

² Remember that the intersection number I_{ab} of two cycles $\Pi_a^3 = \prod_{h=1}^3 (n_a^h, m_a^h)$ and $\Pi_b^3 = prod_{h=1}^3 (n_b^h, m_b^h)$ on $T_{SO(12)}^6$ is given by $I_{ab} = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^3 (n_a^h m_b^h - n_b^h m_a^h)$.

6.2 Magnetic fluxes on the dual $T_{SO(12)}^6$

6.2.1 Symmetry breaking via magnetic fluxes

In this section it is explained how magnetic fluxes break the gauge symmetry on the D9-branes. Here the notation in appendix A of [115] is partly followed. Let a U(P) gauge theory be described by the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4g^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ F^{ij} F_{ij} \right\}, \qquad (6.29)$$

where F_{ij} is the corresponding field strength tensor and the trace is taken over the gauge indices. A basis for matrices in the adjoint representation is given by the set of P matrices $U_a = \delta_{ai}\delta_{aj}$ and $e_{ab} = \delta_{ai}\delta_{bj}$, where U_a form a basis for the diagonal elements and $e_{ab} = \delta_{ai}\delta_{bj}$, form a basis for the off diagonal elements. A field A in the adjoint representation of U(P) can then be expanded by

$$A = B^a U_a + W^{ab} e_{ab} \,. \tag{6.30}$$

Magnetic fluxes considered here, arise from giving the B^a components a vev's, s.t. the corresponding fieldstrength is constant. The vev breaks the initial gauge group U(P) to a subgroup of U(P), which is generated by elements, commuting with the flux. Let the wrapping number of the $\prod_{\alpha} N_{\alpha}N_{D6}$ D9-branes on the torus be $P = \sum_{\alpha \in \{a,b,c...\}} N_{\alpha}N_{D6_{\alpha}}$. A vev is turned on, which is given by

$$\langle A_0 \rangle = diag(\underbrace{m_a, m_a, \dots, m_a}_{N_a N_{\text{D6}_a} \text{ times}}, \underbrace{m_b, \dots, m_b}_{N_b N_{\text{D6}_b} \text{ times}}, \underbrace{m_c, \dots, m_c}_{N_c N_{\text{D6}_c} \text{ times}}, \dots).$$
(6.31)

Identifying the generators of U(P), which commute with $\langle A_0 \rangle$, one finds that the gauge symmetry is broken to

$$U(P) \xrightarrow{\langle A_0 \rangle} \prod_{\alpha} U(N_{\alpha} N_{\mathrm{D6}_{\alpha}}) \,. \tag{6.32}$$

In the following discussions, the wrapping number N_{D6} is set to $N_{D6} = 1$, that means, only U(1)'s symmetries on the T-dual side are considered. As described in section 6.1.2, D6-branes with angles lead to the constant fluxes of the form

$$F = \sum_{h=1}^{3} F_{w_h \overline{w}_h} \mathrm{d}w_h \wedge \mathrm{d}\overline{w}_h, \qquad (6.33)$$

with

$$F_{w_{1}\overline{w}_{1}} = \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_{1})} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{n_{a}^{1}}{N_{a}^{(1)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{a}} & & \\ & \frac{n_{b}^{1}}{N_{b}^{(1)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{b}} & \\ & & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{and} \quad (6.34)$$

$$F_{w_{h}\overline{w}_{h}}^{\alpha} = \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_{h})} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{m_{a}^{h}}{N_{a}^{(h)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{a}} & & \\ & \frac{m_{b}^{h}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{b}} & \\ & & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \quad h \in \{2, 3\}.$$

The corresponding adjoint field is

$$A(\vec{w}) = diag(\underbrace{A_a, ..., A_a}_{N_a \text{ times}}, \underbrace{A_b, ..., A_b}_{N_b \text{ times}}, ...), \qquad (6.35)$$

with

$$A_{\alpha} = \frac{\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_{1})} \frac{n_{\alpha}^{1}}{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}} \mathrm{Im}(\overline{w}_{1} \mathrm{d}w_{1}) + \frac{\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_{2})} \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}} \mathrm{Im}(\overline{w}_{2} \mathrm{d}w_{2}) + \frac{\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(\tilde{\tau}_{3})} \frac{m_{\alpha}^{3}}{N_{\alpha}^{(3)}} \mathrm{Im}(\overline{w}_{3} \mathrm{d}w_{3}) \,. \tag{6.36}$$

Since *A* has the same diagonal form as in (6.31), it breaks the U(P) symmetry analogous to (6.32). The unbroken gauge group in the presence of the flux (6.33) is $\prod_{\alpha} U(N_{\alpha}) \subset U(P)$.

6.2.2 Wilson loops and quantization condition

Next the effect of the compactification lattice on the gauge theory is investigated. D9-branes are placed into T^6 wrapping the torus *P* times. Thus the T^6 contains a U(P) gauge symmetry arising from the gauge symmetry on the spacetime filling branes. By turning on magnetic fluxes, given in (6.33), the gauge symmetry on the branes is broken to $\prod_{\alpha} U(N_{\alpha})$ as explained in the above section. In the following the isomorphism ³

$$U(n) \simeq \frac{SU(n) \times U(1)}{\mathbb{Z}_n}, \qquad (6.37)$$

is used to decompose $U(N_{\alpha})$ elements into $SU(N_{\alpha})$ elements and a U(1) factor. Let ϕ_{α} be a field living on the torus and transforming in the fundamental representation of $U(N_{\alpha})$

$$\phi_{\alpha}: T^6 \to \mathbb{C}^{N_{\alpha}}. \tag{6.38}$$

Under translations along the torus, ϕ_{α} transforms in the gauge representation as

$$\phi_{\alpha}{}^{a}(x) \to \phi_{\alpha}{}^{a}(x') = \exp\left(iq \int_{x}^{x'} A_{\alpha}(x) \cdot \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}}\right) (W_{\alpha})_{ab} \phi_{\alpha}{}^{b}(x), \qquad (6.39)$$

where $W_{\alpha} \in SU(N_{\alpha})$ and $a, b \in \{1, ..., N_{\alpha}\}$ are gauge indices⁴. Since the transformations $w_i \to w_i + 1$ generate isometries on T^6 , six independent Wilson loops naturally arise on the T^6 . ϕ transforms under the isometries as:

$$\phi_{\alpha}(...,y_{i}+1,...) = e^{iq\chi_{i}^{\alpha}(...,y_{i},...)}\omega_{i}^{\alpha}\phi_{\alpha}(...,y_{i},...), \qquad (6.40)$$

³ Let $M \in SU(n)$ and $e^{i\varphi} \in U(1)$. Then $K = e^{i\varphi}M \in U(n)$. But $\tilde{M} = e^{i\frac{k}{n}}M \in SU(n)$, for $\frac{k}{2\pi} \in \mathbb{Z}$, because det $\left(e^{i\frac{k}{n}}M\right) = e^{ik} \det(M)$. Then also $e^{i(\varphi-k/n)}\tilde{M} = K$. Since $(e^{i\frac{k}{n}})^n$, the factors $e^{i\frac{k}{n}}$ can be seen as \mathbb{Z}_n elements and hence $U(1) \times SU(n)$

contains a \mathbb{Z}_n factor. Quotienting the \mathbb{Z}_n factor out lead to the isomorphism (6.37).

⁴ In the language of gauge bundles, (6.39) describes the transformation in the fibre, when moved along the base space.

with

$$\chi_{1}^{\alpha}(\vec{w}) = \frac{\pi n_{\alpha}^{1}}{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_{1})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{1})}, \quad \chi_{2}^{\alpha}(\vec{w}) = \frac{\pi n_{\alpha}^{1}}{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\overline{K}_{1}w_{1})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{1})} - \frac{\pi m_{\alpha}^{2}}{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\overline{K}_{2}w_{2})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{2})}, \quad (6.41)$$
$$\chi_{3}^{\alpha}(\vec{w}) = \frac{\pi m_{\alpha}^{2}}{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_{2})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{2})}, \quad \chi_{4}^{\alpha}(\vec{w}) = \frac{\pi m_{\alpha}^{2}}{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\overline{K}_{2}w_{2})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{1})} - \frac{\pi m_{\alpha}^{3}}{N_{\alpha}^{(3)}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\overline{K}_{3}w_{3})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{3})}, \quad \chi_{5}^{\alpha}(\vec{w}) = \frac{\pi m_{\alpha}^{3}}{N_{\alpha}^{(3)}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\overline{K}_{3}w_{3})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{3})}.$$

The $S U(N_{\alpha})$ factors ω_i are yet undetermined, but the Dirac quantization condition provide constraints on them[115]. Let γ be a closed loop wrapping a trivial 1-cycle on a non trivial 2-cycle of the torus, s.t. the 2-cycle is seperated into two surfaces and γ is the boundary of both surfaces. The quantization condition demands that the gauge transformations of ϕ , after its moved along γ , is trivial [117]. Non trivial 2-cycles on the torus are generated by two lattice vectors: Let $\prod_{ij}^2 \in H_2(T^6)$ be the 2-cycle generated by the two generators of the underlying lattice $\vec{\alpha}_i$ and $\vec{\alpha}_j$. Then a closed contractible loop on \prod_{ij}^2 is generated by the following translation

$$\gamma: (y_i, y_j) \xrightarrow{+\vec{\alpha}_i} (y_i, +1y_j) \xrightarrow{+\vec{\alpha}_j} (y_i + 1, y_j + 1) \xrightarrow{-\vec{\alpha}_i} (y_i, y_j + 1) \xrightarrow{-\vec{\alpha}_j} (y_i, y_j).$$
(6.42)

Moving the field ϕ along γ , leads to a gauge transformation, which has to be trivial according to the quantization condition. That means the parameters for the Wilson lines need to satisfy

$$e^{iq\chi_{ij}^{\alpha}} \left(\omega_{j}^{\alpha}\right)^{-1} \left(\omega_{i}^{\alpha}\right)^{-1} \omega_{j}^{\alpha} \omega_{i}^{\alpha} \phi(\vec{w}) = \phi(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.43)$$

with

$$\chi_{12}^{\alpha} = -2\pi \frac{n_{\alpha}^{1}}{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}, \quad \chi_{32}^{\alpha} = 2\pi \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}}, \quad \chi_{34}^{\alpha} = -2\pi \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}}, \quad (6.44)$$
$$\chi_{54}^{\alpha} = 2\pi \frac{m^{3}}{N^{(3)}}, \quad \chi_{56} = -4\pi \frac{m_{\alpha}^{3}}{N_{\alpha}^{(3)}},$$

and all other $\chi_{ij}^{\alpha} = 0$.

Solving the quantization condition

The solutions to (6.43) lead to expressions for ω_i 's in the Wilson lines. It turns out that the solutions to the following two dimensional problem is helpful: Let ω_1 , $\omega_2 \in SU(N)$, with $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ and

$$(\omega_2)^{-1}(\omega_1)^{-1}\omega_2\omega_1 = e^{2\pi i\frac{k}{N}}\mathbb{1}_N, \qquad (6.45)$$

with

$$M = k \mod N, \qquad M \in \mathbb{Z}. \tag{6.46}$$

Solutions to ω_1 and ω_2 are given by [115]

$$\omega_1 = Q^M, \quad \omega_2 = P \tag{6.47}$$

with

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & & \\ & e^{2\pi i/N} & & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & e^{2\pi i(N-1)/N} \end{pmatrix}, \quad P = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & & \\ & 1 & & \\ & & \ddots & \\ 1 & & & \ddots \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.48)

Reminding that $N_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^{3} N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$, (6.43) can be rewritten into a similar form as in (6.45)

$$\left(\omega_{j}^{\alpha}\right)^{-1}\left(\omega_{i}^{\alpha}\right)^{-1}\omega_{j}^{\alpha}\omega_{i}^{\alpha} = e^{2\pi i k_{ij}^{\alpha}/N_{\alpha}} \cdot \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}}$$
(6.49)

with

$$k_{12} = \frac{n_{\alpha}^{1}}{2} N_{\alpha}^{(2)} N_{\alpha}^{(3)} \mod N_{\alpha}, \quad k_{32} = -\frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{2} N_{\alpha}^{(1)} N_{\alpha}^{(3)} \mod N_{\alpha}, \quad (6.50)$$

$$k_{34} = \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{2} N_{\alpha}^{(1)} N_{\alpha}^{(3)} \mod N_{\alpha}, \quad k_{54} = -\frac{m_{\alpha}^{3}}{2} N_{\alpha}^{(1)} N_{\alpha}^{(2)} \mod N_{\alpha}, \quad (6.50)$$

$$k_{56} = m_{\alpha}^{3} N_{\alpha}^{(1)} N_{\alpha}^{(2)} \mod N_{\alpha}.$$

The values for k_{ij} have to be integer. That means if $N_{\alpha}^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2$ is not satisfied for all planes $h \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, one needs to double $N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$ in one plane. This is exactly the condition (4.73) for 3-cycles to be closed on the $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$, which should not be a surprise, because the magnetic flux was derived from D-branes wrapping closed 3-cycles on the $T_{SO(12)}^{6}$. The two dimensional solutions (6.47) can be used to construct $S U(N_{\alpha})$ factors solving (6.43): Let the ω 's for the Wilson loops be given by

$$\begin{aligned}
\omega_{1} &= Q_{(1)}^{n_{\alpha}^{1}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(3)}}, \quad \omega_{2} = P_{(1)} \otimes P_{(2)}^{-1} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(3)}}, \\
\omega_{3} &= \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}} \otimes Q_{(2)}^{m_{\alpha}^{2}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(3)}}, \quad \omega_{4} = \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}} \otimes P_{(2)} \otimes P_{(3)}^{-1}, \\
\omega_{5} &= \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}} \otimes Q_{(3)}^{m_{\alpha}^{3}}, \quad \omega_{6} = \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{N_{\alpha}^{(2)}} \otimes P_{(3)}^{2},
\end{aligned}$$
(6.51)

where the subscript (*h*) of the matrices *P* and *Q* denote that they are $N_{\alpha}^{(h)} \times N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$ dimensional. The solutions in (6.51) solve the conditions in (6.49), but the matrices ω_i are $2N_{\alpha} \times 2N_{\alpha}$ dimensional, hence to big. A similar problem was already encountered, when the intersection points of two 3-cycles on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$ where counted. There the number of projections of the intersection points onto the *h*-th plane is given by $I_{ab}^{(h)}$ and the product $\prod_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)}$ leads to two times the intersection number on $T_{SO(12)}^6$. It was necessary to place the labels for the intersection points on a general three dimensional lattices. Applying the concept to the solutions in (6.51), the "tensoring" of the matrices has to be defined in a more general way: The components of ω_i 's given by

$$\begin{aligned} (\omega_{1})_{ij} &= Q_{i^{(1)}j^{(1)}}^{n_{\alpha}^{1}} \delta_{i^{(2)}j^{(2)}} \delta_{i^{(3)}j^{(3)}}, \quad (\omega_{2})_{ij} = P_{i^{(1)}j^{(1)}} P_{i^{(2)}j^{(2)}}^{-1} \delta_{i^{(3)}j^{(3)}}, \\ (\omega_{3})_{ij} &= \delta_{i^{(1)}j^{(1)}} Q_{i^{(2)}j^{(2)}}^{m_{\alpha}^{2}} \delta_{i^{(3)}j^{(3)}}, \quad (\omega_{4})_{ij} = \delta_{i^{(1)}j^{(1)}} P_{i^{(2)}j^{(2)}} P_{i^{(3)}j^{(3)}}^{-1}, \\ (\omega_{3})_{ij} &= \delta_{i^{(1)}j^{(1)}} \delta_{i^{(2)}j^{(2)}} Q_{i^{(3)}j^{(3)}}^{m_{\alpha}^{3}}, \quad (\omega_{6})_{ij} = \delta_{i^{(1)}j^{(1)}} \delta_{i^{(2)}j^{(2)}} P_{i^{(3)}j^{(3)}}^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.52)$$

are labeled by two triplets $i = (i^{(1)}, i^{(2)}, i^{(3)})^T$ and $j = (j^{(1)}, j^{(2)}, j^{(3)})^T$, which belong to a general three dimensional lattice Λ_{α}^3 . As already observed for the 3-cycles on $T_{SO(12)}^6$, the wrapping numbers $N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$ can be

- (i) even for all planes, with $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1$,
- (ii) even for all planes, with $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 2$ for one exactly one *h* and in the other two planes $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1$,
- (iii) odd in exactly one plane and $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 2$ in exactly one plane, in which $N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$ is even. In the other planes $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h_{1}}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1$ and
- (iv) even for exactly one plane, where $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h_1}, m_{\alpha}^{h_1}) = 2$ in that plane. In the other two planes $N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$ is odd and $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h_1}) = 1$.

It will turn out to be consistent to choose Λ_{α}^3 as the following: For the $N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$'s given in (i) and (ii), Λ_{α}^3 is given by

$$\Lambda_{\alpha}^{3} = \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} N_{\alpha}^{(h)} \mathbb{Z}},$$
(6.53)

where for cases (iii) and (iv) it will have the more general form

$$\Lambda_{\alpha}^{3} = \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_{\alpha}}, \qquad (6.54)$$

where the lattice Γ_{α} depends on the wrapping numbers: Without loss of generality $N_{\alpha}^{(2)} = 1 \mod 2$ and $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{1}, m_{\alpha}^{1}) = 2$ for case (iii) and $N_{\alpha}^{(1)} = 0 \mod 2$ and $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{1}, m_{\alpha}^{1}) = 2$ for case (iv) is set. Then Γ_{α} is spanned by the basis vectors

$$\left(\frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{2}, N_{\alpha}^{(2)}, 0\right)^{T}, \quad \left(\frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{2}, -N_{\alpha}^{(2)}, 0\right)^{T}, \quad \left(0, 0, N_{\alpha}^{(3)}\right)^{T}$$
(6.55)

for case (iii) and

$$\left(\frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{2}, N_{\alpha}^{(2)}, 0\right)^{T}, \quad \left(\frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{2}, -N_{\alpha}^{(2)}, 0\right)^{T}, \quad \left(0, N_{\alpha}^{(2)}, N_{\alpha}^{(3)}\right)^{T}$$
(6.56)

for case (iv). For other cases of (iii) and (iv) the basis vectors has to be adjusted accordingly.

The Wilson lines break each $U(N_{\alpha})$ gauge group to a U(1) (or $U(N_{\alpha}N_{D6})$ to $U(N_{D6})$ for $N_{D6} \neq 1$). To see that, one needs to observe how a gauge field transforms under the action of the Wilson lines: Let $A \in \mathbf{adj}(U(N_{\alpha}))$ be a gauge field of $U(N_{\alpha})$. Translations along a lattice vectors $\vec{\alpha}_i$, transforms A in the gauge representation as

$$A \to \omega_i A(\omega_i)^{-1}, \qquad (6.57)$$

but due to the compactification A has to be identified with $\omega_i A(\omega_i)^{-1}$, which projects $N_{\alpha} - 1$ degrees of freedom out of A, leaving only one degree of freedom left.

6.2.3 Boundary conditions for bifundamentals

In this section it is investigated how to deduce the boundary conditions from Wilson lines for bifundamental fields. Let $\phi \in (\Box_a, \overline{\Box}_b)$ be a field on the torus, transforming in the bifundamental representation of $U(N_a) \times U(N_b)$:

$$\phi: T^6 \to \mathbb{C}^{N_a \times N_b} \,. \tag{6.58}$$

In the gauge representation ϕ is a $N_a \times N_b$ matrix and its components are denote by ϕ_{k_a,k_b} , where k_a and k_b are triplets of integers belonging to Λ_a^3 and Λ_b^3 as defined in (6.53) and (6.54). Shifting ϕ on the torus

along the lattice vectors $\vec{\alpha}_i$, the components of ϕ transform due to the Wilson lines as the following:

$$\begin{split} \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(y_{1}+1,...) &= e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(1)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_{1})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{1})}} e^{2\pi i \left(k_{a}^{(1)} \frac{n_{a}}{N_{a}^{(1)}} - k_{b}^{(1)} \frac{n_{b}}{N_{b}^{(1)}}\right)} \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(y_{1},...), \qquad (6.59) \\ \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(...,y_{2}+1,...) &= e^{i\pi \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(1)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\bar{K}_{1}w_{1})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{1})} - \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\bar{K}_{2}w_{2})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{2})}\right)} \phi_{k_{a}',k_{b}'}(...,y_{2},...), \\ \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(...,y_{3}+1,...) &= e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_{2})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{2})}} e^{-2\pi i \left(k_{a}^{(2)} \frac{m_{a}^{2}}{N_{a}^{(2)}} - k_{b}^{(2)} \frac{m_{b}^{2}}{N_{b}^{(2)}}\right)} \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(...,y_{3},...), \\ \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(...,y_{4}+1,...) &= e^{i\pi \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\bar{K}_{2}w_{2})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{2})} - \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\bar{K}_{3}w_{3})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{3})}\right)} \phi_{k_{a}'',k_{b}''}(...,y_{4},...), \\ \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(...,y_{5}+1,...) &= e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\bar{K}_{3}w_{3})}{\mathrm{Im}(\bar{K}_{3})}} e^{-2\pi i \left(k_{a}^{(3)} \frac{m_{a}^{3}}{N_{a}^{(3)}} - k_{b}^{(3)} \frac{m_{b}^{3}}{N_{b}^{(3)}}\right)} \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(...,y_{5},...), \\ \phi_{k_{a},k_{b}}(...,y_{6}+1) &= e^{2i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(\bar{K}_{3}w_{3})}{\mathrm{Im}(\bar{K}_{3})}} \phi_{k_{a}'',k_{b}''}(...,y_{6}), \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} = I^{(h)}/N_a^{(h)}N_b^{(h)}$, $k'_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha} + (1, -1, 0)^T$, $k''_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha} + (0, 1, -1)^T$ and $k''_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha} + (0, 0, 2)^T$. One can observe that the Wilson lines shift the indices k_a and k_b by SO(6) root vectors and since there are in total N_{α} inequivalent indices for k_a and N_b inequivalent indices for k_b , the assumption

$$k_a \in \Lambda_a^3, \quad k_b \in \Lambda_b^3, \tag{6.60}$$

with Λ_a^3 and Λ_b^3 defined in (6.53) and (6.54) is consistent.

In [115] bifundamentals of $U(N_a) \times U(N_b)$, with *g.c.d.* $(N_a, N_b) = 1$ on a factorisbale T^6 where discussed and the components of the bifundamentals where labeled by an single index *l*. In the following it is shown that bifundamentals on non factorisable T^6 can be labeled in a similar way by two labels, which are denoted by *l* and δ and belonging to general three dimensional lattices.

Labeling bifundamental states with non coprime (N_a, N_b) on a T^2

Before investigating bifundamentals on a T^6 , they are examined on a T^2 . A bifundamental field $\phi \in (\Box_a, \overline{\Box}_b)$ on a T^2 has in the gauge representation $N_a \times N_b$ components ϕ_{k_a,k_b} , where the indices k_a and k_b are given by

$$k_a \in \{0, 1, ..., N_a - 1\}$$
, and $k_b \in \{0, 1, ..., N_b - 1\}$. (6.61)

In [115], each component was labeled by one index l, where

$$l \in \{0, 1, ..., N_a N_b - 1\}$$
, with $k_{\alpha} = l \mod N_{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in \{a, b\}$, (6.62)

s.t. $\phi_{k_a,k_b} \sim \phi_{l,l}$. This works as long as $g.c.d.(N_a, N_b) = 1$. Let $g.c.d.(N_a, N_b) = d$. Then the equation

$$k_a + sN_a = k_b + tN_b = l, \quad \text{with} \quad s, t \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(6.63)

can only be solved when $k_a - k_b = 0 \mod d$. For

$$k_a - k_b = \delta \mod d \,, \tag{6.64}$$

with $\delta \in \{1, ..., d - 1\}$, however (6.63) can be modified by

$$k_a + sN_a = k_b + \delta + tN_b = l, \qquad (6.65)$$

which is solvable for any given pair of indices (k_a, k_b) and they can be assigned to two indices (δ, l) by

$$k_a = l \mod N_a, \quad k_b + \delta = l \mod N_b, \quad \text{for} \quad k_a - k_b = \delta \mod d, \quad (6.66)$$

with

$$l \in \left\{0, 1, ..., \frac{N_a N_b}{d}\right\}, \quad \delta \in \{0, 1, ..., d-1\}.$$
(6.67)

Wilson lines on the T^2 lead, similar to (6.59), to the boundary conditions for bifundamentals given by

$$\phi_{l,l-\delta}(w+1) = e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(w)}{\operatorname{Im}(\tau)}} e^{2\pi i \left(\frac{n_a k_a}{N_a} - \frac{n_b k_b}{N_b}\right)} \phi_{l,l-\delta}(w) ,$$

$$\phi_{l,l-\delta}(w+\tau) = e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(\tau)}{\operatorname{Im}(\tau)}} \phi_{l+1,l-\delta+1}(w) ,$$

$$(6.68)$$

where $w = y_1 + \tau y_2$, with τ the complex structure modulus for T^2 . Since I_{ab} is a multiple of d^5 , the following translation leads to a trivial phase for ϕ :

$$\phi_{l,l-\delta}(y_1, y_2 + N_a N_b/d) = \phi_{l+\frac{N_a N_b}{d}, l-\delta + \frac{N_a N_b}{d}}(y_1, y_2).$$
(6.69)

Notice that the boundary conditions in (6.68) relates only components with the same value for δ . That motivates to view ϕ_{k_a,k_b} 's with different δ 's as independent and decompose ϕ into d "irreducible subsets" $\phi^{\delta} \subset \phi$, where each subset contains the set of states ϕ_{k_a,k_b} , with the same δ . Each ϕ^{δ} therefore contains $\frac{N_a N_b}{d}$ components and for d = 1, one returns to $\phi^{\delta} = \phi$. The boundary condition for $y_1 \rightarrow y_1 + 1$ in (6.68) can then be expressed in terms of l and δ by

$$\phi_{l,l-\delta}(w) = e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(w)}{\operatorname{Im}(\tau)}} e^{2\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}l + \frac{n_b\delta}{N_b}\right)} \phi_{l,l-\delta}(w) \,. \tag{6.70}$$

Unlike the case where N_a , N_b are coprime, the boundary conditions involve an additional phase depending on δ .

Labeling bifundamental states on a the $T_{SO(12)}^6$

Now the above discussion is generalized in order to label all components of ϕ given in (6.58), which are related by the boundary conditions in (6.59). The gauge indices k_a and k_b of ϕ belong to the lattices

$$k_a \in \frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_a}, \quad k_a \in \frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_b}, \quad \text{with} \quad \Lambda_a, \Lambda_b \in \Lambda_{SO(6)}.$$
 (6.71)

Let Γ_a and Γ_b be spanned by three generators a_i and b_i repsectively:

$$A = \text{span}(a_1, a_2, a_3), \quad B = \text{span}(b_1, b_2, b_3), \quad (6.72)$$

and let Γ_a and Γ_b be sublattices of Γ_d , s.t. all other lattices which contain Γ_a and Γ_b are sublattices of Γ_d . Then the following equation is only solvable for $k_a - k_b \in \Gamma_d$

$$k_a + As = k_b + Bt = l, \quad s, t \in \mathbb{Z}^3,$$
 (6.73)

with

$$A = (a_1, a_2, a_3), \quad B = (b_1, b_2, b_3), \tag{6.74}$$

⁵ Rewriting $I_{ab} = n_a N_b - n_b N_b$, I_{ab} , one can see that $I_a b$ is always a multiple of $g.c.d.(N_a, N_b) = d$.

where A and B are 3×3 matrices, with the columns given by the components of the corresponding basis vectors. Similar to the non coprime case in two dimensions, by introducing another label

$$\delta \in \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_d},\tag{6.75}$$

where $k_a - k_b = \delta \mod \Gamma_d$, the equation (6.73) can be modified by

$$k_a + As = k_b + \delta + Bt = l, \quad s, t \in \mathbb{Z}^3,$$
(6.76)

s.t. it can be solved for any pair (k_a, k_b) , similar to (6.65) in the two dimensional case. The label *l* in (6.76) has to belong to the *SO*(6) lattice, because k_a , k_b , *As*, *Bt* are *SO*(6) vectors for any $s, t \in \mathbb{Z}^3$. For

$$l \in \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO(6)}}}{\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b}, \tag{6.77}$$

any pair (k_a, k_b) , with $k_a - k_b = \delta \mod \Gamma_d$, obeys the relation

$$k_a = l \mod \Gamma_a, \quad k_b + \delta = l \mod \Gamma_b.$$
 (6.78)

The number of states $\#(k_a, k_b)$ of ϕ satisfies the relation⁶

$$\#(k_a, k_b) = \left|\frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_a}\right| \left|\frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_b}\right| = \left|\frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_d}\right| \left|\frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b}\right|, \tag{6.79}$$

hence there is indeed a one to one relation between the pairs (l, δ) and (k_b, k_b) . The boundary conditions in (6.59) reveal, that, analogous to the two dimensional case, only states with the same δ are related by lattice shifts of the ϕ and therefor ϕ can be decomposed into $\left|\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_d}\right|$ independent (or irreducible) subsets $\phi^{\delta} \subset \phi$, with each ϕ^{δ} containing $\left|\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_d \cap \Gamma_b}\right|$ components. Each component in an irreducible subset ϕ^{δ} is labeled by a different *l*. Using the labels δ and *l*, the boundary conditions, generated by $z_1 \rightarrow z_1 + 1$, $z_2 \rightarrow z_2 + 1$ and $z_3 \rightarrow z_3 + 1$, can be expressed as

$$\begin{split} \phi_{l,l-\delta}(y_{1}+1,...,) &= e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(1)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_{1})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{1})}} e^{2\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(1)} l^{(1)} + \frac{n_{b}^{1} \delta^{(1)}}{N_{b}^{(1)}} \right)} \phi_{l,l-\delta}(y_{1},...), \quad (6.80) \\ \phi_{l,l-\delta}(...,y_{3}+1,...,) &= e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_{2})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{2})}} e^{2\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)} l^{(2)} + \frac{n_{b}^{2} \delta^{(2)}}{N_{b}^{(2)}} \right)} \phi_{l,l-\delta}(...,y_{3},...), \\ \phi_{l,l-\delta}(...,y_{5}+1,...,) &= e^{i\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_{3})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{3})}} e^{2\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)} l^{(3)} + \frac{n_{b}^{3} \delta^{(3)}}{N_{b}^{(3)}} \right)} \phi_{l,l-\delta}(...,y_{5},...) \end{split}$$

⁶ See appendix C for a proof.

6.3 Wavefunctions for chiral matter on the T^6

6.3.1 Massless chiral fermions

Let a $U(N_a + N_b + N_c)$ gauge symmetry on the T^6 be broken by the magnetic flux $F = \sum_{h=1}^{3} F_{w_h \overline{w}_h} dw_h d\overline{w}_h$ with

$$F_{w_{1}\overline{w}_{1}} = \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{1})} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{n_{a}^{1}}{N_{a}^{(1)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{a}} & & \\ & \frac{n_{b}^{1}}{N_{b}^{(1)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{b}} & \\ & & \frac{n_{c}^{1}}{N_{c}^{(1)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{c}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.81)$$

$$F_{w_{2}\overline{w}_{2}} = \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{2})} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{m_{a}^{2}}{N_{a}^{(2)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{a}} & & \\ & \frac{m_{b}^{2}}{N_{b}^{(2)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{b}} & \\ & & \frac{m_{c}^{2}}{N_{c}^{(2)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{c}} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$F_{w_{3}\overline{w}_{3}} = \frac{i\pi}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{3})} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{m_{a}^{3}}{N_{a}^{(3)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{a}} & & \\ & \frac{m_{b}^{3}}{N_{b}^{(3)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{b}} & \\ & & \frac{m_{c}^{3}}{N_{c}^{(3)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{c}} \end{pmatrix},$$

to a $U(N_a) \times U(N_b) \times U(N_c)$ symmetry. The Lagrangian for the gauge theory is given in (6.29). The corresponding Lagrangian containing the superpartners Ψ to the bosonic fields A is given by [115]

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{i}{2g^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \overline{\Psi} \Gamma^i D_i \Psi \right\} \,, \tag{6.82}$$

with Γ^i the six Gamma matrices forming the six dimensional Clifford algebra and D_i the covariant derivative. The fields Ψ are fermions on the torus and since they are the superpartners to A, they transforms in the adjoint representation $\mathbf{adj}(U(N_a + N_b + N_c))$. In six dimensions a Dirac spinor contains eight spin states, which are denoted by

$$\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}: T^6 \to \mathbb{C}^{(N_a + N_b + N_c)^2}, \qquad (6.83)$$

where $\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}$ is a state of Ψ in the eight dimensional Dirac spinor respresentation of SO(6), and $\vec{\epsilon} = (\epsilon^{(1)}, \epsilon^{(2)}, \epsilon^{(3)})$, with $\epsilon^{(h)} = \pm 1/2$, denote the eigenvalues under the three Cartan generators of SO(6). The equations of motion from (6.82) for massless spinors Ψ leads to the Dirac equation

$$i\sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(\Gamma^{w_h} D_{w_h} - \Gamma^{\overline{w}_h} D_{\overline{w}_h} \right) \Psi(\vec{z}) = 0.$$
(6.84)

From the Dirac equation (6.84), three differential equations for each of the eight spin states $\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}$ can be deduced:

$$\forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\} \begin{cases} D_h \psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}(\vec{w}) = 0, & \text{for } \epsilon^{(h)} = + \\ D_h^{\dagger} \psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}(\vec{w}) = 0, & \text{for } \epsilon^{(h)} = - \end{cases}$$
(6.85)

where the covariant derivative acts on the fermionic fields as

$$D_h \psi_{\vec{\epsilon}} = \overline{\partial}_h \psi_{\vec{\epsilon}} + \left[A_{\overline{w}_h}, \psi_{\vec{\epsilon}} \right], \tag{6.86}$$

with the components for $A_{\overline{w}_h}$ deduced from the flux (6.81) and are given by

$$A_{\overline{w}_{1}} = -\frac{\pi w_{1}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{1})} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{n_{a}^{1}}{N_{a}^{(1)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{a}} & & \\ & \frac{n_{b}^{1}}{N_{b}^{(1)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{b}} & \\ & & \frac{n_{c}^{1}}{N_{c}^{(1)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{c}} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{\overline{w}_{2}} = -\frac{\pi w_{2}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{2})} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{m_{a}^{2}}{N_{a}^{(2)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{a}} & & \\ & \frac{m_{b}^{2}}{N_{b}^{(2)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{b}} & \\ & & \frac{m_{c}^{2}}{N_{c}^{(2)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{c}} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{\overline{w}_{3}} = -\frac{\pi w_{3}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{3})} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{m_{a}^{3}}{N_{a}^{(3)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{a}} & & \\ & \frac{m_{b}^{3}}{N_{b}^{(3)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{b}} & \\ & & \frac{m_{c}^{3}}{N_{c}^{(3)}} \mathbb{1}_{N_{c}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

By expressing $\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}$ in the gauge representation as

$$\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}} = \begin{pmatrix} A & B & C \\ D & E & F \\ G & H & I \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.87)

with A, B, ..., I being $N_a \times N_{a^-}$, $N_a \times N_{b^-}$,..., $N_c \times N_c$ -dimensional block matrices. Inserting (6.87) into (6.86), we recive

$$\overline{\partial}_{h}A = 0, \quad \overline{\partial}_{h}E = 0, \quad \overline{\partial}_{h}I = 0, \quad \text{for} \quad \epsilon^{(h)} = +,$$

$$\partial_{h}A = 0, \quad \partial_{h}E = 0, \quad \partial_{h}I = 0, \quad \text{for} \quad \epsilon^{(h)} = -,$$
(6.88)

s.t. the components of A, B and C are holomorphic or antiholomprphic in the variables w_h . They correspond to the gaugeginos of $U(N_a)$, $U(N_b)$ and $U(N_c)$ respectively. The off-diagonal blocks have to satsify

$$\left(\overline{\partial}_{h} + \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} w_{h} \right) B = 0, \qquad \left(\overline{\partial}_{h} - \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} w_{h} \right) D = 0, \qquad (6.89)$$

$$\left(\overline{\partial}_{h} + \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} w_{h} \right) G = 0, \qquad \left(\overline{\partial}_{h} - \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} w_{h} \right) C = 0, \qquad (\overline{\partial}_{h} + \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{bc}^{(h)}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} w_{h} \right) F = 0, \qquad \left(\overline{\partial}_{h} - \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{bc}^{(h)}}{2 \mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} w_{h} \right) H = 0, \qquad (6.89)$$

for $\epsilon^{(h)} = +$ and

$$\left(\partial_{h} - \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{2 \operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \overline{w}_{h} \right) B = 0, \qquad \left(\partial_{h} + \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{2 \operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \overline{w}_{h} \right) D = 0, \qquad (6.90)$$

$$\left(\partial_{h} - \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)}}{2 \operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \overline{w}_{h} \right) G = 0, \qquad \left(\partial_{h} + \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)}}{2 \operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \overline{w}_{h} \right) C = 0, \qquad \left(\partial_{h} - \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{bc}^{(h)}}{2 \operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \overline{w}_{h} \right) F = 0, \qquad \left(\partial_{h} + \frac{\pi \tilde{I}_{bc}^{(h)}}{2 \operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \overline{w}_{h} \right) H = 0, \qquad (6.90)$$

for $\epsilon^{(h)} = -$. The following Ansatz for *B* can be made:

$$B \propto \begin{cases} e^{i \frac{\pi I^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_h)} z_h \operatorname{Im}(w_h)}, & \text{for } \epsilon^{(h)} = +, \\ e^{i \frac{\pi I^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_h)} \overline{w}_h \operatorname{Im}(w_h)}, & \text{for } \epsilon^{(h)} = -, \end{cases}$$

$$(6.91)$$

but B diverges for

$$\lim_{\mathrm{Im}(w_h)\to\pm\infty} B = \infty, \quad \text{for} \quad \epsilon^{(h)} = -sign\left(I^{(h)}_{ab}\right). \tag{6.92}$$

That means the block *B* in $\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}$ can only be non vanishing for

$$\vec{\epsilon} = \left(sign\left(I_{ab}^{(1)}\right), sign\left(I_{ab}^{(2)}\right), sign\left(I_{ab}^{(3)}\right)\right)^T .$$
(6.93)

Similar the following ansatz for D can be made

$$D \propto \begin{cases} e^{-i\frac{\pi I_{ab}^{(h)}}{Im(K_{h})}w_{h}Im(w_{h})}, & \text{for } \epsilon^{(h)} = +, \\ e^{-i\frac{\pi I_{ab}^{(h)}}{Im(K_{h})}\bar{z}_{h}Im(w_{h})}, & \text{for } \epsilon^{(h)} = -, \end{cases}$$
(6.94)

with D only non vanishing for

$$\vec{\epsilon} = \left(-sign\left(I_{ab}^{(1)}\right), -sign\left(I_{ab}^{(2)}\right), -sign\left(I_{ab}^{(3)}\right)\right)^T .$$
(6.95)

Without loss of generality it will be focused from now on, on the case where

$$I_{ab}^{(h)} > 0, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\},$$
 (6.96)

and the non vanishing B and D are contained in ψ_{+++} and ψ_{---} respectively. They are given by

$$B = \exp\left(i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} w_{h} \operatorname{Im}(w_{h})\right) \xi^{I_{ab}}(w_{1}, w_{2}, w_{3}), \qquad (6.97)$$
$$D = \exp\left(-i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \overline{w}_{h} \operatorname{Im}(w_{h})\right) \xi^{I_{ba}}(\overline{w}_{1}, \overline{w}_{2}, \overline{w}_{3}), \qquad (6.97)$$

where $\xi^{I_{ab}}$ and $\xi^{I_{ba}}$ are $N_a \times N_b$ and $N_b \times N_a$ matrices respectively. Taking a closer look at the fields *B* and *D*, one can see that they are related by complex conjugation to each other and by defining the chirality

of $\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}$ by the sign of $\epsilon^1 \epsilon^2 \epsilon^3$, *B* and *D* have opposite chiralities. They can be interpret as the field *B* as a bifundamental field $(\Box_a, \overline{\Box}_b)$ of $U(N_a) \times U(N_b)$ and *D* being its conjugate $(\overline{\Box}_a, \Box_b)$. The intersection numbers satisfy the relation

$$\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} + I_{bc}^{(h)} + I_{ca}^{(h)} = 0, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\}$$
(6.98)

and without loss of generality it will be focused from now on, on the case

$$|I_{ab}^{(h)}| + |I_{ca}^{(h)}| = |I_{bc}^{(h)}|, \quad I_{bc}^{(h)} < 0, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\}.$$
(6.99)

Having fixed the signs for the intersection numbers the remaining equations in (6.89) and (6.90) can be solved analogous to *B* and *D* and one receives expressions for the other blocks in $\psi_{\vec{e}}$. Defining

$$\psi^{I_{\alpha\beta}}(w_1, w_2, w_3) = \exp\left(i\pi \sum_{h=1}^3 \frac{\tilde{I}_{\alpha\beta}^{(h)}}{\mathrm{Im}(K_h)} w_h \mathrm{Im}(w_h)\right) \xi^{I_{\alpha\beta}}(w_1, w_2, w_3), \qquad (6.100)$$

the fields C, F, G and H are given by

$$G = C^{\dagger} = \psi^{I_{ca}}(w_1, w_2, w_3), \quad H = F^{\dagger} = \psi^{I_{cb}}(w_1, w_2, w_3), \quad (6.101)$$

with G and H (C and F) being chiral (antichiral) fermions in the bifundamental representation of $U(N_c) \times U(N_a)$ and $U(N_c) \times U(N_b)$ respectively. For the choice, made in (6.99), only the two spin states

$$\psi_{+++} = \begin{pmatrix} A & \psi^{I_{ab}} & 0\\ 0 & E & 0\\ \psi^{I_{ca}} & \psi^{I_{cb}} & I \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{and} \quad \psi_{---} = \begin{pmatrix} A^{\dagger} & 0 & (\psi^{I_{ca}})^{\dagger}\\ (\psi^{I_{ab}})^{\dagger} & E^{\dagger} & (\psi^{I_{cb}})^{\dagger}\\ 0 & 0 & I^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.102}$$

have non vanishing off diagonal blocks. For a different choice of signs in (6.99), the off diagonal blocks of two other spin states $\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}}$, would have non vanishing entries, where $\vec{\epsilon}$ depends on the signs of the intersection numbers similar to (6.93).

6.3.2 Light chiral scalars

Here a closer look a the bosonic fields in (6.29) is taken in order to determine the wavefunctions for chiral scalars. As already mentioned, the states commuting with the vev, belong to the adjoint representation of the unbroken gauge group. The remaining degrees of freedom, remain as bifundamental scalars, which correspond to the superpartners of the chiral fermions $\psi^{I_{ab}}$, $\psi^{I_{cb}}$, $\psi^{I_{ca}}$ and their conjugates. To be more precise, when decomposing the $(N_a + N_b + N_c)^2$ states of an adjoint field $\mathbf{adj} \in U(N_a + N_b + N_c)$ into $N_a \times N_a$, $N_a \times N_b$, etc. blocks similar to (6.87)

$$\Phi_i = \begin{pmatrix} A & B & C \\ D & E & F \\ G & H & I \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.103}$$

the gauge field A_i of the unbroken gauge group takes in that representation the form

$$A_i = \begin{pmatrix} A_i^a & & \\ & A_i^b & \\ & & A_i^c \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.104}$$

where A_i^{α} has $N_{\alpha} \times N_{\alpha}$ components for each $\alpha \in \{a, b, c\}$. A_i indeed commutes with the flux given in (6.81). The action of A_i on Φ_j is given by the commutator

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{i}, \Phi_{j} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{i}^{a}, A \end{bmatrix} & A_{i}^{a}B - BA_{i}^{b} & A_{i}^{a}C - CA_{i}^{c} \\ A_{i}^{b}D - DA_{i}^{a} & \begin{bmatrix} A_{i}^{b}, E \end{bmatrix} & A_{i}^{b}F - FA_{i}^{c} \\ A_{i}^{c}G - GA_{i}^{a} & A_{i}^{c}H - HA_{i}^{b} & \begin{bmatrix} A_{i}^{c}, I \end{bmatrix} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.105)

From (6.105), one can deduce that A, E and I transform in the adjoint of $U(N_a)$, $U(N_b)$ and $U(N_c)$ respectively. But one can further see that the fields B, F and G transform in the bifundamental representation of $U(N_a) \times U(N_b)$, $U(N_b) \times U(N_c)$ and $U(N_c) \times U(N_a)$ respectively, where C, D and H transform in the conjugate representations. That means in order to find wavefunctions for the bifundamentals in Φ , eigenfunctions of the Laplace operator $D^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{6} D_i^2$ have to be found, with D_i the covariant derivative. The square of the Dirac operator is related to the Labplace operator as

$$(i\mathcal{D})^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \underbrace{\left\{ \Gamma^{i}, \Gamma^{j} \right\}}_{2g^{ij}} D_{i}D_{j} + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{i}\Gamma^{j} \underbrace{\left[D_{i}, D_{j} \right]}_{=F_{ij}}$$

$$= D^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{i}\Gamma^{j}F_{ij}.$$
(6.106)

The Clifford algebra, in the basis chosen for (6.81), is given by

$$\left\{\Gamma^{h},\Gamma^{k}\right\} = \frac{4}{A_{h}^{2}}\delta^{w_{h},\overline{w}_{k}},\qquad(6.107)$$

with A_h defined in (6.18). Inserting the flux components from (6.81) into (6.106), one receives

$$(iD)^{2} = D^{2} + 2\sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{F_{w_{h},\overline{w}_{h}}}{A_{h}^{2}}.$$
(6.108)

Since the eigenfunctions for the Dirac operator where already found by $iD\psi_{\vec{\epsilon}} = 0$, the eigenfunctions for the Laplace operator are also known, where their eigenvalues are given by

$$D^{2}\psi^{I_{\alpha\beta}} = \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{2\pi \tilde{I}_{\alpha\beta}^{(h)}}{A_{h}^{2} \text{Im}(K_{h})} \psi^{I_{\alpha\beta}}, \qquad (6.109)$$

s.t. $\psi^{I_{\alpha\beta}}$ are not only solutions to bifundamental fermionic fields, but serves as wavefunctions for bifundamental scalar fields with a mass given by

$$m^{2} = \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{2\pi \tilde{I}_{\alpha\beta}^{(h)}}{A_{h}^{2} \text{Im}(K_{h})}.$$
(6.110)

The mass in (6.110) for the scalars can be related to the masses of the light NS open strings at intersection points of D6-branes [61]. Since the components of $F_{w_h \overline{w}_h}$ where derived by the boundary conditions (6.21), the right term in (6.108) is related to the angles in the complex planes of intersecting D6-branes of the T-dual theory. In order for the two branes to share the same supersymmetry charges on their volume they need to be calibrated by the same calibration phase and due to the condition (4.134) one would expect the right term in (6.108) to vanish for supersymmetric theories [118, 119]. Hence the scalar with vanishing mass for (6.110) corresponds in the intersecting branes picture to the massless NS open string state at intersection points. Analogous to the factorisable torus, the two polarization states of the massless field Φ_i are given by [115]

$$\Phi_{+} = \psi_{+++} \quad \Phi_{-} = \psi_{---} \tag{6.111}$$

with ψ_{+++} and ψ_{---} defined in (6.102).

6.3.3 Massless chiral fields and Wilson lines

Up to now turning on magnetic flux of the form (6.81) in (6.29) and (6.82), led to chiral matter from gauge fields of the unbroken gauge group. The wave functions for the massless (or light) bifundmantals are

$$\psi^{I_{ab}}(w_1, w_2, w_3) = \exp\left(i\pi \sum_{h=1}^3 \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\mathrm{Im}(K_h)} z_h \mathrm{Im}(w_h)\right) \xi^{I_{ab}}(w_1, w_2, w_3), \qquad (6.112)$$

with $\xi^{I_{ab}} \in \mathbb{C}^{N_a \times N_b}$, and the complex conjugate of $\psi^{I_{ab}}$. In section 6.2.3 the discussed showed how bifundamentals transform under Wilson lines, which occur from the compactification lattice. For the wavefunction in (6.112) to be consistent with the compactification, it has to satisfy the boundary conditions (6.59). Applying (6.59) to $\psi^{I_{ab}}$, boundary conditions for $\xi^{I_{ab}}$ can be deduced and are given by:

$$\xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(w_1+1,w_2,w_3) = e^{2\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(1)}l^{(1)} + \frac{n_b^{1,\delta}(1)}{N_b^{(1)}}\right)} \xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.113)$$

$$\xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(w_1 + K_1, w_2 - \tau_2, w_3) = e^{-\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(1)}(2w_1 + K_1) - \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)}(2w_2 - K_2)\right)} \xi_{l',l'-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.114)$$

$$\xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(w_1, w_2 + 1, w_3) = e^{2\pi i \left(\frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)} I^{(2)} + \frac{n_b^2 \delta^{(2)}}{N_b^{(2)}} \right)} \xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.115)$$

$$\xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(w_1, w_2 + K_2, w_3 - \tau_3) = e^{-\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)}(2w_2 + K_2) - \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)}(2w_3 - K_3)\right)} \xi_{l'',l''-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.116)$$

$$\xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(w_1, w_2, w_3+1) = e^{2\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)}l^{(3)} + \frac{n_b^{5\delta^{(3)}}}{N_b^{(3)}}\right)} \xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.117)$$

$$\xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(w_1, w_2, w_3 + 2K_3) = e^{-4\pi i \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)}(w_3 + K_3)} \xi_{l''', l'''-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.118)$$

with $l' = (1, -1, 0)^T$, $l'' = (0, 1, -1)^T$ and $l''' = (0, 0, 2)^T$. The following ansatz solves (6.113), (6.115) and (6.117)

$$\xi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}) = \sum_{\vec{n}\in\mathbb{Z}^3} \exp\left(2\pi i \sum_{h=1}^3 \left(n^{(h)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \varphi^{(h)}\right) w_h\right) \rho_{\vec{n}}\left(l\right) \,, \tag{6.119}$$

with

$$\varphi^{(1)} = \begin{cases} \frac{n_b^h \delta^{(1)}}{N_b^{(1)}}, & \text{for } h = 1\\ -\frac{m_b^h \delta^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}}, & \text{for } h \in \{2, 3\} \end{cases},$$
(6.120)

and $\rho_{\vec{n}}(l)$ a factor independent of the variables \vec{w} . To determine $\rho_{\vec{n}}(l)$, the remaining boundary conditions (6.114), (6.116) and (6.118) are imposed on (6.119). After inserting ξ from (6.119) into the boundary

conditions, comparing the coefficients with equal \vec{n} , one finds the following conditions for $\rho_{\vec{n}}$

$$\frac{\rho_{\vec{n}}(l+(1,-1,0)^{T})}{\rho_{\vec{n}}(l)} = e^{2\pi i \left\{ \left(n^{(1)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(1)}(l^{(1)} + \frac{1}{2}) + \frac{m_{b}^{1}\delta^{(1)}}{N_{b}^{(1)}} \right) K_{1} - \left(n^{(2)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)}(l^{(2)} - \frac{1}{2}) - \frac{m_{b}^{2}\delta^{(2)}}{N_{b}^{(2)}} \right) K_{2} \right\}}{\rho_{\vec{n}}(l)},$$

$$\frac{\rho_{\vec{n}}(l+(0,1,-1)^{T})}{\rho_{\vec{n}}(l)} = e^{2\pi i \left\{ n^{(2)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)}(l^{(2)} + \frac{1}{2}) - \frac{m_{b}^{2}\delta^{(2)}}{N_{b}^{(2)}} \right\} K_{2} - \left(n^{(3)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)}(l^{(3)} - \frac{1}{2}) - \frac{m_{b}^{3}\delta^{(3)}}{N_{b}^{(3)}} \right) K_{3} \right\}}{\rho_{\vec{n}}(l)} = e^{2\pi i \left\{ n^{(3)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)}(l^{(3)} + 1) - \frac{m_{b}^{3}\delta^{(3)}}{N_{b}^{(3)}} \right\} K_{3}}.$$
(6.121)

The above boundary conditions are solved by

$$\rho_{\vec{n}}(l) = \mathcal{N}_{\vec{n}} \exp\left(i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(n^{(h)} + \tilde{I}^{(h)}_{ab} l^{(h)} + \varphi^{(h)}\right)^2 \frac{K_h}{\tilde{I}^{(h)}_{ab}}\right),\tag{6.122}$$

where $N_{\vec{n}}$ is a normalization factor.

6.3.4 Counting numbers of independent zeromodes

In the previous section the zeromodes for of the Dirac and Laplace operator (when the D9-branes wrap cycles with the same calibration phase) we determined. The zeromodes are given by (6.112)

$$\psi^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}) = \exp\left(i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\text{Im}(K_h)} w_h \text{Im}(w_h)\right) \xi^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.123)$$

with the components for ξ given by

$$\xi_{l,l-\delta} = \sum_{\vec{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^3} \mathcal{N}_{\vec{n}} e^{2\pi i \sum_{h=1}^3 \left(\left(n^{(h)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \varphi^{(h)} \right) W_h + \frac{1}{2} \left(n^{(h)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \varphi^{(H)} \right)^2 \frac{K_h}{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}} \right)}$$
(6.124)

and $\varphi^{(h)}$ defined in (6.120). First notice that, since the label *l* admits the identification

$$l \sim l + \lambda$$
, with $\lambda \in \Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$, (6.125)

a transformation of *l* of the form (6.125) must leave the wavefunction invariant. Comparing the coefficients of $\xi_{l,l-\delta}$ with the coefficients of $\xi_{l+\lambda,l+\lambda_{\delta}}$, one finds the relation for the normalization factors are not all independent, but obey the relation

$$\mathcal{N}_{\vec{n}} = \mathcal{N}_{\vec{n}+\vec{q}_{\lambda}}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{q}_{\lambda} = \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(1)}\lambda^{(1)}, \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(2)}\lambda^{(2)}, \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(3)}\lambda^{(3)}\right)^{T}.$$
(6.126)

Inserting the generators of $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$, which are given in appendix D, one finds that vectors \vec{q}_{λ} belong to the following lattice:

•

$$\Lambda_n = \bigotimes_{h=1}^3 \frac{I_{ab}^{(h)}}{d_{ab}^{(h)}} \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (6.127)$$

for the cases (a)-(c) in appendix D,

$$\Lambda_{n} = \operatorname{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{I_{ab}^{(1)}}{2d_{ab}^{(1)}}\\ \frac{I_{ab}^{(2)}}{d_{ab}^{(2)}}\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{I_{ab}^{(1)}}{2d_{ab}^{(1)}}\\ -\frac{I_{ab}^{(2)}}{d_{ab}^{(2)}}\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ \frac{I_{ab}^{(3)}}{d_{ab}^{(3)}} \end{pmatrix}\right)$$
(6.128)

for the cases (d) and (e) in appendix D,

$$\Lambda_{n} = \operatorname{span} \begin{pmatrix} \left(\frac{I_{ab}^{(1)}}{2d_{ab}^{(1)}} \\ I_{ab}^{(2)} \\ d_{ab}^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{I_{ab}^{(1)}}{2d_{ab}^{(1)}} \\ I_{ab}^{(2)} \\ -\frac{I_{ab}^{(2)}}{d_{ab}^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ I_{ab}^{(2)} \\ d_{ab}^{(2)} \\ I_{ab}^{(3)} \\ d_{ab}^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.129)

for the cases (e) in appendix D.

The identification (6.126) implies that the summation index \vec{n} of independent normalization factors belong to the lattice

$$\vec{n} \in \frac{\mathbb{Z}^3}{\Lambda_n} \,. \tag{6.130}$$

Hence $\psi_{l,l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}$ in (6.112) can be decomposed into $\left|\frac{\mathbb{Z}^3}{\Lambda_n}\right|$ independent zero modes:

$$\psi_{l-l-\delta}^{I_{ab}}(\vec{w}) = \sum_{\vec{k} \in \frac{\mathbb{Z}^3}{\Lambda_n}} \mathcal{N}_{\vec{k}} e^{i\pi \sum_{h=1}^3 \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_h)} w_h \operatorname{Im}(w_h)} \sum_{\lambda_{ab} \in \Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b} \chi_{n,k,l,\delta}(\vec{w}), \qquad (6.131)$$

with

$$\chi_{n,k,l,\delta}(\vec{w}) = \exp\left(2\pi i \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(I_{ab}^{(h)} \lambda_{ab}^{(h)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + k^{(h)} + \varphi^{(h)}\right) w_{h}\right)$$
$$\cdot \exp\left(\pi i \left(I_{ab}^{(h)} \lambda_{ab}^{(h)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + k^{(h)} + \varphi^{(h)}\right)^{2} \frac{K_{h}}{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}\right).$$
(6.132)

Notice that wavefunctions with different values for δ are also independent, because they cannot be related by lattice translations. The total number of independent wavefunctions for a bifundamental $(\Box_a, \overline{\Box}_b) \in U(N_a) \times U(N_b)$ is therefore given by the product of the amount of wavefunctions with independent normalization factors with the number of irreducible subsets

$$#(\Box_a, \overline{\Box}_b) = \left| \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_d} \right| \left| \frac{\mathbb{Z}^3}{\Lambda_n} \right| = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^3 I_{ab}^{(h)}, \qquad (6.133)$$

which is exactly the number of families, for chiral matter on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$. Since Γ_a and Γ_b are sublattices of Γ_d , the matrices *A*, *B* from (6.74) can be decomposed into

$$A = DM_a, \quad B = DM_b, \tag{6.134}$$

where $D = (d_1, d_2, d_3)$, with d_i the generators of Γ_d , and M_a and M_b both being integral 3×3 matrices. The following Diophantine equation

$$\mathbb{1}_3 = M_a P - M_b Q \,, \tag{6.135}$$

can be solved by integral matrices $P, Q \in \mathbb{Z}^{3\times 3}$ ⁷. The phase $\varphi^{(h)}$ can be manipulated by adding a zero, the following way

$$\varphi^{(h)} = \varphi^{(h)} + \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} (M_a P \delta)^{(h)} - \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} (M_a P \delta)^{(h)}$$

$$= \begin{cases} -\frac{n_b^h (M_a P \delta)^{(h)} + n_b^h (M_b Q \delta)^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}} + (M_a P \delta)^{(h)}, & \text{for } h = 1 \\ \frac{m_b^h (M_a P \delta)^{(h)} + m_b^h (M_b Q \delta)^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}} + (M_a P \delta)^{(h)}, & \text{for } h \in \{2, 3\} \end{cases},$$
(6.136)

where the relation $\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} = \frac{n_a^h}{N_a^{(h)}} - \frac{n_b^h}{N_b^{(h)}} = -\frac{m_a^h}{N_a^{(h)}} + \frac{m_b^h}{N_b^{(h)}}$ has been used. The term $(M_a P \delta)^{(h)}$ is an integer and can be absorbed in $k^{(h)}$ in $\chi_{n,k,l,\delta}(\vec{w})$. The vectors $M_a P \delta$ and $M_b Q \delta$ are not necessary SO(6) vectors, but since $\delta = M_a P \delta - M_b Q \delta \in \Lambda_{SO(6)}$, the components of $M_a P \delta$ and $M_b Q \delta$ satisfy the relation

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} (M_a P \delta)^{(h)} + (M_b Q \delta)^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2.$$
(6.137)

Therefor the six dimensional vector given by

$$\left((M_a P \delta)^{(1)}, (M_b Q \delta)^{(1)}, (M_a P \delta)^{(2)}, (M_b Q \delta)^{(2)}, (M_a P \delta)^{(3)}, (M_b Q \delta)^{(3)} \right)^T$$
(6.138)

can be identified with SO(12) lattice vectors. Combining the labels $k \in \frac{\mathbb{Z}^3}{\Lambda_n}$ with the δ 's in the exponents of $\chi_{n,k,l,\delta}$ one gets

$$k^{(h)} + \varphi^{(h)} = \begin{cases} \frac{n_b^h(k - M_a P \delta)^{(h)} + n_b^h(k - M_b Q \delta)^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}}, & \text{for } h = 1\\ -\frac{m_b^h(k - M_a P \delta)^{(h)} + m_b^h(k - M_b Q \delta)^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}}, & \text{for } h \in \{2, 3\} \end{cases}.$$
(6.139)

Comparing the expression in (6.139) with (5.57), the numerator on the righthandside of (6.139) can be identified, with components of the label *j*, which where used to label intersection points on $T_{SO(12)}^6$, where the components of the corresponding lattice shift $\vec{t} \in \Lambda_{SO(12)}$ in (5.57) can be identified with

$$t_{1} = k^{(1)} - (M_{a}P\delta)^{(1)}, \quad t_{2} = k^{(1)} - (M_{b}Q\delta)^{(1)}, \quad t_{3} = k^{(2)} - (M_{a}P\delta)^{(2)}, t_{4} = k^{(2)} - (M_{b}Q\delta)^{(2)}, \quad t_{5} = k^{(1)} - (M_{a}P\delta)^{(3)}, \quad t_{6} = k^{(2)} - (M_{b}Q\delta)^{(3)}.$$
(6.140)

An independent zeromode for chiral matter can therefor be expressed by the label j, used for intersection points on the dual theory. On the other hand, if δ and l in (6.78), where defined by

$$k_a - \delta = l \mod \Gamma_a, \quad k_b = l \mod \Gamma_b,$$
 (6.141)

⁷ A proof is given in appendix C

s.t. $k_a - k_b = \delta = \Gamma_d$ still holds, but the δ correction in (6.76), was shifted into k_a , the phases $\varphi^{(h)}$ would be given by

$$\varphi^{(h)} = \begin{cases} \frac{n_a^h \delta^{(h)}}{N_a^{(h)}}, & \text{for } h = 1\\ -\frac{m_a^h \delta^{(h)}}{N_a^{(h)}}, & \text{for } h \in \{2, 3\} \end{cases}$$
(6.142)

and the components of the labels j', denoting independent zeromodes, are related to the label j in (6.139) by

$$N_a^{(h)}j'^{(h)} = N_b^{(h)}j^{(h)}.$$
(6.143)

The wavefunction for independent zeromodes are given by

$$\psi_{l}^{j,l_{ab}}(\vec{w}) = \mathcal{N}^{i,l_{ab}} \exp\left\{i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} w_{h} \mathrm{Im}(w_{h})\right\} \cdot \sum_{\lambda_{ab} \in \Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b}} e^{2\pi i \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(\left[I_{ab}^{(h)} \lambda_{ab}^{(h)} + \bar{I}_{ab}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}}\right] w_{h} + \frac{1}{2} \left(I_{ab}^{(h)} \lambda_{ab}^{(h)} + \bar{I}_{ab}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}}\right)^{2} \frac{K_{h}}{I_{ab}^{(h)}}\right)}.$$
(6.144)

6.3.5 Normalization factor for chiral wavefunctions

In order to get canonical kinetic terms, the zeromodes need to be orthogonal in the way [21, 115]

$$g^{-2} \int_{T^6} \mathrm{d}^6 x \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \psi^{i, I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi^{j, I_{ab}} \right)^\dagger \right\} = \delta_{i, j}, \qquad (6.145)$$

with g a coupling constant. The integral over T^6 can be expressed by integrations over the generators of T^6 by

$$\int_{T^6} d^6 x = 2 \prod_{h=1}^3 A_h^2 Im(K_h) \int_0^1 dy_1 \int_0^1 dy_2 \int_0^1 dy_3 \int_0^1 dy_4 \int_0^1 dy_4 \int_0^1 dy_6 \,. \tag{6.146}$$

The trace over the gauge indices can be expressed by a sum over the index as $l \in \frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b}$

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\psi^{i,I_{ab}}\cdot\left(\psi^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger}\right\} = \sum_{k_{a}\in\frac{\Lambda_{SO}(6)}{\Gamma_{b}},k_{b}\in\frac{\Lambda_{SO}(6)}{\Gamma_{b}}}\psi^{i,I_{ab}}_{k_{a},k_{b}}\cdot\left(\psi^{j,I_{ab}}_{k_{a},k_{b}}\right)^{\dagger} = \sum_{l\in\frac{\Lambda_{SO}(6)}{\Gamma_{a}\cap\Gamma_{b}}}\delta_{\delta_{1},\delta_{2}}\psi^{i,I_{ab}}_{l,l-\delta_{1}}\cdot\left(\psi^{j,I_{ab}}_{l,l-\delta_{2}}\right)^{\dagger}.$$
 (6.147)

In section 6.2.3, boundary conditions relating different gauge indices l via Wilson lines where faced. Applying those boundary conditions to the combined wavefunction $\psi_{l,l-\delta_1}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot (\psi_{l,l-\delta_2}^{j,I_{ab}})^{\dagger}$, one finds that wavefunctions with different l can be identified through the Wilson lines as:

$$\begin{split} \psi_{l,l-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l,l-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger} (...y_{2} + 1, ...) &= \psi_{l',l'-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l',l'-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger} (...y_{2}, ...), \\ \psi_{l,l-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l,l-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger} (...y_{4} + 1, ...) &= \psi_{l'',l''-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l'',l''-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger} (...y_{4}, ...), \\ \psi_{l,l-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l,l-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger} (...y_{6} + 2) &= \psi_{l''',l''-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l'',l''-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger} (...y_{6}), \end{split}$$
(6.148)

with $l' = (1, -1, 0)^T$, $l'' = (0, 1, -1)^T$ and $l''' = (0, 0, 2)^T$. The boundary conditions in (6.148) can be used to relate terms with different *l* in the integral of the trace (6.147), by shifting the domain of integration

the following way:

$$\int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}y_{2} \psi_{l',l'-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l',l'-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger}(\vec{y}) = \int_{1}^{2} \mathrm{d}y_{2} \psi_{l,l-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l,l-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger}(\vec{y})$$
(6.149)

and similar for the directions y_4 and y_6 . By using the relation (6.149), the sum over l can be completely absorbed into the integration by enlarging the domain of integration. For the three types of lattices of $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$, considered in appendix D, one finds that the enlarged domain of integration is given by the unit cell \tilde{C} of the lattice spanned by

$$\vec{v}_1 = (1, 0, 0)^T, \quad \vec{v}_3 = (0, 1, 0)^T, \quad \vec{v}_5 = (0, 0, 1)^T, \quad (6.150)$$

and

(a)

$$\vec{v}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_a^{(1)}N_b^{(1)}}{d^{(1)}}K_1\\ 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_4 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \frac{N_a^{(2)}N_b^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}}K_2\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_6 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ \frac{N_a^{(3)}N_b^{(3)}}{d^{(3)}}K_3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.151)$$

for the cases (a)-(c) for $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$ in appendix D,

(b)

$$\vec{v}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)}N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}}K_{1} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)}N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}}K_{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)}N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}}K_{1} \\ -\frac{N_{a}^{(2)}N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}}K_{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_{6} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(3)}N_{b}^{(3)}}{d^{(3)}}K_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.152)$$

for the cases (d)-(e) for $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$ in appendix D and

(c)

$$\vec{v}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)}N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}}K_{1} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)}N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}}K_{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)}N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}}K_{1} \\ -\frac{N_{a}^{(2)}N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}}K_{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_{6} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)}N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}}K_{2} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(3)}N_{b}^{(3)}}{d^{(3)}}K_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.153)$$

for the case (f) for $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$ in appendix D.

Hence the integral in (6.145) can be reduces to an integration of the term with l = 0 over \tilde{C}

$$\int_{T^6} d^6 x \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \psi^{i, I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi^{j, I_{ab}} \right)^{\dagger} \right\} = 2 \prod_{h=1}^3 A_h^2 \operatorname{Im}(K_h) \int_{\tilde{C}} d^6 y \, F(\vec{y}) \,, \tag{6.154}$$

with

$$F(\vec{w}) =: \delta_{\delta_{1},\delta_{2}} \psi_{0,-\delta_{1}}^{i,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{0,0-\delta_{2}}^{j,I_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger} = \mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}} \mathcal{N}^{j,I_{ab}} e^{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{I_{ab}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} (\operatorname{Im}(w_{h}))^{2}} \sum_{\lambda_{ab} \in \Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b}} \sum_{\rho_{ab} \cap \Gamma_{b}} \sum_{\rho_$$

100
When integrating over y_1 , y_3 and y_5 in (6.145), the integrals given by

$$\int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}y_{2h-1} \exp\left\{2\pi i \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}\left(\lambda_{ab}^{(h)}-\rho_{ab}^{(h)}\right)+\frac{i^{(h)}-j^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}}\right)y_{2h-1}\right\}, \ \forall h \in \{1,2,3\},$$
(6.156)

need to be computed. From the definition of the labels i, j in (6.139), it can be deduced that the non integer part in the term

$$\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \left(\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \rho_{ab}^{(h)} \right) + \frac{i^{(h)} - j^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}}$$
(6.157)

is $\frac{\delta_1^{(h)} - \delta_2^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}}$ and taking the Kronecker delta $\delta_{\delta_1, \delta_2}$ from the trace (6.147) into account, the non integer part vanishes and the term in (6.157) is integer. Hence the integration over y_1, y_3 and y_5 leads to Kronecker deltas implying the conditions

$$\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \left(\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \rho_{ab}^{(h)} \right) + \frac{i^{(h)} - j^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}} = 0, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\}.$$
(6.158)

The integral in (6.154) simplifies to

$$\left(\mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}}\right)^{2} \int_{\tilde{C}} dy_{2} dy_{4} dy_{6} e^{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} (\operatorname{Im}(w_{h}))^{2}} \sum_{\lambda_{ab} \in \Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b}} e^{-4\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \lambda_{ab}^{(h)} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}}\right)} \operatorname{Im}(w_{h})} e^{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \lambda_{ab}^{(h)} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}}\right)^{2}} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})}{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}} = \left(\mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}}\right)^{2} \int_{\tilde{C}} dy_{2} dy_{4} dy_{6} \sum_{\lambda_{ab} \in \Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b}} e^{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \left(\operatorname{Im}(w) + \operatorname{Im}(K_{h}) \lambda_{ab} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})}{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}\right)^{2}}.$$

$$(6.159)$$

Notice that the terms $\text{Im}(K_h)\lambda_{ab}^{(h)}$ in the exponent are actually components of lattice vectors of the lattice spanned by \vec{v}_2 , \vec{v}_4 and \vec{v}_6 in (6.151), (6.152) and (6.153), as can be seen by inserting the generators of $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$, which are presented in appendix D. The sum over λ_{ab} can be absorbed into the integration by enlarging the domain of integration similar to the method, which was used to get rid of the sum over l:

$$\int_{\tilde{C}} dy_2 dy_4 dy_6 \sum_{\lambda_{ab} \in \Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b} \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dy_2 dy_4 dy_6 \sum_{\lambda_{ab} \in \Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b} = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^3 \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_h)}{\mathrm{Im}(K_h)}, \qquad (6.160)$$

where in the last step a change of basis is performed. The change of basis makes the following computations simpler, since the function in (6.159) depends on $Im(w_h)$. The remaining integral in (6.159) are just Gaussian integrals and one receives

$$\frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^{3} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(w_{h})}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} e^{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} \left(\mathrm{Im}(w) + \frac{\tilde{I}^{(h)}}{\tilde{I}_{b}^{(h)}} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(K_{h})}{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}} \right)^{2}} = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^{3} \left(2\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \mathrm{Im}(w_{h}) \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} .$$
(6.161)

Inserting the results into (6.145), the normalization factors need to satisfy

$$g^{-2} \left(\mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}} \mathcal{N}^{j,I_{ab}} \right)^2 \prod_{h=1}^3 A_h^2 \sqrt{\frac{\text{Im}(K_h)}{2\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}} = \delta_{i,j}, \qquad (6.162)$$

which leads to the normalization constant

$$\mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}} = g \prod_{h=1}^{3} \frac{1}{A_h} \left(\frac{2\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}}{\text{Im}(K_h)} \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} .$$
(6.163)

6.4 Yukawa couplings from overlapping wavefunctions

6.4.1 Yukawa couplings from magnetic fluxes

In the previous sections it was discussed how magnetic fluxes on a torus break the gauge symmetry and lead to chiral matter on the T^6 . In this section some results of appendix A in [115] are repeated in order to explain how compactifying a ten dimensional spacetime on a T^6 , with magnetic fluxes on it leads to four dimensional Yukawa couplings. The magnetic fluxes can only be turned on in the internal space in order to preserve Poincare invariance in the uncompact directions. By giving the gauge fields vev's in the internal space, they only break translation invariance in the T^6 and correspond to D boundary conditions in the T-dual theory.

Six dimensions of a 10 dimensional spacetime M^{10} with a U(P) gauge symmetry shall be compactified on a torus

$$M^{10} \to M^4 \times T^6 \,. \tag{6.164}$$

The field content shall be given by gauge vector fields A and gauginos Ψ

$$A_I: M^{10} \to \mathbb{C}^{P \times P}, \quad \Psi_{\vec{\epsilon}} \to \mathbb{C}^{P \times P}, \tag{6.165}$$

which are described by the Lagrangians given in (6.29) and (6.82) for 10 dimensions

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4g^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ F^{IJ} F_{IJ} \right\} + \frac{i}{2g^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \overline{\Psi} \Gamma^I D_I \Psi \right\} \,. \tag{6.166}$$

Here $I, J \in \{0, 1, ..., 9\}$ denote the spacetime indices of M^{10} and F_{IJ} are the components of the field strength tensor. The fermionic part in (6.166) contains the term

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{1}{2g^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \overline{\Psi} \Gamma^I \left[A_I, \Psi \right] \right\}, \qquad (6.167)$$

which leads to Yukawa couplings after turning on vev's in the diagonal elements of A_I . As already discussed in section 6.3.1, the gauge fields A_I and $\psi_{\vec{e}}$ decompose into gauge fields of the unbroken gauge group and scalars and fermions in bifundamental representations. Let A and Ψ be expanded in the basis U^a , e_{ab} as in (6.30). The off-diagonal elements of A and Ψ are denoted by W_{ab} and χ_{ab} . Then the term containing the off-diagonal elements in (6.167) is given by

$$\frac{1}{2g^2} \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\overline{\chi}_{cb} \Gamma_I\left[W_{ca}^I, \chi_{ab}\right]\right\} \subset \mathcal{L}.$$
(6.168)

and describes triliner couplings of chiral fields. Decomposing W_{ab}^{I} and χ_{ab} into eigenmodes of the Dirac

and Laplace operator $D_6 = \Gamma^i D_i$ and $\Delta_6 = D_i D^i$ of the internal space, such as

$$\chi^{ab}(x^{I}) = \sum_{n} \eta_{n}^{ab}(x^{\mu}) \otimes \psi_{n}^{ab}(x^{i}), \qquad (6.169)$$
$$W^{ab}_{J}(x^{I}) = \sum_{n} \varphi_{n,J}^{ab}(x^{\mu}) \otimes \phi_{n,J}^{ab}(x^{i}),$$

with

$$i \mathcal{D}_{6} \psi_{n}^{\ ab} = m_{n} \psi_{n}^{\ ab}, \qquad (6.170)$$
$$\Delta_{6} \phi_{n,J}^{\ ab} = M_{n}^{2} \phi_{n,J}^{\ ab},$$

where m_n and M_n^2 are the corresponding masses for the Kaluza-Klein modes. Only zeromodes are considered, because the compactification radii of the torus are assumed to be very small and the Kaluza-Klein momenta therefor to be very high. It is further imposed that the magnetic flux is contained on D9-branes, wrapping calibrated cycles on the torus, s.t. a massless scalar is contained in the chiral spectrum. Therefore, for the low energy spectrum in M^4 , only the terms containing the zeromodes in (6.168) are relevant and by integrating over the internal space, one gets the Yukawa couplings Y_{ijk} of the form [21, 115]

$$Y_{ijk} = \frac{1}{g^2} \int_{T^6} d^6 x \left(\psi_i^a\right)^{\dagger} \Gamma^m \phi_{j,m}^b \psi_k^c f_{abc} \,. \tag{6.171}$$

 $f_{abc} = \text{Tr} \{T_a, [T_b, T_c]\}\$ are the structure constants with $\{T_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in \{a,b,c\}}\$ the generators of the gauge group and i, j, k denote independent zeromodes. In sections 6.3.1 and 6.3.2, the wavefunctions for the zeromodes ψ_0 and ϕ_0 where computed, and in section 6.3.4, the zeromodes where decomposed into I_{ab} independent zeromodes. Inserting for Ψ and A in (6.167) the results from 6.3.1 and 6.3.2 for the spin and polarization states $\psi_{\vec{e}}$ and Φ_{\pm} and integrating over the internal space, one gets the corresponding terms to (6.168), which are

$$\frac{1}{g^2} \int_{T^6} d^6 x \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \psi_{+++} \left[\Phi_{-}, \psi_{+++} \right] \right\} , \qquad (6.172)$$

and its CPT conjugate. The state ψ_{+++} and Φ_{-} contain the normalizable wavefunctions for the choice of signs made in (6.99) for \tilde{I}_{ab} , \tilde{I}_{bc} , \tilde{I}_{ca} . By inserting the results for ψ_{+++} and Φ_{-} into (6.172), one gets for the Yukawa couplings the following integral over overlapping wavefunctions :

$$Y_{ijk} = \frac{1}{g^2} \int_{T^6} d^6 x \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \psi^{j, I_{ca}} \cdot \psi^{j, I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi^{k, I_{cb}} \right)^{\dagger} \right\},$$
(6.173)

where *i*, *j*, *k* denote independent zeromodes.

6.4.2 Computing Yukawa couplings

In this section the expressions from (6.144) are inserted into (6.173) and the integral is computed. The result gives the Yukawa couplings Y_{ijk} for the three chiral fields $\psi^{j,I_{ca}}$ and $\psi^{k,I_{cb}}$.

Domain of integration

First the domain of integration in (6.173) has to be specified. The fundamental domain of the T^6 can be deduced from the moduli, specified in (6.18) and is given by the fundamental cell *C* of a lattice spanned

by the vectors

$$\vec{v}_1 = (1, 0, 0)^T$$
, $\vec{v}_2 = (K_1, -K_2, 0)^T$, $\vec{v}_3 = (0, 1, 0)^T$, (6.174)
 $\vec{v}_4 = (0, K_2, -K_3)^T$, $\vec{v}_5 = (0, 0, 1)^T$, $\vec{v}_6 = (0, 0, 2K_3)^T$.

The integration in (6.173) can be expressed by

$$\int_{T^6} d^6 x = (A_1 A_2 A_3)^2 \int_C d^6 x = 2 \prod_{h=1}^3 A_h^2 \operatorname{Im}(K_h) \int_0^1 dy_1 \int_0^1 dy_2 \dots \int_0^1 dy_6, \qquad (6.175)$$

where the factor $2 \prod_{h=1}^{3} A_h^2 \text{Im}(K_h)$ is the determinant of the Jacobi-matrix from the change of basis. The trace in (6.173), taken over the gauge indices, can be expressed by the sum over a single summation index *l*, where *l* belongs to the lattice $\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \Gamma_c} < \text{as}$

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\psi^{j,I_{ca}}\cdot\psi^{j,I_{ab}}\cdot\left(\psi^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger}\right\} = \sum_{k_{a}\in\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_{a}}}\sum_{k_{b}\in\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_{b}}}\sum_{k_{c}\in\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_{c}}}\psi^{j,I_{ca}}_{k_{c},k_{a}}\cdot\psi^{j,I_{ab}}_{k_{a},k_{b}}\cdot\left(\psi^{k,I_{cb}}_{k_{c},k_{b}}\right)^{\dagger}$$
$$= \sum_{l\in\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_{a}\cap\Gamma_{b}\cap\Gamma_{c}}}\delta_{\delta_{ab}+\delta_{ca},\delta_{cb}}\psi^{j,I_{ca}}_{l,l-\delta_{ca}}\cdot\psi^{j,I_{ab}}_{l-\delta_{ca},l-\delta_{ca}-\delta_{ab}}$$
$$\cdot\left(\psi^{k,I_{cb}}_{l-\delta_{ca}-\delta_{ab}+\delta_{cb},l-\delta_{ca}-\delta_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger}$$
(6.176)

The relations between the labels *i*, *j*, *k* and the parameters for the phases δ_{ab} , δ_{ca} , δ_{cb} are given by (6.139). Notice that for the wavefunction $\psi_{k_c,k_b}^{k,I_{cb}}$, the parameter $k_c - k_b = \delta_{cb}$ is shifted into the first index of the matrix elements of $\phi^{k,I_{cb}}$ as in (6.141]), s.t. $\phi_{k_c,k_b}^{k,I_{cb}} = \phi_{l-\delta_{cb},l}^{k,I_{cb}}$, with

$$k_c - \delta_{cb} = l \mod \Gamma_c$$
, $k_b = l \mod \Gamma_b$, with $k_c - k_b = \delta_{cb} \mod \Gamma_{d_{cb}}$. (6.177)

This corresponds to relabeling k by the components $\frac{N_b^{(h)}}{N_c^{(h)}}k^{(h)}$ as mentioned in (6.143). The choice of (6.177) will later turn out to be useful. Applying the boundary conditions from (6.59) to the overlapping wavefunction, one finds that $\psi_{k_c,k_a}^{j,l_{ca}} \cdot \psi_{k_a,k_b}^{j,l_{cb}} \cdot (\psi_{k_b,k_c}^{k,l_{cb}})^{\dagger}(\vec{w}), \forall l$ with definite *i*, *j*, *k*, get identified on the torus

$$\begin{split} \psi_{k_{c},k_{a}}^{j,I_{ca}}\psi_{k_{a},k_{b}}^{j,I_{ab}}\left(\psi_{k_{b},k_{c}}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger}\left(...,y_{2}+1,...\right) &= \psi_{k_{c}',k_{a}'}^{j,I_{ca}}\psi_{k_{a}',k_{b}'}^{j,I_{ab}}\left(\psi_{k_{b}',k_{c}'}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger}\left(...,y_{2},...\right), \\ \psi_{k_{c},k_{a}}^{j,I_{ab}}\psi_{k_{a},k_{b}}^{j,I_{ab}}\left(\psi_{k_{b},k_{c}}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger}\left(...,y_{4}+1,...\right) &= \psi_{k_{c}'',k_{a}''}^{j,I_{ab}}\psi_{k_{a}'',k_{b}''}\left(\psi_{k_{b}'',k_{c}''}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger}\left(...,y_{4},...\right), \\ \psi_{k_{c},k_{a}}^{j,I_{ab}}\psi_{k_{a},k_{b}}^{j,I_{ab}}\left(\psi_{k_{b},k_{c}}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger}\left(...,y_{6}+1\right) &= \psi_{k_{c}''',k_{a}'''}^{j,I_{ab}}\psi_{k_{a}''',k_{b}'''}\left(\psi_{k_{b}'',k_{c}'''}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger}\left(...,y_{6}\right), \end{split}$$

$$\tag{6.178}$$

where $k'_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha} + (1, -1, 0)^T$, $k''_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha} + (0, 1, -1)^T$ and $k''_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha} + (0, 0, 2)^T$ and the relation (6.98) has been used. These boundary conditions can be used to simplify the integral in (6.173), by shifting the domain of integration in (6.173) for each term in the trace, in such a way that each *l* for the terms in (6.176) is shifted to l = 0. That way it only needs to be integrated one term of (6.176) over an enlarged domain of integration

$$\int_{C} d^{6}y \sum_{l \in \frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b} \cap \Gamma_{c}}} \delta_{\delta_{ab} + \delta_{ca}, \delta_{cb}} \psi_{l, l - \delta_{ca}}^{j, l_{ca}} \cdot \psi_{l - \delta_{ca}, l - \delta_{ca} - \delta_{ab}}^{j, l_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{l - \delta_{ca} - \delta_{ab} + \delta_{cb}, l - \delta_{ca} - \delta_{ab}}\right)^{\dagger} \\
= \int_{\tilde{C}} d^{6}y \, \delta_{\delta_{ab} + \delta_{ca}, \delta_{cb}} F_{i, j, k}(\vec{y}),$$
(6.179)

with

$$F_{i,j,k}(\vec{y}) =: \psi_{0,-\delta_{ca}}^{j,I_{ca}} \cdot \psi_{-\delta_{ca},-\delta_{ca}-\delta_{ab}}^{j,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{-\delta_{ab}-\delta_{ca}+\delta_{cb},-\delta_{ca}-\delta_{ab}}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger}$$
(6.180)

where \tilde{C} is now a bigger domain of integration and depends on the lattice $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$. In appendix D three types of lattices for $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$ are discussed. The enlarged domain of integration \tilde{C} is given by the unit cells of the lattice spanned by the vectors \vec{v}_1 , v_3 , v_5 as in (6.174) and

$$\vec{v}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} N_{abc}^{(1)} K_1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_4 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ N_{abc}^{(2)} K_2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_6 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ N_{abc}^{(3)} K_3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.181)$$

for $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$ given in (D.12),

$$\vec{v}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{abc}^{(1)}K_{1}}{2} \\ N_{abc}^{(2)}K_{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{abc}^{(1)}K_{1}}{2} \\ N_{abc}^{(2)}K_{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_{6} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ N_{abc}^{(3)}K_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.182)$$

for $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$ given in (D.13) and

$$\vec{v}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{abc}^{(1)}K_{1}}{2} \\ N_{abc}^{(2)}K_{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{abc}^{(1)}K_{1}}{2} \\ N_{abc}^{(2)}K_{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{v}_{6} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ N_{abc}^{(2)}K_{2} \\ N_{abc}^{(3)}K_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.183)$$

for $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$ given in (D.14), where $N_{abc}^{(h)} = \frac{N_a^{(h)} N_b^{(h)} N_c^{(h)}}{d_{abc}^{(h)}}$ was defined. The integration over the directions of \vec{v}_2 , \vec{v}_4 , \vec{v}_6 is then given by

$$l_1 = (N_{abc}^{(1)}, N_{abc}^{(1)}, N_{abc}^{(1)}/2)^T, \quad l_2 = (0, N_{abc}^{(2)}, N_{abc}^{(2)}/2)^T, \quad l_3 = (0, 0, N_{abc}^{(3)}/2)^T, \quad (6.184)$$

for \tilde{C} given by (6.181),

$$l_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} N_{abc}^{(1)}/2 \\ N_{abc}^{(1)}/2 + N_{abc}^{(2)} \\ N_{abc}^{(1)}/4 + N_{abc}^{(2)}/2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad l_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} N_{abc}^{(1)}/2 \\ N_{abc}^{(1)}/2 - N_{abc}^{(2)} \\ N_{abc}^{(1)}/4 - N_{abc}^{(2)}/2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad l_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ N_{abc}^{(3)}/2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.185)$$

for \tilde{C} given by (6.182) and

$$l_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} N_{abc}^{(1)}/2 \\ N_{abc}^{(1)}/2 + N_{abc}^{(2)} \\ N_{abc}^{(1)}/4 + N_{abc}^{(2)}/2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad l_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} N_{abc}^{(1)}/2 \\ N_{abc}^{(1)}/2 - N_{abc}^{(2)} \\ N_{abc}^{(1)}/4 - N_{abc}^{(2)}/2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad l_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ N_{abc}^{(2)} \\ N_{abc}^{(2)} + N_{abc}^{(3)}/2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.186)$$

for \tilde{C} given by (6.183). It can be verified that the components of l_i are indeed integer and the integration of $F_{i,j,k}$ over \tilde{C} indeed covers all terms in (6.176), by determining whether N_{abc} is even or odd for $N_{\alpha}^{(h)}$ even or odd and $g.c.d.(N_{\alpha}^h, m_{\alpha}^h)$ 1 or 2 from the definitions in appendix D.

Integrating overlapping wavefunctions

In this section the integration given in (6.179) is computed. Inserting the expressions for the wavefunctions and using the relation (6.98), one gets the following expression for $F_{i,j,k}$:

$$\begin{split} \psi_{0,-\delta_{ca}}^{j,I_{ca}} \cdot \psi_{-\delta_{ca},-\delta_{ca}-\delta_{ab}}^{j,I_{ab}} \cdot \left(\psi_{0,-\delta_{cb}}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger} (\vec{w}) &= \\ \mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}} \mathcal{N}^{j,I_{ca}} \mathcal{N}^{k,I_{cb}} \exp\left\{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} \left(\mathrm{Im}(w_{h})\right)^{2}\right\} \sum_{\lambda_{ab} \in \Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b}} \sum_{\lambda_{ca} \in \Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{a}} \sum_{\lambda_{cb} \in \Gamma_{c} \cap \Gamma_{b}} \\ \cdot e^{2\pi i \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left\{ \left(\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} (\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)} \lambda_{ca}^{(h)} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{N_{a}^{(h)}} \right) w_{h} - \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} \delta_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right) \overline{w}_{h} \right\}} \\ \cdot e^{\pi i \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left\{ \left[\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} (\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{j^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right]^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{\kappa_{a}^{(h)}} - \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} - \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right]^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{\kappa_{a}^{(h)}} - \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right]^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{ca}^{(h)}} - \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right]^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{ca}^{(h)}} - \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right]^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} - \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right]^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} + \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right]^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} + \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{b}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} + \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} + \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right]^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} + \left(\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} (\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)}) + \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} \right)^{2} \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} + \frac{\kappa_{h}}{r_{cb}^{(h)}} + \frac{\kappa_{h}$$

Taking a closer look at the following term

$$\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \left(\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)} \right) + \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)} \lambda_{ca}^{(h)} - \tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} \left(\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)} \right) + \frac{i^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{N_a^{(h)}} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}},$$
(6.188)

which is a factor in the exponent of the term depending on y_1 , y_3 and y_5 , one finds that, when the Kronecker delta $\delta_{\delta_{ca}+\delta_{ab},\delta_{cb}}$ from (6.176) is taken into account, the expression in (6.188) is integer $\forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\}^8$. Therefor the integrals over y_1 , y_3 and y_5 can be replaced by the following Kronecker deltas

$$\int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}y_{2h-1} \, \mathrm{e}^{2\pi i \left\{ \tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \left(\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)} \right) + \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)} \lambda_{ca}^{(h)} - \tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} \left(\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)} \right) + \frac{i}{N_{b}^{(h)}} + \frac{j}{N_{a}^{(h)}} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \right\} y_{2h-1}}$$

$$= \delta_{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}} \left(\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)} \right) + \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)} \lambda_{ca}^{(h)} - \tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} \left(\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)} - \delta_{ab}^{(h)} \right) + \frac{j}{N_{b}^{(h)}} + \frac{j}{N_{b}^{(h)}} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \cdot \right]$$

$$(6.190)$$

They lead to the conditions

$$\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \left(\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)} \right) + \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)} \lambda_{ca}^{(h)} - \tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} \lambda_{cb}^{(h)} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{N_a^{(h)}} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}} = 0, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\},$$
(6.191)

⁸ The terms $\tilde{I}_{\alpha\beta}^{(h)} \lambda_{\alpha\beta}^{(h)}$ are integers $\forall \lambda_{\alpha\beta} \in \Gamma_{\alpha} \cap \Gamma_{\beta}$, with $\alpha, \beta \in \{a, b, c\}$ as can be seen by inserting the generators of $\Gamma_{\alpha} \cap \Gamma_{\beta}$, which are listed in appendix D, for $\lambda_{\alpha\beta}$. According to (5.57) and (6.177) the non integer part of the term $\frac{i^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{N_a^{(h)}} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_c^{(h)}}$ is given by $\frac{n_b^h \delta_{\alpha b}^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}} + \frac{n_b^h \delta_{c b}^{(h)}}{N_c^{(h)}} - \frac{n_b^h \delta_{c b}^{(h)}}{N_c^{(h)}}$. By applying the condition $\delta_{ca} + \delta_{ab} = \delta_{cb}$ from the Kronecker delta in (6.176), the potentially non integer term in (6.188) vanishes

$$-\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)}\delta_{ca}^{(h)} + \frac{n_b^{(h)}}{N_b^{(h)}}\delta_{ab}^{(h)} + \frac{n_a^{(h)}}{N_a^{(h)}}\delta_{ca}^{(h)} - \frac{n_c^{(h)}}{N_c^{(h)}}\delta_{cb}^{(h)} + \tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}\delta_{cb}^{(h)} = 0, \quad \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\}.$$
(6.189)

which are three Diophantine equations, similar to those ee already encountered in section 5.3.2. There the Diophantine equations contained the conditions for D6-branes to wrap 3-cycles forming closed triangles. Apparently the condition for open string instantons wrapping triangles on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$, corresponds to in the dual theory to the trace over the zero modes. In order to solve (6.191), the following relabeling of the indices *i*, *j*, *k* is performed, similar to (5.28),

$$i^{(h)} \to \frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} I_{cb}^{(h)}, \quad j^{(h)} \to \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}} I_{ba}^{(h)}, \quad k^{(h)} \to \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}} I_{ac}^{(h)}.$$
 (6.192)

Solutions to the Diophantine equations in (6.191) can be given by

$$\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} = N_{abc}^{(h)} p^{(h)} + N_a^{(h)} N_b^{(h)} M_c^{(h)} q^{(h)} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_a^{(h)}} N_b^{(h)} + \delta_{ca} ,$$

$$\lambda_{ca}^{(h)} = N_{abc}^{(h)} p^{(h)} + N_a^{(h)} M_b^{(h)} N_c^{(h)} q^{(h)} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_c^{(h)}} N_a^{(h)} ,$$

$$\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} = N_{abc}^{(h)} p^{(h)} + M_a^{(h)} N_b^{(h)} N_c^{(h)} q^{(h)} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{d_b^{(h)}} N_c^{(h)} + \delta_{ca} + \delta_{ab} ,$$

(6.193)

where *p* and *q* belong to three dimensional lattices $\Lambda_p^3 \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^3$ and $\Lambda_q^3 \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^3$, which allow the components of λ_{ab} , λ_{ca} and λ_{cb} in (6.193) to be in accordance with the lattices $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$, $\Gamma_c \cap \Gamma_a$ and $\Gamma_c \cap \Gamma_b$. Inserting the solutions into the overlapping wavefunctions in (6.187), one receives

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} dy_{1} dy_{3} dy_{5} \psi_{0,-\delta_{ca}}^{j,I_{ca}} \cdot \psi_{-\delta_{ca},-\delta_{ca}-\delta_{ab}}^{j,I_{cb}} \cdot \left(\psi_{0,-\delta_{cb}}^{k,I_{cb}}\right)^{\dagger} (\vec{y}) = \mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}} \mathcal{N}^{j,I_{ca}} \mathcal{N}^{k,I_{cb}}$$

$$\cdot \sum_{p \in \Lambda_{p}^{3}} \sum_{q \in \Lambda_{q}^{3}} e^{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{I_{cb}^{(h)}}{\mathrm{Im}(r_{h})} \left[\mathrm{Im}(w_{h}) + N_{abc}^{(h)} \mathrm{Im}(K_{h})p^{(h)} + \left(I_{cb}^{(h)} M_{a}^{(h)}q^{(h)} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \frac{I_{cb}^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{c}^{(h)}} \frac{I_{cb}^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}}\right]^{2}}$$

$$\cdot \exp\left\{i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}I_{cb}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}I_{ca}^{(h)}} + 2q^{(h)}\right)^{2} K_{h}|I_{ab}^{(h)}I_{ca}^{(h)}I_{cb}^{(h)}|\right\} =: H_{ijk}(\mathrm{Im}(\vec{w})).$$
(6.194)

As already mentioned the summation indices p and q must be chosen s.t. the components $\lambda_{ab}^{(h)}$, $\lambda_{ca}^{(h)}$ and $\lambda_{cb}^{(h)}$ from (6.193) belong to vectors of the $\Lambda_{S0(6)}$ lattice. First the lattice Λ_p^3 shall be determined: When the components of p satisfy

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} N_{abc}^{(h)} p^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2.$$
(6.195)

it is guaranteed that the terms ins (6.193) depending on p do not spoil the SO(6) structure of the λ 's. From (6.195) it follows that as long as $N_{abc}^{(h)}$ is even, which means at least $N_a^{(h)}$, $N_b^{(h)}$ or $N_c^{(h)}$ is even, the component $p^{(h)}$ is independent from the components of p of the other planes. But when $N_{abc}^{(h)}$ is odd, either $p^{(h)}$ has to be even or $N_{abc}^{(h')}p^{(h')}$ in a different plane h' has to be odd too. Hence the lattice for Λ_p^3 depends on Γ_a , Γ_b and Γ_c , and for the cases considered in appendix D, one finds that Λ_p^3 is spanned by the following generators

(i)
$$\rho_1 = (1, 0, 0)^T$$
, $\rho_2 = (0, 1, 0)^T$, $\rho_3 = (0, 0, 1)^T$ when $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$ is given by (D.12),

(ii)
$$\rho_1 = (1/2, 1, 0)^T$$
, $\rho_2 = (1/2, -1, 0)^T$, $\rho_3 = (0, 0, 1)^T$ when $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$ is given by (D.13) and

(iii)
$$\rho_1 = (1/2, 1, 0)^T$$
, $\rho_2 = (1/2, -1, 0)^T$, $\rho_3 = (0, 1, 1)^T$ when $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$ is given by (D.14).

Notice that the vectors given by the components $N_{abc}^{(h)}\rho_i^{(1)}$, with $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, are exactly the lattice vectors \vec{v}_2 , \vec{v}_4 and \vec{v}_6 spanning the lattice of \tilde{C} , which are presented in (6.181), (6.182) and (6.183). Therefore, the shift $p \to p + \rho_i$ in the term

$$\int_{\tilde{C}} dy_2 dy_4 dy_6 \exp\left\{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^3 \frac{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}}{\mathrm{Im}(K_h)} \left(\mathrm{Im}(w_h) + N_{abc}^{(h)} p^{(h)} + c_{i,k}^h(q)\right)^2\right\},\qquad(6.196)$$

with

$$c_{i,k}^{h}(q) =: \left(I_{cb}^{(h)} M_{a}^{(h)} q^{(h)} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{N_{b}^{(h)}} \frac{I_{cb}^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{N_{c}^{(h)}} \frac{I_{ca}^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}} \right) \frac{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})}{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}},$$
(6.197)

can be replaced by a shifting the domain of integration by \vec{v}_{2i} to the neighbouring unit cell $\tilde{C} + \vec{v}_{2i}$ just next to \tilde{C} . That way the whole sum over $p \in \Lambda_p^3$ can be absrobed into the integration, by enlarging the domain of integration of y_2 , y_4 , y_6 to \mathbb{R}^3

$$\sum_{p \in \Lambda_p^3} \int_{\tilde{C}} dy_2 dy_4 dy_6 \exp\left\{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^3 \frac{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_h)} \left(\operatorname{Im}(w_h) + N_{abc}^{(h)} p^{(h)} + c_{i,k}^h(q)\right)^2\right\}$$
(6.198)
= $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dy_2 dy_4 dy_6 \exp\left\{-2\pi \sum_{h=1}^3 \frac{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_h)} \left(\operatorname{Im}(w_h) + N_{abc}^{(h)} p^{(h)} + c_{i,k}^h(q)\right)^2\right\}\Big|_{p=\binom{0}{0}}$

Since after the integration over y_1 , y_3 and y_5 , the integrand in (6.194) only depends on $\text{Im}(w_h)$ it will be helpful to rewrite the remaining integration as

$$\int dy_2 dy_4 dy_6 = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^3 \int \frac{\text{Im}(dw_h)}{\text{Im}(K_h)} \,. \tag{6.199}$$

After having absorbed the sum over p into the integration, as in (6.198), the integral in (6.176) becomes

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} dy_{2} dy_{4} dy_{6} \ H_{i,j,k}(\operatorname{Im}(\vec{w})) = \mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}} \mathcal{N}^{j,I_{ca}} \mathcal{N}^{k,I_{cb}} \sum_{q \in \Lambda_{q}^{3}} \\ &\cdot \exp\left\{ i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left\{ \frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)} I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}} + 2q^{(h)} \right\}^{2} K_{h} |I_{ab}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}| \right\} \\ &\cdot \frac{1}{2} \prod_{h=1}^{3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(dw_{h})}{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \exp\left\{ -2\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \frac{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}}{\operatorname{Im}(K_{h})} \left(\operatorname{Im}(w_{h}) + c_{i,k}^{h}(q)\right)^{2} \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{N}^{i,I_{ab}} \mathcal{N}^{j,I_{ca}} \mathcal{N}^{k,I_{cb}} \prod_{h=1}^{3} \left(2\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)} \operatorname{Im}(K_{h}) \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{q \in \Lambda_{q}^{3}} \cdot e^{i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}} + 2q^{(h)} \right)^{2} K_{h} |I_{ab}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}} , \end{split}$$

108

where in the last step the Gaussian integrals where computed. After having evaluated the integration in (6.173) and inserting the normalization factors, the Yukawa couplings are given by the expression

$$Y_{ijk} = g \prod_{h=1}^{3} A_{h}^{-1} \left(\frac{2}{\mathrm{Im}(K_{h})} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)}}{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}} \right)^{1/4} \sum_{q \in \Lambda_{q}^{3}} e^{i\pi \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)} I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}} + 2q^{(h)} \right)^{2} K_{h} |I_{ab}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}}|.$$
(6.200)

Selection rules for summation index

The Yukawa couplings from (6.200), contain the sum over the summation index $q \in \Lambda_q^3$, where Λ_q^3 still has not been specified. By taking linear combinations of the equations (6.193), the equations can be made independent of $p^{(h)}$:

$$\lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \lambda_{ca}^{(h)} - \delta_{ca}^{(h)} = I_{bc}^{(h)} N_{a}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}} N_{b}^{(h)} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}} N_{a}^{(h)} , \qquad (6.201)$$

$$\lambda_{ca}^{(h)} - \lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \delta_{cb}^{(h)} = I_{ba}^{(h)} N_{c}^{(h)} l^{(h)} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_{c}^{(h)}} N_{a}^{(h)} - \frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} N_{c}^{(h)} ,$$

$$\lambda_{cb}^{(h)} - \lambda_{ab}^{(h)} - \delta_{cb}^{(h)} + \delta_{ca}^{(h)} = I_{ac}^{(h)} N_{b}^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{d_{b}^{(h)}} N_{c}^{(h)} - \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_{a}^{(h)}} N_{b}^{(h)} ,$$

where $2q^{(h)} = "l^{(h)}$ was defined. Since the vectors λ_{ab} , λ_{ca} , λ_{cb} , δ_{ca} and λ_{cb} belong to the *SO*(6) lattice, the sum of their components must always be even. Therefor *l* has to satisfy the conditions

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} I_{bc}^{(h)} N_a^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_a^{(h)}} N_b^{(h)} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_c^{(h)}} N_a^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2,$$

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} I_{ba}^{(h)} N_c^{(h)} l^{(h)} - \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_c^{(h)}} N_a^{(h)} - \frac{i^{(h)}}{d_b^{(h)}} N_c^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2,$$

$$\sum_{h=1}^{3} I_{ac}^{(h)} N_b^{(h)} l^{(h)} + \frac{i^{(h)}}{d_b^{(h)}} N_c^{(h)} - \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_a^{(h)}} N_b^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2,$$

(6.202)

and comparing (6.202) with the selection rules from (5.78) reveals that the the summation index *l* from (6.202) and the instanton winding number from (5.78) both belong to the same lattice Λ^3 .

6.4.3 Quantum contribution to Yukawa couplings

The Yukawa couplings are given by

$$Y_{ijk} = g \prod_{h=1}^{3} A_h^{-1} \left(\frac{2}{\text{Im}(K_h)} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)}}{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}} \right)^{1/4} \sum_{l \in \Lambda^3} \exp\left(-\frac{A_{ijk}(l)}{2\pi\alpha'}\right),$$
(6.203)

with

$$A_{ijk}(l) = -\frac{i}{2} \sum_{h=1}^{3} \left(\frac{i^{(h)}}{d_b^{(h)} I_{ab}^{(h)}} + \frac{k^{(h)}}{d_c^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}} + \frac{j^{(h)}}{d_a^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)}} + l^{(h)} \right)^2 K_h |I_{ab}^{(h)} I_{ca}^{(h)} I_{cb}^{(h)}|, \qquad (6.204)$$

and Λ^3 satisfying the selection rules from (6.202) with α' set to $\alpha' = (2\pi)^{-2}$. The coupling constant g is given by $g = e^{\phi_{10}/2} {\alpha'}^{3/2}$, where ϕ_{10} is the ten dimensional dilaton [115]. Decomposing the ten dimensional dilaton into a four dimensional dilaton ϕ_4 and the part for the internal space as in [115] one gets

$$e^{\phi_{10}} = e^{\phi_4} \prod_{h=1}^{3} \operatorname{Im} (J_h)^{1/2} ,$$
 (6.205)

where J_h is the Kähler modulus in the *h*-plane and the volume for the T^6 is given by Vol $(T^6) = \prod_{h=1}^{3} \text{Im}(J_h)$. For the moduli of T^6 defined in (6.18), the geometry part in the Kähler moduli are

$$Im(J_h) = 4\pi^2 \alpha' A_h^2 Im(K_h) . (6.206)$$

Inserting the definitions into (6.203), the expression for the Yukawa couplings become

$$Y_{ijk} = (2\pi)^{3/4} \alpha'^{3/2} e^{\phi_4/2} \prod_{h=1}^{3} \left(4\pi \left(A_h^2 / \alpha \right)^{-1} \frac{\tilde{I}_{ab}^{(h)} \tilde{I}_{ca}^{(h)}}{\tilde{I}_{cb}^{(h)}} \right)^{1/4} \sum_{l \in \Lambda^3} \exp\left(-\frac{A_{ijk}(l)}{2\pi\alpha'} \right).$$
(6.207)

The quantities $\tilde{I}_{a\alpha\beta}$ can be related to the slope of the D6-branes in the T-dual picture as mentioned in section 6.3.2 [61, 115] by introducing the angles

$$\theta_{\alpha\beta}^{(h)} = 4\pi \frac{\tilde{I}_{\alpha\beta}^{(h)}}{\left(A_h^2 \operatorname{Im}(K_h)\right)/\alpha'}.$$
(6.208)

Expressing (6.207) with the angles $\theta_{\alpha\beta}^{(h)}$ and $\alpha' = 1/(4\pi^2)$, the Yukawa couplings take the form

$$Y_{ijk} = \frac{e^{\phi_4/2}}{(2\pi)^{9/4}} \prod_{h=1}^{3} \operatorname{Im} (K_h)^{1/4} \left| \frac{\theta_{ab}^{(h)} \theta_{ca}^{(h)}}{\theta_{cb}^{(h)}} \right|^{1/4} \sum_{l \in \Lambda^3} \exp\left(-\frac{A_{ijk}(l)}{2\pi\alpha'}\right),$$
(6.209)

which allows it to compare with the Yukawa couplings from intersecting D6-branes on the $T_{SO(12)}^6$. Comparing (6.209) with (5.81), the quantum contribution h_{qu} for the intersecting branes picture can be extracted from the expression (6.209) to be given by

$$h_{\rm qu} = \frac{e^{\phi_4/2}}{(2\pi)^{9/4}} \prod_{h=1}^3 {\rm Im} \, (K_h)^{1/4} \left| \frac{\theta_{ab}^{(h)} \theta_{ca}^{(h)}}{\theta_{cb}^{(h)}} \right| \,. \tag{6.210}$$

Since according to (6.17) the complex structure moduli K_h become after T-duality transformations the complexified Kähler moduli for the deformed $T_{SO(12)}^6$, the factor $\prod_{h=1}^3 \text{Im}(K_h)$ describes the volume of the $T_{SO(12)}^6$. Hence $e^{\phi_4/2} \prod_{h=1}^3 \text{Im}(K_h)^{1/4}$ describes the string coupling constant $\tilde{g} = e^{\tilde{\phi}_{10}/2}$ on the Type IIA side with $e^{\tilde{\phi}_{10}} = e^{\phi_4} \prod_{h=1}^3 \text{Im}(K_h)^{1/2}$ and the quantum corrections on the Type IIA side are given by

$$h_{\rm qu} = \frac{e^{\tilde{\phi}_{10}/2}}{(2\pi)^{9/4}} \prod_{h=1}^{3} \left| \frac{\theta_{ab}^{(h)} \theta_{ca}^{(h)}}{\theta_{cb}^{(h)}} \right|.$$
(6.211)

CHAPTER 7

Conlusion

In the present work Type IIA string compactification to four dimensions with particularly non-factorisable tori has been investigated. The main goal to extend the expressions of Yukawa couplings on nonfactorisable tori has been achieved and demonstrated by performing the computations with intersecting D6-branes on the six dimensional torus, which is generated by the SO(12) root lattice. The procedure can be applied straight forward to other non-factorisable tori, whose underlying lattice consist of SO(2N)Lie lattices, but it can also be adopted for other non-factorisable tori, whenever it is possible to find a factorisable lattice, which contains the underlying lattice of the torus as a sublattice. Intersection points of D6-branes on the non-factorisable torus where described by their position on three mutually orthogonal planes, s.t. the notation for the factorisable torus in [106] could be adopted. Due to the non-factorisable structure of the torus, labels for the intersection points belong to more general three dimensional lattice than for the factorisable torus. The worldsheet instantons generating the Yukawa couplings spread out triangles on the planes like on the factorisable torus. However the worldsheet instantons on the non-factorisable torus underly selection rules, s.t. their winding numbers, similar to the intersection points, belong to general three dimensional lattices. A recipe is given to identify the lattices for labels of the intersection points and how to determine the selection rules for the worldsheet instantons. Additionally the computations revealed a straight forward method to determine selection rules for Yukawa couplings when the branes have non-coprime wrapping numbers, which were merely conjectured in [106]. That way the classical part of the Yukawa couplings from intersecting D6-branes on the non-factorisable torus were computed.

The quantum contributions to the Yukawa couplings were determined by studying the T-dual torus with magnetic fluxes and hence extended the known discussions for Yukawa couplings from magnetized branes. Therefor three directions of the SO(12) torus where T-dualized and the the boundary conditions of the D6-branes where translated into magnetic fluxes of D9-branes. The notation of [115] for the factorisable torus was adopted, but the non-factorisable structure of the torus manifested itself in a non-trivial way on the Wilson lines of the fluxes. Consequently gauge indices had to be expressed as lattice vectors of general three dimensional lattices. As an intermediate step wavefunctions of chiral matter on the factorisable torus had to be derived, which solve boundary conditions arising from fluxes with non-coprime wrapping numbers. It was discovered that unlike to the coprime case, not all states of bifundamentals can be related via Wilson lines to each other. Comparing the number of independent zeromodes for the Dirac operator with the number of independent intersection points of D6-branes on the corresponding T-dual torus, it turned out that in general independent zeromodes are not only determined by boundary conditions on their normalization constants but also on additional phases, which depend on the greatest common divisor of the wrapping numbers for the fluxes. In the second step the

wavefunctons for zeromodes on the non-factorisable torus were calculated and manipulations of the arguments in the wavefunctions showed that labels for independent zeromodes are indeed related to the labels of intersection points on the T-dual torus. Yukawa couplings were finally computed by integrating three overlapping wavefunctions over the fundamental domain of the non-factorisable torus. The same selection rules as for the worldsheet instantons, generating Yukawa couplings on the corresponding T-dual torus, accrued. The final result showed that the couplings for the three overlapping wavefunctions are proportional to the Yukawa couplings on the intersecting branes picture. The proportionality factor was identified as the quantum contribution. The quantum contribution is the same as for the factorisable torus, which was somehow expected since quantum corrections are considered to be local effects.

The discussion of the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ orientifold, showed that orientifolds constructed from the torus, which is generated by the *SO*(12) lattice, put stronger restrictions on the wrapping numbers of intersecting D6-branes as on factorisable orientifolds. More precisely speaking, the amount of O-planes is reduced and therefore the R-R charge, needed to cancel the O-plane charges, is less than on factorisable orientifolds. The same arguments hold for orientifolds constructed from non-factorisable tori, whose underlying lattice contains *SO*(2*N*) Lie lattices. As the toy model in chapter 4 showed, the conditions are actually too restrictive to construct realistic models. Therefore from phenomenological point of view, tori, generated by *SO*(2*N*) lattices, seem to be uninteresting for model building, at least when discrete torsion is turned off. However this does not mean that non-factorisable tori in general are not good for phenomenological aspects. The computations in [108] show that with discrete torsion, non-factorisable orientifolds of the type discussed in this work might be attractive for model building. Further the work in [103–105] prove that orientifolds with intersecting D-branes on non-factorisable tori are worth to look at and for that reason the computations of Yukawa couplings, presented in this work, might be a necessary step for being able to derive mass hierarchies.

To finalize the discussion of Yukawa couplings from D-branes, it is still left remained to determine the Yukawa couplings, which are inherited on orientifolds, after the point group and orientifold projection is quotiented out of non-factorisable tori. Further the effect of discrete torsion needs to be studied with respect to Yukawa couplings arising from fractional D-branes.

Bibliography

- [1] S. Weinberg, A Model of Leptons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 19 (1967) 1264 (cit. on p. 1).
- [2] S. L. Glashow, Partial Symmetries of Weak Interactions, Nucl. Phys. 22 (1961) 579 (cit. on p. 1).
- [3] A. Salam, Weak and Electromagnetic Interactions, Conf. Proc. C680519 (1968) 367 (cit. on p. 1).
- [4] F. Englert and R. Brout, *Broken Symmetry and the Mass of Gauge Vector Mesons*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **13** (1964) 321 (cit. on p. 1).
- [5] P. W. Higgs, Broken Symmetries and the Masses of Gauge Bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 13 (1964) 508 (cit. on p. 1).
- [6] A. Einstein, *The Field Equations of Gravitation*, Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) **1915** (1915) 844 (cit. on p. 2).
- [7] G. 't Hooft and M. J. G. Veltman, *One loop divergencies in the theory of gravitation*, Ann. Inst. H. Poincare Phys. Theor. **A20** (1974) 69 (cit. on p. 2).
- [8] P. A. R. Ade et al., *Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological parameters*, Astron. Astrophys. 571 (2014) A16, arXiv: 1303.5076 [astro-ph.CO] (cit. on p. 2).
- [9] Y. Fukuda et al., *Evidence for oscillation of atmospheric neutrinos*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 1562, arXiv: hep-ex/9807003 [hep-ex] (cit. on p. 2).
- [10] G. Aad et al., Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B716 (2012) 1, arXiv: 1207.7214 [hep-ex] (cit. on p. 2).
- S. Chatrchyan et al.,
 Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC,
 Phys. Lett. B716 (2012) 30, arXiv: 1207.7235 [hep-ex] (cit. on p. 2).
- [12] M. J. G. Veltman, *The Infrared Ultraviolet Connection*, Acta Phys. Polon. **B12** (1981) 437 (cit. on p. 2).
- [13] E. Witten, Dynamical Breaking of Supersymmetry, Nucl. Phys. B188 (1981) 513 (cit. on p. 2).
- [14] H. P. Nilles, Supersymmetry, Supergravity and Particle Physics, Phys. Rept. 110 (1984) 1 (cit. on p. 2).
- [15] S. Coleman and J. Mandula, *All Possible Symmetries of the S Matrix*, Phys. Rev. **159** (5 1967) 1251, URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.159.1251 (cit. on p. 2).
- [16] H. Georgi and S. L. Glashow, Unity of All Elementary-Particle Forces, Phys. Rev. Lett. 32 (8 1974) 438, URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.32.438 (cit. on p. 2).

- [17] P. Horava and E. Witten, *Heterotic and type I string dynamics from eleven-dimensions*, Nucl. Phys. **B460** (1996) 506, arXiv: hep-th/9510209 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 2).
- [18] E. Witten, *String theory dynamics in various dimensions*, Nucl. Phys. **B443** (1995) 85, arXiv: hep-th/9503124 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 2).
- [19] K. Becker, M. Becker and J. H. Schwarz, *String theory and M-theory: A modern introduction*, Cambridge University Press, 2006, ISBN: 9780511254864, 9780521860697 (cit. on pp. 3, 7, 27).
- [20] L. E. Ibanez and A. M. Uranga, String theory and particle physics: An introduction to string phenomenology, Cambridge University Press, 2012, ISBN: 9780521517522, 9781139227421, URL: http: //www.cambridge.org/de/knowledge/isbn/item6563092/?site_locale=de_DE (cit. on pp. 3, 7, 19, 39, 48).
- [21] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz and E. Witten, SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 2: LOOP AMPLITUDES, ANOMALIES AND PHENOMENOLOGY, 1988, ISBN: 9780521357531, URL: http://www.cambridge.org/us/academic/subjects/physics/theoreticalphysics-and-mathematical-physics/superstring-theory-volume-2 (cit. on pp. 3, 7, 12, 99, 103).
- [22] D. Baumann and L. McAllister, *Inflation and String Theory*, Cambridge University Press, 2015, ISBN: 9781107089693, 9781316237182, arXiv: 1404.2601 [hep-th], URL: http://inspirehep.net/record/1289899/files/arXiv:1404.2601.pdf (cit. on p. 3).
- [23] R. Blumenhagen, D. Lüst and S. Theisen, *Basic concepts of string theory*, Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, Heidelberg, Germany: Springer, 2013, ISBN: 9783642294969, URL: http://www.springer.com/physics/theoretical%2C+ mathematical+%26+computational+physics/book/978-3-642-29496-9 (cit. on pp. 7, 19, 33).
- [24] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz and E. Witten, SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 1: INTRODUCTION, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, 1988, ISBN: 9780521357524, URL: http://www.cambridge.org/us/academic/subjects/physics/theoreticalphysics-and-mathematical-physics/superstring-theory-volume-1 (cit. on p. 7).
- [25] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string, Cambridge University Press, 2007, ISBN: 9780511252273, 9780521672276, 9780521633031 (cit. on p. 7).
- [26] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond, Cambridge University Press, 2007, ISBN: 9780511252280, 9780521633048, 9780521672283 (cit. on p. 7).
- [27] A. M. Polyakov, *Quantum Geometry of Fermionic Strings*, Phys. Lett. **103B** (1981) 211 (cit. on p. 7).
- [28] L. Brink, P. Di Vecchia and P. S. Howe,
 A Locally Supersymmetric and Reparametrization Invariant Action for the Spinning String,
 Phys. Lett. 65B (1976) 471 (cit. on p. 7).
- [29] P. S. Howe, Super Weyl Transformations in Two-Dimensions, J. Phys. A12 (1979) 393 (cit. on p. 7).

- [30] A. Neveu and J. H. Schwarz, *Factorizable dual model of pions*, Nucl. Phys. **B31** (1971) 86 (cit. on p. 8).
- [31] P. Ramond, Dual Theory for Free Fermions, Phys. Rev. D3 (1971) 2415 (cit. on p. 8).
- [32] J. H. Schwarz, *Physical States and Pomeron Poles in the Dual Pion Model*, Nucl. Phys. **B46** (1972) 61 (cit. on p. 9).
- [33] R. C. Brower and K. A. Friedman, Spectrum Generating Algebra and No Ghost Theorem for the Neveu-schwarz Model, Phys. Rev. D7 (1973) 535 (cit. on p. 9).
- [34] P. Goddard and C. B. Thorn, *Compatibility of the Dual Pomeron with Unitarity and the Absence of Ghosts in the Dual Resonance Model*, Phys. Lett. **40B** (1972) 235 (cit. on p. 9).
- [35] R. E. Rudd, Light cone gauge quantization of 2-D sigma models, Nucl. Phys. B427 (1994) 81, arXiv: hep-th/9402106 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 9).
- [36] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Spin Structures in String Theory, Nucl. Phys. B276 (1986) 272 (cit. on p. 12).
- [37] F. Gliozzi, J. Scherk and D. I. Olive, *Supergravity and the Spinor Dual Model*, Phys. Lett. **65B** (1976) 282 (cit. on p. 12).
- [38] F. Gliozzi, J. Scherk and D. I. Olive, Supersymmetry, Supergravity Theories and the Dual Spinor Model, Nucl. Phys. B122 (1977) 253 (cit. on p. 12).
- [39] A. Abouelsaood et al., *Open Strings in Background Gauge Fields*, Nucl. Phys. **B280** (1987) 599 (cit. on p. 14).
- [40] J. Polchinski, Dirichlet Branes and Ramond-Ramond charges, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 4724, arXiv: hep-th/9510017 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 15).
- [41] E. G. Gimon and J. Polchinski, Consistency conditions for orientifolds and d manifolds, Phys. Rev. D54 (1996) 1667, arXiv: hep-th/9601038 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 15, 27, 41, 46, 47).
- [42] R. G. Leigh, Dirac-Born-Infeld Action from Dirichlet Sigma Model, Mod. Phys. Lett. A4 (1989) 2767 (cit. on p. 15).
- [43] M. R. Douglas, "Branes within branes", Strings, branes and dualities. Proceedings, NATO Advanced Study Institute, Cargese, France, May 26-June 14, 1997, 1995 267, arXiv: hep-th/9512077 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 15).
- [44] Y.-K. E. Cheung and Z. Yin, Anomalies, branes, and currents, Nucl. Phys. B517 (1998) 69, arXiv: hep-th/9710206 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 15).
- [45] C. A. Scrucca and M. Serone, Anomaly inflow and R R anomalous couplings, (1999), [PoStmr99,047(1999)], arXiv: hep-th/9911223 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 15, 27, 47).
- [46] J. A. de Azcarraga et al.,
 Topological Extensions of the Supersymmetry Algebra for Extended Objects,
 Phys. Rev. Lett. 63 (1989) 2443 (cit. on pp. 15, 44).
- [47] E. Witten, Bound states of strings and p-branes, Nucl. Phys. B460 (1996) 335, arXiv: hep-th/9510135 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 15).

- [48] J. E. Paton and H.-M. Chan, *Generalized veneziano model with isospin*, Nucl. Phys. **B10** (1969) 516 (cit. on p. 16).
- [49] M. Berkooz, M. R. Douglas and R. G. Leigh, *Branes intersecting at angles*, Nucl. Phys. B480 (1996) 265, arXiv: hep-th/9606139 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 16, 18, 19, 41, 44).
- [50] E. Cremmer and J. Scherk, *Dual Models in Four-Dimensions with Internal Symmetries*, Nucl. Phys. **B103** (1976) 399 (cit. on p. 17).
- [51] A. Giveon, M. Porrati and E. Rabinovici, *Target space duality in string theory*, Phys. Rept. **244** (1994) 77, arXiv: hep-th/9401139 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 17).
- [52] M. Dine, P. Y. Huet and N. Seiberg, *Large and Small Radius in String Theory*, Nucl. Phys. B322 (1989) 301 (cit. on pp. 17, 55).
- [53] T. H. Buscher, A Symmetry of the String Background Field Equations, Phys. Lett. **B194** (1987) 59 (cit. on pp. 18, 77).
- [54] R. Blumenhagen, L. Gorlich and B. Kors,
 Supersymmetric orientifolds in 6-D with D-branes at angles, Nucl. Phys. B569 (2000) 209,
 arXiv: hep-th/9908130 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 19, 47).
- [55] R. Blumenhagen, L. Gorlich and B. Kors, Supersymmetric 4-D orientifolds of type IIA with D6-branes at angles, JHEP 01 (2000) 040, arXiv: hep-th/9912204 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 19, 47).
- [56] D. Cremades, L. E. Ibanez and F. Marchesano, *Intersecting brane models of particle physics and the Higgs mechanism*, JHEP 07 (2002) 022, arXiv: hep-th/0203160 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 19).
- [57] R. Blumenhagen, L. Gorlich and T. Ott,
 Supersymmetric intersecting branes on the type 2A T6/Z(4) orientifold, JHEP 01 (2003) 021,
 arXiv: hep-th/0211059 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 19).
- [58] G. Honecker and T. Ott,
 Getting just the supersymmetric standard model at intersecting branes on the Z(6) orientifold,
 Phys. Rev. D70 (2004) 126010, [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D71,069902(2005)],
 arXiv: hep-th/0404055 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 19, 49).
- [59] M. Nakahara, *Geometry, topology and physics*, 2003 (cit. on pp. 20, 29).
- [60] N. J. Hitchin, *Lectures on special Lagrangian submanifolds*, (1999), arXiv: math/9907034 [math] (cit. on pp. 21, 30).
- [61] R. Rabadan, Branes at angles, torons, stability and supersymmetry, Nucl. Phys. B620 (2002) 152, arXiv: hep-th/0107036 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 21, 94, 110).
- [62] L. J. Dixon et al., *Strings on Orbifolds*, Nucl. Phys. **B261** (1985) 678 (cit. on p. 23).
- [63] L. J. Dixon et al., Strings on Orbifolds. 2., Nucl. Phys. B274 (1986) 285 (cit. on pp. 23, 25, 26).
- [64] M. Fischer et al., *Classification of symmetric toroidal orbifolds*, JHEP **01** (2013) 084, arXiv: 1209.3906 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 23).
- [65] D. K. Mayorga Pena, H. P. Nilles and P.-K. Oehlmann, A Zip-code for Quarks, Leptons and Higgs Bosons, JHEP 12 (2012) 024, arXiv: 1209.6041 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 25).

- [66] N. G. Cabo Bizet and H. P. Nilles, *Heterotic Mini-landscape in blow-up*, JHEP **06** (2013) 074, arXiv: 1302.1989 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 25).
- [67] H. P. Nilles, M. Ratz and P. K. S. Vaudrevange, *Origin of Family Symmetries*, Fortsch. Phys. **61** (2013) 493, arXiv: 1204.2206 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 25).
- [68] E. Kiritsis, *String theory in a nutshell*, 2007 (cit. on p. 27).
- [69] J. Polchinski and Y. Cai, Consistency of Open Superstring Theories, Nucl. Phys. B296 (1988) 91 (cit. on p. 27).
- [70] S. Reffert,
 Toroidal Orbifolds: Resolutions, Orientifolds and Applications in String Phenomenology,
 PhD thesis: Munich U., 2006, arXiv: hep-th/0609040 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 27).
- [71] P. S. Aspinwall, *Resolution of orbifold singularities in string theory*, (1994), [AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math.1,355(1996)], arXiv: hep-th/9403123 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 27).
- [72] K. Hori et al., *Mirror symmetry*, vol. 1, Clay mathematics monographs, Providence, USA: AMS, 2003,
 URL: http://www.claymath.org/library/monographs/cmim01.pdf (cit. on p. 27).
- [73] T. Eguchi, P. B. Gilkey and A. J. Hanson, Gravitation, Gauge Theories and Differential Geometry, Phys. Rept. 66 (1980) 213 (cit. on p. 29).
- [74] E. Bergshoeff et al., *Kappa symmetry, supersymmetry and intersecting branes*, Nucl. Phys. **B502** (1997) 149, arXiv: hep-th/9705040 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 29).
- [75] D. Joyce, Riemannian Holonomy Groups and Calibrated Geometry, 2007 (cit. on p. 30).
- [76] S. Kachru et al., *Open string instantons and superpotentials*, Phys. Rev. **D62** (2000) 026001, arXiv: hep-th/9912151 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 30, 55).
- S. Forste, C. Timirgaziu and I. Zavala, Orientifold's Landscape: Non-Factorisable Six-Tori, JHEP 10 (2007) 025, arXiv: 0707.0747 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 31, 32, 41, 49, 53, 64).
- [78] R. Blumenhagen et al., Chiral D-brane models with frozen open string moduli, JHEP 03 (2005) 050, arXiv: hep-th/0502095 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 32, 33, 38–40).
- [79] M. R. Gaberdiel, Discrete torsion orbifolds and D branes, JHEP 11 (2000) 026, arXiv: hep-th/0008230 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 33).
- [80] C. Vafa and E. Witten, On orbifolds with discrete torsion, J. Geom. Phys. 15 (1995) 189, arXiv: hep-th/9409188 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 33).
- [81] M. Cvetic, G. Shiu and A. M. Uranga, *Chiral four-dimensional N=1 supersymmetric type 2A orientifolds from intersecting D6 branes*, Nucl. Phys. B615 (2001) 3, arXiv: hep-th/0107166 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 38, 41, 45, 46, 49).
- [82] M. Cvetic, G. Shiu and A. M. Uranga, *Three family supersymmetric standard - like models from intersecting brane worlds*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87 (2001) 201801, arXiv: hep-th/0107143 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 41, 49).
- [83] S. Forste, G. Honecker and R. Schreyer,
 Supersymmetric Z(N) x Z(M) orientifolds in 4-D with D branes at angles,
 Nucl. Phys. B593 (2001) 127, arXiv: hep-th/0008250 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 41, 47).

- [84] T. W. Grimm and J. Louis, *The Effective action of* N = 1 *Calabi-Yau orientifolds*, Nucl. Phys. **B699** (2004) 387, arXiv: hep-th/0403067 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 42).
- [85] T. W. Grimm and J. Louis, *The Effective action of type IIA Calabi-Yau orientifolds*, Nucl. Phys. **B718** (2005) 153, arXiv: hep-th/0412277 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 42).
- [86] R. Blumenhagen et al.,
 Four-dimensional String Compactifications with D-Branes, Orientifolds and Fluxes,
 Phys. Rept. 445 (2007) 1, arXiv: hep-th/0610327 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 42, 47, 49).
- [87] M. Marino et al., Nonlinear instantons from supersymmetric p-branes, JHEP 01 (2000) 005, arXiv: hep-th/9911206 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 43, 81).
- [88] G. W. Gibbons and G. Papadopoulos, *Calibrations and intersecting branes*,
 Commun. Math. Phys. 202 (1999) 593, arXiv: hep-th/9803163 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 43, 44).
- [89] S. Kachru and J. McGreevy, Supersymmetric three cycles and supersymmetry breaking, Phys. Rev. D61 (2000) 026001, arXiv: hep-th/9908135 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 43).
- [90] J. F. G. Cascales and A. M. Uranga, Branes on generalized calibrated submanifolds, JHEP 11 (2004) 083, arXiv: hep-th/0407132 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 43).
- [91] H. Arfaei and M. M. Sheikh Jabbari, *Different d-brane interactions*, Phys. Lett. B394 (1997) 288, arXiv: hep-th/9608167 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 44).
- [92] G. Aldazabal et al., D = 4 chiral string compactifications from intersecting branes,
 J. Math. Phys. 42 (2001) 3103, arXiv: hep-th/0011073 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 44, 48).
- [93] P. Anastasopoulos et al., Anomalies, anomalous U(1)'s and generalized Chern-Simons terms, JHEP **11** (2006) 057, arXiv: hep-th/0605225 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 47).
- [94] C. Coriano, N. Irges and E. Kiritsis, *On the effective theory of low scale orientifold string vacua*, Nucl. Phys. **B746** (2006) 77, arXiv: hep-ph/0510332 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 47).
- [95] M. Klein, Anomaly cancellation in D = 4, N=1 orientifolds and linear / chiral multiplet duality, Nucl. Phys. B569 (2000) 362, arXiv: hep-th/9910143 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 47).
- [96] A. Sagnotti, A Note on the Green-Schwarz mechanism in open string theories, Phys. Lett. B294 (1992) 196, arXiv: hep-th/9210127 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 47).
- [97] I. Antoniadis, E. Kiritsis and J. Rizos, Anomalous U(1)s in type 1 superstring vacua, Nucl. Phys. B637 (2002) 92, arXiv: hep-th/0204153 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 47).
- [98] M. B. Green and J. H. Schwarz, *Anomaly Cancellation in Supersymmetric D=10 Gauge Theory and Superstring Theory*, Phys. Lett. **149B** (1984) 117 (cit. on p. 48).
- [99] M. Berasaluce-Gonzalez et al., *Discrete gauge symmetries in D-brane models*, JHEP **12** (2011) 113, arXiv: **1106.4169** [hep-th] (cit. on p. 49).
- [100] G. Honecker,
 Chiral supersymmetric models on an orientifold of Z(4) x Z(2) with intersecting D6-branes,
 Nucl. Phys. B666 (2003) 175, arXiv: hep-th/0303015 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 49).
- [101] G. Honecker and W. Staessens,
 D6-Brane Model Building and Discrete Symmetries on T 6/(Z2 × Z6 × R) with Discrete Torsion,
 PoS Corfu2012 (2013) 107, arXiv: 1303.6845 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 49).

- [102] J. Ecker, G. Honecker and W. Staessens,
 D6-brane model building on Z₂ × Z₆: MSSM-like and left−right symmetric models,
 Nucl. Phys. B901 (2015) 139, arXiv: 1509.00048 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 49).
- [103] M. Berasaluce-González, G. Honecker and A. Seifert, Massless Spectra and Gauge Couplings at One-Loop on Non-Factorisable Toroidal Orientifolds, Nucl. Phys. B926 (2018) 112, arXiv: 1709.07866 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 49, 112).
- [104] M. Berasaluce-González, G. Honecker and A. Seifert, *Towards geometric D6-brane model building on non-factorisable toroidal* Z₄-orbifolds, JHEP 08 (2016) 062, arXiv: 1606.04926 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 49, 112).
- [105] D. Bailin and A. Love, *Intersecting D6-branes on the* Z₁₂-*II orientifold*, JHEP **01** (2014) 009, arXiv: 1310.8215 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 49, 112).
- [106] D. Cremades, L. E. Ibanez and F. Marchesano, *Yukawa couplings in intersecting D-brane models*, JHEP 07 (2003) 038, arXiv: hep-th/0302105 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 50, 55–58, 61, 62, 64, 69, 111).
- [107] M. Cvetic, T. Li and T. Liu, Supersymmetric patiSalam models from intersecting D6-branes: A Road to the standard model, Nucl. Phys. B698 (2004) 163, arXiv: hep-th/0403061 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 50).
- [108] S. Forste and I. Zavala, *Oddness from Rigidness*, JHEP 07 (2008) 086, arXiv: 0806.2328 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 53, 112).
- [109] S. Förste and C. Liyanage, Yukawa couplings for intersecting D-branes on non-factorisable tori, JHEP 03 (2015) 110, arXiv: 1412.3645 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 55).
- [110] M. Aganagic and C. Vafa, *Mirror symmetry, D-branes and counting holomorphic discs*, (2000), arXiv: hep-th/0012041 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 55).
- [111] M. Aganagic, A. Klemm and C. Vafa, *Disk instantons, mirror symmetry and the duality web*,
 Z. Naturforsch. A57 (2002) 1, arXiv: hep-th/0105045 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 55).
- [112] B. S. Acharya et al., *Orientifolds, mirror symmetry and superpotentials*, (2002), arXiv: hep-th/0202208 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 55).
- [113] D. Cremades, L. E. Ibanez and F. Marchesano, SUSY quivers, intersecting branes and the modest hierarchy problem, JHEP 07 (2002) 009, arXiv: hep-th/0201205 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 56).
- S. Forste and C. Liyanage,
 Yukawa couplings from magnetized D-brane models on non-factorisable tori, (2018),
 arXiv: 1802.05136 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 77).
- [115] D. Cremades, L. E. Ibanez and F. Marchesano, *Computing Yukawa couplings from magnetized extra dimensions*, JHEP 05 (2004) 079, arXiv: hep-th/0404229 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 77, 82, 84, 87, 90, 95, 99, 102, 103, 110, 111).
- [116] I. Antoniadis, A. Kumar and T. Maillard, *Magnetic fluxes and moduli stabilization*, Nucl. Phys. B767 (2007) 139, arXiv: hep-th/0610246 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 81).
- [117] P. A. M. Dirac, *Quantized Singularities in the Electromagnetic Field*, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A133 (1931) 60 (cit. on p. 84).
- [118] J. Troost, Constant field strengths on T**2n, Nucl. Phys. B568 (2000) 180, arXiv: hep-th/9909187 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 94).

- [119] P. van Baal, SU(N) Yang-Mills Solutions With Constant Field Strength on T⁴, Commun. Math. Phys. 94 (1984) 397 (cit. on p. 94).
- [120] M. Newman, *Integral Matrices*, Academic Press, 1972 (cit. on p. 137).
- [121] A. Bachem, *Beiträge zur Theorie Corner Polyeder*, Verlag Anton Hein Meisenheim GmbH, 1976 (cit. on p. 137).
- [122] R. Thompson, *Linear and Multilinear Algebra*, **19** (1987) 287 (cit. on p. 137).

APPENDIX A

Massless type IIA closed string states on $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ -orientifolds

The representation of massless closed string states from Type IIA under the four dimensional Lorentz group and the resulting fields in four dimensions is investigated here. Further it is described, how the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ projection is taken over the massless states and how the four dimensional spectrum is affected.

A.1 Four dimensional fields from massless type IIA strings

Massless states in ten dimensions transform in representations of SO(8), which is their corresponding little group. The massless Type IIA states in the rightmoving sector are given by the eight NS states

$$b_{-1/2}^{M}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}$$
, with $M \in \{2, ..., 9\}$, (A.1)

which transform in the vector representation $\mathbf{8}_V$ of SO(8) and the eight R states

$$\prod_{\alpha=1}^{3} (S_{\alpha}^{+})^{K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathbb{R}}, \quad \sum_{\alpha=1}^{4} K_{\alpha} = 0 \mod 2, \quad K_{\alpha} \in \{0, 1\},$$
(A.2)

which transform in the chiral representation $\mathbf{8}_S$ of SO(8), where S_{α}^{\pm} are the ladder operators for the spinorial states of SO(8) as defined in (3.25). The leftmoving massless states are given by the eight NS states

$$\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^M |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \,, \tag{A.3}$$

which also transform in the vector representation $\mathbf{8}_V$ of SO(8) and the eight R states

$$\prod_{\alpha=1}^{4} \left(\tilde{S}_{\alpha}^{+} \right)^{K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathbf{R}}, \quad \sum_{\alpha=1}^{4} K_{\alpha} = 1 \mod 2, \quad K_{\alpha} \in \{0, 1\},$$
(A.4)

which belong to the antichiral representation $\mathbf{8}_C$ of SO(8). Compactifying the six directions $x^4, x^5, ..., x^9$ of the ten dimensional spacetime M^{10} , the SO(1,9) acting on M^{10} , decomposes into SO(6), which acts on the directions $x^4, ..., x^9$, and SO(1,3), which acts on the uncompact directions x^0, x^1, x^2, x^3 . In the following of this chapter the uncompact directions are denoted by $\mu \in \{2,3\}$ and the compact directions by $i \in \{4, ..., 9\}$. The four dimensional spectrum from Type IIA strings is determined by the

transformation of the string states under the SO(1,3) factor. Massless states in four dimensions transform in representations of the algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$, which is the algebra of the little group for massless particles in four dimensions. The two NS states

$$b^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}, \quad \mu \in \{2,3\},$$
 (A.5)

then transform in the representation $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$ and hence describe the two polarization states of a massless vector field in four dimensions. The six states

$$b_{-1/2}^{i}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}, \quad i \in \{4, ..., 9\},$$
 (A.6)

transforms as a vector field in the compact space, but as six scalars in the uncompact space. The operators S_1^{\pm} are raising and lowering operators of $\int \Box(2)$. Hence the two states $\prod_{\alpha=1}^4 \left(\tilde{S}_{\alpha}^{+}\right)^{K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\rm R}$ and $\prod_{\alpha=1}^4 \left(\tilde{S}_{\alpha}^{+}\right)^{1-K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\rm R}$, for fixed K_{α} , can be viewed as the basis for the fundamental representation of the algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2)$. Hence the correspond to the two spin states of a Weyl fermion in four dimensions, where $\sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha} = \text{even/odd}$ determines, whether they belong to the chiral/antichiral representation of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$

$$\left(\prod_{\alpha=1}^{3} \left(\tilde{S}_{\alpha}^{+}\right)^{K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathsf{R}}, \prod_{\alpha=1}^{3} \left(\tilde{S}_{\alpha}^{+}\right)^{1-K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathsf{R}}\right) \in \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{2}, 0\right) & \text{for } \sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha} = \text{even} \\ \left(0, \frac{1}{2}\right) & \text{for } \sum_{\alpha} K_{\alpha} = \text{odd} \end{cases}.$$
(A.7)

It is convenient to use the notation

$$|s_1 s_2 s_3 s_4\rangle =: \prod_{\alpha=1}^3 \left(\tilde{S}_{\alpha}^+ \right)^{K_{\alpha}} |0\rangle_{\mathbb{R}}, \text{ with } s_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} (-1)^{1-K_{\alpha}},$$
 (A.8)

to denote the spinor states. Then one can define four Weyl spinors

$$\psi_{\xi}^{1} = |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle, \quad \psi_{\xi}^{2} = |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle, \quad \psi_{\xi}^{3} = |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle, \quad \psi_{\xi}^{4} = |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle, \quad (A.9)$$

in the chiral representation $\left(\frac{1}{2},0\right)$ and four Weyl spinors

$$\overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{1} = |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2} \rangle, \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{2} = |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle, \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{3} = |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle, \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{4} = |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle$$
(A.10)

in the antichiral representation $(0, \frac{1}{2})$, where $\xi = \text{sign}(s_1)$ denotes the spin state.

A.1.1 Type IIA compactified on a T^6

The torus compactification leaves all Type IIA string states invariant. The contribution of the massless Type IIA states to the four dimensional spectrum is computed by tensoring the left-and rightmoving states together and decomposing them into irreducible representations of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$.

NS-NS states

Massless NS-NS states are given by the states $\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{M}b_{-1/2}^{N}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}$. Decomposing the $\mathbf{8}_{V}$ into representations of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$, the NS-NS states

$$\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2} b^{\nu}_{-1/2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \tag{A.11}$$

belong to the product $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}) \otimes (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$, where the 12 graviphotons

$$\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2}b^{i}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}, \quad \tilde{b}^{i}_{-1/2}b^{\nu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \tag{A.12}$$

belong to the vector representation $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ and the 36 states

$$\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{i}b_{-1/2}^{j}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \tag{A.13}$$

transform as scalars in four dimensions. The product $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}) \otimes (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ decomposes into its trace, antisymmetric and symmetric part and is given by the irreducible representations $(0, 0) \otimes (1, 0) \otimes (0, 1) \otimes (1, 1)$. Trace (0, 0) corresponds to a dilaton in four dimensions, where the antisymmetric part $(1, 0) \otimes (0, 1) \otimes (1, 1)$. Trace (0, 0) corresponds to a dilaton in four dimensions, where the antisymmetric part $(1, 0) \otimes (0, 1) \otimes (0, 1)$ is a B-field $b_{\mu\nu}$ and the symmetric part (1, 1) is a graviton $g_{\mu\nu}$ in four dimensions. In four dimensions a B-field is magnetically dual to an axion θ and hence carries only a scalar dof. The dilaton, B-field and gravition therfore have together four on-shell dof, which fits with the four dof of $\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2}b^{\nu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}$. The 36 scalars correspond to moduli of the compact space.

NS-R states

Massless NS-R states are given by the product $\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^M |0\rangle_{NS} \otimes |s_1 s_2 s_3 s_4\rangle$, with $\sum_{\alpha} s_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z}$. Decomposing the $\mathbf{8}_V$ and $\mathbf{8}_S$ into representations of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$ the NS-R states are given by the four states

$$\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle \otimes \psi^{a}_{\mathcal{E}},\tag{A.14}$$

which belong to the representation $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}) \otimes (\frac{1}{2}, 0)$, and the 24 states

$$\tilde{b}^{i}_{-1/2}|0\rangle \otimes \psi^{a}_{\xi}, \tag{A.15}$$

which transform as chiral fermions in four dimensions. Decomposing the product $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}) \otimes (\frac{1}{2}, 0)$ into irreducible representation, the states $\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle \otimes \psi^{a}_{\xi}$, for each $a \in \{1, ..., 4\}$ the product is given by $(0, \frac{1}{2}) \otimes (1, \frac{1}{2})$, which corresponds to a dilatino $\overline{\lambda}^{a}_{\xi}$ and gravitino $\overline{\Psi}^{a}_{\mu\xi}$ in the antichiral representation. Hence the NS-R sector provides the massless four dimensional spectrum with four antichiral gravitinos, four antichiral dilatinos and 24 chiral fermions.

R-NS states

The R-NS sector is similar to the NS-R sector, except, that the chiralities are flipped. Massless NS-R states are given by the product $|s_1s_2s_3s_4\rangle \otimes b^M_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}$, with $\sum_{\alpha} s_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}$. Decomposing the $\mathbf{8}_V$ and $\mathbf{8}_C$ into representations of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$ the R-NS states are given by the four states

$$\overline{\psi}^a_{\xi} \otimes b^{\mu}_{-1/2} |0\rangle, \qquad (A.16)$$

which belong to the representation $(0, \frac{1}{2}) \otimes (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$, and the 24 states

$$\overline{\psi}^a_{\xi} \otimes b^i_{-1/2} |0\rangle, \qquad (A.17)$$

which transform asantichiral fermions in four dimensions. Decomposing the product $(0, \frac{1}{2}) \otimes (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ into irreducible representation, the states $\overline{\psi}^a_{\xi} \otimes b^{\mu}_{-1/2} |0\rangle$, for each $a \in \{1, ..., 4\}$ the product is given by $(\frac{1}{2}, 0) \otimes (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$, which corresponds to a dilatino λ^a_{ξ} and gravitino $\Psi^a_{\mu\xi}$ with opposite chirality as in the NS-R sector. Hence the R-NS sector also provides the massless four dimensional spectrum with four gravitinos, four dilatinos and 24 spinors, but each with the opposite chirality as in the NS-R sector.

R-R states

Decomposing the R-R states into products of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$, they are given by 16 times the states

$$\overline{\psi}^a_{\xi} \otimes \psi^b_{\xi}, \tag{A.18}$$

which transform in the product representation $(0, \frac{1}{2}) \otimes (\frac{1}{2}, 0)$ and decomposing it into irreducible representation one gets a vector representation $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$. However massless vector fields in four dimension have only two dof and hence the other two dof in $\overline{\psi}^a_{\xi} \otimes \psi^b_{\xi}$ contribute as two scalars, In other words the two states $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\overline{\psi}^a_+ \cdot \psi^b_+)$ and $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\overline{\psi}^a_- \cdot \psi^b_-)$ are the polarization states of a vector potential, where the symmetric and antisymetric states $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\overline{\psi}^a_+ \cdot \psi^b_- \pm \overline{\psi}^a_- \cdot \psi^b_+)$ are the states of two scalar fields. Hence the R-R sector provides the four dimensional spectrum with 16 1-form gauge potentials and 32 scalar fields.

SUSY multiplet

In total the massless Type IIA states contain a graviton $g_{\mu\nu}$, four chiral and four antichiral gravitinos $\Psi^a_{\mu\xi}$, $\overline{\Psi}^a_{\mu\xi}$, 28 vector fields, 28 chiral and 28 antichiral spinors and 70 scalar fields in four dimensions. The field content fills out an $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ supergravity multiplet. Hence the massless spectrum unveils that the ten dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ susy is decomposed to $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ susy in four dimensions, for compactification on a six dimensional compact space with trivial holonomy.

A.2 $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -orbfield projection

A.2.1 Untwisted states

The action of the generators θ , ω of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ on the compact space is given by (4.127)

$$g = \exp\left\{2\pi i \sum_{i=1}^{3} v_i H_i\right\},\tag{A.19}$$

with H_i the three Cartan generators of SO(6) and v_i the components of the twist vectors of g. The eigenvalues of the NS and R states to the operators θ and ω are given by

R states	NS states	θ	ω
$\psi^4_{\xi}, \overline{\psi}^2_{\xi}$	$b_{1/2}^{\mu} 0\rangle_{\rm NS}$	+	+
$\psi^3_{\xi}, \overline{\psi}^1_{\xi}$	$b_{1/2}^{4,5} 0\rangle_{\rm NS}$	-	+
$\psi^1_{\xi}, \overline{\psi}^4_{\xi}$	$b_{1/2}^{6,7} 0\rangle_{\rm NS}$	-	-
$\psi^2_{\xi}, \overline{\psi}^3_{\xi}$	$b_{1/2}^{8,9} 0\rangle_{\rm NS}$	+	-

Only closed string states are preserved by the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ projection, whose left-and rightmovers have the same eigenvalues under θ and ω . Those states are called untwisted states and are inherited from the initial Type IIA closed string sates (before the point group projection).

Untwisted NS-NS states

The four dimensional dilaton, B-field and graviton are preserved by the point group, because the twist elements act trivially in the uncompact space. However all 12 graviphotons transform non-trivally and therefor get projected out. Further only half of the scalars, given by the states

$$\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{4,5}b_{-1/2}^{4,5}|0\rangle, \quad \tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{6,7}b_{-1/2}^{6,7}|0\rangle, \quad \tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{8,9}b_{-1/2}^{8,9}|0\rangle, \tag{A.20}$$

survive the point group projection and therefore only 12 scalars are preserved from the 36 moduli fields.

Untwisted NS-R states

Combining leftmovinf NS states with rightmoving R states, which have the same eigenvalues under the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z} - 2$ generators, the invariant NS-R states are given by

$$\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes \psi^4_{\xi}, \quad \tilde{b}^{4,5}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes \psi^3_{\xi}, \quad \tilde{b}^{6,7}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes \psi^1_{\xi}, \quad \tilde{b}^{8,9}_{-1/2}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes \psi^2_{\xi}, \tag{A.21}$$

so only one gravitino $\overline{\Psi}_{\mu\xi}^{l}$, one dilatino $\overline{\lambda}_{\xi}^{l}$ and six other fermions are preserved.

Untwisted R-NS states

Similar to the NS-R sector the invariant R-NS states are given by

$$\overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{2} \otimes b_{-1/2}^{\mu} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} , \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{1} \otimes b_{-1/2}^{4,5} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} , \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{4} \otimes b_{-1/2}^{6,7} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} , \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{3} \otimes b_{-1/2}^{8,9} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} , \qquad (A.22)$$

so again only one gravitino $\Psi^1_{\mu\xi}$, one dilatino λ^1_{ξ} and six other fermions are preserved. However they belong to the opposite chiralities as in the untwisted NS-R sector.

Untwisted R-R sector

In the R-R sector the combination of the left- and rightmoving R states with the same transformation behaviour under the point group are

$$\overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{2} \otimes \psi_{\xi}^{4}, \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{1} \otimes \psi_{\xi}^{3}, \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{4} \otimes \psi_{\xi}^{1}, \quad \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{3} \otimes \psi_{\xi}^{2}, \tag{A.23}$$

where the other R-R states are projected out. It remains therefor four 1-form gauge potentials and eight scalar from the R-R sector.

SUSY multiplets

The four dimensional spectrum contains after the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ projection one graviton, one chiral and one antichiral gravitino, four vector fields, seven chiral and seven antichiral fermions and 22, which fits into an $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ graviton multiplet, three $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vector multiplets and eight $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ half-hyper multiplets (or four hyper multiplets). As discussed in section 4.1.2 the point group preserves only one four dimensional susy generator from each ten dimensional susy generator. That can indeed by confirmed at the level of the four dimensional massless spectrum for the discussed $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ projection.

A.2.2 Twisted states

The g twisted boundary conditions, with $g \in \{\theta, \omega, \theta\omega\}$, shift the oscillator moddings by $\frac{1}{2}$ in the directions, on which g acts non-trivially. Therefore the oscillators for the g twisted NS sector contains zeromodes b_0^i in the directions x^l on which g acts non-trivially. They are related by $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}b_0^l = \Gamma^l$ to the Gamma matrices of the four dimensional Clifford algebra. They act on the spinor representation of SO(4), which is the rotation group in the four directions x^l . The twisted NS ground state $|0\rangle_{NS}^{tw}$ is massless and therefore also $b_0^i |0\rangle_{\rm NS}^{\rm tw}$. Similar to the untwisted R ground state being a spinor of the SO(8), the twisted NS ground state transforms as a spinor of SO(4) and can be given by four states $|s_{l_1}s_{l_2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}$, with $s_l \in \pm \frac{1}{2}$. Since x^l lie entirely in the compact space the SO(4) has no factor in common with the four dimensional Lorentz group and hence the four states $|s_{l_1}s_{l_2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}$ are scalar fields in the uncompact space. On the other hand the twisted R states contains only four zeromodes, two in the uncompact space and two in the directions x^k , on which g acts trivially. They also form a four dimensional Clifford algebra. Therefor the twisted R ground state is given by a spinor $|s_1 s_k\rangle_{\mathbf{R}}^{\text{tw}}$ of SO(4), but since s_1 is the eigenvalue to the spin in four dimensions, the twisted R ground state transforms as a fermion in the uncompact space. The GSO-projection acting on the left-and right moving sector for twisted NS states have, unlike for the untwisted states, an additional factor of $4 \prod_{i=1}^{4} b_0^i$, which is the chirality operators for the spinor representation of SO(4). Under the action of the orientifold projection ΩR , the zeromodes b_0^l in the imaginary directions of the compact space get a sign which cancels in the combination for the chirality operator. Therefore the GSO projection preserves in the twisted NS sector the same two states $|s_{l_1}s_{l_2}\rangle_{NS}^{R}$ for the left-and rightmovers, with either $\sum_a s_{i_a} \in \mathbb{Z}$ or $\sum_a s_{i_a} \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}$. The GSO-projection for the twisted R sector has a factor of $4b_0^2 b_0^3 \prod_j b_0^j$ and since ΩR only flips the sign of b^{j} in the imaginary direction, the GSO-projection differs by a sign in the left- and rightmoving twisted R sector, thus preserves fermions with different chiralities in the twisted left-and rightmoving R sectors. The massless twisted states preserved by the GSO-projection are chosen in the rightmoving sector to be given by

$$|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{\rm NS}^{\rm tw}, \quad |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{\rm R}^{\rm tw},$$
 (A.24)

with $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}$ two scalars and $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{R}^{tw}$ two spin states of chiral spinor from the four dimensional point of view, and in the leftmoving sector by

$$|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{\text{NS}}^{\text{tw}}, \quad |\pm \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{\text{R}}^{\text{tw}},$$
 (A.25)

with $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{R}^{tw}$ two spin states of an antichiral spinor. That way each fixed point FIX(g) contains 16 massless NS and R states arising from twisted closed strings, by combining the four scalars with the two spinors. The action of another twist element $h \neq g$ on FIX(g), acts on the twisted NS and R states as

$$h: |s_{i_1}s_{i_2}\rangle_{\rm NS}^{\rm tw} \to e^{\pi i s_{i_a}} |s_{i_1}s_{i_2}\rangle_{\rm NS}^{\rm tw}, \quad |s_1s_j\rangle_{\rm R}^{\rm tw} \to e^{\pi i s_j} |s_1s_j\rangle_{\rm R}^{\rm tw}, \tag{A.26}$$

where *h* acts on the i_a -th and *j*-th plane non-trivially. In order for the twisted closed string states to remain the whole orbifold projection they need to form invariant states also under the other twist elements $h \in P$.

Twisted NS-NS states

The massless NS-NS states in the twisted sector is given by combining the states $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}$ from the left-and rightmoving sector. It gives the four states

$$|+\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|+\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}, \quad |+\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}, \quad |-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|+\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}, \quad |-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}, \quad |-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}, \quad |-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}, \quad |-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}\otimes|-\frac{$$

which are four scalars under the four dimensional Lorentz group. The effect of the other \mathbb{Z}_2 action on the twisted states preserve only the two states $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw} \otimes |\mp \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}$.

Twisted NS-R states

The massless NS-R states in the twisted sector is given by combining the states $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}$ from the leftmoving sector with the $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{R}^{tw}$ in the rightmoving sector. They form two fermions

$$| + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw} \otimes | \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw}, \quad | - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw} \otimes | \pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw}, \tag{A.28}$$

which transform in the $(\frac{1}{2}, 0)$ representation in the uncompact space. The second \mathbb{Z}_2 preserves only the two states $| + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw} \otimes | - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw}$ and $| - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw} \otimes | + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw}$, which can be put to one Weyl spinor in four dimensions together.

Twisted R-NS states

The massless R-NS states in the twisted sector is given by combining the states $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{R}^{tw}$ from the leftmoving sector with the $|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{NS}^{tw}$ in the rightmoving sector. Analogous to the twisted NS-R sector, they form two fermions

$$|\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw} \otimes |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw}, \quad |\pm \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw} \otimes |- \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw}, \quad (A.29)$$

each transforming in the $(0, \frac{1}{2})$ representation. As in the NS-R sector, the other twist elements project out two states and preserve one Weyl spinor.

Twisted R-R states

The twisted R-R states are given by the product of the chiral and antichiral fermion. Decomposing the product into irreducible representations of $\mathfrak{su}(2) \otimes \mathfrak{su}(2)$, they provide two dof belonging to the $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ representation and two scalar dof in four dimensions. That means each twisted R-R sector contains a vector field and two scalars. The invariant states under the second \mathbb{Z}_2 action are given by $|+\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\rangle_R^{tw} \otimes |+\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_R^{tw}$ and $|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_R^{tw} \otimes |-\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\rangle_R^{tw}$, which are the two polarization states of a spin 1 vector field. Hence the orbifold action on the twisted R-R sector projects out the two scalars.

Discrete torsion

Turning on discrete torsion gives an additional sign to the *g* twisted states by the action of other twist elements $h \in P$ with $h \neq g$. Hence the action of *h* on a massless twisted states is given by

$$h: |s_a s_b\rangle_{\text{NS/R}}^{\text{tw}} \otimes |s_c s_d\rangle_{\text{NS/R}}^{\text{tw}} \to -e^{\pi i(s_b + s_d)} |s_a s_b\rangle_{\text{NS/R}}^{\text{tw}} \otimes |s_c s_d\rangle_{\text{NS/R}}^{\text{tw}},$$
(A.30)

where *h* acts non trivially on the *b*-th and *d*-th plane. Therefor the states which are preserved are those which are projected out in the case without discrete torsion. Each fixed point contributes two scalars from the NS-NS sector, two scalars from the R-R sector and two fermions from the NS-R and R-NS sector.

SUSY multiplets

Each fixed point contains six scalars, four spinors and one vector field. They fit into an $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ half-hyper multiplet and an $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vector multiplet. However the action of the other \mathbb{Z}_2 projection breaks the susy to $\mathcal{N} = 1$, projecting out half of the twisted states. For the case without discrete torsion two scalars, two spinors and one vector field is preserved, which fit into an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ vector multiplet. However for the case with discrete torsion four scalars and two fermions are preserved, which form an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ chiral multiplet.

A.3 Orientifold projection

The orientifold action ΩR on the string transforms the left- and rightmovers from as

$$\Omega R: X^{\mu}_{L/R}(\sigma^{\pm}), \psi^{\mu}_{\pm}(\sigma^{\pm}) \to \begin{cases} +X^{\mu}_{R/L}(\sigma^{\mp}), \psi^{\mu}_{\mp}(\sigma^{\mp}) & \text{for } \mu \in \{2, 3, 4, 6, 8\} \\ -X^{\mu}_{R/L}(\sigma^{\mp}), \psi^{\mu}_{\mp}(\sigma^{\mp}) & \text{for } \mu \in \{5, 7, 9\} \end{cases}$$
(A.31)

Inserting the mode expansions from (3.9) the oscillator modes transform as

$$\Omega R: \alpha_n^{\mu}, b_{n+r}^{\mu} \leftrightarrow \begin{cases} \tilde{\alpha}_n^{\mu}, \tilde{b}_{n+r}^{\mu} \\ -\tilde{\alpha}_n^{\mu}, -\tilde{b}_{n+r}^{\mu} \end{cases}$$
(A.32)

In order to preserve the graviton in $\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{\mu}b_{-1/2}^{\nu}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}$, the orientifold action acts on the NS ground state as ΩR : $|0\rangle_{\rm NS} \rightarrow -|0\rangle_{\rm NS}$. On the R sector the orientifold projection acts on the operators S_{α}^{\pm} as ΩR : $S_{2,3,4}^{\pm} \leftrightarrow \tilde{S}_{2,3,4}^{\mp}$ and $S_{1}^{\pm} \leftrightarrow S_{1}^{\pm}$. It is therefore consistent to define the transformation of the lowest weight state of the R ground state by ΩR : $|-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{\rm R} \leftrightarrow |-\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\rangle_{\rm R}$. Then the R states transform under ΩR as

$$\psi_{\xi}^{1} \leftrightarrow \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{4}, \quad \psi_{\xi}^{2} \leftrightarrow \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{3}, \quad \psi_{\xi}^{3} \leftrightarrow \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{1}, \quad \psi_{\xi}^{4} \leftrightarrow \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{2}.$$
(A.33)

A.3.1 Untwisted states

The orientifold projection preserves the states from the untwisted NS-NS sector which are symmetric under the exchange of the spacetime indices μ and *i*. That means the states

$$\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^2 b_{-1/2}^2 |0\rangle_{\rm NS} , \quad \tilde{b}_{-1/2}^3 b_{-1/2}^3 |0\rangle_{\rm NS} , \quad \frac{1}{2} \left(\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^2 b_{-1/2}^3 |0\rangle_{\rm NS} + \tilde{b}_{-1/2}^3 b_{-1/2}^2 |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \right) , \tag{A.34}$$

correspinding to the dilaton and graviton dof, and the three scalars

$$\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{2i+1}b_{-1/2}^{2i+1}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}, \quad \tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{2i}b_{-1/2}^{2i}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}, \quad \frac{1}{2}\left(\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{2i+1}b_{-1/2}^{2i}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} + \tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{2i}b_{-1/2}^{2i+1}|0\rangle_{\rm NS}\right), \tag{A.35}$$

for each plane $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ in the compact space, remain after the action of ΩR . Since the NS-R and R-NS sector are not left-right symmetric only linear combinations of both sectors survive the orientifold

projection. The states

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\tilde{b}^{\mu}_{-1/2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes \psi^4_{\xi} + \overline{\psi}^1_{\xi} \otimes b^{\mu}_{-1/2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \right), \tag{A.36}$$

corresponding to one dilatino and one gravitino, and the two fermions

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\tilde{b}_{-1/2}^{2i,2i+1} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes \psi_{\xi}^{a} + \overline{\psi}_{\xi}^{a} \otimes b_{-1/2}^{2i,2i+1} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \right), \tag{A.37}$$

for each plane *i*, are preserved by ΩR . Since spacetime fermions anticommute the action of ΩR on R-R states is given by

$$\Omega R: \overline{\psi}^a_{\xi} \otimes \psi^b_{\xi} \to \overline{\psi}^b_{\xi} \otimes \overline{\psi}^a_{\xi} = -\overline{\psi}^a_{\xi} \otimes \psi^b_{\xi}.$$
(A.38)

That means only the antisymmetric states in the untwisted R-R sector are left invariant by ΩR and the four scalar states

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\overline{\psi}_{+}^{2} \cdot \psi_{-}^{4} - \overline{\psi}_{-}^{2} \cdot \psi_{+}^{4} \right), \quad \frac{1}{2} \left(\overline{\psi}_{+}^{1} \cdot \psi_{-}^{3} - \overline{\psi}_{-}^{1} \cdot \psi_{+}^{3} \right), \quad \frac{1}{2} \left(\overline{\psi}_{+}^{4} \cdot \psi_{-}^{1} - \overline{\psi}_{-}^{4} \cdot \psi_{+}^{1} \right), \quad \frac{1}{2} \left(\overline{\psi}_{+}^{3} \cdot \psi_{-}^{2} - \overline{\psi}_{-}^{3} \cdot \psi_{+}^{2} \right), \tag{A.39}$$

remain on the orientifold. In total the untwisted sector of Type IIA contributes to the four dimensional spectrum, after the whole $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ projection, a graviton, a gravitino, seven fermions and 14 scalar fields, which fit into an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ graviton multiplet and seven $\mathcal{N} = 1$ chiral multiplets.

A.3.2 Twisted states

The zeromodes in the twisted sector transform under ΩR as

$$\Omega R: b_0^M \to \begin{cases} \tilde{b}^{2,3,4,6,8} \\ -\tilde{b}^{5,7,9} \end{cases} ,$$
 (A.40)

and vice versa, so that

$$\Omega R: S_1^{\pm} \leftrightarrow \tilde{S}_1 \pm, \quad S_j^{\pm} \leftrightarrow \tilde{S}_j^{\mp}, \tag{A.41}$$

for the twisted R sector and

$$\Omega R: S_i^{\pm} \leftrightarrow \tilde{S}_i^{\mp}, \tag{A.42}$$

for the twisted NS sector. Defining the twisted ground states to transform under ΩR as

$$\Omega R: |-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{\rm R}^{\rm tw} \to |-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{\rm R}^{\rm tw}, \quad |-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{\rm NS}^{\rm tw} \to |-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\rangle_{\rm NS}^{\rm tw}, \tag{A.43}$$

the transformation of the twisted states under the orientifold can be deduced to be given by

$$\Omega R: |s_{i_1}s_{i_2}\rangle_{\rm NS}^{\rm tw} \to |s_{i_1}s_{i_2}\rangle_{\rm NS}^{\rm tw}, \quad |s_1s_j\rangle_{\rm R}^{\rm tw} \to |s_1 - s_j\rangle_{\rm R}^{\rm tw}.$$
(A.44)

Then the states preserved by ΩR in the twisted NS-NS sector are the two states $| + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw} \otimes | + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw}$ and $| -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw} \otimes | -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{NS}^{tw}$. Since they are only preserved for the case with discrete torsion, the twisted NS-NS states are only present when discrete torsion is turned on. Similar the twisted R-R states which are invariant under ΩR are the two polarization states $| + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw} \otimes | + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw} \otimes | - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw} \otimes | - \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \rangle_{R}^{tw}$ for a vector field. They are preserved on the orbifold withou discrete torsion, hence the twisted R-R sector contributes only for the case when discrete torsion is turned off. The twisted NS-R and twisted R-NS sector form two linear combinations, which are invariant states under ΩR and provide the four dimensional spectrum with a fermion. That means at each fixed point the states remaining after the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Omega R$ projection, are either two scalars and a fermion for the case with discrete torsion or a vector field and a fermion for the case without discrete torsion. The orientifold projection breaks the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ susy at the twisted sectors to $\mathcal{N} = 1$. The invariant states form a $\mathcal{N} = 1$ chiral multiplet in the presence of discrete torsion or a $\mathcal{N} = 1$ vector multiplet when no discrete torsion is not turned on.

APPENDIX \mathbf{B}

Labels for intersection points on $T_{SO(12)}^6$

Some of the lattices for labels of inequivalent intersection points of D6-branes on $T_{SO(12)}^6$ are discussed here. The lattice for a label *j* depends in the following way on the wrapping numbers of the two cycles, which the Branes are wrapping,

$$j \in \left\{ \left(t_1 m_b^1 - t_2 n_b^1, \ t_3 m_b^2 - t_4 n_b^2, \ t_5 m_b^3 - t_6 n_b^3 \right)^T \left| \vec{t} \in \Lambda_{\text{SO}(12)} \right\},\tag{B.1}$$

with the identification

$$\begin{pmatrix} n_a^1 \frac{j^{(1)}}{I_{ab}^{(1)}}, m_a^1 \frac{j^{(1)}}{I_{ab}^{(1)}}, n_a^2 \frac{j^{(2)}}{I_{ab}^{(2)}}, m_a^2 \frac{j^{(2)}}{I_{ab}^{(2)}}, n_a^3 \frac{j^{(3)}}{I_{ab}^{(3)}}, m_a^3 \frac{j^{(3)}}{I_{ab}^{(3)}} \end{pmatrix} \sim$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} n_a^1 \frac{j^{(1)}}{I_{ab}^{(1)}}, m_a^1 \frac{j^{(1)}}{I_{ab}^{(1)}}, n_a^2 \frac{j^{(2)}}{I_{ab}^{(2)}}, m_a^2 \frac{j^{(2)}}{I_{ab}^{(2)}}, n_a^3 \frac{j^{(3)}}{I_{ab}^{(3)}}, m_a^3 \frac{j^{(3)}}{I_{ab}^{(3)}} \end{pmatrix} + \vec{\lambda}, \quad \vec{\lambda} \in \Lambda_{\rm SO(12)}$$

$$(B.2)$$

Case 1

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \forall_{\alpha \in \{a,b\}} \left(n^h_\alpha + m^h_\alpha = 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n^h_\alpha, m^h_\alpha) = 1 \right).$$
(B.3)

The only way for the term $t_{2h-1}m_{\alpha}^{h} - t_{2h}n_{\alpha}^{h}$ to be odd is that the lattice vector components satisfy $t_{2h-1} + t_{2h} = 1 \mod 2$. But, because the sum of all six lattice vector components has to be even, the label *j* can only have either zero or two components, which are odd. On the other hand it is possible to make $t_{2h-1}m_{\alpha}^{h} - t_{2h}n_{\alpha}^{h}$ even for each plane individually. This is the case for the *SO*(6) Lie lattice. Hence *j* belongs to the *SO*(6) lattice. From the relation

$$I_{ab}^{(h)} = \frac{n_a^h - m_b^h}{2} \left(n_b^h + m_b^h \right) - \frac{n_b^h - m_b^h}{2} (N_a^h + m_a^h) , \qquad (B.4)$$

one sees that $I_{ab}^{(h)}$ is even and therefor a shift of the components of j by $j^{(h)} \rightarrow j^{(h)} + I_{ab}^{(h)}$, can be performed independently from the components of the other planes. Further, since $n_a^h + m_a^h$ is even, the shift of $j^{(h)}$ leads to a SO(12) lattice shift in the term in (B.2), which is can be absorbed by the identification. For the labels j that means that the inequivlanet labels are given by the quotienting out the shifts from the SO(6) lattice

$$j \in \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)} \mathbb{Z}} \,. \tag{B.5}$$

Case 2

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\begin{aligned} \forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \left(n_a^h + m_a^h = 0 \mod 2 \,, \quad g.c.d.(n_a^h, m_a^h) = 1 \right) \,, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(n_b^h + m_b^h = 0 \mod 2 \,, \quad g.c.d.(n_b^h, m_b^h) = 1 \right) \,, \\ n_b^1 + m_b^1 = 0 \mod 2 \,, \quad g.c.d.(n_b^1, m_b^1) = 2 \,. \end{aligned}$$
(B.6)

In this case the brane *b* wraps the first plane twice and since $\frac{m_b^1}{2} + \frac{n_b^1}{2} = 1 \mod 2$, with $\frac{m_b^1}{2}, \frac{n_b^1}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}$, it is possible for $\frac{1}{2}(t_1m_b^1 - t_2n_b^1)$ to take any integer value, independently from the values of the other two components of *j*. Further, it is possible to find lattice vectors $\vec{t} \in \Lambda_{SO(12)}$, s.t. $(\frac{j^{(1)}}{2}, j^{(2)}, j^{(3)})$ takes any value in \mathbb{Z}^3 . Hence the labels *j* belong to the lattice $2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}$. Analogous to case 1, (B.4) reveals that $I_{ab}^{(h)}, \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, is even, and because $n_a^h + m_a^h$ is even, the inequivalent labels *j* belong to the quotient lattice

$$j \in \frac{2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}}{\bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} I_{ab}^{(h)} \mathbb{Z}}.$$
(B.7)

Case 3

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\begin{aligned} \forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \left(n_b^h + m_b^h = 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n_b^h, m_b^h) = 1 \right), \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(n_a^h + m_a^h = 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n_a^h, m_a^h) = 1 \right), \\ n_a^1 + m_a^1 = 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n_a^1, m_a^1) = 2. \end{aligned}$$
(B.8)

Inserting the wrapping numbers of the brane *b* into (B.1), one sees analogous to case 1, that *j* belongs to the *SO*(6) lattice. Since $I_{ab}^{(h)}$ and $n_a^h + m_a^h$ are even $\forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, the labels for inequivalent intersections are given by the quotient lattice in (B.5) as in case 1.

Case 4

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\begin{aligned} \forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \left(n_a^h + m_a^h = 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n_a^h, m_a^h) = 1 \right), \\ \frac{n_b^1 + m_b^1}{2} &= \text{odd}, \quad n_b^2 + m_b^2 = \text{odd}, \quad n_b^3 + m_b^3 = \text{even}, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_b^h, m_b^h) = 1 \right), \quad g.c.d.(n_b^1, m_b^1) = 2. \end{aligned}$$
(B.9)

Similar to case 2, it is possible to for *j* to take values of the lattice $2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}$ and since $n_a^h + m_a^h$ is even, shifting *j* by $I_{ab}^{(h)}$ in each plane individually, leads to *SO*(12) lattice shifts in (B.2). Hence inequivalent *j*'s belongs to the quotient lattice given in (B.7).

Case 5

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\begin{aligned} \forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \left(n_b^h + m_b^h = 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n_b^h, m_b^h) = 1 \right), \\ \frac{n_a^1 + m_a^1}{2} = \text{odd}, \quad n_a^2 + m_a^2 = \text{odd}, \quad n_a^3 + m_a^3 = \text{even}, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_a^h, m_a^h) = 1 \right), \quad g.c.d.(n_a^1, m_a^1) = 2. \end{aligned}$$
(B.10)

Similar to case 1 *j* belong to the *SO*(6) lattice. But this time $I_{ab}^{(2)}$ is not necessarily even and since $n_a^2 + m_a^2$ is odd, the shift $j \rightarrow j + (0, I_{ab}^{(2)}, 0)$ does not lead to a lattice shift in (B.2). Instead, shifting *j* by the following three vectors

$$(I_{ab}^{(1)}, 0, 0)^T$$
, $(I_{ab}^{(1)}/2, I_{ab}^{(2)}, 0)^T$, $(0, 0, I_{ab}^{(3)})^T$, (B.11)

leads to equivalent intersection points on the torus, by (B.2). Hence the inequivalent labels belong to the lattice $((z_1^{(1)}), (z_2^{(1)}), (z_2^{(1)}))$

$$j \in \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_{ab}}, \quad \Gamma_{ab} = \text{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} I_{ab}^{(1)}\\ 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{I_{ab}}{2}\\ I_{ab}^{(2)}\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ I_{ab}^{(3)}\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}\right).$$
(B.12)

Case 6

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\begin{aligned} \forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \left(n_a^h + m_a^h &= 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n_a^h, m_a^h) = 1 \right), \\ \frac{n_b^1 + m_b^1}{2} &= \text{odd}, \quad n_b^2 + m_b^2 = \text{odd}, \quad n_b^3 + m_b^3 = \text{odd}, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_b^h, m_b^h) = 1 \right), \quad g.c.d.(n_b^1, m_b^1) = 2. \end{aligned}$$
(B.13)

Similar to case 4, the inequivlanet labels *j* belong to the lattice $2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}$ and the labels, denoting inequivlanet intersection points on the torus, belong the quotient lattice given in (B.7).

Case 7

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\begin{aligned} \forall_{h \in \{1,2,3\}} \left(n_b^h + m_b^h = 0 \mod 2, \quad g.c.d.(n_b^h, m_b^h) = 1 \right), \\ \frac{n_a^1 + m_a^1}{2} = \text{odd}, \quad n_a^2 + m_a^2 = \text{odd}, \quad n_a^3 + m_a^3 = \text{odd}, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_a^h, m_a^h) = 1 \right), \quad g.c.d.(n_a^1, m_a^1) = 2. \end{aligned}$$
(B.14)

Similar to case 5, the labels *j* belong to the *SO*(6) lattice. Unlike to case 5, this time $I_{ab}^{(3)}$ and $n_a^3 + m_a^3$ are also odd. The lattice for inequivalent labels *j* for this case is given by

$$j \in \frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_{ab}}, \quad \Gamma_{ab} = \text{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} I_{ab}^{(1)} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} I_{ab}^{(1)} \\ 2 \\ I_{ab}^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ I_{ab}^{(h)} \\ I_{ab}^{(3)} \\ I_{ab}^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \right). \tag{B.15}$$

Case 8

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\forall_{\alpha \in \{a,b\}} \begin{cases} \frac{n_{\alpha}^{1} + m_{\alpha}^{1}}{2} = \text{odd}, & n_{\alpha}^{2} + m_{\alpha}^{2} = \text{odd}, & n_{\alpha}^{3} + m_{\alpha}^{3} = \text{even}, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1 \right), & g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{1}, m_{\alpha}^{1}) = 2. \end{cases}$$
(B.16)

Similar to case 2, *j* belongs to the lattice $2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}$. This time $I_{ab}^{(1)} = 0 \mod 4$ and therefore allows *j* to be shifted by

$$(I_{ab}^{(1)}, 0, 0)^T$$
, $(I_{ab}^{(1)}/2, I_{ab}^{(2)}, 0)^T$, $(0, 0, I_{ab}^{(3)})^T$, (B.17)

which generate the quotientent lattice Γ_{ab} , for the inequivalent labels

$$j \in \frac{2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}}{\Gamma_{ab}} \,. \tag{B.18}$$

Case 9

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{n_a^1 + m_a^1}{2} &= \text{odd}, \quad n_a^2 + m_a^2 = \text{odd}, \quad n_a^3 + m_a^3 = \text{even}, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_a^h, m_a^h) = 1 \right), \quad g.c.d.(n_a^1, m_a^1) = 2, \\ \frac{n_b^1 + m_b^1}{2} &= \text{odd}, \quad n_b^2 + m_b^2 = \text{odd}, \quad n_b^3 + m_b^3 = \text{odd}, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_b^h, m_b^h) = 1 \right), \quad g.c.d.(n_b^1, m_b^1) = 2, \end{aligned}$$
(B.19)

Again, similar to case 8, the inequivlanet labels *j* belong to the quotient lattice given in (B.18) with the generators in (B.17) for Γ_{ab} .

Case 10

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\frac{n_b^1 + m_b^1}{2} = \text{odd}, \quad n_b^2 + m_b^2 = \text{odd}, \quad n_b^3 + m_b^3 = \text{even},$$

$$\forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_b^h, m_b^h) = 1 \right), \quad g.c.d.(n_b^1, m_b^1) = 2,$$

$$\frac{n_a^1 + m_a^1}{2} = \text{odd}, \quad n_a^2 + m_a^2 = \text{odd}, \quad n_a^3 + m_a^3 = \text{odd},$$

$$\forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_a^h, m_a^h) = 1 \right), \quad g.c.d.(n_a^1, m_a^1) = 2,$$
(B.20)

This time the ineqivalent labels belong to the quotient lattice

$$j \in \frac{2\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}}{\Gamma_{ab}}, \quad \Gamma_{ab} = \operatorname{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} I_{ab}^{(1)} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} I_{ab}^{(1)} \\ I_{ab}^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ I_{ab}^{(h)} \\ I_{ab}^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \right). \tag{B.21}$$

Here the following configuration is considered

$$\forall_{\alpha \in \{a,b\}} \begin{cases} \frac{n_{\alpha}^{1} + m_{\alpha}^{1}}{2} = \text{odd}, & n_{\alpha}^{2} + m_{\alpha}^{2} = \text{odd}, & n_{\alpha}^{3} + m_{\alpha}^{3} = \text{odd}, \\ \forall_{h \in \{2,3\}} \left(g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1 \right), & g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{1}, m_{\alpha}^{1}) = 2. \end{cases}$$
 (B.22)

The ineqivalent labels for this case is also belongs to the quotient lattice given in (B.21).
APPENDIX C

Quotient lattices and integral matrices

On the dual of $T_{SO(12)}^6$, the gauge indices k for fields in representations of $U(N_a)$ gauge groups, are given by $k \in \frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_a}$, where Γ_a is a sublattice of $\Lambda_{SO(6)}$ spanned by three generators with integer components. Denoting the three generators by a_1 , a_2 and a_3 , a 3 × 3 integral matrix A can be associated to Γ_a , where the components for the *i*-th column is given by a_i

$$A = (a_1, a_2, a_3) . (C.1)$$

Let *A* and *B* be two integral 3×3 matrices, associated to the lattices $\Gamma_a \subset \Lambda_{SO(6)}$ and $\Gamma_b \subset \Lambda_{SO(6)}$. Let Γ_d be a three dimensional sublattice of $\Lambda_{SO(6)}$, s.t. Γ_a and Γ_b are sublattices of Γ_d and all other lattices, containing Γ_a and Γ_b as sublattices, are sublattices of Γ_d . Let $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$ be the contained in Γ_a and Γ_b as a sublattice, s.t. all other common sublattices of Γ_a and Γ_b are sublattices of $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$. Let *D* and *M* be the associated 3×3 matrices of Γ_d and $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$ respectively. *D* is called a left divisor of *A* and *B*, which means *A* and *B* can be expressed by

$$A = DM_a, \quad B = DM_b, \tag{C.2}$$

where M_a and M_b are integral 3×3 matrices. Further *D* is the greatest common left divisor, since from the definition of Γ_d , it follows, that all other left divisors of *A* and *B* are also left divisors of *D*. Since the the representation of the generators of the lattices should not have an effect, the greatest common left divisor of *A* and *B* is unique up to unimodular transformations (see e.g.[120]). Then for the following Diophantine equations

$$D = AP - BQ, \tag{C.3}$$

solutions exist, where P and Q are integral 3×3 matrices (see proof of Proposition 3.4 in [121]). Because M can be expressed by

$$M = AN_a$$
 and $M = BN_b$, (C.4)

with N_a and N_b being integral 3×3 matrices, M is called a right multiple of A and B. Since from the definition of $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$, there does not exist any further common right multiple, which is not a right multiple of M, M is called the lowest common right multiple of A and B. The matrices D and M can be related by (see theorem 5 of [122].)

$$M = AD^{-1}B. (C.5)$$

Using (C.5), the volume of the fundamental cell of the quotient lattice $\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b}$ is given by

$$\left|\frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b}\right| = \left|\frac{\det(M)}{2}\right| = \frac{1}{2} \left|\frac{\det(A)\det(B)}{\det(D)}\right|, \quad (C.6)$$

from which it follows

$$\frac{1}{2} |\det(M)\det(D)| = \frac{1}{2} |\det(A)\det(B)|$$

$$\Rightarrow \left|\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b}\right| \left|\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_d}\right| = \left|\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_a}\right| \left|\frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_b}\right|.$$
(C.7)

APPENDIX D

Lattices for gauge indices and irreducible subsets

The lattices Γ_{α} , with $\alpha \in \{a, b\}$, where already classified in (6.53) and (6.54): There are three different cases, occurring from, whether $N_{\alpha}^{(h)} = 1 \mod 2$ for one or two planes (remember that at least in one plane $N_{\alpha}^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2$, with *g.c.d.* $(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 2$). Here the cases are investigated, in which Γ_{α} and Γ_{b} are given by

(i)

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{1} = \operatorname{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} N_{\alpha}^{(1)} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ N_{\alpha}^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ N_{\alpha}^{(3)} \end{pmatrix}\right), \qquad (D.1)$$

where $N_{\alpha}^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2$ and $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1, \forall h \in \{1, 2, 3\},\$

(ii)

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{2} = \operatorname{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{2} \\ N_{\alpha}^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{2} \\ -N_{\alpha}^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ N_{\alpha}^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \right), \tag{D.2}$$

where $N_{\alpha}^{(2)} = 1 \mod 2$, $N_{\alpha}^{(h)} = 0 \mod 2$ for $h \in \{1, 3\}$, but $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{1}, m_{\alpha}^{1}) = 2$ and $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1$ for $h \in \{2, 3\}$,

(iii)

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{3} = \operatorname{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix}\frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{2}\\N_{\alpha}^{(2)}\\0\end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix}\frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)}}{2}\\-N_{\alpha}^{(2)}\\0\end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix}0\\N_{\alpha}^{(2)}\\N_{\alpha}^{(3)}\end{pmatrix}\right), \tag{D.3}$$

where $N_{\alpha}^{(h)} = 1 \mod 2$ and $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{h}, m_{\alpha}^{h}) = 1$ for $h \in \{2, 3\}$, but $N_{\alpha}^{(1)} = 0 \mod 2$ and $g.c.d.(n_{\alpha}^{1}, m_{\alpha}^{1}) = 2$.

Since the volume of the fundamental cells of Γ_{α}^{i} is always $\operatorname{Vol}\left(\Gamma_{\alpha}^{i}\right) = \prod_{h=1}^{3} N_{\alpha}^{(h)}, \forall i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, the number of gauge indices $k_{\alpha} \in \frac{\Lambda_{SO(6)}}{\Gamma_{\alpha}}$ is

$$\#(k_{\alpha}) = \left|\frac{\Lambda_{\text{SO}(6)}}{\Gamma_{\alpha}}\right| = \frac{N_{\alpha}^{(1)} N_{\alpha}^{(2)} N_{\alpha}^{(3)}}{2} \,. \tag{D.4}$$

139

The smallest common sublattice $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$ of Γ_a and Γ_b and the greatest lattice Γ_d , for which Γ_a and Γ_b are sublattices are given for the following different cases by

(a)

$$\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b = \bigotimes_{h=1}^3 \frac{N_a^{(h)} N_b^{(h)}}{d^{(h)}} \mathbb{Z}, \quad \Gamma_d = \bigotimes_{h=1}^3 d^{(h)} \mathbb{Z}, \quad (D.5)$$

for Γ_a^1 and Γ_b^1 ,

(b)

$$\Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b} = \bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} \frac{N_{a}^{(h)} N_{b}^{(h)}}{d^{(h)}} \mathbb{Z}, \quad \Gamma_{d} = \operatorname{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ -d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ d^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \right), \tag{D.6}$$

for Γ_a^1 , Γ_b^2 and Γ_a^2 , Γ_b^1 ,

(c)

$$\Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b} = \bigotimes_{h=1}^{3} \frac{N_{a}^{(h)} N_{b}^{(h)}}{d^{(h)}} \mathbb{Z}, \quad \Gamma_{d} = \operatorname{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ -d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ d^{(2)} \\ d^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \right), \tag{D.7}$$

for Γ_a^1 , Γ_b^3 or Γ_a^3 , Γ_b^1 ,

(d)

$$\Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b} = \operatorname{span} \left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}} \\ -\frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(3)} N_{b}^{(3)}}{d^{(3)}} \end{pmatrix} \right), \quad (D.8)$$

$$\Gamma_{d} = \operatorname{span} \left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ -d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ d^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \right), \quad (D.8)$$

for Γ_a^2 and Γ_b^2 ,

(e)

$$\Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b} = \operatorname{span} \left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}} \\ -\frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(3)} N_{b}^{(3)}}{d^{(3)}} \end{pmatrix} \right), \quad (D.9)$$

$$\Gamma_{d} = \operatorname{span} \left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ -d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ d^{(2)} \\ d^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \right), \quad (D.9)$$

for Γ_a^2 , Γ_b^3 or Γ_a^3 , Γ_b^2 ,

(f)

$$\Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b} = \operatorname{span} \left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}} \\ -\frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)}}{2d^{(1)}} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)}}{d^{(2)}} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(3)} N_{b}^{(3)}}{d^{(3)}} \end{pmatrix} \right), \quad (D.10)$$

$$\Gamma_{d} = \operatorname{span} \left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ -d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{(1)}}{2} \\ d^{(2)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ d^{(2)} \\ d^{(3)} \end{pmatrix} \right), \quad (D.10)$$

for Γ_a^3 or Γ_b^3 ,

where $d^{(h)} = g.c.d.(N_a^{(h)}, N_b^{(h)})$ was defined. For all cases (a)-(f) the volumes of Γ_d and $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b$ are

$$\operatorname{Vol}(\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b) = \prod_{h=1}^3 \frac{N_a^{(h)} N_b^{(h)}}{d^{(h)}}, \quad \operatorname{Vol}(\Gamma_d) = \prod_{h=1}^3 d^{(h)}$$
(D.11)

and the relation (6.79) is indeed satisfied.

The function of three overlapping wavefunctions in section 6.4.2 involves the smallest common sublattice $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$. Γ_c is considered to be given by Γ_c^1 , Γ_c^2 or Γ_c^3 . Then $\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c$ is given by

(a)

$$\Gamma_a \cap \Gamma_b \cap \Gamma_c = \bigotimes_{h=1}^3 \frac{N_a^{(h)} N_b^{(h)} N_c^{(h)}}{d_{abc}^{(h)}} \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (D.12)$$

for $\Gamma_{\alpha} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{1}$ for at least one $\alpha \in \{a, b, c\}$,

(b)

$$\Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b} \cap \Gamma_{c} = \operatorname{span}\left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)} N_{c}^{(1)}}{2d_{abc}^{(1)}} \\ -\frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)} N_{c}^{(2)}}{d_{abc}^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)} N_{c}^{(1)}}{2d_{abc}^{(1)}} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)} N_{c}^{(2)}}{d_{abc}^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(3)} N_{b}^{(3)} N_{c}^{(3)}}{d_{abc}^{(3)}} \end{pmatrix} \right),$$
(D.13)

for $\Gamma_{\alpha} \neq \Gamma_{\alpha}^{1}$ for all $\alpha \in \{a, b, c\}$ and $\Gamma_{\alpha} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{2}$ for at least one α ,

(c)

$$\Gamma_{a} \cap \Gamma_{b} \cap \Gamma_{c} = \operatorname{span} \left(\begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)} N_{c}^{(1)}}{2d_{abc}^{(1)}} \\ -\frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)} N_{c}^{(2)}}{d_{abc}^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N_{a}^{(1)} N_{b}^{(1)} N_{c}^{(1)}}{2d_{abc}^{(1)}} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)} N_{c}^{(2)}}{d_{abc}^{(2)}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(2)} N_{b}^{(2)} N_{c}^{(2)}}{d_{abc}^{(2)}} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(3)} N_{b}^{(3)} N_{c}^{(3)}}{d_{abc}^{(3)}} \\ \frac{N_{a}^{(3)} N_{b}^{(3)} N_{c}^{(3)}}{d_{abc}^{(3)}} \end{pmatrix} \right), \quad (D.14)$$

for $\Gamma_{\alpha} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^3$ for all $\alpha \in \{a, b, c\}$,

where $d_{abc}^{(h)} = g.c.d.(N_a^{(h)}, N_b^{(h)}, N_c^{(h)})$ was defined.

List of Figures

5.1	Three intersecting branes on a T^2 : The blue, green and red line indicate the position of	
	the branes a, b and c on the fundamental domain of the T^2 , where the blue, brown and	
	red integers, label the intersection points <i>i</i> , <i>j</i> and <i>k</i> . The primed labels, are labels after	
	relabeling and the unprimed labels are the "old" labels	63
5.2	Worldsheet Instanton from intersecting branes: The three square bases, depict the three	
	planes and the blue, green and red lines indicate the position of the branes a, b and c in	
	the planes. The area spread out by the leading order worldsheet instanton, coupling to	
	the intersection points with the "new" labes $i = (0, 0, 0), j = (-1, 0, 0)$ and $k - (8, 0, 0)$ is	
	highlighted by the color pink.	75
5.3	Worldsheet instanton coupling to intersection points with no label: The area spread out	
	by worldsheet instanton coupling to the intersection points, labeled by the "old" labels	
	i = (2, 0, 0), j = (4, 0, 0) and $k = (2, 6, 0)$, is highlighted by the color yellow. However	
	after relabeling the intersection points are labeled by $j = (5, 0, 0)$ and $k = (-2, 6, 0)$, but	
	<i>i</i> has no new label. Comparing the area with the worldsheet instanton from figure 5.2,	
	both instantons clearly spread out areas with the same volume	76

List of Tables

3.1	<i>p</i> -forms from R-R sector in Type IIA and IIB	14
4.1	Fixed tori of $T_{SO(12)}^6/\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$.	35
4.2	Light open string states at intersection points of D6-branes and their representation in the	
	uncompact space.	44
4.3	Gauge representation of massless open strings states on intersecting branes and their	
	number of families in four dimensions.	46
4.4	Pati-Salam from intersecting branes.	49
4.5	Pati-Salam to $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$.	50
4.6	Intersecting D6-branes on $T_{SO(12)}^6$	52
4.7	Four dimensional spectrum of chiral matter.	52
5.1	Example	70
5.2	Intersection points a and b	71
5.3	Intersection points c and a	73
5.4	Intersection points b and c	74